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Foreword

Hello, please accept my thanks for taking the time to

read my book. I would like to preface your experience with some information in case you didn’t fully read the blurb before picking it.

This book is intended to be read by adults and is not

for children. It features violence and descriptions of explicit sex as well as profane language.

The characters in this book are fictional, who make

choices and take actions which defy societal norms and legal definitions of sexual consent.

This work is for entertainment purposes only and is not

an endorsement of these activities or attitudes.

It is a bit smutty, it is a male erotic harem fantasy,

emphasis on the fantasy. If you don’t want to read something of that nature, I recommend you stop now.

This book also includes Gamelit/LitRPG elements

including stats and levelling.

Like many writers I have occasionally borrowed

elements of my real life and incorporated them into my characters. Yet the MC is not me and should not be mistaken to reflect me or my actual feelings or opinions.

I can’t stop you from leaving a scathing review, but if

any of the above is the sum of your criticism, you’re wasting your time. I intend to continue writing smutty male erotic harem fantasy set in a sex dungeon. Well maybe some of it won’t be set in a sex dungeon, but it’ll still be smutty male erotic fantasy, or sci-fi, possibly urban fantasy. Scantily clad, sexy women will be a given, everything else is negotiable I suppose.
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What Has Gone Before

 

Dave Smith was minding his own business in his

crappy little flat on the outskirts of London. Bemoaning many of the very things that probably affect you in your everyday lives.

Then rather unexpectedly he was spared his banal

existence when he was dragged through a portal to another dimension by a bunch of demon-worshipping cultists with a questionable grasp of ritualistic pronunciation.

The strains of unprotected interdimensional travel had

a rather untoward affect on our intrepid hero and that left him as little more than a drooling mess. He was quietly disposed of in this fantasy realms sewer system and shortly thereafter, he died.

A rather inauspicious beginning by anybody’s

standards.

All was not lost, though. Dave Smith was reborn as

Daxas, a ripped and awesome in every way, badass Lupus Rex. That’s a Wolf King for those who haven’t picked up any Latin.

But he was also trapped in the Proving Grounds as a

Dungeon Core. The Grounds were the metaphysical equivalent of Purgatory for the fantasy dimension he’d been transported to. Where the mettle of the unworthy was tested and those found wanting went to a rather ignominious end as soul food for the Infernal Reaches.

Daxas was not meant to be here.

He quickly discovered the gods of this place had no

sense of humour or compassion. Instead of letting him go free, as they should have, they ensured he had to take part. Worse, these divine assholes were actively trying to get him killed.

So, with his big-eared, blue-skinned adviser, Tenzing.

Who did not look like Yoda at all, (newsflash he kind of did.) Daxas built himself a dungeon and waited for the penitent adventurers of the Proving Grounds to come and try and destroy him.

They failed. Whoop whoop!

Daxas soon discovered he had a second adviser, the

buxom and teasing Alyssa. She was sympathetic, but not as forthcoming with help as Tenzing.

She was, however, far prettier. No offence, Tenzing.

Through her Daxas learned the secrets of why the gods

wanted him six feet under.

He was a soul siphon that had been harmlessly

absorbing and accumulating the soul energy of ten million Londoners his whole life. If your average adventurer were a tasty snack, like a small bowl of nuts, Daxas was the combined agricultural produce of a planet. The greedy buggers wanted to devour him badly.

Bending the rules and cheating for all he was worth

was the only path of success open to our protagonist. That and ruthlessly crushing anybody who stood in his way or who happened to irritate him.

Over time Daxas managed to gather a bevy of beautiful

women to his side to act as his disciples and share his bed. Jessamyn, the wood-elf was the first and became his alpha mate. Karragh and Fiadh followed after that.

He also managed to add Nessa Fiveleaf and Jen’Zadeer

Shadestar to his growing harem. Both of whom were dungeon cores in their own right.

This kind of rule-bending, while it greatly increased his

personal power, also brought the ire of those very gods who sought to cheat him of his life.

Alyssa was replaced as his adviser and joined him in

the dungeon, replaced by a new Arbiter influenced instead by Timian. The God of Prophecy and head douchebag. This malignant influence didn’t help the Arbiter, and Daxas was able to enrage and outwit him to get what he wanted.

Added to this the elven goddess, Jezebel, on the run

after failing to suitably hamstring Daxas, abandoned the Heavenly Realm and has fled to the Proving Grounds. Ready to make mischief and secure her future.

Meanwhile, Daxas has raised allies from among the

Adventurers and secured two of their guilds under his banner to do his bidding. With only a constant stream of complaints and grumbling from Simeon as the price.

He really ought to turn that frown upside down and get

over himself. Maybe in this book? Or not.

He has added many more mates to his harem. Krista

the vampire, Gadiel, a foul-mouthed high-elf, Tabitha a cute, but shy, bunnygirl to name a few and close to thirty others. A veritable cornucopia of ladies of different shapes and hues.

The gods haven’t been idle either and tasked a cabal of

strong dungeons led by the gorgon, Tamara, to bring about Daxas demise.

Despite their greater rank and experience all their

attempts, including their latest have failed. Daxas has just defeated the orc, Gorvag, and taken his daughter Genya, to join the ranks of his lovely mate-disciples.

Despite the Wolf King’s many successes, time is short,

and the end is coming. Daxas’ dungeon has been advancing swiftly and soon he will face the ultimate test, which will decide his fate and the fates of those he cares for.

First, though, there are a few things that need to be

attended to. The rest of the cabal for starters. And then there is the small matter of those who remain determined to see to it that Daxas falls before that final battle can occur.

And now, read on.




Chapter 1

 

Jessamyn Wolfsbride

 

I moved quickly and grasped Fiadh by her braided

orange-red hair and tugged her sharply away from the table. The poor orc girl, Genya, had been overwhelmed by my husband’s roguish charm as many others before had been. In her eagerness to mount him, she had been quite rough with the feral berserker woman and the catkin twins, Yanna and Yuni, who had been tending to him beneath the table.

Fiadh growled and thrashed but I held onto her firmly.

“Shush, my darling girl,” I crooned into her ear. “The

orc didn’t mean anything by it, she can’t help being enamoured and eager to be with our Master, just as you couldn’t when we first claimed you.”

Reminding Fiadh of her own behaviour when she fell

in Daxas dungeon helped calm her down. She may have eschewed speech for the most part and embraced her primitive instincts, but she hadn’t suddenly become stupid.

Fiadh’s change in behaviour was a conscious choice,

albeit one likely driven by guilt for her previous actions. Unlike the rages forced upon her by Kriger’s curse, which were ultimately responsible for the carnage she unwittingly wrought upon her tribe.

Alyssa had also been dislodged by Genya’s

enthusiasm, and she sauntered over to us, petting Fiadh kindly on the side of her head, which further assisted in calming her down. The redhead’s sub-vocal snarling subsided after a moment.

“Although,” I continued for the new arrival’s benefit.

“Genya’s reaction does seem somewhat…extreme.”

Alyssa glanced back over to the green-skinned woman

as she bounced in Daxas lap and chuckled lightly. “It’s a combination of two factors. Partly due to his sexual magnetism, which we are all aware of, but there is also an orc cultural influence. Female orcs are instinctively attracted to the strongest and most worthy warriors of their tribe. It is a powerful behavioural driver designed to keep the tribes, who have a high turnover of populace, viable.

“Genya has long been able to deny that part of herself

because of her father’s unusual longevity for an orc. He had remained the strongest male influence during her life, until he was soundly defeated by Daxas. There is no stronger or worthier mate than our Wolf King and the combo of both factors has left her rather bereft of reason.”

“Uh, is that usual, her former resistance, given her

familial situation?” I asked hesitantly.

“Do you really want to know?” she replied archly.

No. No, I did not. The very thought of the implications

turned my stomach sour.

Alyssa chuckled at my distress. “The high mortality

rate and the constant raiding and stealing of females between tribes minimises most of the ick factor.”

But not all, I thought and then shook the disturbing

contemplation from my mind.

“Plus,” Alyssa continued. “Orc males mature very

quickly. They are usually full-grown within five years, whereas the females mature at a similar rate to humans.”

I still didn’t want to think about it. “How long will the

exuberant enthusiasm last?” I asked her instead.

“Not too long, a few hours at most,” she answered.

I released my grip on the now calmed Fiadh and

clapped my hands loudly.

“Ladies!” I called loudly to get everyone’s attention.

“We still have much to do today. It’s time to leave our Master with his new conquest and prepare ourselves for the next steps.”

There was a chorus of “Yes, Mistress,” from the group

and the assembled women trooped out to perform their various gathering or crafting tasks.

“Alyssa, I’m going to the viewing lounge,” I told her.

“Would you care to join me?”

“Of course, Jessamyn. I expect we’ll find one of Daxas

clones in there plotting away with Tenzing,” She answered and put her arm through mine.

“Come along, Fiadh,” I said to the berserker, and she

raced off ahead of us, exiting the banquet hall and running through the grey stone corridors.

We arrived in the viewing lounge a minute later. All

the information Daxas was privy to was displayed on the walls. He did indeed have one of his clones present who was conversing with Tenzing as we arrived. They seemed to be discussing the optimal route for an excursion outside of the dungeon.

Fiadh had arrived ahead of us and was being cared for

by my husband. There were two others already on the black leather couch. Jen’Zadeer and Nessa. I wasn’t surprised the two dungeon avatars had come straight here. But if we were heading out on a mission it would be for the best.

When Jen’Zadeer had joined us, I had been unsure of

her at first and not just because she was a dark elf. Okay, perhaps it was a little bit because she was a dark elf. She had been so arrogant and aloof, constantly attempting to belittle her sister-mates.

That my husband would tame her was never in doubt,

but I’d feared that we would never be friends.

Things had worked out, though.

Jen’Zadeer’s natural competitive spirit had found a

willing rival in Nessa Fiveleaf. This had dissipated my initial concerns that she would try and challenge me as the alpha female in Daxas harem as soon as she could.

Crushing her underneath my boot and teaching the

dark elf her place would have ruined any chance of genuine camaraderie.

Jen’Zadeer would have feared me, not loved me.

I would not have hesitated to assert my position, had it

proved necessary, but was grateful that it had not.

Nessa, on the other hand, had proved the opposite in

many respects.

Initially, she had been quite reserved and deferential to

me and my husband. However, once she became surer of her place amongst us, she had proved to be quite the handful. Constantly pushing the boundaries.

There was no malice or overt challenge in her actions,

but neither was there any comprehension of what constituted too far.

Her manoeuvring could not be allowed to go

unchecked. I honestly believed the root of her constant attempts at expansionism was because she was a little bit greedy and impatient. Always wanting to enlarge her ring this instant and not wait her turn or for proper permission.

She would make a play to incorporate Genya into her

ring before long, it was inevitable. Assuming, of course, that she hadn’t tried to seed the idea in my husband’s mind already. I would have to snuff that out quickly either way.

The orc was too strong and important, and this would

cede Nessa too much influence. The wisest course of action was to prevent a threat from developing in the first place rather than scrambling to handle one after its emergence.

Alyssa moved in close to my ear and whispered. “I can

practically hear the wheels turning in your mind, my dear.”

I smiled at the two dungeon avatars and turned away

slightly, heading towards the mahogany drinks cabinet. They waved back, unaware of what Alyssa had just whispered to me. I busied myself mixing up the favourite drinks for those present. This would also give me a moment to speak with Alyssa privately.

“Whatever do you mean?” I asked her casually.

Alyssa giggled companionably and put her arm around

my shoulder. “Oh, I don’t mean you are up to anything nefarious. Every harem has its internal politics and hierarchy, and the top girl must act to maintain her position, otherwise, those with ambition will seek to take her place. I’m not being critical, you understand. It is necessary and I heartily approve.”

“Is that so,” I said without further comment.

I wanted to see where Alyssa was going with this.

Since she had joined us, Alyssa hadn’t caused any

trouble, apart from her occasional pointed wry commentary, but of all the women who had joined us in the dungeon, she was the only person I couldn’t get a good solid feel for. That she had been of great assistance to Daxas, and therefore to all of us, was clear. Why she had thrown her lot in with us was less so.

“Nessa loves extra cherries in her cocktails, even if

there aren’t supposed to be any,” Alyssa said, while dropping a handful of the red fruits into the dryad’s glass. Then she continued. “You are right to be cautious about my motivations, but I can only assure you that I don’t wish to take your place, nor do I resent that you are Daxas’ favourite.”

Her statement shocked me, and I gasped inwardly ever

so slightly. I knew I was his first disciple, but he’d always been clear that he didn’t favour any of us over the others.

“I know him,” Alyssa went on. “Probably better than

he knows himself if we’re being honest. I know all of you as well, though not to the same degree. I needed to have the knowledge if I was to accurately predict his behaviour and act accordingly. In case he was about to break the rules, for example. But that was my former role, now we are all one big happy family.”

“So, you also have detailed information on anyone

Daxas interacted with?” I asked, my curiosity piqued.

“Jessamyn, darling, I have detailed information on

everyone in the Proving Grounds,” Alyssa chuckled. “Or to be more accurate had detailed information on everyone. Since I was removed as his liaison, I lost access to any updates on new arrivals or changes, so my knowledge grows further out of date with every day that passes. And before you ask, I’m limited in what I can tell you about people outside of our group.”

I nodded thoughtfully as I stirred the drinks. “How

does that work? Are you prevented from speaking?”

Alyssa’s brows scrunched before she spoke. “Not

exactly. It is an unusual sensation. The knowledge is there, and I can access it whenever I choose but if I try to act on it in any way it evaporates from my mind as if it never was and whatever I was about to do along with it. Then when the moment passes the information returns like it had been there all along and I simply forgot for a moment. It was incredibly frustrating at first and it took me a while to grow used to the experience, but I adjusted.”

“But you still know us, correct?” I pressed.

“Indeed,” Alyssa confirmed.

“Okay,” I replied. “I presume you are revealing your

insight for a reason?”

Alyssa picked up a Long Island Iced Tea and sipped it,

smacking her lips with satisfaction. “Straight to the point. Yes, I have a reason, a good one. We are in for testing times. I am confident, as I’m sure you are, in our lover’s ability to overcome the trials ahead, but the outcome is far from certain. Harmony within will go a long way to improving our odds and naturally I want to help bring that about.”

“And you would do that by helping me maintain my

position?” I asked her leadingly.

“Yes,” Alyssa answered. “Don’t get me wrong, I’m not

suggesting you aren’t capable as you are. You have been doing an admirable job long before I arrived on the scene. At first, I thought I might have to prod Daxas a little to nudge you along, but you stepped up of your own accord and developed into a strong leader in your own right. You prevailing remains the likeliest outcome of any internal power struggle, but as this is the most critical phase of the war, it would be best to eliminate even the smallest margins of error.”

“I see,” I said, pondering her words and sipping on my

drink.

The others could wait until we were finished.

My preferred cocktail was a tequila sunrise, though it

was the name that I liked more than the drink itself. Tequila was not very nice, which is why I substituted it with peach schnapps instead. Daxas laughed heartily when he found out what I’d been doing, but never insisted I call it something else.

Alyssa waited for me to speak again. “Would it truly be

so bad if either Nessa or Jen’Zadeer took my place as alpha mate? I have no intention of allowing that to happen, but they love Daxas and are strong and capable. Surely, our chances wouldn’t be that dissimilar with one of them in charge.”

Alyssa glanced over her shoulder at them before she

answered me. “They have grown close, those two. Which is to the team’s benefit. That would not last if one of them was elevated above the other. Nessa was virtually dryad royalty and the Shadestars are the most powerful dark elf family in the Realms. Their friendly competitiveness would be overpowered by old habits and behaviours.”

“I see. They can co-exist because I’m a lowly orphaned

elf girl. A token figurehead they can mutually accept,” I said with unexpected bitter vehemence.

Alyssa let loose a tinkling laugh at my distress. Daxas

had warned me of her propensity to react that way.

“Ah, no, Jessamyn,” she said soothingly. “There is

nothing lowly about you, and they both know it. Their equality as your subordinates has allowed them to bond, though. But we have diverged from the real reason why letting their inherent ambition get the better of them would be… inconveniently disruptive.”

“And what would that be?” I snapped mildly. Irritated

at her word games.

Alyssa leaned into my ear. “I already told you. You are

his favourite.”

That word again, favourite.

“Our husband does not play favourites,” I disagreed

with her. “He loves us all equally.”

“Oh, darling, you know that isn’t true.” Alyssa winked

at me. “He is not our husband; he is your husband. He will never wed another. Daxas loves us all, but not equally.”

“I don’t believe you. He has been clear, many times,

that he wouldn’t put one of us above the others. I am his alpha mate not because he favours me unfairly but because I fought for the position and made it mine,” I argued heatedly in a hushed tone.

Truthfully though, my heart was beating twice as fast

as it normally did. Was Alyssa, right? I shouldn’t wish for it, but I wanted her to be.

“I understand your hesitancy, your doubts, and

defending your achievements is only natural. My intention is not to devalue what you have accomplished by your own designs.” Alyssa whispered, dropping her usual mirthful persona. “I know what he has said, and he even meant it from a rational perspective. But that doesn’t change what is in his heart. People simply can’t love everyone equally. That would require complete control of their emotions and if they had that then they wouldn’t be emotions. You will always be special in a way no one else can be to him.”

I’d stopped breathing as she talked, tears of joy welling

at the sides of my eyes.

“If one of the others tries to step up, regardless of what

he told you years ago, he would act to keep you in place. He wouldn’t be able to help himself, and that is the true danger. A very public display of his favouritism and their dressing down would create disharmony and ill-feeling. It wouldn’t be anything permanent or insurmountable, we are too close-knit of a group for that, but it would be a distraction when we can least afford it. It would be best for all concerned if we ensure that doesn’t happen, yes.”

“Is everything alright over there?” Daxas called from

the leather couch, a look of concern on his face.

“Everything is just peachy, darling,” Alyssa lilted back.

“Just a bit of girl talk. We’ll be over in a minute.”

“Good,” Nessa added. “I’m getting thirsty over here.

Make sure to put in plenty of cherries.”

I gave the cheeky dryad a stern glare.

Jen’Zadeer rolled her eyes and gently elbowed Nessa

in her ribs.

“Please,” Nessa gulped. “Jessamyn, can you put extra

cherries in my drink that you are kindly making me out of the goodness of your heart. Pretty please with a cherry on top.”

The dryad shot me a winsome smile. She had picked

up that parting phrase from Daxas at some point, but it was an apt use and I almost smiled in return.

“Better,” I said loud enough that she could hear me.

Alyssa and I had almost finished our drinks as we

talked, and I decided a top up was in order. It would do Nessa good to wait a while longer for her impertinence.

As I mixed, Alyssa spoke again, once more revealing

her intimate knowledge of us. “Your musings on Genya are accurate. It would be best to include her in your coterie.”

I nodded my head. “I agree.” Then made the quick

decision to challenge her. “Tell me, Alyssa, if you know us all so well, have you not considered taking my place yourself. Surely you could accomplish such a thing, and wouldn’t that be easier than working through me as an intermediary?”

“An excellent question,” she started, her customary

sardonic amusement returning. “And I have an excellent answer. Pure selfishness. I could supplant you, of course, and in such a manner that it wouldn’t endanger any of us. But Daxas would never be the same afterwards. He would not be the same man I adore without you being the one standing closest at his side, he would be a lesser version. I don’t want the biggest portion of a cheap steak; I want the prime cut. If that means accepting you will always get a slightly bigger piece than me, I can live with that.”

Then she leaned in close to my ear, her smile wide and

mischievous. “You might be his unspoken favourite, but I’m a very close second.”

Alyssa pulled back and winked cockily. I couldn’t help

returning her confident grin with one of my own.

“My second piece of advice is don’t stop building your

support structure after Genya. Doling out followers in an even manner between the three of you made sense when there were fewer than a dozen women in the dungeon, and the pair of avatars had hardly any direct support.

“However, if you let it continue that way your position

will be visibly weakened if they then jointly disagree with you. Our byword is prevention, not cure, after all. The new arrivals were hastily assigned to the various dungeons. While some have bonded with their assigned dungeon mistresses, many have not.”

“Go on,” I urged Alyssa.

A couple of minutes later Alyssa had finished relaying

her thoughts on the matter and we wandered over with a tray of drinks which we distributed to the group.

“What have we missed?” Alyssa asked.

Daxas grinned impishly at us and took the drink I’d

made for him. It was something he called Blackbeard. Spiced rum in a pint glass filled with stout. Half the mixer was supposed to be a fizzy drink from his home world, Cola, but Daxas preferred to leave out the non-alcoholic element in favour of more stout.

He said it tasted better that way.

No matter how often I tried, I couldn’t adapt to

enjoying the taste of stouts. Karragh, on the other hand, would match him pint for pint.

He answered Alyssa after taking a deep draught of his

drink. “I’ve made the decision to strike back at some of the dungeons today. Specifically, Makas and Vynar. It’s in our best interest to weaken the cabal now before they have a chance to strengthen their defences for next week. We can eliminate the coerced orc dungeons during the week with the guild beacon workaround.”

Alyssa smiled and sat down. “I concur,” she said.

Daxas continued. “Tenzing has been doing his sterling

work as usual and plotted out the optimal route for us to take.”

“Thank you for the compliment, Daxas. But it wasn’t

anything that anyone here couldn’t have accomplished,” Tenzing said quietly.

Tenzing was always so modest, but he did so much for

us, and we were lucky to have him on our team. “Nonsense, Tenzing. Your work is always exemplary and extremely efficient. We might have been able to figure it out, but we’d have lost time in the process,” I told him.

“Speak for yourself, I would have been just as fast, if

not faster,” Alyssa teased.

“That doesn’t count,” Nessa huffed. “You are both

made from the same stuff. You’re like brother and sister.”

“Sibling rivalries are the worst,” Jen’Zadeer sighed.

“Believe me, I know. My bitch sisters sacrificed me to this place because I was prettier than them.”

“Yeah, I’m sure that’s the reason,” Nessa retorted with

her implied disagreement.

“Enough, settle down everyone,” Daxas said firmly.

“We are still on the clock. We should have enough time to finish these guys off, but that doesn’t mean we have any to spare. We will split into two teams, Jessamyn and I will lead the first team to the troll’s dungeon. Nessa and Jen’Zadeer, you will co-lead the assault on Vynar. We will split the eligible life-seeded soldiers between the groups.”

Nessa raised her hand. “Not to second guess you. But

those are very large parties. Shouldn’t Jen and I split up and maybe clean out one of the nearby orc dungeons as well?”

“I thought about that,” Daxas responded. “But there is

still a slim chance that another dungeon could sneak past our defences and attack, recalling the life-seeded soldiers mid-delve. Should that occur I don’t want any of our groups weakened to the degree they may have to retreat.”

“Fair enough,” Nessa said.

This was a golden opportunity to put my recent

discussions with Alyssa into action.

“On that note,” I said to the group, but focused my

gaze on Nessa and Jen’Zadeer. “For excursions such as this, some of the disciples assigned to your dungeon floors will be joining our party. Yanna, Yuni, and Teotune will come from Nessa’s dungeon. Jovebella and Sarrass will be reassigned from Jen’Zadeer’s. Also, Genya will be coming with us.”

Both dungeon avatars frowned at my pronouncement.

Jen’Zadeer lips even parted to voice an objection but was stymied by my husband.

“Good point, Jessamyn. Those are sensible

reallocations. I only have one change, Genya won’t be accompanying us. Not on this mission at any rate, but she would be a good addition to our party for the future.”

“Too busy getting busy,” Nessa joked.

“Well, that too,” Daxas smiled. “However, my primary

concern is we don’t know what other spies this cabal has in place. Genya being seen in our company would reveal the leverage we have over Gorvag. His allies may learn of his failure today but perhaps not the full extent. If there is any chance that we can use that then I want to preserve the possibility.”

“Not that I want to seem disagreeable, love,” Alyssa

drawled. “But Tamara is a seeress, which means Timian can contact her directly. The chances he is unaware and doesn’t inform her are slim.”

“True,” Daxas answered. “Except that it was Jezebel

who instigated today’s attack. A chance remains, even if it is razor-thin.”

Alyssa bowed her head, ceding the point.

“Excellent,” Daxas said and turned to Nessa,

Jen’Zadeer and me. “Can I trust you gals to get the troops ready for departure in ten minutes? Alyssa and Tenzing, I’m going to leave a clone here with you. Most of the dungeon updates are already keyed in but we need to go over the perk and spell options.”

“Of course, Daxas,” Tenzing said.

“Expedition time!” Nessa cried excitedly as she

jumped up from the black leather couch and poured the remaining cherries from her glass into her mouth.

Jen’Zadeer rose gracefully as well and offered me her

hand which I took. “Commiserations on getting the pestilence dungeon.”

“It’s ever the healer’s burden,” I mock sighed and the

three of us laughed as we exited the viewing lounge and went to round up the other disciples and life-seeded mobs.

The moment reminded me that even though at times I

might have to be sneaky and suspicious of my sister-mates to maintain my position, we were still friends. More than friends.

Daxas, Alyssa, and Tenzing were already in deep

discussion about the perk options available as we left.




Chapter 2

 

My eyes lingered on the swaying behinds of my three

lovers as they made their way out of the room, laughing at a joke I hadn’t quite caught. I could use the DDD to replay the conversation and find out, as everything was recorded, but wouldn’t invade their privacy in such a manner.

I trusted them implicitly and didn’t need ‘Big Brother’

levels of oversight for every aspect of their lives. I liked being in charge, but I wasn’t some abusive control freak.

“Perks,” I said to my two remaining companions.

“Yes, Daxas. You have jumped from rank twenty to

thirty-five so have two major perks that you need to select. Jen’Zadeer’s dungeon now being officially rank thirty-three means she also provides two perks for selection. Nessa’s dungeon is now rank thirty, one rank short of providing a second, so you have a total of five.” Tenzing informed me.

Alyssa followed up with a big smile. “Although you

had multiple perks to assign last week, as each came from a separate source you didn’t break the system. This week you have, you naughty pup.”

“Oh, really,” I said in surprise. “I thought the Accords

had locked down this area fairly tightly, reducing my wiggle room.”

“That was true last week, Daxas,” Tenzing replied.

“But not this week. As Alyssa noted, last week each of your major perks came from separate sources. Therefore, you were prevented from using multiple perks on the same upgrade path.

“Now, as you have two from the same source, we are

technically in territory not covered by the Accords. As such, once you make a perk selection the next option will become visible even though the selection will not be locked in until the end of the day.”

“So, you’re saying I can make a selection and then see

what else becomes available after and then withdraw that selection and look at something else?” I asked.

“Yes, Daxas,” Tenzing replied. “The only limitation is

that you can only apply two of your perks to a single enhancement path at day’s end. But you have enough perks that you can view all the way to the end of the chain. I’m sorry we could not tell you this last week.”

“Don’t worry about it, Tenzing. I’ve grown used to the

shackles they’ve put on you both. I’m surprised the Arbiter is allowing this, though.”

“Oh, I wouldn’t say he is allowing it,” Alyssa

chuckled. “This is a direct result of a change he approved and didn’t think through. That will be Timian’s influence within him at work. Arrogance and overconfidence in equal abundance. You can’t be expected to choose blindly and the necessitation for him to maintain balance will have forced his hand.”

My laughter reverberated throughout the viewing

lounge.

I had already taken the Advanced Leatherworking,

Enchanting, and Alchemy perks last week. That had allowed me to upgrade my workrooms to the advanced versions.

The advanced workrooms reduced production time by

twenty-five percent, gave you a passive skill boost of plus five to the associated skill throughout the dungeon and allowed me to purchase advanced resource rooms.

Advanced resource rooms improved the quality of

what we could harvest from them compared to the basic versions.

The next upgrade for each crafting path was for the

Superior Workrooms.


These offered similar benefits as their advanced

counterparts. The crafting speed bonus was increased to fifty percent and the passive skill boost became plus ten. Superior resource rooms would also become available to purchase which would further improve the quality of everything we harvested.

After that, the upgrades for Leatherworking and

Metalworking virtually mirrored one another. The fourth selection would allow us to craft standard armour that could be equipped on mobs that weren’t based on Realms races and provided a dungeon-wide one percent bonus to the chance that something crafted would be of masterwork quality.

They diverged for the fifth permitted upgrade.

Metalworking allowed you to construct weaponry as well as armour for regular mobs and increased the masterwork bonus by a further one percent.

Leatherworking instead had a raft of restrictions on

accoutrements for mobs lifted as well as the masterwork boost. Up to this point, we had been limited to only making saddles for beasts that were large enough to be ridden. The ban on what they could wear would be removed and let us get a bit more creative.

The sixth and final upgrade for both paths was the

same. Everything the earlier paths had unlocked could now be made from better quality materials and therefore would be enchantable. And the masterwork bump went up to three percent.

Alchemy and Enchanting had the same masterwork

bumps for each level but a bit more variety in what the upgrades provided.

For Alchemy, upgrade four allowed you to start

making Poisons and Venoms which could be applied to weapons. Poison and Venom vials could be purchased but the upgraded workshop gave you access to some alternatives from the standard damage over time poisons and venoms. You had a selection of options that inflicted negative status effects in addition to damage and potions which could be applied to beasts making their natural attacks venomous.

Upgrade five lets you create potions that cut the

cooldown between quaffed potions to seven and half minutes from fifteen.

Finally, the last upgrade allowed you to create dual-

purpose potions. There were a lot of combinations, and the only rule was that you couldn’t combine like with like. So, we couldn’t combine two Mana potions to make one that doubled the return.

There were two drawbacks to the process. Each potion

had to be made separately and then mixed, effectively trebling the usual production speed. Also, when they were combined there was a twenty-five percent chance that the new dual potion would be a dud and do nothing.

The only saving grace of this niggle was you would

know once it was complete that it was a dud. Also, the masterwork benefit of the constituent potions would not be passed on if they were used. But the new mixed potion would have the same chance of being labelled masterwork as any other potion we made.

I quickly figured out this could actually be an

advantage. It meant if we only used non-masterwork potions to do the mixing, we would effectively be getting a second chance at producing something labelled as masterwork.

Enchanting upgrade number four would allow us to

place a single enchantment on ammunition for ranged weapons. This would stack with whatever enchantments were applied to the firing weapon.

The fifth enchanting upgrade meant we could make

enchantments that could be applied to official traps and their triggers. Again, like ammunition, we were limited to a single enchantment on both. Anything applied to the trigger would not carry over to the trap when it was sprung. This was unfortunate but did provide opportunities to conceal the triggers more effectively.

The sixth and final upgrade allowed me to make

enchantments that could be applied to mobs. Tenzing confirmed this included my life-seeded mobs and any of my coin-bought servers stationed topside.

The single enchantment limit was applied because

ammunition, traps, and mobs didn’t have a quality type to degrade. The recipes for these enchantments differed from the standard recipes we’d been making so far, and you would not be able to use them on armour and weapons, just as the armour and weapon enchantments couldn’t be used on traps and ammo.

If any of the new special enchanting crystals were

touched to an already enchanted trap or piece of ammunition, then the existing enchantment would be replaced with the new one.

The best part was these external adjustments did not

affect the dungeon power rating of the trap or mobs.

These were all very tasty upgrades and I wanted them

all.

Under normal circumstances, as dungeons would only

get ten major perks, this would be impossible. To get on the path in the first place you needed to take the crafting perk, then it would cost you five more to get to the end of any of the crafting paths, leaving you four at most to spend on one of the alternatives.

Although I couldn’t get to the end of any of the paths

today because I could still only distribute up to two upgrades on any single path, we could still strategise about the best method of doing so.

Most of the other options had limited usefulness to me

now. Increasing my dungeon power or the number of soul shards was pointless. I could do that for myself by buying or expanding rooms in my dungeons and I’d be annihilating dozens of dungeons and harvesting their shards in the very near future.

Dungeon Creature Knowledge I’d learned could be

achieved through conquests and therefore was covered. Disciple Advancement was equally covered. I didn’t need new ways for my disciples to gain experience when they would get plenty from my rapacious activities.

Spellcraft, Combat, and Quest Giving would be of very

limited use to me these days.

That left Dungeon Laws.

This was the only perk I might consider implementing,

but not until after I had exhausted the crafting paths. There might be a few things in there that I could utilise to stymie the Divine Challenge.

We would see when I got that far.

“Well, I think we can all agree that my perks are going

into crafting,” I said after I finished displaying and reading through all the options.

“Indeed,” Tenzing said solemnly.

“Of course,” Alyssa lilted.

“Any advice or are you still being forced to stay

quiet?” I asked.

“After you,” Tenzing said to Alyssa and bowed his

head slightly.

“Such a gentleman,” Alyssa giggled. “Now that we

have privacy, we don’t need to be quite as circumspect. Yes, in addition to the five perks you can assign today you will need fourteen more to complete all four paths. You are due five more, Jen’Zadeer five and Nessa six if you all make it as far as rank ninety-one.

“Sixteen more perks, so it is doable even if you don’t

expand the number of dungeons under your direct sway. However, if you progress by even a single rank next week you will trigger the Divine challenge. That won’t stop you from accruing further ranks and perks, but you will be on the clock and may struggle to get them all before the Lord’s strike.”

“What you’re hinting is that if I conquer more female

dungeons, I can speed things up,” I laughed.

Alyssa smiled winsomely at me and squeezed my

thigh. “I didn’t tell you to do that, but now that you mention it, that would be an effective method of moving things along.”

“You don’t need to provide much encouragement on

that front,” I told her and caressed her hand that rested on my leg.

Tenzing coughed at that to get my attention. A wise

move by my blue buddy, otherwise, we’d be apt to be distracted with more physical matters.

“If I may,” he started. “From a technical standpoint, I

would advise using two of your perks to boost your Metalworking to superior and then the remaining three to improve the remaining three skill paths to superior as well.”

I was about to object when Tenzing raised his hand to

forestall me. “While I understand that you might be eager to begin enchanting ammunition or brewing new kinds of poisons and venoms there is a practical concern to be careful of. The paths can only have the perks from a single dungeon applied each week. If you let any of the paths fall behind there are no guarantees you will get the required multiple perks from a single source to catch them up later. The best way to ensure you get all four paths maxed before the Divine Challenge is to build them up evenly.”

As usual Tenzing’s advice was practical and

invaluable. He had saved me from myself on several occasions. If the multitude of ideas I had of what I could do when all four paths were maxed were to come to pass, I would need to show a little patience.

Again.


I fucking hated being patient and that was why I

couldn’t have done this without him.

“Wise words, as per usual. It shall be as you suggest,” I

said with mock formality, which elicited a beaming grin from my best friend.

“There is more,” Tenzing said and then looked at the

ceiling as if he was concerned about something lurking up above.

“The Arbiter is not watching T,” Alyssa assured him.

“And although our true self can’t help but know what we are doing, he isn’t going to act. My connection to the entity hasn’t been nixed as much as yours, so I would know if we were about to cross a line. Honestly, I think he rather approves of what we’ve been doing here.”

“Thank you, Alyssa,” he said and then turned back to

me. “Technically, we can’t tell you what achievements you will get for taking these perks and building the associated rooms. However, we can extrapolate from previous achievements you have attained and present what the achievements will likely be.”

“More than extrapolate, love,” Alyssa added.

“Guarantee.”

“Let’s have a look then,” I said.

 

Resource Cultivator 9

You have built ten or more superior resource rooms

before reaching rank 41. As a reward, you are granted a minor dungeon perk. Your resource rooms are 30% larger. Collected resources have a 75% chance to be one quality level higher than they otherwise would be. Superior quality resources have a 75% chance of the resource quantity doubling. Mining, Gathering, Hunting, Farming speeds improved by 50%.

 

Master Crafter 10


You have built four superior workrooms before

reaching rank 51. As a reward, you are granted a minor dungeon perk. Weapons, Armour, Potions and Enchantments you create have a 4% increased chance of being labelled as a masterwork. Masterwork items have superior stats or effects.

 

“Not bad,” I commented. “Four percent chance of

items being masterwork is pretty good.”

“It’s actually much more than that,” Tenzing corrected

me. “You get 0.1% for every rank in the skill you have, and the rooms provide a passive boost of ten ranks, giving you an extra one percent on top of that four. Then you have your natural scores which give you an extra 4.5-5.5%, so for you, the current chance will be 9.5-10.5% depending on what you are crafting.”

When Tenzing took a breath from his explanation

Alyssa picked up the baton. “And with the shortened crafting and gathering times your advance should accelerate. The best part though is that those masterwork bonuses for the fourth tier of upgrades and up are not specific to that skill. It is dungeon wide. Once you have all of them and power your skills to one hundred the total bonus will be 27%. Higher for Karragh’s metalworking thanks to her Daxasian blessing.”

I rubbed my hands together and grinned. It wouldn’t be

long before my armies were equipped in all masterwork gear.

Next on the agenda, I reviewed our options for new

spells.

Tier three allowed some pre-existing spells to be

replaced by a ‘Greater’ version. The spells we had that could be changed in this manner were Summon Beasts, Armour Breaker, Flame Fists, Frostbite, Agility Boost, Stone Skin, Electro Claws, Poison, Infernal Talons and Bless.

If you paid for the spell, it would replace the existing

tier one spell in your repertoire. The new greater version would retain any tier two upgrade you had previously paid for on the original, but you would be unable to upgrade the spell again until the fourth tier. There was a restriction on that, though. You couldn’t replace the lower-tier version of the spell if you had already added a third-tier upgrade to it.

That potential cheat had been foreseen and removed.

The advantage of taking the greater version was that it

improved the spell in a manner that upgrades could not achieve.

Take my Summon Beasts spell for example.

The tier one version summoned rank one beasts to fight

for me. I could use a tier upgrade to double the rank and make my summons rank two beasts instead. Not bad, but the Greater Summon Beasts replaced rank one summons with rank five for the same mana cost. Then if I applied the upgrade to double the rank it would net me rank ten animals to fight at my side.

Having reached the fourth tier I did precisely that. The

change cost me three points to replace the original spell with the greater version. Then a further six to add the double up. The spell now being tier-three did mean future upgrade costs would be higher, but it was well worth it.

The new spell looked like this.

 

Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten

beasts to fight by your side. The number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health.

When I reached the fifth tier, I would enhance the

‘Fallen Fight On’ upgrade so the chances of my beasts resurrecting for a second bite would become one hundred percent.

This went from being a marginally useful spell into a

full-on battle-winner.

In fact, I was so gobsmacked by its ultimate potential I

grimaced with chagrin in dawning frustration. Although I could and would give this to as many of my people as possible, we shouldn’t use it. Not yet, at least.

This was something that had to be held back if possible

until we unleashed it during the Divine Challenge.

“Tenzing, if we take the greater version of a spell,

could we still cast it as the original?” I inquired.

“Why, yes you could, Daxas. But why would you want

to do that?”

I explained what I’d just been thinking through to both

my advisers.

Alyssa answered for them both with a pensive look on

her face. “That is an astute observation, my love. One I must agree with. Not using this spell to its full ability might make some of the work you need to do up above over the next few weeks trickier, but you definitely don’t want to reveal the extent of what can be achieved with it before time. I can confirm that nobody in the history of the Proving Grounds has ever improved the spell in this exact manner. Life dungeons, as you know, have a short life expectancy so it’s not that unexpected.

“The closest equivalent is the Summon Undead spell in

the Death domain. However, the Greater Summon Undead version doesn’t increase the rank of the undead that can be summoned, instead, it greatly increases the number of summoned skeletons or zombies.”

“More of an army of the dead, kind of vibe,” I

commented.

“Indeed,” Tenzing said. “Necromancers like to employ

swarm tactics. They are effective against the weakened or ill-disciplined. However, practisers of the deathly arts tend to be individualistic power-hungry people, rarely willing to share. I can’t imagine one of them allowing their minions access to such a spell. Moreover, I believe the summoning of much higher ranked beasts to be quite a bit more deadly. Higher ranked opponents often have the armour that renders the low-ranked undead much less effective. I concur with you; this is something best kept under wraps for the time being.”

With that agreed, we knuckled back down to

investigate what we could use in the short term.

Most of the other greater spells did something similar

to Greater Summon Beasts, increasing the base damage or effect which could then benefit from the double-up upgrade. I worked my way through the character sheets of my disciples and life seeded creatures enhancing their spells.

Not everything was good news, though.

Up until this point the tier shifted upwards after every

ten ranks. From the fourth tier it became every twenty ranks and then it would top out at tier six when we reached rank seventy-one. There were not ten or more tiers and very few additional spells.

Of course, the fourth tier also provided some brand-

new spells that I distributed to the relevant people.

The Life domain received Camouflage. A spell that

would be situational in its usefulness but would come in very handy in the right circumstances.

 

Camouflage 1 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you

blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot.

Movement and the rank of observers affect the efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

The new spell for the Lightning domain was

Electrified.

 

Electrified 1 (Lightning)

Cost: 20 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Your body and the surrounding area

becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/10) feet take 5 electrical damage for every second they remain in range.

Duration: 1 minute

 

By itself, the spell was not all that great but when you

factor in that I had upgraded both my Lightning Bolt and Chain Lightning spells with the lightning rod special effect and doubled its proc rate to one hundred percent, then I was building a juicy damage dealing combo.

 

Lightning Rod: Hit targets have a 100% chance to

become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet.

 

Attacking a group that had been struck by Chain

Lightning could create a devastating cascade. Plus, once I went up another tier, I could add the lightning rod effect to Electrified as well and debuff my targets first and then slap them with the direct damage spell to massively increase the damage output.

The fire domain got Wall of Flame.

 

Wall of Flame 1 (Fire)

Cost: 1 Mana for each 5x5 section.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Create a wall of flame within your line of

sight. Any passing through the wall will take Heat damage.

Duration: 5 minutes

 

I gave it to Jessamyn but didn’t bother adding it to

many of the hobgoblin’s repertoires. They didn’t have as many points for improvement. Maybe once I had maxed out the usefulness of Fireball, I would put this one in for all of them too, though I rather doubted it.

Destruction received the Vorpal Weapon spell.

 

Vorpal Weapon 1 (Destruction)

Cost 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Limbs struck by a Vorpal weapons are

severed.

Duration: 10 seconds per point of spell power of the

caster.

 

This went straight into Jen’Zadeer’s spell list.

The Wind domain had the spell Leap.

 

Leap 1 (Wind)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 1 minute

Description: Leap (spell power*10) feet in a single

bound.

 

A simple spell but one that could be very helpful given

the right circumstances. We didn’t have many Wind users on the team apart from Tabitha, but I was thinking of adding it further down the line for our melee front-liners so they could bound over shield walls and cause chaos from behind.

There were several other fourth tier spells that I passed

on for the time being. Infernal had Protection from Sanctified and Sanctified the opposite. We’d take these before the Divine Challenge but right now they would be a waste of points.

Frost had a spell called Frozen Encasement but it was a

protection spell you cast on an ally so they couldn’t be harmed but they would be unable to attack either for its duration.

The Earth domain received Quicksand and the Fluid

domain Control Fluids. Neither helpful to us at the moment.

After the events of the week, all my disciples had

levelled to their current maximum of thirty-five. This gave the core group over one hundred points to be allocated which meant I was able to upgrade all their existing spells, add in a couple of the newer ones and dump about twenty points into their Mana or Spell Power.

My newer recruits were ranked in the mid-twenties

when I brought them into the fold, and most had around fifty points available to spend. For each of them, I concentrated on giving them a suite of utility spells, either Life or Sanctified, and some attack-based spells from a single element.

One thing that Alyssa suggested which I hadn’t

realised earlier was that you could reassign which element was your primary or secondary when you incorporated the second.

Not very helpful for me, but it was for Karragh,

Tabitha, and Eina who had affinities for Earth, Wind, and Fluid respectively. By switching the element they had an affinity for from primary to secondary we could save the mana costs on spells.

Doing it this way meant the element they did not have

an affinity for would have the regular mana cost and the affinity element would be doubled, but this would then be halved because of the affinity, thereby returning the spells to their original casting cost. Casting two spells that had a natural cost of ten mana each the old way would use twenty-five mana. Five for the primary element and twenty for the secondary element. The other way around the cumulative price was twenty, ten for each.

Although Krista did have an affinity for the Death

domain, with it being diametrically opposed to the Life domain nature of the Lair it made taking spells from the domain less than optimal. Her affinity reduced the quadrupling to a mere doubling of the cost of the spells but there were no must-haves on the list to justify wasting points on expensive to cast spells.

All the changes I wanted for the dungeons and my

mobs had already been keyed-in and after confirming the purchase of the new workrooms my perks made available I had only one item of business left on the agenda.

I opened a tab on the DDD that I’d had little reason to

bother accessing for several years. The dungeon totem tab.

Almost every active totem had been freshly gained

today.

Most of those I’d previously gained through my

victories were now on the deactivated list, as the dungeons where they had been related to were no longer part of the Proving Grounds. This wasn’t a surprise; I’d been personally responsible for many of their executions.

What did surprise me was the burst of satisfaction in

my heart when I noticed that Maladosh was still alive and kicking. He’d been a Merman I’d faced in the semi-finals of the first gauntlet tournament I’d participated in. He would likely have defeated me had a poisoning from his previous bout not been carried over and had been killing him slowly while I stayed out of sight until the end.

His misfortune has been responsible for my first

meeting with Jen’Zadeer. How different things may have been had that not occurred.

He had ascended to rank seventeen in the intervening

period which was practically meteoric by anybody’s standards barring mine. At some point, Maladosh had discovered the totem I’d been using to tax his experience gains and destroyed it.

That didn’t bother me at all. The income from the

taxation was a fraction of a percent of what I earned from my dungeons. However, due to my achievements, I’d been granted two totems in all dungeons and as I’d made no changes to the second one it remained undiscovered.

I wondered how he was getting on and asked Tenzing

to remind me to contact him later. But right now, I was focused on one of my newest totems. Specifically, Gorvag’s.

Most of the available functions were a bit on the naff

side, but one of them did allow communication between the DDD’s of the dungeons where your totems were active. I used this now and upgraded it to allow for a visual conference.

Once installed I gave my reluctant ally a ring.

Alyssa and Tenzing had been able to give me

assurances that my dungeon’s privacy clause would make these conversations unseen by unwanted eyes.

Essentially, because half of the conversation took place

inside my dungeon the entirety of our interaction was considered privileged knowledge.

There had to be a way to abuse that somehow, but I’d

not had long enough to mull it over and come up with something clever, yet.

It took Gorvag several minutes before he answered but

when he did my viewing screen displayed his big, green, ugly mug, large on the wall. It had focused on his face, but I knew what he saw showed him a panoramic view of the lounge with me relaxing on the black leather couch, Alyssa under one arm and a fresh pint of Blackbeard in the other.

Tenzing was sat a few feet away from us.

I had to resist the urge to address him as Gorvag the

ball-bag. It wouldn’t have set the right tone for this discussion. “Gorvag, I know it’s only been a couple of hours, but I just wanted to check in with you,” I said instead.

“Where is my daughter?” he yelled.

“She is indisposed,” I replied.

Gorvag’s cheeks darkened as his anger with me

escalated. “I want to see her now.”

“No. She is my disciple, not yours, and she will do as I

wish. You appear to be under the illusion that you can give me orders. I had been of a mind to offer you the use of this two-way link between our design tables to speak with her later. That was before you overstepped,” I barked back.

This was a bare-faced lie. I never had any intention of

letting him converse with Genya. Orcish anger was reliable, though. I knew he’d give me enough shit that I’d have the excuse to deny him access as a punishment. That ought to help bring him to heel.

 “I will tear out your heart if you are defiling my

daughter,” he growled in response.

It was no surprise he picked up on the ‘she will do as I

wish’ part of my statement.

“Gorvag, I know I have a reputation, one well earned,

but I’m sitting here in front of you. How could I be defiling anyone?”

Both technically true and very much not at the same

time. Other me had moved Genya from the banquet hall to the bedroom and was happily defiling her, repeatedly.

“What do you want?” He snapped instead of answering

my disingenuous barb.

“Not much,” I assured him. “You might be gladdened

to hear that Makas and Vynar’s time amongst us is drawing to a close. My subordinates are leading my forces to extinguish their participation in the Proving Grounds as we speak.”

Both teams had made their way inside the respective

dungeons about thirty minutes ago. They’d met stiff resistance which was to be expected but nothing that led me to believe they would not prevail.

“My presumption is that the subordinate dungeons that

accompanied you today either answer to you or them directly. And that with them out of the picture there is no one else who could relay events in the dungeon to your cabal but you. Is this correct?”

“You have the right of it,” he responded reluctantly,

after a moment’s introspection.

Alyssa had been allowed to tell me as much, but her

information was a little out of date. Makas and Vynar being part of the cabal had been a new development for example. There was always the possibility one of their slave dungeons would be in contact with the rest of the cabal. It was good to know this was not the case.

“Excellent. Then you will report back to them a

slightly amended version of events. Keep the details of the ambush outside the entrance in your report. There were too many delver witnesses to hide it. Gossip spreads faster than a wildfire and it’s too great a risk that they could hear about that from other sources. If you left it out it would be very suspicious.

“You can report back that Makas and Vynar turned tail

and ran but leave out that they didn’t make it. This will make the next lie more believable. Tell them you were forced to retreat because of their unexpected abandonment and that they slew several of your enslaved dungeons in the process and that you suspect I made them a better offer. Do not under any circumstances reveal you have lost Genya to me. Can you communicate with your allies as we can?”

“No,” he answered after a pause. Then he sighed

before continuing. “We usually meet face to face on rest days. Taking turns to host one another, but we can send messages via the design tables during the week.”

“And your subordinates can’t do that with them?” I

verbally prodded him.

“No, they can’t. The facility only becomes available

when you have entered another dungeon’s sanctum. The other avatars have not been. Also, they are not my subordinates or slaves for that matter. The terms of their conquests were specific. They were to bend all their efforts towards destroying you. We had not anticipated that we would need to get involved ourselves. Once conquest terms are in place, new ones can’t be forged until the old ones have been completed.”

“I understand,” I said. “Do you know the terms of

those bound to Makas and Vynar?”

“Not the specifics. Although as you have assumed, the

terms are likely akin to slavery until those two shit-rags make it out of the grounds,” Gorvag sneered.

This was much as I thought and confirmed my belief

that we would have to expunge all the orc dungeons. Although to be fair I was probably going to do that anyway. I didn’t much care about why they had tried to kill me, they had and that meant I would end them.

“Well, they won’t be doing that. Update the rest of

your group with the false information and I’ll be in touch during the week with phase two of my plan. Dismissed.”

With that, I severed the connection between us and

downed the rest of my drink.

Alyssa stood, took the empty, and shimmied away to

get me a refill.

Meanwhile, I brought up the footage of what was

happening with my attack forces assaulting the dungeons on my behalf and absorbed the full memory transcript of what my other clone-self had been up to with Genya.




Explicit Interlude 5.1

(This mini chapter contains explicit sexual content. If

that’s not to your reading taste you can skip on to the next chapter without missing any story elements.)

 

“Genya, I’m sure you have many questions,” I

whispered huskily in her ear.

My words brought the orc’s attention back to me and

away from her departed father. The scent of her ardour assaulted my nose with a righteous fury.

I was familiar with the effect my aura had on women.

With the various achievements I’d earned over the years the aura’s strength had gone stratospheric. However, at some point, around about when it reached five hundred, it stopped increasing the natural horniness of those most easily affected by it. After that, the scope of whom it could affect widened and those who were previously less inclined would come under its sway.

Not that they were compelled to act in any way. All it

really did was heighten passions and smooth out any pesky ruffled feathers their natural attraction to me might have raised. Stuff like ‘this bastard just ran roughshod over my father and made him his little bitch’.

It was a convenient excuse to ignore the plethora of

‘reasons’ for why they should reject me and allowed them to choose what they really wanted, unfettered by those concerns and pressures.

Which was to ride stick on the Daxas muscle car.

The bouquet of Genya’s desire was the most powerful

I’d ever encountered. I didn’t know why and right now I didn’t care.

She pulled away from my grasp and started to disrobe

as fast as orcishly possible. I’d have to introduce her to the inventory removal method trick later.

I didn’t have to worry about removing my clothing.

Although I had a loose white shirt on, my bottom half was already bare. Between my legs, Fiadh, Yanna, and Yuni knelt on the cobbled flooring.

The tawny-haired cat-girls were each suckling on one

of my semen-filled balls and the fiery red-haired berserker’s head bobbed up and down the length of my shaft.

Genya finished stripping and I drank in the sight of her.

Her skin was pine green which was a slightly lighter

shade than most other orcs. She was an inch or two above six feet with long, lustrous, jet-black hair tied back in a simple topknot. Her muscles were well defined without being masculine and she had several faint lines of scarring across her body, signs of the battles she had fought before her death.

Her face had been spared those battle-won badges of

honour for the most part. The sole exception being some bobbling on the bridge of her nose where it had been broken multiple times. Only a small part of the tip of her lower canines extended past her lower lip and there was a slight groove on her upper lip where they pressed against it.

I barely had a second to absorb her feral beauty when

she leapt upon me. I’d been seated and the claws of her hands dug into my shoulders as she balanced in a crouch on my thighs.

Once she’d settled into her perch Genya kicked

backwards with her right leg and slapped the sole of her foot onto Fiadh’s forehead.

The strike wasn’t a donkey kick, so it didn’t hurt her,

but was firm enough to shove the berserker woman’s head back. My erect dick popped out of her mouth and sprang up, tapping Genya’s densely muscled behind. Fiadh’s sloppy saliva spattered the bottom of the table and the two cat-girls who were sucking on my balls.

Genya lifted her butt and quickly guided my iron rod

into place using the curve of her shapely ass. The tip of my cock nestled into the crack of her moistened folds and without a word Genya pushed her hips downwards until they contacted mine with a meaty slap.

Had I been human she would likely have done me a

serious injury. Instead, my enhanced musculature held my penis in place, and it refused to be bowed. With a pleasurable grunt our bodies found the path of least resistance and her warm snatch engulfed my length roughly.

I seized hold of Genya’s hips as she ground herself

upon me and whimpered with uncontainable desire. Fiadh snarled from below the table at her earlier mistreatment and for a split second I thought this could go horribly wrong.

“Fiadh!” Jessamyn called out to her sternly.

Jessamyn reached under the table and gripped Fiadh by

her braid and hauled her out as Genya’s hips rose and fell on my cock. My wife, having taken control of the upset savage woman, comforted her softly as Yanna and Yuni extricated themselves from under the table as well lest they be kicked away also.

This left me able to fully appreciate the activity taking

place on my lap.

With me supporting her hips Genya eagerly bounced

up and down on my rod.

“Yesss,” she whispered breathlessly. “So…uh…

strong.”

Genya’s pine green chest bounced before me. She had

the physique of a female MMA fighter. Sculpted muscle and modest breasts. Her areolae were a green so dark they were almost black, with small nipples the shape of tic-tacs.

She may have had a body better suited for the

battlefield than the bedroom, but nevertheless, there was a shapely femininity beneath her warrior queen appearance. Her warrior’s soul had a beauty all its own that called to the kindred spirit of violence that lived within me.

I leaned my head forward, extending my elongated

tongue and licked her tits as they moved before me. Genya moaned even louder.

Keeping my left hand in place on her hip I ran my right

across her taut stomach and fondled her breast as I passed. My hand continued to slide its way up past her shoulder until I gripped the back of her neck. Genya, eyes closed, had been grinding herself frantically on my cock.

I pulled on her head to bring her lips to mine, she

resisted, her brown eyes flew open and grinned widely at me. There was a look of challenge in her piercing gaze.

Peripherally I was aware the rest of my harem had

exited the room while Genya had been pounding away on my stiff rod. I grinned back at her and flashed my canines. My left-hand shifted position and got a meaty handful of her glutes. When next her hips slammed into my thighs, I held Genya in place and didn’t let her rise any further.

I levered up and out of my chair aggressively, sending

it crashing backwards into the bar. I held Genya against me for a moment and smiled as she glanced about trying to figure out what I was up to. I loosened my grip on the back of her neck and grabbed onto her loosely tied black hair instead. Then, while still sheathed within her, slammed her down onto the wooden oak table with force.

Genya let out a little puff of breath, but her grin grew

even wider at the rough treatment. Her winding was more from the surprise than any real harm. Her strong hands moved from my shoulders, and she braced them in position on my pectorals. That glint of challenge in her eyes undiminished.

“If your master wishes to taste you lips, then that is

what he shall do,” I growled down at her.

Genya’s tongue slipped out of her mouth and ran along

the inside of her upper lip. “Make me,” she growled with need and desire.

They’d been her first real words during this sexcapade.

Part challenge, part command. My cock flexed inside her from the erotic thrill. Conqueror and conquest entwined.

“With pleasure,” I grunted.

I pushed my chest down, Genya kept her hands braced

against my pecs and tried to hold me back. A delighted smile crept onto her face as her elbows gave way amd I inexorably broke past her resistance.

I could have grabbed her wrists and pulled them out of

the way, but this would be better. She needed to use all her might to resist me and still be overcome.

I must confess that I was cheating a little. Genya was

over rank fifty and many of her points had gone into strength while I’d been funnelling mine into spells. The orcess was technically physically stronger than I was at this juncture. But this was my dungeon and when not in combat I could be as strong as I wanted to be, regardless of what my stat sheet said.

After a few seconds her elbows contacted the hard

wooden table, and our faces were mere inches apart.

“I win,” I growled.

“Claim your prize,” she husked back at me.

Her arms slipped out from under my chest and

wrapped around the back of my head as our lips collided together with feverish intensity. Our tongues lashed against one another hungrily as we were caught up in a whirlwind of lust.

It may sound bizarre but claiming the orcess lips was

more thrilling than being balls deep in her cunny in that moment. Although I was doing both, so it’s not like I was missing out.

Her surrender during the tumult of lust tasted ever so

sweet, and I would treasure this moment for the many years to come.


My hips went back into motion as I recommenced

thrusting into the grasping furnace of her sex. Genya emitted a keening moan from the side of her mouth as her lips were locked to mine.

Her legs wrapped around my waist and pushed with

great strength, urging me deeper with every thrust.

Her pussy gripped my cock like a vice, and she panted

rapidly between kisses. There was an urgent need for the culmination of this coupling from both of us and I saw no reason to delay.

My pounding hips increased speed and the aching flex

stiffened my cock as I closed in on my climax. I rammed my member in as deep as it could go as my orgasm ripped through my nethers. Cum surged from my twitching balls and finally I broke our kiss and snarled to the rafters of the hall signalling my total victory.

As my seed started to flood the entrance to her womb

Genya matched my primal scream with one of her own. I felt the waves of pressure from her vaginal wall as she demonstrated her power and strength extended to every muscle group.

As the twitching in my sack subsided, I relaxed my

grip on the orcess and returned to lavishing her lips with kisses from mine. Genya’s pussy had seized up with my cock sheathed within her. Right now, I couldn’t pull out even if I wanted to.

This was a very good sign.

Alyssa had filled me in a bit on orc physiology and

mating habits. While in some species the penis would swell in size to prevent removal in orcs it was the woman’s vaginal walls that enlarged and spasmed, locking the male in place.

Basically, unless you had the lovemaking skills to ding

the orcess bell, somebody else could come along and take your place. Without saying a word Genya had expressed her very deep satisfaction of our fucking.

“Is it painful?” I asked her as I stroked her face gently

with the back of my hand.

What was happening inside her was something akin to

muscle cramp and that could hurt like a bitch, my assumption was this could be equally painful.

“A little at first, but you barely register it through the

pleasure. Then by the time that falls away the muscles are already starting to relax,” she whispered, her eyes boring into mine.

“You are not at all what I expected,” she said after a

moment.

“And you aren’t the first to find that out,” I told her,

and she laughed heartily in response.

A minute later and her clenched vagina relaxed

sufficiently that I could withdraw without having to yank myself out violently.

Genya stared up at me through her thick eyelashes,

uncertainty clouding her gaze. I’d seen that look before and knew exactly what to do to dispel any ludicrous notions of inadequacy.

Without a word I picked her up from the table and

threw her over my shoulder and carried her from the room cave-man style. When we reached the boudoir, I threw her down on the silk sheets and she squealed delightfully.

Time for round two.




Chapter 3

 

It’d been half an hour since my party had dismounted

from our warhorses in front of the entrance to Makas’ dungeon. The entrance was just over the border, in zone eight. Given his nature, it hadn’t been much of a surprise to find the troll’s dungeon was located in a copse of sickly-looking trees.

What leaves the trees possessed had their healthy green

growth blighted by black and brown patches. The bark had deep cracks which oozed a disturbing, almost fluorescent, yellow sap tainted with black flecks. The ooze was eerily similar in appearance to the mucous Makas spat all over the floor of my dungeon.

Thankfully that foulness was removed from my floors

when the run was finished.

Makas’ dungeon, named with almost no imagination

The Plague Forest, represented the Death domain and Pestilence sphere. His speciality was something called Diseased Bite.

The dungeon law diseased bite imbued a two-fold

effect. All mobs inside would have the chance of transferring a disease to delvers if they were bitten, even if the mob didn’t naturally have that ability. If they were natural carriers, then they could potentially inflict an even stronger variant of the disease they were afflicted with.

Secondly, all infections that came from a bite source

would be more virulent. They would last longer and gained a limited ability to stack.

Fortunately for us, the dungeon law didn’t make the

afflictions any more difficult to remove or ward against. However, this was a rank sixty-one dungeon, which meant the mobs inside could pass on some nasty shit, so not getting bitten too often would be a high priority.

In addition to sixteen of my disciples, the party was

rounded out with Shelly and seventy-two of my life-seeded mobs for a total of ninety delvers. Due to the nature of the dungeon, I made the executive decision to pad the team with more infernal minotaurs than hobgoblins.

The stamina stat was a big part of your natural capacity

to resist or shake off afflictions. And the minotaurs had that in spades compared to the hobgoblins.

We might miss some of the firepower that the subbed

hobs possessed, but part of my decision was based on the debuff the Plague Forest would be operating under. As they invaded me first, were defeated, and then refused my terms, the denizens of this dungeon were under a hefty penalty.

All sources of damage against us were halved. And this

was before any damage reduction from our armour was applied, so this would be significantly more beneficial for us.

But the purge spells of our healers remained second

tier until tomorrow, so this influenced my decision to favour padding the ranks with tankier options who could ride out the more virulent afflictions for longer.

And as the minotaurs would be the most likely to get

bitten, we would be able to rotate the front line more frequently with more of them in the party.

Makas, like most other dungeons apparently, had

collapsed all his earlier floors, so we only had a single floor to traverse. With only one floor the golden path rules meant it had to be at least twenty distinct chambers. However, it also meant that Makas had invested heavily in expanding the size of these chambers.

After we entered it became clear that dungeon-naming

conventions weren’t the only area where Makas ingenuity came up sorely lacking. There had been no imagination in his floor design. The rooms were an advanced room type that replicated the kind of environment that the dungeon had been placed in.

Diseased and rotted woodland.

It was a slow slog, as the sickly trees in the woodland

were covered in thorns coated in the same yellowed sap I had spotted outside.

Scratches from these thorns inflicted a rank one

disease, Dendropox. This particular infection wasn’t dangerous on its own per se, but it did inflict a stackable fatigue status effect.

The ground was covered in wet, slippery mulch which

did create difficulties for the minotaur’s mobility as they were less agile than the dryads and hobgoblins.

We encountered only a handful of mobs in these early

chambers, despite their large size. Each chamber had two small packs of rabid hounds which attacked us. The frothing dogs were the size of Great Danes with patchy grey fur and maddened red eyes.

However, they weren’t difficult to deal with. I would

guess they were a rank ten mob at best. They were physically weaker than my dire wolves but had the potential to infect their victims with rabies, the effect of which would be enhanced by the dungeon law. My followers were more than strong enough to deal with them in such low numbers

The greatest danger they posed was that those engaged

in combat with them couldn’t be as careful of the thorny projections from the afflicted foliage as they otherwise would have been. After the first wave of attacks, we took to smashing down the trees in our path as best we could when the hounds braying alerted us to their imminent assault.

The thorny branches continued to be an impediment.

Makas had obviously learned a thing or two about slowing adventurers’ progress to maximise his participation experience yield. Unfortunately, that did present a difficulty in our given situation. Time did not stop for rest day invasions and most of the twenty-four hours had elapsed before we came inside the dungeon.

For me and the disciples in the party that wasn’t much

of an issue. We would be allowed to continue until the run’s conclusion, whenever that might be.

For the life-seeded mobs, it was a trickier proposition. I

had more than a few dungeon entrances dotted throughout zone seven and they weren’t all directly controlled by my two guilds and my plans for next week excluded their removal.

Simeon and Nel’Van knew not to send any of their

people in until they got the go-ahead from me, but we wouldn’t have long before an unaffiliated group made their way into one of them.

Especially if certain parties with a track record for

interference managed to prod some people into action. When that happened the life-seeded would be recalled automatically, whereas my disciples and I had the option to let our physical representations in our dungeons run on autopilot.

We had cleared the first three chambers, and if we kept

going at this pace it would take almost four hours to get to the end of the floor and then we’d likely have another hour on the Core floor. That would take us past the end of the rest day.

Holding up my hand in a prearranged gesture, a

communication channel was opened with the watchers back in our dungeon.

“Tenzing, what kind of progress are Jen’Zadeer and

Nessa making?” I asked.

There was a delay of a few seconds before my big-

eared adviser answered. “Much better than yours, Daxas. Although they have more chambers to complete, Vynar’s dungeon is not designed to slow progress in the same manner as Makas’. In fact, due to Vynar’s nature as a disaster dungeon, his chambers are relatively small and intended to bunch delvers together to maximise the effect of his environmental traps. The damage penalty has left him particularly vulnerable.”

“Good to hear,” I said.

“Are you thinking about turning back, Daxas?”

“No, we will up the pace and push onwards.”

“You heard him,” Jessamyn called out to the party. “If

you have more than one application of Dendropox, report to a dryad for cleansing, otherwise, cycle out of the front line until you shake it off naturally.”

I nodded my agreement with my alpha mate. There

was no cooldown on casting the Purge spell, but if we removed Dendropox every time it was applied it would burn through our healer’s mana quickly and quaffing mana potions to replace what was used did have a cooldown.

It was just sensible to reserve the spell’s use for when

the status had stacked a few times as they could all be removed with a single cast. A single application of Dendropox wasn’t too debilitating for our minotaurs, and their high stamina meant they would often shake it off within a few minutes without any magical intervention required.

We pressed on through seven more chambers, each

largely the same as what had come before.

The exit for each would always be in a different place,

but that uniformity of variance assisted me in picking the correct direction for us to go most of the time. If the previous chamber had the exit to our left, the next would have it to our right and then after that, it would be dead ahead. It was only after the dead ahead chamber that there would be a genuine fifty-fifty chance, we might go the wrong way first and then traipse back to the other side of the chamber.

What was more concerning was that based on my

observations of their size, each of these chambers had to be contributing at least two hundred, if not more, dungeon power for Makas to use and the two packs of five rabid hounds only accounted for a hundred in each room. Assuming they were worth ten DP each, it could be a little less.

Which meant he had saved up at least a thousand from

the first ten chambers for later.

That ominous feeling intensified as we made our way

through the next five rotting forest rooms. The décor remained the same, with the possible exception that the mulch on the dying forest floor was deeper than before. What changed was there were no more rabid hounds, and seemingly no replacements for them.

“I don’t like this,” I whispered to no one in particular.

“Can you smell anything?” I directed at the two cat-girls Yanna and Yuni.

“Lots of things,” Yanna replied.

“Mostly, death, rot, and infection,” Yuni continued in

their twin double act.

“It is overpowering, Master.”

“The befouling sweetness of putrescence is masking all

other smells, Master.”

“That’s what I thought. I’m having the same

difficulty,” I confessed.

Yanna’s ear pricked up suddenly. “What is that?”

She had heard something, her sister’s ear perked up in

the same fashion as they listened intently.

“Everybody stop,” I commanded.

When the minotaurs ceased clomping through the

detritus and smashing thorny tree branches out of our path, I focused my aural attention in all directions.

Quickly I picked up on what Yanna had heard. There

was a wet rustling coming from all around us. My golden yellow eyes zeroed in on the mulch around us and then I saw the movement. Not just in front of us, but on all sides and even from where we had come.

“Something is hiding under the crap on the ground and

it’s all around us” I warned the group.

My squad reacted like a well-oiled machine. The hobs

and dryads closed ranks in the centre and the minotaurs formed a circular shield wall.

By the time they had finished adopting their positions,

the movement under the mulch was obvious to all. There was a growing chattering hiss coming from our unseen opponents and I wracked my brain to see if I could identify its source.

The sound was loud enough for everyone to hear and

Teotune placed it first. “Rats. The damned room must be filled with rats, hundreds of them.”

I turned in a circle, peering as far as I could in all

directions. Teotune was correct. Everywhere I looked the dead leaves and twigs were being shuffled by the passage of rodents beneath.

We were too deep into the chamber to retreat. The

ground we had passed over was in as much tumult as the rest of the chamber. But the grand size of the room did give us an offensive opportunity. “Hobs, all sides. Blast these pests with a maxed-size fireball.”

Following my orders, the twelve hobgoblins spread

around the circle and scrambled up onto the backs of a minotaur in the shield wall. Once on the shoulders of the bull-men they unleashed a fireball, sending the spell which once cast looked little different from the smaller Flame Bolt deep enough into the sickly woods that we wouldn’t be caught up in the blowback.

This was where the infected nature of the woods came

in handy as the hobgoblins were able to chuck the fireballs the necessary distance. In a healthy woodland, the dense foliage would have obscured their target points sufficiently that they’d have to reduce the size of the fireball and therefore its coverage.

 The spells struck the ground and exploded in an

impressive sound and light show. The rippling wave of heat they produced washed over us, forcing many to blink from the sudden dry heat. Due to the Fireball spells was mildly explosive nature, a decent quantity of the diseased, composted vegetation was blasted high into the air, particularly at the impact sites.

The rodents concealed below were similarly blown in

all directions. A few of the charred bodies landed close enough to our encircled position that I could get a good look at them.

The rats were larger than those I used in the basement

wings of my dungeons. Their teeth were longer and protruded prominently from their jaws. The area around their beady eyes was caked in the weeping crust of a pus-like substance they exuded. Despite the burns on the bodies, I could tell their black fur was mange ridden.

“Plague rats,” Tenzing’s voice confirmed in my ear.

“Daxas, be careful, I don’t think the hobgoblin’s attack has been as successful as you would have hoped.”

Tenzing’s warning proved unnecessary.

The top of the mulched floor had been singed by the

flames the hobs spell had produced, but the stillness beneath only lasted for a couple of heartbeats before the ruffling recommenced. I realised with a sinking feeling that the dampened detritus which covered the plague rats had insulated many of them from the intense heat and flames of the fireballs.

The top layer had been scorched and likely killed or

severely injured any rats within, but the lower layers, apart from where the fireballs struck directly and caused more devastation, went untouched. We had thinned the numbers of the rodent assailants, but if the incensed chattering were any gauge, there were plenty more coming.

I had to make a quick decision and decided prevention

was better than cure.

“Dryad squads A and B surround us with chill zones,

one foot thick surrounding our position,” I ordered.

The chilly blue of the spell settled in front of us as the

movement beneath the mulch reached us. The chill zone spell had a thirty-minute cooldown. I’d organised the dryads into four squads of six. C and D squad would hold back and therefore retain the use of the spell for later if it was needed. But that did mean squads A and B would have to expend more mana to complete the circle.

Ideally, this would kill every rat that got within the

zone. However, with their current gear, the dryad’s spell power was a little over one hundred, which is how much cold damage the rats would take when they entered the zone. I knew via my clone connection, as he had immediately examined the stats for the beasts, that this would be insufficient to kill any plague rats that had been insulated enough from the fireball blast earlier. They had a stamina of ten, which translated into two hundred health.

Plague Rats were a dungeon power two mob, unlike

regular rats which were four for a single point of DP. Most of that increase in cost was down to the virulent pestilence they carried.

Septicaemic Plague Carrier: Those bitten by a carrier

of septicaemic plague have a 25% chance less their resistance (minimum 5%) of contracting this rank two disease. The infected are afflicted with the Weakness (1) Rot (1) and Gangrenous (1) status effects. The three status effects may stack and have separate save checks. Every minute that you are infected with septicaemic plague another infection check is made. Failing the check will add another stack of the negative statuses.

The nastiness of septicaemic plague was offset by its

relatively low infection rate. However, the diseased bite dungeon law doubled that rate to fifty percent less resistance instead of twenty-five with a minimum of ten percent. The three negative statuses it inflicted would also be at rank two, no longer one.

Rot I was familiar with having been on the receiving

end of a ghoul’s halitosis breath during my first Gauntlet tournament. Rot (2) doubled sources of necrotic damage and reduced healing by twenty percent. The rot status synergised well with Gangrenous (2) which inflicted ten necrotic damage every ten seconds, which would then be doubled to twenty if both were active.

The last status was Weakness (2) which reduced all

physical stats by twenty percent.

Then there was the stacking, which would suck balls.

Any of us who failed the septicaemic plague check

twice would see the negative statuses rise to rank three if they hadn’t already been removed. Another three failures on top of that and it went up to rank four and so on.

This was where Weakness really hurt as most people’s

natural resistance to disease was based on their stamina which would be further lowered with every stacked escalation making them even more susceptible to future failures.

Cleansing the septicaemic plague wouldn’t remove the

negative statuses at the same time. But if a person wasn’t currently infected then that increased the frequency of saves they’d get to naturally slough the statuses off as well as increasing the likelihood that those saves would succeed. And it removed the subsequent infection checks.

All further thoughts fled as the susurrating detritus

approached from all directions and made contact with the chill zone that encircled our position. From beneath the layer of rotting leaves came a horrendous hoarse squeaking from the mouths of dozens of plague rats reacting to damage from the spell.

In response, the surviving pestilential rodents burst

forth from their moist concealment into the murky light of the chamber. There were a few gaps in their swarming attack indicating the dryad’s spell had killed some of the foul little bastards, but many had survived.

What’s more, I could see that the rustling of the mulch

behind this first wave continued unabated. There were more coming.

The minotaurs slammed the bases of their tower

shields into the rotten earth. This would force the plague-ridden rodents to either make for the gaps in the wall where the minotaur’s hammers and axes awaited them or try to scamper up the lengthy shields and attack their throats and heads.

The hobgoblins and my disciples formed a secondary

ring inside the minotaurs, ready to attack any rats that made it through the wall or step in and spear a rat that went high. Jessamyn and the dryad healers formed the core of our circular formation.

Everything started well for us. The first group of rats

unthinkingly scurried for the inviting gaps the minotaurs had left for them and they were smashed and sliced to death before they got close enough to bite anyone. As did the second group and the third.

You couldn’t precisely say they were coming in waves.

It was a constant assault that waxed and waned in strength but never fully relented.

After thirty or more seconds the gaps between the

shields began to fill with the carcasses of slain rats making it even more difficult for the fresh arrivals to get inside. Added to that the movement in the rotten mulch further away appeared to finally be subsiding and our victory seemed assured.

Makas’ gamble had failed, and in the exhilaration of

the moment, I allowed myself the pleasure of grinning widely and barking out a whoop of joy.

Which was a monumental rookie error. It was the

equivalent of a sports broadcaster announcing the team in the lead can’t possibly lose this now when there was still ten minutes on the clock.

The universe gets off on punishing arrogance and

overconfidence. Back in the viewing lounge, my clone held his head in his hands at our foolish pride.

I didn’t have long before the universe revealed its plan

to fuck with me. The soggy earth beneath my feet shifted ever so slightly. I almost missed it with my attention focused on the outer ring, as was everyone else’s. It was just enough that I glanced down and scanned inside our bull fortress. There was movement everywhere within the ring. The cessation of the rustling of the forest floor around our position wasn’t because we had killed all the plague rats. They had simply gone deeper, making their passage less noticeable.

“They’ve gone beneath us,” I bellowed at the top of my

lungs.

No sooner had the sentence left my lips than more than

a dozen mounds of mulch pushed upwards violently. Erupting from the centre of these mounds came a swarm of plague rats. At least three hundred came pouring out of the hastily ploughed burrows.

At the same moment, one last surge of plague rats

sprang from the mulch outside the circular chill zone and threw themselves at the minotaur line, effectively locking them in place.

The rats immediately went on a rampage as they

emerged within our ranks, attacking and biting every person within the inner ring. They either scurried about frenziedly nipping at people’s ankles or launched themselves from the rotten forest floor to cling onto our backs gnawing with their oversized teeth at every opportunity.

The bite wounds themselves inflicted little damage

when our armour and the dungeon defeat penalty was taken into account. The problem would be the infections and accompanying statuses.

It was absolute pandemonium. With the rats inside our

circle in large numbers, our tight formation became a hindrance. My double-headed maul, while great for inflicting huge amounts of damage, was too large to wield effectively so I fell back on using my natural claw attacks.

“Dryads, drop the chill zone spell and minotaurs push

forward. Then everyone reposition. Back-to-back,” came Alyssa’s clipped ‘suggestions’ from above.

Her orders were followed as best they could be.

The spells were dropped early, and my force spread out

quickly, which gave us more room to work, and the business of rat slaying began. I swung my claws and cleared a particularly deformed and mangy beast from Jessamyn’s back and she smiled fondly in response. All around us others performed similar actions and gradually Alyssa’s orders were followed as duos or trios formed covering one another.

There were a few exceptions. Fiadh was let loose and

with more room, she scrambled through our ranks kicking and punching rats as she chased them down with wild abandon. Karragh followed in her wake swinging her hatchets and keeping any rats off the redheaded berserker’s back.

Yanna and Yuni joined me in using their natural claw

weapons and pounced on the rodents that came near them or any of their close compatriots.

Spears stabbed, swords sliced, and staffs whacked at

our nimble feral attackers and slowly but surely their numbers depleted. No fresh rats emerged from the burrows and the minotaurs finished off those involved in the frontal assault and victory was in sight.

My joy at our success was tempered by what had

occurred and the decisions I’d been forced to make during the battle.

There had been so many rats that made it inside our

circle, and everyone had been bitten frequently before we killed them off. Their teeth had found their mark on me more than twenty times and I’d been infected with septicaemic plague three times. But I had resilience to boost my natural resistance ensuring most bites failed. However, apart from Shelly, none of the rest of my people had that advantage.

As the battle had progressed members of our force

collapsed to the ground. The sheer number of infections and the stacking of Weakness had crippled them and robbed them of the strength to stand or fight. In these cases, the plague rats were canny enough to seize any such opportunity and swarmed the fallen to pile on the punishment.

My people reacted swiftly when one of their fellows

dropped and were quick to move in, clear the rodents from them and then pull the prone individuals into their protected groupings. After the first faller, a dryad, had been pulled free her sisters started to cast their Heal and Regrowth spells to try and keep her alive, but Rot robbed those spells of much of their efficacy.

“Stop casting on those who’ve gone down. Conserve

your mana and cooldowns for those that can be saved,” I hollered out triage instructions reluctantly.

It was a difficult decision and one that pained me as I

was essentially sentencing those who went down to death and for some, this would be permanent.

Over the course of the short battle, we lost two of my

human warrior disciples, Clarice and Letitia. They would be okay provided we finished the conquest of this dungeon. However, the seven others that were overwhelmed were life-seeded mobs, one of them the hobgoblin I affectionately nicknamed Grizzlor. For them, there would be no return.

I’d get the mob back, but they wouldn’t be the same.

The personality and memories that made them distinctive individuals would be lost.

It wasn’t a choice, though. If Weakness had stacked to

a sufficient level that they couldn’t stand then Rot and Gangrenous likely would have as well. They’d be enduring over a hundred necrotic damage every ten seconds and that was with the fifty percent reduction. In the best-case scenario it would take them five or six minutes to shrug off those statuses, which meant thousands of points of necrotic damage before they did.

They didn’t stand a chance.

Meanwhile, those who had been bitten often enough to

be at Rot (5) and Gangrenous (5) would be suffering just shy of fifty necrotic damage every ten seconds. They would die without healing to keep them alive long enough to overcome the effects of the septicaemic plague, which also needed to be purged from all of us at battle’s end.

All this cost mana and cooldowns.

The fighting continued until Fiadh crushed the

penultimate surviving plague rat under her boot with a sickly squelch and we were done. Sarrass, the snake-kin woman had wisely grabbed a single living rodent and stuffed it in a sack. The presence of a living enemy combatant meant the Blood Rage spells of Fiadh and the infernal minotaurs would continue and keep their stamina artificially high, boosting their recovery time.

We’d kill the last rat after everyone had recovered or

was lost.

“Sound off on your condition,” I yelled.

The survivors from the ambush called out their various

fitness levels and Jessamyn quickly organised those in most peril to be the recipient of healing first, while those who should be able to power their way through on their own guarded our makeshift camp in case Makas sent anything more against us as we recuperated.

“Husband,” Jessamyn said softly and placed her hand

on my shoulder. “That was far more trouble than I think we were anticipating.”

Her soft touch quelled my incipient anger from boiling

over and crystallising as intent to do something rash, like charging off screaming for Makas befouled head. I took a deep breath and blew it out before responding

“Indeed. I knew Makas was cunning, but I hadn’t

expected him to pick up quite so many pointers from my defensive moves and adapt his own strategy so quickly. This can’t be his default dungeon setup. It is far too lethal, and nobody would come in here if that was the case. Maybe I underestimated his cleverness, and he had been doing this against challengers all along. But if that had been the case, I would have expected him to handle me doing something similar with greater aplomb.”

Jessamyn moved in closer and hugged me. “Yes, but he

can’t have much more left, surely. There were well over a thousand plague rats, maybe as many as two thousand. That must have used up most of his allotted dungeon power.”

“I believe you are right in that regard. We likely only

have what he has left on his core floor. And that will have been weakened with the loss of all his disciples.”

We waited twenty minutes before moving on as people

recovered and waited out the potion quaffing cooldown. We lost all those who had been overwhelmed by the plague, three dryads, three hobgoblins and a minotaur. Additionally, a second minotaur and Teotune perished. They hadn’t been afflicted enough to collapse but had still been in a bad enough way they couldn’t shake off the statuses quickly enough even with healing.

By the time we started to trudge through the damp

forest floor once again my terrible fury had condensed into a knot in my stomach.

Impetuousness was replaced by implacable resolve.

Makas would pay dearly for my losses this day.




Chapter 4

 

Jessamyn’s assessment of the remaining strength of the

Plague Forest proved prophetic. The last few rotting forest rooms were empty of further threats. Makas had concentrated every plague rat he had available in that single attack. Soon we were trudging through a similar setup on his core floor.

The key difference on the core floor was that you only

had five chambers. Makas had chosen not to merge them, and they had only been modestly expanded. The hounds and rats were absent and the troll concentrated his dungeon power in a handful of much larger mobs.

Noxious Ettin. They were two-headed giants that

towered over us, pushing forty feet tall. They were naked apart from a filthy loincloth that preserved their modesty and lumbered forward with a massive club resting on their shoulder. They had massive, distended guts and their skin was covered in sores and scabs.

And, oh boy, did they stink.

You could smell them from anywhere in the room.

With or without an enhanced sense of smell. This was part of their offensive capabilities. The closer you got the more overpowering and choking the stench became until it began to affect your vision and ability to breathe, disorienting you.

Their noxious aura didn’t inflict any damage or status

effects itself, but if you were afflicted by anything from previous encounters then they were empowered and intensified by proximity to the ettin.

This would be a serious impediment to most delving

parties. Not us, though. Our group was oversized and magically enabled.

The ettin were unhealthy and slow and we simply kept

them at a distance and whittled them down from range. The hobs and dryads would fire in their offensive spells or use their crossbows. While the minotaurs and I launched javelins. The ettin’s enlarged gut made for easy target practice.

Each room had a single ettin with the fifth chamber

having two. That was a slightly trickier proposition, but with the end in sight, we let Fiadh off her leash to keep one of the monsters occupied while the rest of the team slew its companion.

After that, we had but one final impediment to

overcome.

I took the lead and strode into Makas’ core room.

Before me was a long chamber, a few hundred feet at

least, utterly bereft of any notion of cleanliness. About midway down the room’s length was an open firepit with the spitted carcass of something large slowly roasting over it.

There were half a dozen poorly made wooden tables

with equally shoddily constructed benches surrounding the fire pit. The tables, benches, and floor were strewn with discarded and rotting bones and meat. The cobbled floor that led from the entrance to the firepit was littered by a variety of smashed items and mucous-drenched rags that filled the gap and obscured the path.

Beyond the firepit appeared to be the resting area.

There were a bunch of filthy straw-covered pallets and mangy furs and Makas’ equivalent of the DDD, a bronzed cauldron smeared with grease and caked in filth.

I barely had a chance to take in the revolting décor

when I had to dodge the glinting blade of a large axe aimed directly at my head. The troll had hidden himself to the side of the entrance and taken his swing as I walked out of the doorway.

My senses and reflexes were good, though, and I rolled

away from the attack, the blade of his axe nicking one of my pricked ears taking a few points of health from me. I grinned wolfishly as I completed the combat role and regained my feet which is when my smile faded.

I could see Makas in all his stomach-turning grossness.

The skin not covered by ill-fitting plate armour was light-blue where it wasn’t obscured by thick blackish scabs and weeping red sores. The troll’s cracked lips pulled back into a hideous grin of his own.

But it hadn’t been the sight of the troll that had stolen

the wind from my sails.

On the other side of the entrance, the floor fell away

into a ten-foot-wide trench that ran the whole way around the edges of the room and ended where Makas had positioned himself. Apart from two small sections on either side of the way into the chamber, the trench had a sealed iron latticed grate that covered it and prevented you from getting out.

If you went into the trench, then the only way out,

other than where you dropped in, was to go all the way around the room to the second opening in the iron lattice structure that was beside Makas’ hiding place.

Oh, and the trench was filled to the brim with raw

sewage.

The stench was eye-watering, and this was where the

troll chose to spend his time.

Above the entrance suspended fifty feet in the air by

ropes was a large solid iron metal box about thirty feet wide and ten feet deep with no bottom or back. The metal box was hanging high enough that I couldn’t see it when I first walked in.

Before I could react, Makas pulled a lever that held this

box aloft and it came crashing down with a echoing metallic clatter and obstructed the way into the core room as well as the opening into the trench opposite the troll’s position. The ground shuddered from the impact of the bulky blockade, which had to weigh several tons, falling into place. Dust, of which there was plenty, was disturbed and puffed into the air making me cover my mouth or suffer a coughing fit.

Credit where credit is due, this was a diabolically

cunning trap.

When the metal box was dropped into place it blocked

the way into the chamber unless you descended into the sewage-filled trench and swam through the disgusting septic waters. You would have to go all the way around to the other end where you could pull yourself out to gain access to the rest of the chamber.

A trap, which unless you’d seen because you’d already

been in the room, you would be unaware of until it was too late.

The design principles weren’t breached as boxing the

archway didn’t prevent you from entering the rest of the room, you merely had to do something extremely unpleasant and potentially dangerous to proceed any further. The gaps in the iron grating weren’t large enough to get your head through, but they were level with the floor so you could press your mouth into the gap to take in some air. Being able to catch your breath meant the lengthy distance you were required to cover under-sewage was of a legal design.

The only thing I didn’t know was if Makas had to

allow one person to enter before dropping the blockade or if he had chosen to do so to trap me.

“Ha! Wolf pup walked straight into Makas’ den. Silly

pup! Now Makas will carve you up and cook you on the fire,” the troll hawked out in his phlegmy grunt while he hefted the long-handled great axe in his claws.

“Tenzing, make sure they don’t get in the sewer water,”

I whispered as the troll gloried in his perceived triumph.

The troll heard me, though and spat. “Makas name is

Makas, not Tenzing. Dumb wolf. Makas will make you pay for earlier. Take your disciples like you took…aargh!”


As the troll made the classic villain mistake of

pointlessly monologuing and grandstanding, I zapped him with a max-powered Lightning Bolt which pushed him back and made him fall heavily on his arse.

The notification flashed by letting me know the bolt

had sapped him of 19% of his health and that lightning rod had procced on him increasing his susceptibility to electrical damage.

I’d been on the verge of following up with Chain

Lightning. Even though the cost of casting a maxed-out Chain Lightning on a single target was prohibitive, five times that of Lightning Bolt, but with lightning rod active it would have been worth it. However, just as my claws twitched to cast, I picked up the sound of skittering and scuttering coming from behind me and glanced over my shoulder.

Emerging from under or behind the piled-up waste

came dozens of familiar large, mangy rats.

Of course, he had a swarm of plague rats in here with

him. Why wouldn’t he? I certainly would have had in his position.

This meant I couldn’t afford to blow my mana wad on

a single spell even if it would wipe another 38% off his total. I might need it for an emergency heal or purge.

The way in might be blocked but that didn’t mean I

was alone. I cast Summon Beasts and positioned the ten wolves between me and the rats. Hopefully, they could run interference long enough for me to finish their master or for Jessamyn and company to come up with a solution of their own.

It was a fucking shame Eina was with Jen’Zadeer and

Nessa. The naiad with her affinity for fluid would have been a great asset right now, given the circumstances.

Purging my mind of the things that couldn’t be

changed, I closed the distance between Makas and myself as the troll rolled over and tried to get back on his feet. My double-headed maul crunched into his shoulder in a vicious overhead strike, but only shaved a disappointing 1.5% off his health.

And then he was back on his feet roaring loudly,

gobbets of phlegm spattering everywhere, and his elbow cracking me in the jaw and draining me of 2.5% of my health.

That included the debuff halving his damage.

He remained a strong bugger with roughly forty levels

on my current avatar. The debuff, my superior armour, and the cheats could only do so much to close the size of the gap and they weren’t fully sufficient. The troll still had an edge on me, and I would need to outfight him.

Makas moved away from his hidey-hole into the room,

advancing on my wolf protectors, trying to draw me closer to the rats. I still had speed on him, though, so I was able to skirt around him, get in front, and use my shield to fend him off. This prevented him from hastening the demise of my wolves.

Deeper in the chamber there came the reassuring yips

from my wolves and the unwanted piercing squeaks from the plague rats as they fought. Makas grinned at me wickedly and I knew why. My wolves were seriously outnumbered, likely five to one. They wouldn’t last much longer, even if he couldn’t hasten their demise, and then the remaining rats would be upon me seconds after that happened.

I also heard the unmistakable sploosh of somebody

surfacing from the sewage and the gasp of a deep inhalation of air. One of my disciples had ignored my instructions by proxy. A quick side-eye glance in the direction of the grate and I recognised the air-sucking lips. It was Fiadh.

Jessamyn must have sent her in anyway. Knowing it

was the berserker woman was a bit of a relief. If anyone could put the disgusting nature of their surroundings to the side and pour their focus into circumnavigating the makeshift sewer in the shortest time possible, it was Fiadh.


Then from behind the troll came a surprising deep

booming ring that emanated from the metal blockade. Based on the sound, several of the minotaurs were charging the obstruction and trying to knock it over. The blockade shuddered and disturbed the dust that had begun to settle upon it but did not topple over, not yet.

But they had the right idea and only needed to get the

timing right.

It was my turn to grin wickedly.

Makas’ grand trap wasn’t as inescapable as he

believed.

Assessing the situation, four of the ten summoned

wolves had been slain but two of those had been resurrected from the Fallen Fight On upgrade. The remaining six were on their last legs. I made an executive decision and cast my array of multi-target sanctified spells on four of those who were close to dying. Heal to restore them back to full health and Bless to increase their damage.

I probably should have blessed four of them from the

beginning, but I never claimed to be a perfect tactician. If I were, then I wouldn’t need to cheat half as much as I did.

Makas and I traded blows as the race for whose

reinforcements would reach us first raged. His axe clanged against my shield in time with the shuddering blows coming from within the mouse-trap barrier. I had abandoned any attempts at ending the combat swiftly and concentrated on blocking his attacks with the occasional ankle-cracking sweep with my maul.

Nevertheless, my wolves couldn’t last forever and after

half a minute longer only a couple of the blessed beasts, who were by now on their ‘second lives’, still fought and they were being swarmed by rats. They had given a good account of themselves and killed fifteen, maybe twenty of the plague rats.

From the corner of my eye, I spotted that Fiadh was

using the grate to accelerate her way through the sewage water. Pulling herself hand over hand as if it were a ladder. She had made it to the far end and was already on her way back down the other way.

She was fast, but would she be fast enough?

The major contribution made by my wolves had been

to keep most of the nest of rats distracted. A few rats had sought out other prey and came for me but were easy to handle one at a time. The biggest danger was that an increasingly desperate Makas would time his axe strikes when one of the little buggers launched themselves at me.

He’d managed to get by my defence twice and I was

down to 80% health.

And then the swarm was done with my wolves. I heard

the piercing squeaks and the skittering of tiny claws on muck-covered cobbles closing in on me. I’d be done if I let them attack as a group. Fiadh was almost all the way around and the minotaurs had managed to rock the metallic box forward an inch, and then it had slammed back into place, but they were getting close to knocking it over.

It was time to use the size of the room to my

advantage. I disengaged from the fight and ran, hurdling the garbage that covered the ground, heading for the edge and the grating over the sewer.

“Come back, coward!” Makas roared as I sprinted

away from him.

There were too many rats for me to avoid them

completely. Several managed to sink their teeth into my exposed flesh and then clung on with their claws, biting repeatedly. I stowed my shield and maul and used my claws to swipe them off while I kept moving. However, I was bitten enough to be afflicted with the septicaemic plague and the associated debuffs.

But I came up with a second new plan on the fly, a

ridiculously crazy plan and changed the direction of my evasive pattern and headed back into the centre of the room to the firepit.

The rats followed.

The firepit was large, big enough to roast an entire cow

or something of a similar size. Plenty big enough for me to jump in and hide behind whatever it was that was currently being cooked in there.

So, I did.

Makas, who had been chasing me in a lumbering,

awkward, cumbersome manner, skidded to a halt at the sight. “What the fuck? Is wolf turd mad!” he grunted in utter confusion.

I grinned viciously as the flames licked at my body.

It hurt, but I was used to the pain by now. The flames

quickly killed any remaining plague rats that were attached to me. Sadly, I wasn’t the pied piper and those that remained weren’t compelled to follow me to their certain death in the flames. The bright side was the rats could no longer attack me and add to the stack of my current debuffs, as that would have dragged me down before Fiadh or the minotaurs could intervene.

However, my plan wasn’t as crazy as it first appeared.

Firstly, I had built up my damage reduction from heat

sources, granted by my resilience, close to its maximum over the years, so I wasn’t taking as much damage as Makas assuredly had assumed. Sure, I was losing roughly 2% of my health every second, but that gave me thirty seconds before it would be fatal.

Phase two of the plan involved me casting Purge to

clear the plague I’d been infected with and give me a better chance to clear the few debuffs I’d already been afflicted with. Then I quaffed a mana potion to restore my mana pool to maximum and I fired the Chain Lightning at Makas from my fiery last stand. The big goof, standing there with his rotten-toothed mouth wide open, made for a target impossible to miss.

The spell arced from my fingertip, accompanied by an

intense light that forced me to blink and connected in the gaping goalmouth he had left for me. He stumbled back, the electricity arcing from his face back towards the fire-pit surrounded by plague rats and zinged into one, then a second, and finally a third, thinning their numbers a touch.

Getting the headshot with the spell had reduced Makas

to under 30% health. I had just enough mana left to cast Regrowth on myself, which brought me back to almost full health.

Makas hauled himself back to his feet, rage evident on

his snarling face.

“What’s the matter, Tacky-Macky?” I taunted. “Come

on in, it’s nice and toasty in here.”

“Fuck you! Makas not fool like stupid wolf. Makas

stand here and let wolf burn up,” he spat in response.

I resummoned my shield at his response and dropped it

in the pit and stood upon it. With my body no longer being directly burned by the flames the health loss was reduced and extended how long I could stay in position. It also gave me access to my javelins secured on the inside of the shield.

“Ah, but I don’t think you understand. In mere

moments, my people will breach your nuisance of a trap and then what are you going to do? If you go to fight them, I will just leave the fiery pit. To win, you need to kill me and to kill me you need to come and get me.”

To accentuate my point, the blockade shuddered again

and lifted the farthest from the floor it had done so far. At the same moment, Fiadh pulled herself out of the sewer. She was sodden, filthy, and bleeding from a dozen wounds. Evidence that Makas had seeded his sewer with something nasty to attack those who attempted to traverse it.

None of that mattered to my fiery berserker queen.

Fiadh roared an unintelligible war cry and charged down the room towards us. The baker’s dozen of plague rats that still lived abandoned the encirclement of the fire-pit and responded to her challenge by skittering in her direction.

The troll couldn’t help himself and peered over his

shoulder which is when my first javelin slammed home into his chest. His head sprang back to me, and flecks of spittle flew in all directions, and he took three steps towards me and yet he hesitated.

As Fiadh started to tear into the rats a ringing thud

reverberated throughout the chamber.

My people had finally managed to tip the metal

blockade over.

My disciples came pouring through from around the

side with the foul-mouthed spear-wielding Gadiel leading the charge. Karragh and Jessamyn were close behind the beautiful elf. A few of them even climbed or leapt from the backs of the minotaurs, over what had been the roof of the blockage.

I laughed wildly and gave Makas the ubiquitous one-

finger salute. A gesture, the meaning of which, had seemingly crossed the divide of worlds.

He roared with anger, and I shifted my fingers into a

double-digit beckoning motion.

The troll had little choice. He was seconds from the

end. His only way out was to finish me off.

The sensible move for me was to avoid the fight and

wait for my backup, but I wanted to destroy this piece of shit myself. For Grizz and the other life seeded I’d lost today.

Makas was tall enough that he could step over the fire-

pit wall. Once inside he seized the low-hanging, roasting carcass and hurled it out of the way. Only then did he see the shield I was standing on. The rise of his low-ridged eyebrows gave away his surprise.

This let me summon my maul and sweep in a quick

thudding stroke to his potbelly for another 1.5% of his health. I may have pulled one over on him, but the troll remained cunning. His next act was to shoulder charge me and try to dislodge me from the shield and claim the relative relief from the flames that it offered.

His plan was successful to an extent. He did indeed

knock me off my perch and I stumbled backwards to the edge of the pit wall. Makas grinned at me in triumph as his axe blade swung for my head. I dropped onto my butt as the axe swished through the air above me, stuck my foot out until it connected with my shield once more and promptly returned it to my inventory. If I couldn’t have it then neither could he.

Concurrently I slammed my maul into the inside of his

knee. Being sat on my arse gave me perfect aim and my weapon collided directly with the joint and I heard the sweet sound of its snap. Makas buckled under his own weight and crumpled in the middle of the coals of the firepit.

The ‘break ’in his leg wouldn’t last for long and would

be quickly replaced by an agility debuff, but it was enough for my purposes. With the troll down I scrambled to my feet and hopped onto the wall surrounding the pit away from the heat and flames.

From my new vantage point, I saw that the rats were

dead, but Fiadh had collapsed. Jessamyn with a couple of the dryads were tending to her. Gadiel, Karragh, and the catgirl twins had reached the other side of the makeshift gladiatorial ring. Makas sat up and swung his axe at my legs and I jumped out of the way of his weapon.

Wallowing in the superheated embers of the fire had

almost finished him.

“What a hothead!” I yelled in my best Austrian accent

and brought the maul down in a powerful swing. The strike crushed Makas face and smashed any unbroken teeth to smithereens. The troll toppled backwards, completely insensate, from the blow.

He may have had a few health left after I smushed his

noggin but that only delayed the notification of the successful conquest of the Plague Forest by a second or two as the heat from the pit exacted its final toll.

“Why did he make that silly fucking voice just before

he smashed that troll cunt’s face in?” Gadiel asked the other girls as they stared up at me in all my victorious glory.

Karragh chuckled with amusement. “He calls them

Barney quotes.”

“Arnie,” I corrected her.

“My apologies, Master. Arnie quotes. It has something

to do with the films he wants us to watch that make no sense,” she quickly followed up, with kindly amusement.

“You liked the Conan ones,” I argued, a little deflated

at my lack of audience appreciation.

“Only because they could be real, not like all that other

made-up stuff.”

Gadiel shook her golden locks and looked me directly

in the eye. “Well, it’s your real, gruff voice that gets my cooch wet and ready. You should stick to that when you fuck up one of these asslickers in the future, Master.”

Not exactly the reaction I’d been hoping for, but I’d

take it and then take Gadiel for good measure.

Though not until we got back to the comfort of our

dungeon. This place truly fucking stank. Not to mention it was strewn with filth and dead mangy plague rats.

I was about as big a horn-dog as it was possible to be,

but even for me, this place was a bit of a mood killer.

We gathered the proceeds of the conquest and

exercised the instant return to the Lair option you were offered after a successful conquest.

There were mere minutes left until the start of the next

 

week. This victory had come with a cost which I was unused to, but it was still a victory.




Chapter 5

 

Simeon Reedwhistle

 

I was escorted from the Blue Pennant guild

headquarters by Torvald. His bushy moustache quivered with concern, but that didn’t surprise me. The meeting with the Pennant’s leadership had gone about as well as expected. At Daxas’ urging I had presented them with the same offer that the Wolf King had made to Nel’Van and the Sons of the Shadow.

To put their guild and therefore their futures in his

pocket. The revelation that the Dark Moon Rising was not only cooperating with a dungeon but led by one had left them in stunned silence. Shock, awe, disbelief, and anger had played across the faces of the assembled worthies.

Daxas was confident the Pennant would see things his

way and sign on the dotted line. I was less sure, but it was his plan, and I merely played the part requested.

When he recruited me to be the head his guild, I was

desperate. Languishing under the mistreatment of the dwarves who were no more. Similarly, Nel’Van had been in the tightest of spots, his future looking bleak both personally and for his guild when the offer was made to him.

Things were different for the Blue Pennant. They were

an established guild in good standing. Not the most powerful or influential but no laggards in that regard either. Daxas did not possess the same leverage over them as he did us, and that could be the tipping point against him.

Torvald didn’t guide me to the public entrance but to a

smaller private one that led out into a side street and not the main thoroughfare. He put his hand on the door latch and paused before looking back at me and smiling weakly.

“To think I had been looking forward to our meeting

today,” he sighed with a half-hearted chuckle. “There shall be uproar amongst the upper echelons for the rest of the night as they ‘discuss’ yours’ and Daxas offer.”

“My apologies, Torvald,” I answered honestly. “I know

this is a lot to take in. And a very difficult decision to make. Handing over the reins of power to an unknown for the promise of salvation. I’m not sure that I’d be willing to do the same in your guild’s position.”

“You don’t know the half of it, my friend,” he sighed,

and took his hand from the door without opening it.

Torvald glanced around the varnished wooden walls of

the corridor as if he was double-checking on our privacy. Behaviour which drew a curious stare from me until he gestured for me to join him on a padded bench in the hallway.

We sat down. Torvald opened his mouth to speak and

closed it several times before he made the firm decision to ask his question. “Can I trust you, Simeon? What I am about to tell you is of a delicate nature.”

“Of course, Torvald. Had it not been for your

intervention a couple of weeks ago my guild would have been expunged. Provided what you say is not a threat to the Dark Moon Rising or the Lair, I suppose, you have my utmost confidence.”

What I’d said was true, but I’d have been tempted to

lie after he’d dangled the potential of juicy gossip in front of me even if it hadn’t been. Before Torvald answered, a burst of insight convinced me I was about to discover the source of Daxas inexplicable confidence that the Pennant would fall in line.

“Thank you, my friend. Things are not as harmonious

within the Pennant as they may seem to most outsiders. We have hidden it from public view, of course, but internally there have been severe rumblings. There is widespread dissatisfaction with Boris, the guild master, and his leadership.

He has made many errors of late, and the guild has experienced setbacks. Nothing egregious, but it has affected morale and…well…let’s just say that he hasn’t been leading by example.

“There have been several unofficial attempts to oust

him, but he has survived solely because there is disagreement amongst his detractors as to who should succeed him.

 “And now into that melting pot of political

manoeuvring comes Daxas offer. He presents an opportunity to facilitate the removal of Boris without any of those vying for his seat benefitting, at least, not directly.”

I nodded in understanding. “You think they may put

their distrust aside, believing Daxas to be a figurehead that can be pushed aside easily ?”

“Something like that,” Torvald responded gravely. “Or

that one way or another he will be gone in a few weeks, perhaps months. I fear they see only an opportunity to advance themselves and shall ignore any potential dangers. Boris and his cadre of supporters will object and strenuously so, but as I said, he hangs on only because those who wish him gone can’t agree on who shall be his alternative. So…I ask you, my friend. Can Daxas be trusted?”

I couldn’t help but laugh a little. Why was it always

me, a renowned Daxas doubter, who was often at the forefront of having to advocate on his behalf?

“People keep asking me that question. Well, Nel’Van

did at any rate,” I explained with a snicker. “I won’t tell you the same thing I told him, though. Not that anything I told him a couple of weeks ago was untrue. It is only following that conversation, I ended up questioning myself deeply on this very topic. As I’m sure you are aware, introspection is not usually a halfling forte.”

Torvald smiled in response to my joke, and I

continued.

“Can he be trusted? Honestly, I’ve had my doubts as

you have yours, but I did, or do I suppose, anyway. Trust him, that is. I had to think long and hard as to why, even suspecting at one point he was somehow controlling my mind, but I’m sure that isn’t the case.

“The answer came to me out of the blue as I relaxed a

couple of nights ago in the Fire House, which is our bar back in the DMR’s compound. It was a night of revelry and good times. I drank and laughed with my friends and allies. Pacclo, Arash, Sindar, Yorsashi, Thrasher, and the dwarf twins amongst many others. You met most of them when last you visited us. My gaze settled on Piotr, my protégé and his good-natured, albeit futile, attempts to keep up with the others drinking. And there it was, when I least expected it, an epiphany.

“I looked upon young Piotr. His joy, his trust, his

earnestness, and knew with complete conviction that he didn’t deserve to be here. My eyes scanned the rest of the table and saw the same qualities to varying degrees in all my companions.

“They didn’t deserve to be here, none of them,” I said

it a bit more harshly than I’d expected. My emotions beginning to run hot. “They didn’t deserve this fate. No more than I did, and I was struck dumb at the sheer magnitude of how, up until that point, I had blindly accepted the way things are. My unquestioning acceptance of what the Lords had done to me. Me and so many others.”

Torvald shifted uncomfortably at my words as I knew

he would. I had tried to articulate this to a few others and observed how they squirmed, as if something so simple was a reality they struggled to comprehend or acknowledge.

“The enormity of how blinkered I’d been shocked me

to the bottom of my heart. How inflexible everyone’s outlook had been. How conditioned we had become to accept that this is our lot in life, that we have earned our damnation.

“There had been but one exception to that, though. The

source of my freshly awakened resistance. Daxas.”

Torvald seemed even more uncomfortable than ever,

but I pressed on. Determined to finish, to say my piece and have him hear it.

“During our very first conversation, between him and

me, before all this began, he asked me what I had done to deserve this fate. After I told him he dismissed it as unfair. Unjust. As it had been for him and his disciples. What he said didn’t truly register with me at the time, much as you are struggling with it now, but then, months later, it did, during that night with my friends.

“He was the first and only person to suggest we have

been on the receiving end of a raw deal. That we are the victims, not the offenders,” I practically hissed. Anger welled in my chest and fought for release, but I had to bring it back under control. Let the resentment simmer, ready to be used at a later date.

“I can’t promise you that Daxas has your best interests

at heart or that we will survive and prosper from what he has planned. All I can assure you is that he is going to spite the unworthy privileged cunts who have done this to us and do his damnedest to tear it all down in the process.

“And if my ultimate fate is to have my soul torn to

shreds and consumed in the Dark Reaches, I’d rather spit in the eye of my cocksucking jailers first than go quietly into the night without a whisper of protest.

“I do not trust, or even like him much. But I trust him

to be who he is. A cheat, a rulebreaker, a man willing to smash any opposition he faces, no matter the odds stacked against him,” I finished and rose from the bench, and patted a clearly shaken Torvald on his shoulder.

It had been a difficult revelation for me, and I’d been

somewhat prepared for it. I hoped I hadn’t broken him permanently. He was a good man.

While Torvald struggled with the raging philosophical

and spiritual conflict within, I quietly let myself out onto the side street and made my way back to our new guild house whistling a jaunty tune.

My good mood lasted precisely until I received the

reports of had happened back at Alpha House in my absence landed on my desk. The dungeon serving staff battling invisible enemies. What the hells?

Daxas.

Bloody Daxas.

Bloody, bloody, Daxas.

 



 

Tamara Huxeidon

 

I hated waiting more than anything else in the world.

And then I chuckled to myself as that was a monstrous

deceit and I knew it. Waiting was an inconvenience, nothing more. There were many things more hateworthy, and my impatience would be answered soon enough.

There were but a few minutes of the rest day

remaining.

Reena slithered into the chamber unannounced, but the

gentle rattle of her tail gave away her arrival. I remained resting upon the red velvet divan and awaited her as she approached. Today had not been a good day, and the next promised to trump it in terms of misery. For what felt like the millionth time I cursed being born with the talents of a seer.

My eyes were closed, and I massaged my temples

gently. The beginnings of a headache were already spidering their way across my cerebellum. An obvious proto-headache, which was a sure sign of an impending mental invasion by my former patron, Timian.

The heightened level of pain presaged that he would be

bringing company.

The soft susurration of Reena’s movement over the

plush rug ceased as she stopped a few feet from my seated position. Without seeing I knew she was proffering a suitable degree of respect.

Reena had been with me almost since the beginning

and we had become close friends in the many years that had passed since. Yet, she never once forgot her place nor overstepped the mark. The lamia had been an ever-reliable source of support and comfort in this horrible place.

“Misstress, you are disstressed,” Reena hissed as she

came to a full stop.

“What gave it away, Reena,” I laughed half-heartedly.

I could feel the agitation of the copper serpentine

extensions on my head, which were always a dead giveaway as to my state of mind. They weren’t truly snakes, not in the sense that they had any real cognizance of their own. However, that didn’t stop them from behaving as if they were entirely independent entities.

Opening my eyes and sighing I took in the concerned

stare from my disciple, servant, and most importantly, friend. Reena was an imposing presence. Reaching almost nine feet in the air even when her brown-scaled, serpentine lower half was in a coiled resting state. She could rear up another six or seven feet if the need presented itself.

Reena’s assessment was accurate. It had been several

hours since Gorvag’s rather terse messages describing the unmitigated disaster of their cabal’s latest attempt at eliminating Daxas’ dungeon.


Failure was a significant understatement of the

situation.

What the burly orc described was unsettling in more

ways than one, though.

The external assault on his army by dungeon creatures

had been a worrying revelation. This was something Tamara had thought impossible. Gerhalt, the boisterous halfling, had been particularly effusive in his denial that such a thing could be done and claimed Gorvag had to be mistaken in some manner. Although an explanation of how he could be mistaken about something like that had left the normally verbose halfling understandably stumped.

However, the information brokers were buzzing with

activity in the Auction House. And Gorvag’s account of the events had been easy enough to verify which shut Gerhalt up for the most part.

Most of the brokers, and the witnesses they derived

their information from, were supplicants so they were unsure of precisely what occurred, though many made very accurate guesses.

What was undeniable, though, was that the external

mobs Daxas used to serve customers in his outbuildings had battled something in the Dark Moon Rising’s compound.

“If you hadn’t heard,” I began to explain. “Gorvag’s

assault on the Wolf King’s Lair was a failure, Reena. You likely had left Burstan’s dungeon before Gorvag messaged us the bad news.”

I spent the next few minutes updating Reena on what

we’d learned from Gorvag in the last couple of hours.

The lamia nodded in understanding. “You are

expecting an unpleasant vissitation from Lord Timian?”

I grunted an affirmative response. “Soon, the painful

forewarnings are already upon me. But that’s not the worst of it,” I sighed loudly, before ploughing onwards and verbalising what truly troubled me. “He is lying, Reena. I feel it. I just don’t know what about.”

“Gorvag?” she asked in shock.

Reena knew the depth of the friendship that had

developed between the gruff orc and me.

Although I’d had the good fortune of forming a close

bond with her, the same could not be said for my other disciples. My relationship with the others was cordial and appropriately deferential on their part, but there was no feeling behind it. They served because they must, not because they chose to.

After a lifetime of distrust and the pointed aloofness of

others, you would think that I’d have grown used to it. I hadn’t, it hurt as much if not more. My bond with Reena was welcome, but she was still a subordinate.

Gorvag was my only real connection with an equal and

his deception cut deep.

“Do you know what he hass lied about? Or why?”

Reena questioned further.

“I do not. That is why I sent Milton to his dungeon

with a private message of commiserations. Hopefully, he can spot something while he is within. Anything that imparts some clue as to what is going on.”

“Milton is a good choice.” Reena agreed with me with

a nod of her head. “He is sswift, like the wind. He will have made it in time.”

Milton was another of my disciples, the most recently

acquired, but reliable. A hare-kin man with impressively high agility.

Speaking of Milton, my gaze shifted to the clock at the

far end of my antechamber. The second hand had but a handful more ticks before it ushered in the beginning of the next week.

Tick-tock, tick-tock, tick-tock. Then with the final tick,

chimes within the clock’s cabinet began to strike out a pealing melody. As the short musical alert concluded, Milton materialised in front of the clock.

The hare-kin man was almost seven feet when you

included his ears, pricked in alert at his sudden transference. He was dressed in pale green leather armour, with custom-made boots that fitted his long-paw-shaped feet. Milton had his back to me when he arrived and spun around quickly. His large eyes opened wide when he noticed Reena, who had slithered into position on the right-hand-side of the red velvet divan.

Despite Milton’s fall and incorporation into the ranks

of my disciples being almost six months ago, his distrust and inherent dislike of the lamia woman was undiminished.

His caution was understandable in a way.

They both hailed from the nineteenth realm, Fildruthia,

as did I. Lamia had a well-earned reputation for aberrant predation in that realm. Hare-kin had come to be popular prey for the more depraved members of her species, particularly the young leverets.

It was a minority of lamia that engaged in the

consumption of flesh from other civilised beings, and Reena had never shown any such inclination to such behaviour during the many years that she had served me. But such ingrained fear is difficult to shift, even after death.

“Approach and report, Milton,” I commanded when it

became clear he would remain at a distance.

“Yes, mistress,” he replied rather formally and bobbed

his head, never taking his eyes off Reena.

Rather than stand directly in front of Tamara, he veered

to his right so he would be as far from the lamia as he could be without disobeying my orders.

“I made it to Gorvag’s dungeon as instructed, Mistress,

and managed to get a brief audience with him and relay your message before the rest day ended and I was summoned back.”

“Good,” I said. “How long did you have inside?”

“Maybe ten minutes, Mistress. Apparently, my arrival

was unexpected, and I was not admitted immediately.”

There was a hint of curiosity in Milton’s tone that I

chose not to answer.

The biggest drawback of the messaging feature via the

design tables was that it cost you experience to establish a channel and cost a little more for every message exchanged. Because nobody felt secure enough to frivolously waste experience, they’d only created a single messaging group and anything she sent would be seen by all members of the cabal.

Therefore, for private correspondence, a physical

message was sent by a courier, such as Milton, and then a very short public message would be sent via the table so the recipient would know to expect them.

All the cabal’s members did this, so it wouldn’t seem

unusual, but this time she had chosen not to inform Gorvag to expect a visitation. Milton was unaware of her suspicions, hence his curiosity.

Of course, had they admitted Makas and Vynar to the

communication network they could be questioned directly. The pair had refused to pay the initial entry fee and remained uncontactable except in person. They could have forced the issue and made it a condition of joining their alliance. That would have made getting to the bottom of what occurred today easier.

However, neither she nor any of the others had been

eager to include them anyway. They all fervently hoped that once Daxas was dealt with, they could quietly or violently, if necessary, purge the unpleasant duo from the alliance. Allowing the pair access to their most convenient means of plotting would have been counterproductive, regardless of how inconvenient it had proved to be.

“Did you see anything out of the ordinary when you

were there?” she pressed her disciple.

“Not really, Mistress. They were somewhat out of

sorts, short and abrupt with me but that wasn’t unusual, especially considering their earlier failure.”

I nodded in agreement. “Who greeted you and guided

you to Gorvag?”

“Traxor, I think, Mistress. He didn’t introduce himself,

but I think I’d met him before. It can be difficult to tell them apart, as Gorvag’s disciples all behave in the same ill-mannered way.”

This piqued her interest. Gorvag did not have a disciple

named Traxor.

“I could be wrong about the name, though,” Milton

added as an afterthought and quenched her burst of excitement.

“Was Gorvag alone when you met with him?”

“No. He had Runx with him and two of the others.

Runx and his imperious attitude I definitely recognised,” Milton confirmed.

Milton’s account told her nothing. Well, nothing useful.

“What about his daughter?” she asked.

“His daughter?”

“Yes, Genya. Gorvag’s daughter. Did you see her?”

“I knew he had a female orc disciple but didn’t know

that she was his daughter,” Milton said with surprise.

“He rarely mentions the nature of their relationship to

outsiders.”

“No, I didn’t see her. Although she hasn’t always been

present when I have visited in the past.”

Genya would not have been far from her father’s side

given the disappointment of today. She was far too headstrong. Gorvag often complained about her being an eternal thorn in his side with a proud goofy smile on his face.

Could he have lost Genya in the assault? Is that why

she wasn’t there? I mused to myself.

Then just as quickly dismissed any such notion.

Gorvag would never have abandoned the run if it meant losing his daughter. Milton must be mistaken about the name Traxor, as he suggested himself.

Perhaps Makas and Vynar had almost killed the girl

and that was why Gorvag had abandoned the run after they fled, and he simply didn’t want to admit the real reason to the others? Or even her? After all, his failure endangered them all.

Yes, that made sense. I would have to visit him in

person next week. When I’d had an opportunity to reassure him that I understood his decision and didn’t judge him unfairly for it. He’d be sure to open up to me.

Relieved at discovering a logical explanation for my

friend’s deceit I dismissed my disciple. “Thank you, Milton. You may go. Reena, will you fetch me some willowbark tea, please.”

“Of course, Misstress.”

Milton bowed and departed swiftly. Reena slithered

after him to brew the tea.

It always seemed to work better if freshly brewed

rather than when summoned from the inventory. I had no idea why that was the case, but I would need the tea today. The pain in my temples had doubled during my brief discussion with Milton.

A clear marker of Timian’s coming displeasure.

 



 

Jezebel

I smiled widely at my opponent in this duel.

 

Sweat and rivulets of blood ran from a dozen shallow

cuts, and they framed the weary grimace he returned in response to my grin.

His impeccably styled and highlighted blonde hair was

dishevelled and out of place. Loose elements from his fringe interfered with his line of sight and I’d spotted his hands on the shaft of his spear twitch with a desire to reach up and tuck the stray locks back into place.

Taliel, I think his name was. Not that his name

mattered.

These elves were merely tools to be turned to my

purpose.

And putting arrogant elf males in their place was

always a pleasurable experience. At best they only ever paid lip service to the worship I was owed in the elven pantheon.

It was bad enough that I’d been saddled with such a

depressingly dire aspect like chastity, but I’d also been forced to share the devotions of the elves with two other Lords. The twins Solus and Lunas. The sun and the moon.

You would struggle to find a lazier, less attentive, pair

of Divine Lords if you tried.

And yet, the festivals in their honour drew celebrants

from many of the realms to give thanks for the sunrise and the promise of dawn. The pair had no hand in either of these daily events whatsoever, yet they got all the credit for the natural phenomenon.

Meanwhile, I’d be lucky to have any but my hate-filled

clergy, and the collected war orphans who didn’t have a choice, attend the feast days held in my honour.

I allowed the injustices of the past to spur the

vengeance enacted today.

The duel was taking place in a pristine, vaulted,

alabaster hall. It was the private council chambers for the Gleaming Towers guild. Taliel was being urged on by three of his fellow council members. All three were in various stages of recovery following their comprehensive defeat in three previous duels with me.

The last spectator in the room was the current guild

Highest, Ardryll.

Sat upon a throne made from Sanctified Silver and

inlaid with pearls and cream silk cushions he surveyed the scene with seeming calm poise. It was all a pose, of course. I could smell the sour stench of his sweat beneath the cloying sweetness of his perfumes.

I could tell he was deeply concerned, as he should be.

Defeating his council of four before directly

challenging him for his seat of power has been his idea, after all. There was no way that Ardryll could decline or find another way out. He had already set the terms himself. He’d been confident of their success. Despite my impressive arms and armour, I was merely a she-elf, what did he have to fear? More fool him.

His first three councillors had faced me with sabre and

dirk. The traditional armament of the High Elf nobility, the very weapons I wielded myself. Taliel had elected to use the spear after I challenged him. The spear was a weapon of war, not finesse, and would have shamed him greatly had this duel been a public event.

I could have switched up as well. I was equally

proficient with both weapons, but it would be a more emphatic victory when I defeated the elf, because of his honourless breach of duelling etiquette.

The greater reach of his polearm would delay his

inevitable demise but could not change it.

Lunge and thrust. Retreat, and parry the spear tip.

Riposte when he overextends himself. Rinse and repeat.

My opponent’s arms were growing tired, and his latest

jab was wild, inaccurate, and exposed his growing desperation. I moved in swiftly and sliced just above the back of his knee and severed his hamstring.

Taliel fell to one knee and frantically gasped, “I

concede,” a split second before my sabre would have gouged out his throat.

Ardryll jumped up from his seated position. “Taliel!

You blasted coward,” he screeched in a higher pitch than I think he intended.

Ardryll could whine all he liked, but the previous three

combatants had done the same and pointedly didn’t meet his anguished gaze any more than Taliel, who scrambled backwards and out of the duelling ring.

The terms I’d set for each duel had included the right

to challenge the next in line to Ardryll upon my success…and for every one of their soul marks. Barring the last mark, of course, which they could not wager.

I’d have been more than happy to cut the arrogant fools

down and strip them bare by the terms of the duel. However, elven custom dictated you include a concessionary clause that penalised those who conceded to a lesser degree.

In this case, Taliel would get to keep his soul marks.

The custom was a holdover from the first few

millennia of the Realms’ existence. The original Lords had created the elves to be long-lived and capable of storing and accumulating their soul essence for longer. The intent had been to see if the increased lifespan resulted in them creating more nutritious souls for our use.

The experiment had been an abysmal failure.

Yes, the individual souls of the unageing elves

provided a greater amount of essence when they eventually died. But it had a crippling side-effect on their birth rate, lowering it to near-disastrous levels.

They were unable to maintain their population levels

due to natural wastage from accidents and sickness alone. We had to isolate them from the other races, otherwise, warfare, the perennial hobby of the mortal races, would have annihilated them in a handful of centuries. Hence, in their isolation, they developed the aforementioned custom, amongst others, to prevent hastening the demise of their culture.

 Adhering to those antiquated customs was no longer

necessary, especially here in the Proving Grounds.

After the third millennium, Solus, Lunas, and I

manifested our presence in the Realms and altered the few thousand remaining elves so that their future offspring would have shorter, mortal lifetimes, and their species was preserved.

The other Lords refused to help us, of course. Despite

them all being involved in agreeing to the experiment in the first place, but then it was our future sustenance at risk, not theirs. Had the experiment been a success those parasitical vultures would have shown up with their hands out and behaved like pigs at a trough.

Of that, there could be no doubt.

Interestingly, our intervention had been the foundation

of the sundering of the elves.

Although we didn’t know it at the time.

The physical changes wrought by our interference went

unnoticed until the first children were born years later. An early hint of what was to come, though the marks left by our power took centuries to manifest on the immortal elders.

Those touched by Solus, became the progenitors of the

wood elves. Those changed by his twin sister Lunas birthed the dark elves.

My touch, being far more skilful, resulted in almost no

physical changes at all on my subjects, and it is why the high elves considered themselves to be the purest form of elf.


Which only made it all the more galling that their

descendants continued to express more devotion to that pair of lazy, useless fuck-ups, who created their corrupted cousins, instead of me, the one they should truly be thankful to.

Admittedly, those I personally touched, unlike the dark

and wood elves, may have lost their unageing quality and would better be described as undying, but the ingratitude from those bitter, wizened, prunes was really beyond the pale.

Turning the very children, I enabled them to have,

against me was the real crime. Not their advancing decrepitude.

A few of those churlish elders still lived, though they

never left their towers. They merely plotted and pulled the strings through puppet rulers.

In fact, when this was all over, and I was replete with

strength and energy, I resolved to bring the towers down upon their doddering frail heads for their disloyalty.

And kill Solus and Lunas’ favourites residing in their

spires and glens for good measure as well.

Then all elvenkind would bow and worship me as they

bloody well should have from the beginning.

I flicked my sabre and dislodged a few droplets of

Taliel’s blood and made sure they spattered on the carpet away from me. I was dressed in form-hugging scaled sanctified adamantine, and it reflected the light from the guttering torches that surrounded the ring. My sabre was made from the same material and its pommel housed a six-carat diamond. All my gear was heavily enchanted.

If I was going to risk my existence in the Proving

Grounds, then I would damn well wear the finest accoutrements that were available.

Timian would be furious when he learned how many

top-tier items I’d helped myself to from the Divine Armoury upon my arrival. Due to the ethereal entity’s commitment to balance, the armoury for our champions was not inexhaustible.

Well, not for the good stuff.

But the misogynist asshole planned to kill me anyway,

so he could fuck off if he thought I wouldn’t take everything I was permitted to. If I could have left him with nothing but standard unenchantable gear for him and his troops I would have.

I had to settle for taking half the highest-rated items

only, but it should be enough for what I had planned.

I stepped forward and out of the duelling circle, glaring

at the petulant Highest, Ardryll. He had the good grace to gulp audibly and fidget nervously under my gaze.

Ardryll was a prince, the scion of a powerful Tower

family.

Albeit likely the fifteenth or sixteenth son of a King of

one of the elven empires. I didn’t really care which one as it didn’t matter. He would have been sentenced to the Proving Grounds to show solidarity with the common citizens. If such a thing could be said about high elves.

He would have been made certain guarantees for his

willing participation upon his death, or more likely, his mother had. Being handed the position of Highest for the Gleaming Towers would have been one of those assurances. He certainly hadn’t earned it. His four councillors each had thirty or more ranks on him and would have carved him to pieces in a challenge.

The coward was already trembling, and I hadn’t even

issued any threats yet.

Ardryll tugged on his royal blue ermine coat and

straightened his posture. “Best we get on with it. I don’t have all day. I presume you wish to challenge me with the same terms as the other four. In which case I accept.”

He’d managed to gird his loins and find a smidgeon of

courage. Time to quash that.

“No.”

“No…no…What do you mean no? I thought you

wanted to challenge me?” he asked querulously, his earlier bravado dissipating as fast as it solidified.

“Ardryll, I have been in a profoundly bad mood since I

arrived. Your insistence that I battle my way through four of your stooges to claim what is mine has not improved my disposition in the slightest.

“In fact, if you were to hazard the guess that it had

deteriorated further with each duel you wouldn’t be wrong.

“If I have to challenge you, there will be no concession

clause. I will take the guild. I will take your soul marks. And then I will expel you to fend for yourself,” I threatened.

“What?” he squawked. “You can’t do that. Custom

demands that you offer a lesser penalty for forfeiture,” he argued desperately.

“Custom also demands those of noble breeding face

one another sabre to sabre, but you ordered your minion to use a long spear. The weapon of the battlefield, not the duelling ring,” I replied with quiet menace.

“But…but…but you’re just a landless she-elf. Such an

understanding does not apply to the likes of you,” Ardryll exclaimed shrilly.

The petulant man-child’s gaze flicked from my

implacable stance to his allies. All he saw was softly shaking heads and mutterings of “…foolish fop.” Which was really saying something coming from other high elf nobility.

Too late he spotted my predatory smile and realised his

monumental error.

If duelling customs do not apply to female elves, then I

needn’t abide by them.

“Then I shall simply not accept. What do you have to

say to that?” Ardryll rallied and puffed out his chest.

At this point, Taliel, who had recovered with the help

of a health potion stepped forward and addressed his blustering Guild Master. “Lord Suntower, the guild laws are very clear. She has defeated all four members of the council in fair combat. You cannot refuse. If you did, you would be stripped of your position and declared anathema.”

Ardryll paled when Taliel uttered the final word.

Anathema.

No high elf could attain salvation if they had been

declared anathema.

It was one of the personal requirements they all

received upon arrival. Those bearing the stain of anathema would be held in the dungeon of the tower until they could be challenged against their will, stripped of all soul marks, and then taken to a dungeon and abandoned to their fate.

Which for them, would be being devoured by an

Infernal Lord.

“Ardryll Suntower, I chall…” I started but didn’t have

time to finish.

Ardryll backed up into the alabaster throne and tripped

over it. “Have it. You can have it,” he screeched from the ground. “I give you the mantle of leadership Lady…uh?”

“You may call me Lady Silvermayne.”

“Yes, Lady Silvermayne, I, Ardryll Suntower, formally

relinquish my claim to the mastery of the Gleaming Towers and offer you the mantle of leadership in my stead.”

Maybe the spoiled lordling wasn’t as stupid as he first

appeared.

“What say the rest of the Council?” I asked casually

and turned my scrutiny upon Taliel.

“I concur,” Taliel said shortly.

“Aye.”

“Aye.”

“Aye,” came the tepid assent from the other three

defeated and disgruntled elves.

I took two steps forward, spun about and daintily sat

down on the alabaster and pearl throne.

Taliel first, and then the three other councillors, and

finally Ardryll all knelt on one knee before me and made their oaths of fealty.

“Excellent,” I said when they finished. “Now that’s out

of the way, we have a busy couple of weeks ahead of us. There is much to be done. Taliel, I want you to make contact with the other high elf guilds. Let them know of the change in leadership. Tell their Highest’s I expect them to attend me, them, not their representatives, before the next rest day. Their curiosity and desire for a bit of salacious gossip ought to be sufficient to draw them in without the need for threats and intimidation.”

Taliel sucked on his lip, deep in thought. “You are

likely right, Lady Silvermayne. At the very least they will wish to convey their…greetings in person.”

I huffed a small laugh at that. Barely concealed

contempt, rudeness, and insults at the she-elf playing Highest is what he meant.

No matter. I had achieved what I needed to today and

taken the first step towards my salvation and prosperity.

Daxas, Timian, and even the much-feared Drakonis

would rue the day they underestimated me.




Chapter 6

 

The funerary rites had finished several minutes ago.

In front of me were the cairns I’d erected to

commemorate the sacrifices made by Grizzit and the other life-seeded hobgoblin and minotaur warriors who fell in yesterday’s dungeon invasions. I’d chosen one of the meadows on the Home floor to house them, even if technically their bodies weren’t buried here.

Each cairn had been built upon a small hillock covered

in wildflowers, predominantly poppies, and the scene was eerily reminiscent of the fields of Ypres in Belgium, back on Earth.

The memorial for them was very human in nature, as

according to Marux and Gretsch, minotaurs and the orken species didn’t have any funerary traditions as such. Minotaurs because they were solitary creatures who usually died alone and for the orken because their lives were short and brutal. Sentiment for the deceased was seen as a sign of weakness.

The fallen dryads, on the other hand, had been interred

as was customary for them. Acorns were planted in a forest chamber as a symbol of rebirth.

By necessity, the proceedings had been brief. Shortly

after their completion, the dungeon runs began again and most of my people had been called away to take their places. Those that weren’t required immediately picked up on my mood and left me to pay my final respects in solitude.

Their loss had hit me harder than I’d expected.

Over the years that I’d been trapped in this purgatory,

my life and the life of my mates had only occasionally been in genuine danger. There had been some tight spots, but we’d never irretrievably lost anybody before. It had always been a winner takes all situation.

Either we all survived or none of us did. This situation,

halfway between the two extremes, was a very different challenge.

“Thank you,” I whispered.

It was just me here. I had withdrawn my consciousness

from the handful of other avatars I had on the floor. Anything else would have disrespected the gravity of the moment.

And then I wasn’t alone any longer. Strolling through

the long grass towards me with a solemn expression was Tenzing.

“Daxas,” he said as he stopped at my side.

I just nodded and flashed him a toothy half-smile. We

didn’t say anything else to one another. He didn’t try and comfort me or offer empty unwanted platitudes. He just stood side by side with me in the gentle breeze in comfortable silence.

Present should I need him, but without intruding.

Tenzing truly knew me better than I knew myself and I

was glad to have such a friend.

We remained, paying our respects, for another fifteen

minutes before we wordlessly turned and departed.

There was much still to do. In all likelihood, these

would not be the last memorials I’d need to erect for those who fell in my service.

 



 

The primary order of business for the coming week

was two-fold and vengeance based.

Firstly, zones seven and eight had a large number of

orc and goblin dungeons that I thought it was high time we turned into former dungeons.

Quite a few of them, thanks to Gorvag and his allies,

were contractually bound to try and kill me by any means necessary anyway. And with my recent rank up, the cabal who held the orc’s leash, wouldn’t have any entry criteria barriers to keep them out at the next rest day.

They would be coming for me en-masse with the rest

of the plotters and assassins in tow.

I may have had Gorvag feeding his friends false

information on my behalf, but no amount of bullshit changed their need to come for me. They feared Timian and the Lords more than they did me. I wouldn’t get fortunate enough to find another like Gorvag who valued the fate of another under his care ahead of his own existence.

As that was the case, the only sensible plan of action

would be to deny my enemies as many resources as possible. That meant eliminating the impelled orc dungeons during the week using the same guild building workaround I’d utilised to get inside Jen’Zadeer’s dungeon a few years back.

When I’d arranged for the downfall of the Black Hills

Brigade, I’d built a new guild outpost, Zeta House, on the edge of the orc tribe territory. At the same time, Maximillian, Krista’s former lieutenant when she was a delver, had sited four more guild beacons, hidden away in opportune spots in the centre and west of zone seven where the orc dungeons were mostly concentrated.

It had only been a week topside, and those beacons

remained undiscovered and ready for me to use. I hadn’t known the precise location of all the dungeons who were involved but I’d reasoned that the wholesale removal of most, if not all, orc dungeons in this zone would be in my best interests and that is what I planned to do.

Secondly, I hadn’t forgotten Jessamyn’s treatment at

the hands of the Jagged Boar Tusks tribe. I’d promised her retribution and the delivery of that promise was long overdue.

Apart from the Tusks, three other orken tribes operated

in zone seven. The Burned Star, The Stone Skulls and The Cutting Axe tribes. They hadn’t been directly involved in Jessamyn’s treatment, but according to Ferash, the orc officer in the Dark Moon Rising, they were all birds of a feather, albeit they were half the size of the Jagged Boar Tusks.

As there would be no way of avoiding triggering the

Divine Challenge eligibility at the end of this week, I saw no reason not to perform a clean sweep. They would either wise up and defect to the Dark Moon Rising, or more likely we’d wipe them out altogether.

We waited until nightfall when dungeon activity

naturally reduced to a low ebb, and I settled back into my favoured spot on the black leather couch in the viewing lounge. Jessamyn was on one side and Alyssa on the other and we got to work.

The plans had mostly been formulated already, and the

necessary funds set aside.

In advance of this activity, I pulled all the dungeon

entrances that were outside the compounds controlled by my guilds. I didn’t need the pittance of experience provided by random groups delving into my dungeons anymore. And this made them significantly easier to defend with my topside soldiers.

Control would be the keyword from now on.

There was a single exception. One dungeon entrance

was left outside the walled enclosure of that newest guild house, Zeta, which was used to destroy the Black Hills Brigade. The entrance was still within the guild’s influence and could be easily defended if necessary.

I’d carved up the orc territory in zone seven into four

quadrants, each with a separate beacon waiting for me to make use of. We’d strike each quadrant one night after the other until we had cleared out the vermin currently infesting the land.

With the press of a virtual button, a new guild outpost

arose from the earth.

We’d sent Maximillian and the other vampires back out

tonight so they could activate the first beacon and then enter and hold the core of the building on the off chance that the orcs came sniffing around in the middle of the night.

It wouldn’t do for them to stumble across it by accident

and seize control from the Dark Moon Rising before I’d completed the night’s wetwork. I didn’t name this one as I intended to collapse it when the work was done. I wouldn’t be refunded the full cost of building, but that was the cost of doing business and I had enough coin in my accounts to cover the losses.

The first outpost created had been located away from

any tribal encampment both by design and requirement. The tribal encampments counted as guild outposts and there had to be a minimum distance between them.

This unnamed outpost lay closest to the Stone Skulls

tribe.

I quickly linked the new outpost with Alpha House and

my Home floor with a network of subterranean tunnels. Once they were connected my waiting forces charged down the tunnels to take up their positions.

Tonight’s activities would be carried out in concert

with parties put together by the Dark Moon Rising and the Sons of the Shadow. The assaults from my dungeon still had to be led by a dungeon avatar and as I didn’t want to reveal my multi-avatar trump card just yet, that meant we were limited to three concurrent assaults at a time.

The avatar requirement also meant there was a

limitation on which dungeons we could raid and conquer. I was rank thirty-five and the lowest-ranked dungeon I was allowed to enter would be ten ranks lower than that, twenty-five. Nessa was the lowest ranked of the three of us at rank thirty, making rank twenty dungeons her basement.

Therefore, Jen’Zadeer, Nessa, and I would be

concentrating on conquering the mid to high-ranked dungeons in the quadrant. Each quadrant had seven or eight orc dungeons ranked between twenty and fifty-nine. With only a couple of exceptions, they had all been involved in the attack on the Lair and were thus suffering the same debuff Makas and Vynar had been under.

This meant we should be able to clear them before

dawn. Darkness would be our ally as I wanted my activity and how we achieved it kept under wraps from those not part of my growing alliance. Especially the orcs.

I truly wanted to scour the area as much as possible,

though.

So, while we took care of the dungeons above rank

twenty, the guilds would challenge the lower-ranked dungeons in the same quadrant to destroy as many of them as possible.

Armed with the intelligence gleaned from Gorvag and

equipped with top of the range gear I’d been supplying from my workrooms. This would be a relatively low-risk task for them. As well as a great opportunity for advancement.

The guild had been buzzing when Simeon made the

announcement earlier that day. The only fly in the ointment is that the levelling of the guilds had been so effective the very lowest ranked dungeons were essentially out of reach.

You couldn’t have everything, I suppose.

Gorvag had proved to be a gold mine of information

about the relative strengths of many of these dungeons. Either because he’d conquered them himself to send them against me or his victims had fed back what they knew of the other dungeons in the area to him, so he could decide on which ones would be best to rope into trying to take me out.

“Shall we ladies?” I asked my mates in attendance.

Jessamyn sprang from her position eagerly and we

were soon joined by Karragh, Fiadh, Nessa, and Jen’Zadeer.


Alyssa sighed theatrically from her position on the

couch. “I will stay here and observe from afar, again.”

I leaned down and kissed her passionately. “Thank

you, Alyssa. The end game will soon be upon us and once we win, you’ll never have to stay behind again.”

“I know. It just seems like such fun and I can never get

directly involved in the dungeon raiding and defence. And shifting into that bearded blowhard Ironhammer doesn’t count.”

“Ah, but you made such a pretty bearded blowhard.”

Alyssa gave me a doubting look. “Really?”

“Well, maybe not,” I and the rest of the crew laughed

and then we were off.

Violence awaited.

 



 

“Miss me,” I whispered as the hands of a freshly

created avatar gripped and firmly massaged Alyssa’s shoulders.

“Five seconds without you was like an eternity, my

love,” Alyssa giggled back.

“You are an incorrigible flirt, you know that, don’t

you,” I announced and vaulted over the back of the couch and landed on the leather beside her and she pressed her body against me.

“You wouldn’t want me any other way.”

“True. You’re also a very fine actress and devious

schemer. You do know that you’ve got most of the other ladies feeling sorry for you. That you are missing out on all the fun when really it means you get me all to yourself for the night.”

Alyssa didn’t answer and wormed her way onto my lap

instead and locked her lips with mine.

“Speaking of my inactivity. I might not be quite as

neutralised as the Arbiter believes me to be,” she whispered.

“Do you care to enlighten me?”

“Maybe later,” she teased.

“Well, if your lips aren’t needed for explanations, I

have an idea of something else to occupy them.”

With that, I devoured her pouty lips with my own.

The heavy petting was interrupted a minute later as

Tenzing walked into and joined us on the couch.

“What have I missed,” he asked innocently.

“Well, there goes that grand plan,” Alyssa breathed

mirthfully.

 



 

We carved our way through the last of Mortok’s

defenders before coming upon the wintry edifice before us. A looming castle carved from a glacier blocked the way into his core room.

The bastion before us was rectangular in shape, with

sixty-foot-high crenelated ice walls. Four blocky towers punctuated the corners with the back two embedded in the mountainous rock that the fortress was built up against. I could see that it had a separate, smaller keep within the walled structure that no doubt housed the exit.

The orc dungeon had made his last stand in his

penultimate chamber on the Core floor. The room was a variant of the High Pass advanced room I’d picked up from another recent conquest. Less biting wind, more packed ice and snow. The orc warlord had garrisoned the sculpted ice citadel with a handful of his orc warrior disciples and numerous twelve-foot-tall Yeti.

Mortok’s dungeon, Wintry Death, was the last on our

list and the only one not involved in the assault on my dungeon. Our three teams had already conquered and collapsed two other dungeons each and we had combined forces to eliminate the most dangerous of the targets with the few hours we had left.

At rank forty-two, Mortok’s hadn’t been the highest-

ranked dungeon on the hit list, but it was the only one without the debuff to make it easier. Our superior quality gear and ridiculously oversized party more than evened the playing field.

Due to the heightened risk to the life-seeded soldiers,

and with our recent losses to Makas still fresh in my mind, the avatars and disciples had led the way through the dungeon. That proved a wise decision as we lost half a dozen of the ladies along the way, including Tabitha.

But with this particular barrier before us, I ordered the

bull-man shield wall front and centre. I doubted Mortok would do us the favour of sallying forth from his defensive position, but we’d be prepared for such a move if he did. Unsurprisingly, he did not, and we would have to formulate a way inside instead.

The icy nature of the locale and the fortifications

neutered Jen’Zadeer, Nessa, and the other Frost casters somewhat. But that just meant it was time for the Flame attuned to shine.

Individual Flame Bolts and Fireballs would be too

short-lived to have much of an effect on the glacial castle, though. After scanning the surroundings and analysing the icy structure, I soon had a plan.

“Jessamyn, I need you to co-ordinate with some of the

hobgoblins and surround these battlements with as many Wall of Flame spells as you can manage,” I growled.

 “At once, Husband.”

Jessamyn stepped back from the frontal position as she

started to give orders to the few of the hobgoblins that had taken the spell.

The rest of us remained behind the minotaur shield

wall and observed our opponents on the battlements. They seemed content to stay there for now, with a handful firing some projectiles in our direction. Although this variant of the High Pass didn’t have the same gale-force winds, the gusts were strong enough to disrupt the few ranged attacks.

“Will…will…the wall spells be enough,” Nessa asked

as her teeth chattered in the cold.

The petite dryads were suffering more than most in the

frigid conditions.

“Not on their own, they won’t be. Even with extreme

heat in close proximity, blocks of ice of that density will take many hours to melt sufficiently. However, it will weaken the walls.”

I pointed to the front left corner of the ice castle which

appeared to be a little uneven compared to the others.

“Jen, when the five-minute timer for the wall of flame

spells is almost up, I need you, Marux, and Gretsch to cast Crumble on that corner. With the walls weakened you should be able to manage to push through whatever natural resistances the fortifications provide.”

“Why not jusst crumble the gate and charge through,”

Sarrass lisped with her forked tongue.

She too, like Nessa, was shivering more than most.

Snake-kin weren’t cold-blooded like true reptiles, but they retained an intense dislike of low temperatures, so her impatience was understandable.

“The orc rim-licker would be fucking expecting that,”

Gadiel responded before I could comment. “He’ll have a few nasty fucking surprises lying in wait if we go in that way. Better we wait, freezing our tits off until we attack where the cunt thinks he’s strongest.”

“What you ssay makes ssense. I just desspise the cold.”

I moved over and embraced the serpent-woman in my

furred arms and let my body warmth do its work.

“I’ll give you a proper warming up once we get back

home,” I whispered into her ear and Sarrass shivered, though this time not from the cold.

After a moment I had to unwrap my arms and left

Sarrass, Gadiel, and the others to strategise away, and my focus returned to the battlements.

Jessamyn and the hobs had cast their spells and the

flames flickered around the base of the structure, melting the piled-up snow all the way down to the rocky foundations.

My eyes flicked to the defenders and while a few of the

Yeti flinched away from the heat that wafted upwards from below, there were no signs of concern or critically, a change in tactics.

The five minutes ticked down and as the walls of flame

guttered and died. There was a rousing cheer from atop the ice castle walls. The orc warriors mocking us for our apparent failure. Jen’Zadeer, Marux, and Gretsch surreptitiously cast their spells to the sound of our enemy’s jeering amusement.

That laughter rapidly died away as the air was rent by a

thunderous cracking sound that emanated from the base of the castle wall. Deep cracks spidered their way up the wall and the abutting tower until they reached the top. Time seemed to slow down as we all waited and watched with bated breath that misted in the cold air.

Then, just as the orcs and Yeti on the battlements

started to relax there came a light dusting of crushed ice drifting to the ground. That dusting became a trickle and then a deluge of increasingly large chunks that fell away until finally the whole tower and about thirty feet of the wall in front of us gave way completely and crumbled down to the ground.

The screams from the unlucky few who were stationed

on that part of the castle rang across the pass, but those cries were quickly snuffed out as the screamers were crushed and buried beneath tonnes of shattered ice.

Mortok’s forces were stunned, ours were not.

At my signal, several hobgoblins launched Fireballs

through the freshly formed breach and into the castle compound. Meanwhile, the rest of their compatriots zinged off Flame Bolts at those standing on top of the upright wall and the minotaurs parted in front of me.

With the way open, I hefted my mighty maul and led

the charge. My disciples were hot on my heels, wailing like banshees. Their cries promised death to those within.

Growling out a roaring challenge I sprinted for the

gaping hole in the castle wall. The crumbled chunks of ice had made a fifteen-foot-high ramp of sorts that we could run up, uneven though it was.

It did not prove much of an impediment to me and my

disciples, we all had healthy agility scores, and that more than made up for the difficulties imposed by rough terrain.

The same could not be said for Mortok’s Yeti.

Led by one of Mortok’s orc warriors they tried to plug

the gap and fight us off, but they struggled to climb up and over the icy debris.

Most of them were severely scorched and dazed by the

multiple fireballs that had blasted into the quad moments earlier anyway, and that was a contributory factor to their laggard-like response to our attack.

As such, rather than reach the summit of the broken

pile first and thereby making life more dangerous for us as we assaulted their position, they encountered me, Fiadh, Karragh, Jovebella, Teotune and several others already on the way down and were swept aside by mauls, axes, spears and Fiadh’s berserker fists.

Several of my people in that first wave stumbled and

fell as we hurtled down the other side and into the courtyard but not enough to make a difference for the defenders.

Before those who fell could pick themselves up, they

were replaced by the second wave led by Jen’Zadeer and Jessamyn. This group were even more agile than the vanguard and launched paralysing Frost Bolts over our heads as they descended.

The Yeti understandably had a high Frost resistance, so

quite a few of them managed to shrug off the paralytic effects of the bolts, but enough of them faceplanted to the ground that it opened gaps in their hastily prepared lines and made it easier to surround those who were still standing.

The twelve-foot creatures were as bulky as my

warwolf form and just as thickly furred, albeit their fur was a creamy shade of white instead of my dark brown. Their faces were ape-like and their skin a washed-out grey. They had a long reach, but like apes, they favoured bludgeoning their prey and lacked the claws I sported.

Then we were in amongst them, my maul swept out

and kneecapped the nearest abominable snowbeast bringing it crashing to the ground with a feral cry of pain. The beast’s wailing was cut short as the hoof of the diminutive faun, Vellin, slammed down and crushed its skull before she vaulted away like a gymnast in search of a fresh victim for her formidable kick.

I searched the granite courtyard for the same, and

discovered my disciples were crushing it, leaving me with little to do.

Jen’Zadeer weaved around a group of Yeti, her sabre

flicking out, severing white-furred legs and arms. Her weapon was under the influence of the Vorpal spell.

The vampire Krista, similarly equipped, danced

through the dark elf’s wake, snuffing our the bestial cries of pain and anguish. Leaving deathly silence in its place.

Teotune and Gadiel, both wielding spears, combined to

thrust their weapons at the taller Yeti. One would distract the beasts by jabbing at its ape-like face, while the other would strike past its guard burying the tip of the polearm into its vital spots.

Yanna and Yuni had camouflaged themselves, snuck

past the Yeti masses, and launched a surprise assault on one of the orc warriors. Four enchanted blades in his back and kidneys later and Mortok’s disciple was whimpering and desperately trying to scramble away. But the tawny-haired catgirls had no intention of letting their batting toy escape them and pounced, finishing him off.

Fiadh, was being Fiadh. She charged fearlessly

wherever there was a breathing enemy. Her spiked fists pummelled all comers leaving them equally bruised and lacerated. Karragh, as ever, was minding the furious berserker woman’s unguarded back. Her hatchets unerringly found their mark with every swipe.

Eina, the naiad, strolled across the battlefield

gracefully. She was surrounded by globes of ice melt, harvested from around the base of the castle walls and liquefied by the walls of flame and then held aloft by the Control Fluid spell.

Whenever one of the Yeti seemingly gained the upper

hand against any of my disciples, Eina would send one of the fluid globes to encapsulate its head and suffocate it. Not even dungeon mobs can shrug off the panic of being drowned and continue fighting.

Sarrass and Jovebella fought back-to-back. Sarrass

favoured using a Khopesh, a long blade with a sickle-shaped hook at the end and a shield. Jovebella was dual-wielding a pair of short-handled sledgehammers. The short dwarf would cripple their opponents with bludgeoning strikes and then they’d circle around and Sarrass would hook an exposed throat and slice open their jugular and jerk their necks with a single fluid yank.

Jessamyn and Nessa led the dryads and hobgoblins.

Zinging offensive spells or sending forth healing balms for the wounded.

Even Gretsch, the surly goblin, was getting in on the

action. Although right now he was enthusiastically stabbing the orc disciple the catgirl twins had backstabbed, and I was pretty sure they wouldn’t have left the scrote alive before moving on.

Mentally I did a quick tally of Mortok’s remaining

supporters. One of Mortok’s orc disciples had been lost when the wall collapsed. I could see a second who’d been targeted by a deluge of Flame Bolts while he’d been on the wall lying in a barely recognisable charred heap. The orc Gretsch was abusing made three. Which meant Mortok had up to two more remaining.

Tabitha would be gutted that she had missed out on the

final battle. As would Genya, but she had reluctantly agreed to stay inside the guild outpost. Although chances were low that she would be spotted or a surviving dungeon could report her presence, they weren’t zero.

Come the next rest day, secrecy would no longer

matter, and she would be where she belonged, fighting at my side.

As my sweep of the surroundings completed, I saw

Marux, and Shelly arrive inside the walls. The rest of the infernal minotaurs followed in their wake but they were a bit uneasy with their footing and had to take it slower than my ladies and I had.

“Marux! Shelly! With me,” I called out to the pair.

They trotted after me as we strode across the castle

courtyard and halted in front of the closed heavy duty double doors of the keep. The three of us backed up a little and readied ourselves to ram our shoulders into the wooden barrier.

Before we could hurtle forward, the click-clack of a

bolt being pulled back rang out and it was swiftly followed by the creaking and squeaking of the wooden doors as they were flung wide.

Mortok and his two remaining disciples stood there

defiantly. The trio were backed up by an even more monstrous version of the Yeti. Two feet taller and wider and with a pair of ivory tusks that jutted from the beast’s lower jawbone.

“Let’s finish this,” Mortok bellowed fearlessly.

His bravery and general disposition impressed me, and

I felt a little bad about what I was about to do. Not bad enough that I would cut him any slack, but I’d raise a toast in his memory later tonight.

My jowls pulled back in my trademark wolfish grin.

“I’ll make this quick,” I promised.

And we did.

A maxed-out Chain Lightning slammed into the

Greater Yeti and then arced to the other three and made them all lightning rods. They were staggered by the electrical attack, and I was already quaffing a blue mana potion. Before they could respond I followed up with a maxed-out Lightning Bolt, also into the oversized Yeti.

Becoming lightning rods meant all electrical damage

was now doubled and as they were nicely bunched up that meant the three orcs absorbed half of the damage that coursed through the jittering Yeti, who had collapsed to the cold floor, its fur smoking from the raw voltage that had run through it.

The three orcs were alive but unsteady on their feet.

Fear finally wormed its way onto their visages.

We advanced into the room unopposed.

Marux and Shelly took the disciples and I confronted

Mortok. The fight, if you could even call it that, was over quickly.




Chapter 7

 

The first night of the orken tribe scouring had gone to

plan.

The next day after that first night, not so much.

It wasn’t that anything bad or disastrous happened. The

problem was that almost nothing happened. There was no discernible reaction from the orken tribes at all.

The dungeons that we’d destroyed were mostly all

within territory claimed by the Stone Skulls tribe. My expectation had been that once they figured out what had been done, they would come after my dungeon. Either because a dickless divine asshole tattled on me or as vengeance upon the Dark Moon Rising. The only other logical culprits

It appeared the ‘under cover of darkness’ nature of our

activities had been far too successful in covering the guild’s tracks and maybe the Lords had no way of externally influencing the orcs at short notice.

I could position my ability to remotely view the world

outside my dungeon from any point claimed by the Dark Moon Rising. This gave me a decent view of the locations of a dozen or so former dungeons. Therefore, I knew that the orcs were aware of their sudden disappearance. I’d observed groups arrive in the morning to delve them and depart back to their tribal encampment expressing a mixture of concern and wrath.

Just as I’d hoped.

After that, though. Nada.

The tribal encampment was a variation of a guild

outpost, The camps provided a similar range of influence to the tribe which in turn restricted the range of my influence and therefore my capacity to spy from afar.

Midday came and went in the world above. Much

longer down below. Which meant I had plenty of time to figure out a hack that would let me find out what the hell was going on in that encampment.

In fact, shortly after the sun had crossed the midway

point in the sky, my hack made his way unseen into the heart of the Stone Skulls’ camp.

I’d performed numerous experiments over the last few

months to fix my current intelligence issues and amongst a few failures and disappointments, I’d learned a few useful things.

One of them was if I equipped a life-seeded mob who

worked topside with a guild beacon this allowed them to leave both the area of the guild’s influence as well as the neutral roads and paths. The hack didn’t work for me, the disciples, or any life-seeded mob who had ever been assigned to an active part of the dungeon.

Which was annoying, but not unsurprising.

This meant I could send one of them to infiltrate the

camp, but they would be visible and therefore vulnerable. If they were slain, it wouldn’t be permanent, but I would lose the opportunity to gather much-needed information and it would put my enemies on high alert.

But this led me to stumble on the discovery of

something else that was even better.

I’d already expanded on how we’d made use of

Tenzing when dealing with the Black Hills Brigade and this is what gave me the idea. Tenzing, like the topside mobs, had technically never been assigned to an active part of the dungeon and he was undetectable to all but those under my banner.

I was sitting in the viewing lounge with my mates as

we watched Tenzing, with a guild beacon under his vibrant pastel green robes, progress towards the Stone Skulls camp on the big screen.

The camp itself had little in the way of defences. A

circle of six-foot stakes planted in the ground at an angle surrounded the encampment, but there was no palisade or wall to keep people out. While the setup would be useful at deterring a cavalry attack in the Realms, here in the Proving Grounds, where there was no cavalry, it was almost worthless.

Unless you counted the warhorse mounts I’d made use

of, but I didn’t plan on a cavalry charge into their encampment. Not this week, anyway.

“The orcs would often settle in places with effective

natural defences, like great caverns or valleys surrounded by mountains,” Alyssa lectured to those unaware in our group. “Despite that, many of the males lived a mostly nomadic existence in makeshift war camps like this. The warbands would descend from their inaccessible holds, raid for nine months of the year and then return for the winter months.”

Nevertheless, the encampment was massive. At least

four times the size of my glade back in the forest and that was after my building works had extended the glade’s circumference significantly. This place had to support ten thousand or more orken, with room for more.

And the Stone Skulls were supposed to be one of the

smaller of the four tribes. Jessamyn informed me the Jagged Boar Tusks had twice their numbers easily.

Throughout the many years I’d been imprisoned here,

I’d known, intellectually at least, that the orcs and goblins dominated zone seven. But apart from that early foray from a ragtag group of outcasts we had largely stayed away from one another. Seeing it really brought home just how many of them there were, especially when you factored in their very high attrition rate.

There didn’t appear to be the equivalent of a gateway

in, only a few spots where the density of stakes in the ring was reduced enough to make passage possible. Tenzing wove his way through the perimeter at one of these locations.

There were no guards as such, but the outermost ring

of the camp was made up of a collection of dome-shaped hide tents.

The tents were ten, perhaps fifteen feet back from the

ring of wooden stakes and the entrance to each faced outward and not inward. The entrances had an awning extending seven or eight feet from the structure with a collection of reed mats underneath it. Most of the orc’s daily activities seemed to revolve around being out here, so there were always eyes in every direction.

Tenzing quickly moved through the first circle and

then passed through half a dozen more until he approached the centre. There was little rhyme or reason to the orc tent placement. They were different colours and sizes and every now and then there would be a much larger, very shoddy-looking, domed hide tent that would be overrun with goblins.

The goblins had obviously been packed into these

shitty shelters and they fought with one another over scraps while their orc brethren ignored their caterwauling like the pests they were. If they got truly out of hand, an orc would get up and cut the head off one of the nearest goblins and that would quieten down the others for a few minutes.

Finally, Tenzing made it to the centre of the camp, and

I almost burst out laughing. Right in the middle was a very large hide pavilion, five hundred feet across. What made me laugh was that they had dyed the hide in alternating red and yellow stripes which made the whole thing look like a big top circus.

Off to the side of the big-top tent was a small stone

pool. The deep-blue water inside gently swirled. As I watched, a goblin pulled himself out of the pool, shook a few droplets off and rapidly scampered away.

Alyssa chimed in with another explanation for me.

“The tribes were granted their own miniature emergence pools. In the early days, they emerged from the ones in the City, but in zones like this, where orcs and goblins were a majority, the City became chaotic. They would attack any and all non-orken as soon as they exited the pool.

“The simplest solution to the problem was to site a

collection of smaller versions of the emergence pool away from the City. The tribes left willingly and built up their camps around them.

“To offset any advantage possessing their own personal

emergence pools might give, they are much less efficient. With the exception of their initial arrival, they must wait longer before they can re-emerge after being slain. That time delay increases the more frequently they make use of it. Although they can elect to use the City pool without that penalty should they choose to.”

I rubbed Alyssa’s thigh in thanks. She was very good at

anticipating what I needed to know without me needing to ask. By the time her discourse on Proving Grounds history was complete, Tenzing had wormed his way through the loose stitching of one of the gaudily painted hide walls.

Inside the tent, it was packed with angry, green-

skinned orcs. They were sitting or standing on poorly constructed bleachers that formed two half circles on either side of the closed-off tent flaps that made the entrance or exit. There was a single large chair bedecked in furs, animal skulls, and feathers at the far end.

The orcs were ringed around the chief’s chair. Put

down some sawdust in the centre and it really would look just like a circus, overrun with a bunch of creepy green clowns.

Tenzing crawled under the rickety stands that creaked

and groaned under the weight of the armed and armoured orcs who moved about on top. Then he scrambled on his hands and knees through the legs of a large troll sitting on the frontmost bench and scampered into the middle of the room. There he got back on his feet and brushed some of the dirt and muck from his robes.

The centre of the pavilion was empty apart from a

single orc with a savage scar on his left cheek who appeared to have the floor. Sitting on the feathered throne was a powerful orc in spiked plate armour.

Scarface was shouting up to who I assumed was the

chief of the Stone Skulls, but it was difficult to make out what was being said with the general hubbub in the tent drowning out individual conversations.

The chief seemed to be having as much difficulty

hearing as we did, as suddenly he stood up from the feathered throne, grabbed a long-handled great axe that had been resting against it and jumped into the centre of the room.

He snatched a particularly animated and loud orc

warrior by his collar from the front of the crowd. The orc had been giving it large to one of his fellows behind him and not paying attention. The chief dragged his unfortunate example into the middle of the pavilion and held him down under foot while swinging the axe in an overhead arc and decapitating the squealing wretch.

With all eyes on him, the chief roared. “Silence!”

The verbal command was probably unnecessary as his

actions had the desired effect and he climbed back onto the dais that held his throne and sat back down glaring daggers at the surrounding warriors.

“Better. Kurz, start again and tell me what you found

on your scouting mission. I want to know what the fuck is going on,” the chief barked, his words a backhanded rebuke for those others gathered here.

Kurz slammed his fist to his chest in salute.

“Thank you, chief Zagog. I shall start from the

beginning for the lazy drunken fools who only managed to get their useless green asses out of their yurts to greet the noonday sun,” Kurz started, encouraged by his chief’s actions and trusting that he could insult the assembled rowdy greenskins and get away with it.

This resulted in a few vociferous slurs thrown in his

direction and some spitting which didn’t go down well with those at the front who were sprinkled by the spittle of those further back. A low growl from Zagog saw off a full resumption of the earlier cacophony, though, and they settled back down.

Their concern and interest overrode their wounded

pride.

“The early shifts left for the dungeons at dawn only to

return an hour later with disturbing news. Many of the low-ranked dungeons had been destroyed overnight.”

This caused much muttering amongst the several

hundred assembled orken that threatened to grow out of hand once more until Zagog stood and clutched his great axe meaningfully, silencing them anew.

With a look from Zagog, Kurz continued. “I and the

other scout groups went out to investigate.”

“And what have you learned,” a particularly large and

fat orc yelled before he had a chance to finish.

The interrupter may have been obese, but the fat

surrounded a layer of hard muscle. One glance at the group of lackeys and lickspittles that hung on his every word, nodding along at his ‘sage’ words, convinced me he had to be Zagog’s primary rival for the chieftainship of the tribe.

Kurz looked back up at Zagog, reluctant to continue

without the chief’s assent.

“Just let him fucking speak, Cagan,” Zagog sneered at

the overweight orc gruffly. “You’ll have plenty of opportunities to preen afterwards.”

The chief’s put down drew a round of laughter from

roughly two-thirds of the orcs, apart from those arrayed around Cagan who glared balefully at the chief upon his feathered throne of bones, but he held his tongue and glowered balefully.

Confident that his chief’s rival, Cagan, had not seized

the initiative, Kurz recounted his findings. “The news is dire, chief. The low-ranked were not mistaken. All but the newest dungeons are gone. Worse, not just the dungeons in the teens are gone. Everything but the rank eighty-seven dungeon, the Grainnsor Marsh, is gone. We have no way to advance our warriors.”

The furore Kurz caused took several minutes to calm

down. There was much screaming and yelling. Even a few fist fights, which almost developed into something a bit more deadly before Zagog restored order.

“Is there anything else?” Zagog asked the scout.

“We have ranged beyond our borders. From what we

can tell, the same has not occurred in the lands claimed by the other tribes.”

This prompted more angry and fearful yelling that

went on for several minutes before Zagog could regain control of the narrative.

“Who could have done this?” A voice called from the

back of the big-top tent.

“Isn’t it obvious,” Cagan snorted before Zagog could

answer. “It’s the womb-rotted Tusks.”

Cagan’s supporters yelled their agreement and there

were cries for action, blood, and vengeance.

Zagog however was more thoughtful than his sneering

rival. “Kurz, is there any evidence this was done by the Jagged Boar Tusks?”

“Evidence!” Cagan roared and launched himself to his

feet, belly jiggling for the first time in this orcish version of a debate. “What need do we have for evidence? This is exactly the kind of thing that Kurdan and his pack of cowardly runts would do. They are too afraid to attack us directly, even with their numbers, so they seek to undermine us by striking at our resources. They behave just like the pathetic humans they made peace with.”

There were many cries of agreement with Cagan’s

words and not just from the third of the gallery made up of his supporters. Many on the opposite side of the tent nodded or muttered their agreement.

“No, chief,” Kurz answered Zagog, pointedly ignoring

Cagan. “There was no sign of an incursion from the Tusks. Our trackers did detect disturbances in the direction of the halfling guild and their upstart outpost on the far edge of our lands.”

Back in the viewing lounge, I smiled widely. It looked

like I might not have to intervene, after all.

However, that assumption was quickly dashed.

Cagan roared with laughter and moved into the centre

of the room. He towered over Kurz by a foot or more. “Are you seriously trying to blame this on those weaklings who hide behind their walls cowering at the mere thought of the day we come to take all that is theirs from them?” Cagan scoffed, playing up to the roaring and approving crowd. “The Tusks want to rule all orcs. That’s why they made peace with the human empire and turned on their own kind. They are doing it again and we cannot allow this to stand,” Cagan screamed, his arms remonstrating with the assembled orcs who roared in approval.

It was clear as day to me that Zagog had lost the room,

but he tried to seize back the initiative.

“P’ah! You know as well as I do that the peace

between the Tusks and the Lion empire lasted but a couple of raiding seasons and that was long ago. What you call for is folly.”

“Folly you say,” Cagan bellowed back. “Or

cowardice.”

“You dare. I rule this tribe. You will follow my

commands.”

Cagan ignored Zagog and turned back again to the

assembled warriors. Their bloodlust was at a fever pitch driven by anger and fear. Fear of what would happen should they fall behind their rival tribes.

“My brother warriors! We are orcs, not mice! We must

fight!”

There were screams and howls of agreement by almost

all those present. We could even hear the rallying cry being taken up outside the big-top meeting tent. The orken out there wouldn’t know what they were cheering for but were caught up in the palpable wave of battle lust that emanated from within.

Zagog made one last attempt to wrest control back

from his rival. “What you suggest is madness, Cagan, not bravery. The Tusks may not be the warriors that we are, but they have twice our numbers. We would never be successful and then the Burned Star and Cutting Axe would take what we have left from the ruins.

“You would condemn us all to a life as outcasts.”

His final words managed to cut through the battle lust

of some. Well, his own supporters at any rate, and their clamouring for instant, unthinking vengeance started to peter out.

Cagan faltered for but a moment and then a cruel and

calculating glint entered his eyes and he shifted his focus.

“Then my brothers we don’t attack the Tusks directly.

We cut them as they cut us. We slay their dungeons and grow in strength in the process. Grow so mighty that none shall dare to oppose us. Not the Burned Star, not the Cutting Axe, not the cowering soft-skins.”

His new proposal inflamed the passions of the

assembled host once more, gripping hold of them using their greed.

Zagog jumped down from his feathered throne and

closed in on Cagan, but his movements were not aggressive and Tenzing moved in closer to make sure we could hear their conversation.

Zagog grabbed Cagan by the arm to get his attention

and spoke. “And what then Cagan? How many will we lose in such an endeavour? A third? Half? More? By Garnag’s balls, we have no way to train and strengthen replacements. Will you doom the tribe because I was chosen above you to lead? It is not too late to stop this idiocy.”

Cagan grinned manically in response. “Nay brother, it

is not idiocy. It is destiny. My destiny,” he said quietly and then raised his voice to a roar so all could hear him. “And after we have ruined the Tusks, we will go east and take the lands and dungeons of that halfling weakling you’re so concerned about.”

That statement received the greatest cheer of the moot

and soon the assemblage was chanting Cagan’s name.

The balance of power had shifted. Emboldened,

Cagan’s followers rushed forward, lifted his fat arse up and carried him to the feathered, bone-throne and he seized the great axe which must have been a symbol of leadership for the tribe and held it aloft.

Zagog and Kurz sensing the mood, slipped away and

exited the tent without ceremony before Cagan could order them to be apprehended.

 



 

“Tenzing,” I said to my blue adviser via the DDD

interface. “I want you to follow Zagog and Kurz. We know what Cagan, and the Stone Skulls are going to do, but I want to keep an eye on that pair. They seem smarter than the average orc.”

“Of course, Daxas,” he replied and then darted through

the crowd and out the large main flap that had been pulled back upon Cagan’s surprise ascension.

Then I sat back on the black leather couch and huffed.

“Well, that was a bit unexpected.”

“But not unwelcome I think, Husband,” Jessamyn

commented from under my right arm.

“Yes, it seems the shatzah-sniffing dolts are going to

do a lot of the work for us,” Jen’Zadeer laughed.

“It was the same in the coven wars,” Krista added in

her seductive Eastern European accent. “I recognise the attitude in the fat one, Cagan. He cares little for the welfare of the tribe. His status is all that matters to him and that blinds him to the realities of his actions. He is chief now, in place of his brother, but what will the cost of his usurpation be?”

“All good points,” I said. “I’m a bit gutted that they are

going to gazump us on a few of the dungeons, though.”

“If we plan things accordingly,” Karragh mused. “We

ought to be able to handle the dungeons in the Burned Star and Cutting Axe quadrants tonight. That should reduce how many we might miss out on if this behaviour spreads.”

“True,” Alyssa agreed. “Besides I believe their

confidence is misplaced. Let’s not forget they believe the obliteration of their dungeons was carried out by the Jagged Boar Tusks. A tribe they, rightly or wrongly, consider to be inferior warriors to them. I suspect their confidence, particularly when it comes to eliminating the mid-range dungeons, is misplaced. Their losses are likely to be higher than they expect, and they may remove fewer dungeons than they hoped.”

“Then those dungeons will be all fat and juicy, loaded

up with soul marks, ready for us to plunder,” Genya breathed with excitement.

Her enthusiasm for the work ahead elicited light

laughter from everyone involved,

“I suppose that just leaves me to inform Simeon of this

latest development. The Dark Moon Rising needs to be ready if marauding orcs do come knocking on the guild’s doorstep.



 

Alyssa as per usual was dead on the money.

The Stone Skulls’ foray into the Tusks’ lands that

afternoon to annihilate their hated rivals’ dungeons in revenge for what I’d done ended in disappointment.

It wasn’t a complete unmitigated disaster, and they had

several groups successfully challenge a dungeon and emerge stronger. However, their coordination left a lot to be desired and they seemed to enter dungeons at random with no organisation to ensure that the groups who went in were capable or that there would be enough groups to actually drain the dungeon of all its soul shards.

Added to that Zagog and Kurz acted quickly and

abandoned the camp with three hundred seasoned campaigners. This didn’t deter Cagan who merely revelled in his deposed brother’s retreat sending his own confidence sky high.

They may have had over ten thousand warriors in their

tribe, but several thousand of those were poorly trained cannon fodder goblins who’d be worthless in a challenge and were left behind to hold the encampment.

Even so, a horde, six-thousand strong, couldn’t travel

during the daylight without being detected by someone.

The Tusks noticed and mounted a swift dual-action

response.

One army marched on the threatened dungeons. By the

time they arrived about two-thirds of the Stone Skulls’ host had entered a dungeon and the Tusks warriors easily slaughtered those still waiting in line. Then they waited for the few Skulls survivors to exit and slaughtered them with overwhelming numbers. The extra ranks gained from a successful conquest did not help them.

The result was that Cagan and the Stone Skulls only

managed to destroy three low-ranked dungeons before either being killed or run off by the Tusks.

Meanwhile, a second Tusks army marched east on the

goblin-defended encampment of the Stone Skulls. Goblins against orcs, even with some defensive fortifications was not a fair fight and they were routed in short order.

The Stone Skulls’ camp was razed to the ground.

Cagan and a few hundred others, mostly his

lickspittles, had survived. With the camp a flaming ruin he led them to try and claim the Zeta House guild outpost from the Dark Moon Rising in an effort to salvage his very brief leadership of the tribe.

The walls he had been so derisory of earlier in the day

were very effective at keeping him and his much reduced following out, though.

Then he turned his attention to the entrance of my

dungeon. If he couldn’t take the guild outpost, then he would spite them by destroying their pet dungeon.

Or so he thought. He had learned nothing from his

earlier failure.

I welcomed him with open arms and a rib-crushing

bear hug and that was a satisfying end to him and the day. For me, at least.

Slaughtering the Burned Star and Cutting Axe

dungeons on night two was a bit of a strain but we managed it by starting earlier and taking a few more risks. It put both tribes on a similar war footing to the Stone Skulls with their eyes zeroed in on the Jagged Boar Tusks as the likeliest culprits.

Unlike Cagan, though, they did not act so hastily and

chose to plan their retributive actions.

I debated as to whether we should put off the raid on

night three. Watching the tribes fumble around, furiously and cluelessly accusing one another was amusing but the days of the week were counting down and I didn’t want to risk leaving this business unfinished at the end of the week.

It was time for them to turn their ire on the architect of

their suffering, me.

Besides, after pushing for more conquests the night

before and giving me a bit more time to play with, I’d made plans to extend the dungeon destruction activities into zone eight. Makas and Vynar’s formerly enslaved vassals made for some juicy targets, and we should hoover them up before we ranked up too high to do so.

Therefore, on the fourth day of the week, the chieftains

of all the zone seven orken tribes awoke to find themselves in the same boat. Not even orcs are stupid enough that they couldn’t eventually figure out they had been played by an external force.

Later that day they met together somewhere other than

a battlefield for the first time in living memory.

I created a dungeon mob in the spitting image of Cagan

and sent him along to the meeting. The mob wouldn’t be much use, but Tenzing was in attendance with the guild beacon and that allowed me to superimpose an image of Alyssa who had morphed into an imitation of Cagan so that we could speak to them.

With a little prompting from the gorgeous brunette in

hideous orc form, we managed to aim the orcs exactly where I wanted them. At me.




Chapter 8

 

Simeon Reedwhistle

 

I strolled along the high stone walls of Zeta House and

surveyed the scene down below. The swarm of orken remained, though their numbers had been thinned considerably since their arrival.

Walking alongside me were Torvald and Arash.

A few days after my meeting with the Blue Pennant,

Torvald and the rest of the council, with the exception of their former Guild Master, came knocking on my door. I took them down into the Lair to meet Daxas and they signed over their guild to him much as he’d predicted.

Daxas had then built an accompanying guild outpost

that abutted Zeta House for the Blue Pennant. The two complexes shared a high wall and surrounding moat.

The orken tribes had come howling from the west only

a few hours after the construction work had been completed. If I were a more suspicious individual, I’d have thought Daxas had planned it that way. The fortifications had been very effective in keeping the enraged orken out.

They’d made a few half-hearted attempts at breaking in

that first evening and the next day. And by that, I meant the orcs sent several thousand goblins with some poorly made ladders to try and scale the walls. Hundreds were killed by the defenders and hundreds more likely drowned in the moat. Goblins were not known for their swimming.

However, we were closing in on the end of the third

day of the siege and they hadn’t bothered to send another group all day. Although the orken leaders might have thought they were being cagey, I knew exactly what they were up to. There was an unguarded entrance to the Lair that they set up camp around.

They were challenging Daxas’ dungeon in an attempt

to destroy him.

And if I couldn’t have guessed the bloody obvious

myself, there was Daxas’ rather gleeful running commentary on their repeated failed attempts kept me well informed.

I stopped my review for a moment and looked out at

the horizon. The sun was low in the sky and would be setting soon. It created a beautiful kaleidoscope of shades of red, orange, and pink against the backdrop of the crisp blue.

Torvald smiled, wiggling his bushy moustache in the

process, like he was entreating me to appreciate its natural splendour.

Arash, on the other hand, scratched at the back of his

head and sighed loudly. “Why didn’t you ask Sindar to take command of the defence here?” he grumped. “I don’t mind admitting he is the superior bowman…and tactician. I could have handled things back at Alpha House.”

“By that, I suppose you mean you could have handled

Rosie back at Alpha House,” I shot back with a playful smirk.

Torvald laughed uproariously and Arash’s cheeks

blushed a bright crimson.

“That’s not what I meant,” Arash muttered under his

breath.

I snorted at that. Arash barely went five minutes

without either sneaking off with the barmaid for a quick tumble or trying to convince her to sneak off with him for a tumble. Torvald had only been at Alpha House for a few hours a couple of days ago and that was plenty of time to witness enough for him to get the joke.

All fun aside, Arash was not alone. In the wake of

Arash and Rosie’s rather open display of affection during the last rest day, quite a few others had paired off with the serving staff. If I didn’t have so much responsibility weighing down my shoulders, I might have even contemplated courting one of the lasses myself.

The Proving Grounds can be a lonely place. And

relationships with other supplicants could become fraught and complicated. Not that there were many available ladies in the guild thanks to Daxas.

Some sort of commotion came from the courtyard

behind me and snapped me out of my reverie. Sitting around a firepit in the far corner were a party of orcs. Most of them were Dark Moon Rising members and the group included Ferash, one of the guild’s officers.

There were two unaffiliated orcs with them as well.

Zagog and Kurz. They were formerly part of the Stone Skulls, but they had recently abandoned the tribe after a leadership coup. The pair had formed a faction of outcasts with a few hundred followers. Daxas had informed us of their whereabouts and following the dungeon’s suggestion, Ferash had gone out to see if he could recruit them.

Ferash had found them easily enough with Daxas’

assistance. The pair had agreed to come back to Zeta House with him to discuss their assimilation into the guild when the horde had descended and trapped them in here with us.

We could have smuggled them out using the

connecting passages between guild houses, but I hadn’t wanted to reveal that to them until after they had signed up with us.

My assumption had been that either they were the

cause of the ruckus in the courtyard or perhaps some of the Pennant boys, not used to having orcs around, had tried to start something.

I was wrong on both counts. The disturbance was

coming from inside Zeta House itself. Just as I was about to call down and demand to know what was happening, Nel’Van and a troop of dark elves marched out the front door and into the courtyard.

Nel’Van looked around and caught my eye as I stood

upon the battlements.

He and his people moved forward, and I could see

there were many more inside as they started to pour out. Our orc guests were a bit shocked and went for their weapons, but Ferash calmed them down and seemed to be explaining their sudden appearance.

So much for keeping the passages a secret from them.

“Nel’Van,” I shouted down at him. “To what do we

owe the pleasure?”

“Orders,” he shouted back with a resigned smile.

“From the Guild Master, himself.”

Of course, this was down to Daxas, and he hadn’t

bothered to inform me. I could swear he went out of his way to infuriate me deliberately. None of that was Nel’Van’s fault so I shook it off quickly.

“Torvald and I will be right down.”

“No, I’ll come up,” he called back.

I nodded down at him and pointed out the nearest

staircase that led up to our position. Nel’Van waved his thanks and jogged up to us.

“Simeon, Torvald, Arash,” he said by way of greeting

when he linked up with us on the battlements.

“Nel’Van, good to see you, but why are you here?” I

asked him with a smile.

Despite being left in the dark, I had a pretty good idea

already.

Nel’Van gestured expansively over the walls at the

raucous orken camp “It would seem you have a pest problem and we’ve been asked to disperse it, tonight.”

That made sense. If we were attacking at night, then

dark elves were best suited for the task even if the majority of the remaining horde seemed to be goblin rabble.

“I’ve got to say I’m surprised,” I said aloud. “I thought

our sponsor was having too much fun shredding those intrepid enough to challenge him. It has certainly made running our regular groups tricky enough with longer than usual lockouts before we can go in.”

Arash pulled his lower lip back in a sheepish

expression as I finished. “Yeah…about that…”

Whatever my guild officer’s confession was going to

be it was interrupted by a deep gruff voice we all recognised. “I’ve got all I’m going to get, willingly, at least. The few competent orcs who remain stopped falling for my tricks and goading a few hours back. Nel’Van, I know it’s unlikely but if you happen to take any of the high-ranked orken prisoner you know what to do with them.”

I couldn’t help myself and asked. “How many did you

get?”

“Hmmm, let me see…add in that group…ah, can’t

forget that lot, the look on his face, absolutely classic…oh, works out to be a little over nine thousand. Pretty good for a few days’ work,” Daxas replied, equally distracted and a touch smug.

“Nine thousand!” I spat out in surprise. “That’s almost

twice the size of the guild. How the fuck did you trick that many? Orcs might be arrogant, but even they had to see how many groups weren’t coming back out.”

“It’s a big dungeon, Simeon. Especially if I’m being an

awkward bugger and you can believe that I was.”

“Still, they had to have some clue on the second day

when the first groups didn’t come back out. How did you do it?”

“Trade secrets, Simeon.”

“Come on, you can tell us. We’re all part of the team,

aren’t we?”

“Oh, alright. After Nel’Van finishes up with his night

raid the four of you should come and join me for a celebratory feast. I can fill you in then,” Daxas said and then almost as an afterthought added. “Bring Zagog and Kurz too. I’d like a word with them.”

Then there was a crackle in the air which I’d learned

meant the dungeon had severed whatever communication method he was using.

Nel’Van and I gave one another a knowing look.

Torvald blew out his bushy moustache. “Another trip

into the wolf’s den,” he muttered. “At least, he’ll be feeding us this time. Is the dungeon’s food any good, Simeon?”

“Honestly, it’s fucking exquisite. And plentiful. But I

wouldn’t get used to that kind of treatment. He wants something.”

“How do you know?”

“Apart from him being a scheming dungeon that has

managed to get three guilds under his thumb, you mean?”

Torvald chuckled at my tone. “Yes, apart from that.”

“The orc tribes in this zone have been sundered. All

that remains is the chaff and he wants to meet with one of those tribes’ former chiefs. It’s Zagog he wants to meet and butter up. If he didn’t need us to bring them down to him, I doubt he would have even spoken up.”

“Well, when you put it like that…” Torvald trailed off.

“Speaking of the night’s activities,” Nel’Van started.

“Are any of you interested in joining us for the fun later?”

“I’ll watch from up here, thanks,” Arash puffed and

nervously scratched behind his ear. He never did like getting up close and personal.

I looked at Torvald and the large man grinned back at

me.

“Why the hells not?”



 

We waited until thirty minutes after sundown. The

goblins and the remaining orcs, mostly low-ranked newish arrivals, had settled down at their cook fires.

A few of our people who were staying behind pulled

open the gate doors. The hinges had been well oiled, and they swung open with nary a creak. The drawbridge had been lowered agonisingly slowly over twenty minutes to keep the noise levels as low as possible. We didn’t want to alert our prey if we could help it.

“They have not even placed any pickets,” Maximillian,

my vampiric officer, snorted with disapproval at my side.

We were at the forefront of the strike force. The

vampire’s night vision was understandably superior to mine and probably put the dark elves to shame. Max and his fellow vamps along with their thralls had emerged from the guild outpost twenty minutes ago. Their inclusion in the night’s raid almost went without saying.

“Personally, I’m rather glad about that. We haven’t

sallied forth and attempted a counterattack all week. Our inactivity has probably assisted in lowering their guard.” I whispered, probably unnecessarily.

The orken camp was a quarter of a mile away from

where we were and there was no discernible breeze. My voice would not carry far enough to be heard.

“I suspect our patron’s actions have played a big part in

their lackadaisical approach to security. At the very least, he has gutted their command structure. Maybe more,” Nel’Van muttered.

I wanted to question the dark elf further on what he

meant by that. What insight had he gleaned, but his arm went up and his fingers flicked forward. The signal was taken up by a dozen of his lieutenants and we were off in a silent advance.

The column of dark elves trooped out at a rapid jog. I

had to sprint to keep up, no respect given for my smaller stature. The elves all wore soft boots that had been enchanted with silence, so they streamed over the drawbridge and onto the grass verge with barely a sound. I couldn’t help but wince at the sound of my own solid-soled footwear as they clomped against the hardwood of the drawbridge despite my lighter physique.

Okay, maybe my physique wasn’t that light in the first

place.

That brief clomping faded as we made it onto the long

grass.

There was no delay and Nel’Van led the column of

three hundred warriors unerringly towards our target.

The squads in the column had split away from the head

of our spear and sprinted full pelt to the left and the right to spread the impact of our initial attack

And then we reached their front line. There came the

familiar snickt sound as weapons were drawn from sheaths and shortly after we were in amongst them slashing, stabbing, and cutting. Goblins fell to flashing blades in the dark. The elves kicked over their cooking pots and extinguished the flames of their fires to maintain their advantage in the darkness.

Disorganised and surprised goblins were scythed down

like wheat before us.

This camp may have been made up of ten to fifteen

thousand orken and there may have only been a little over three hundred of us, but we had the element of surprise and far superior discipline.

Not to mention we heavily outranked them and thanks

to our association with Daxas had the very best gear available.

No matter how well-disciplined a group we were, as

we penetrated ever deeper into the orken camp we eventually began to lose touch with one another, and eventually, I found myself isolated and alone.

I wasn’t particularly worried. We had achieved the aim

of the raid. The tribes were panicked and broken. I’d observed plenty of the little green fuckers running for the hills, fully abandoning the battle without putting up so much as a single thrust of a spear.

The worst that could happen is that some lucky snot-

eater got a fortunate blow, and I’d find myself with a bit of a long walk back from the emergence pool in the City.

I paused in the killing work, there was nobody around

me, and I leaned up against a yurt post. There was a gourd hanging from a hook. Despatching dozens of goblins was thirsty work and I grabbed it, uncorking the animal skin. I quaffed the contents and just as quickly spat the foul liquid back out. It was some kind of fermented milk.

“If this is what the orcs call booze, it’s no wonder they

are such a bunch of miserable fuckers,” I gasped as I tried to clean my tongue of the foul muck.

My spitting meant I missed the sound of the hide wall

of the yurt being torn apart and I almost lost my head to the battle-axe that swung over my hastily ducked noggin.

Inside the yurt was an enraged orc. He obviously

hadn’t appreciated my commentary on his race’s alcoholic beverages.

A quick glance confirmed he was very well armed and

armoured. And the speed of his follow-up strike disabused me of any notion that this guy would be a slouch.

This wasn’t one of the tribal makeweights we’d been

cutting down with ease, he was a proper fighter. On the plus side, I could see that he was covered in wounds from a prior encounter.

Had he fought and defeated one of the dark elves

already?

If so, I could be in real trouble. Dying might only be an

annoyance at this juncture but I wasn’t volunteering to prove the point.

I parried his next attack, and my short sword was

knocked from my grasp with embarrassing ease. The reverberations from the battering of his axe on my weapon numbed my hand. The orc was incredibly strong compared to me.

My dungeon delving had accelerated me up to rank

twenty-eight, but the orc had to be in the high forties, if not low fifties. Excellent gear couldn’t bridge every gap.

Just as I was contemplating a well-timed scarpering, a

second even larger orc stepped out from the tatters of the yurt hide wall. This new orc had a big fat gut and grinned at me strangely.

Yes, definitely time to make myself scarce.

Before I legged it, though, the new orc hefted a huge

great axe, reversed the haft in his grip and slammed the butt into the temple of my current combatant. My opponent slumped bonelessly to the hard ground, dropping his battle-axe and making a gurgling sound from the back of his throat.

Meanwhile, the huge fat orc winked at me in the

firelight. The kind of wink I thought I recognised.

My suspicions were confirmed a moment later.

Three more large well-armed orcs appeared from the

shadows and moved towards my downed opponent and I backed away. They had chains and a padlock in their grasp.

“We’ll take it from here, Simeon,” the fat orc spoke in

a very un-orcish tone.

The voice was teasing and dripping with sex appeal,

and I recognised it immediately. The cheeky wink made sense. This was one of Daxas’ women, Alyssa. She was the one whom I had no inkling as to where she had come from, which is why she stood out from his rather crowded harem of attractive women.

The other three silent orcs quickly finished wrapping

the chains around their insensate target and then hauled him to his feet and dragged him off back through the torn yurt.

The fat orc, in the guise of Alyssa waved “See you

soon, Simeon.” Then she winked again and sauntered off.

How she made the hips of an overweight male orc

sway so seductively I’ll never know, but it would require many tankards of ale to wipe the disturbing scene from my mind and you can bet I’d make sure that Daxas would be paying.

Of course, no matter how off-putting the scene in front

of me was, that didn’t mean I could stop myself from following in the orc’s wake and being subjected to further glimpses of the horror show. My innate curiosity insisted I follow him, or more accurately her, and find out what in the hells was going on.

I stumbled through the mess inside the darkened yurt,

almost tripping several times. The other side had also been torn apart and there was some firelight still flickering on that side and I managed to keep up with the fast-moving orc party.

Outside the yurt, I could see that the entrance to the

Lair, which the tribes had built the camp around, was maybe one hundred feet away. On the side of the official entrance was another doorway that led to a stairwell leading down into the depths.

I had a pretty good idea of what this was.

Daxas had invited me to come into the Lair through a

doorway nobody else could see the first time we met properly. There had been no need to make use of it since, as Alpha House had been built with a direct link between his office in the Guild Headquarters and the dungeon.

Moving into the secret dungeon entrance were several

hundred orcs in two distinct groups. The first group were led by the overweight Alyssa orc. They were largely indistinguishable from the second group except for one thing. The second group were in chains. The conscious ones in the second group were being dragged into the dungeon very much against their will, while the rest were being dragged.

I should have known.

Daxas never tried to keep it secret that he was a greedy

bastard. He wouldn’t be happy knowing any of them got away from him.

My curiosity sated, I shrugged my shoulders and

headed deeper into the orc camp looking to link back up with the Sons of the Shadow as they ran off the remaining greenskins.

 



 

Three hours later and we were all deep in the bowels of

the Lair.

The raid had been spectacularly successful. A couple

of Maximillian’s thralls and fifty or so dark elves had been killed during the fighting, but they’d be back at the guild houses before dawn and tomorrow was a rest day, for us, at least.

Zagog informed me on the way down here that the

orken we’d killed wouldn’t be back so fast. Apparently, they had their own smaller emergence pools at the heart of their tribal encampments that they would return from.

However, if you used them then it took longer to come

back after you’d been killed and the delay only grew the more often it happened. And considering that killing goblin pests was a regular pastime for many orcs in the camps it would be many days if not weeks before most of them set foot on the soil of the Proving Grounds again.

By that point, the landscape of zone seven would be

radically different. The domination of the orken in the western half of the zone had been smashed. Torvald, Nel’Van, and I hadn’t had a chance to discuss in depth what to do but securing the tribal charters and burning them was a must for the morning.

Meanwhile, we enjoyed the feasting and hospitality

provided by Daxas. His banqueting hall was even larger than before. And the feasting table was twice as large, even so, it barely fit all the varied celebrants.

Daxas sat at the head of the table as he always did.

Nel’Van, Torvald, and I were placed in the middle with some of his disciples and soldiers on either side of us. With us were other representatives from our guild. Pacclo, Arash, Ferash, and Piotr were here with me.

Zagog and Kurz had been seated at the end with Daxas.

This didn’t surprise me. Try as I might, listening in on their conversations amid the general hubbub of merriment was difficult to say the least. I tried in vain but after a few minutes, with dashed hopes, I gave up on the attempt and simply relaxed. My attention taken with enjoying the roasted fowl and fine ale in front of me.

That didn’t mean I didn’t glance to the far end a few

times and observe the discussions taking place and the conflicted look on Zagog and Kurz’s orcish faces.

The dungeon was in full merchant mode trying to sell

them on whatever he wanted. We’d know soon enough. Daxas was too much of a showoff to leave us in the dark for long.

An hour later, and with enough liquor to leave me

more than a bit tipsy, my prediction came true.

Daxas produced a vellum parchment with a flourish

and placed it in front of Zagog who shook his head slightly and then made his mark. The Wolf King grinned from ear to ear.

He had got what he was after.


Then he banged the table with his closed fist a few

times to get everyone’s attention and stood, a chalice of wine in his hands.

“I’d like to raise a toast to the newest member of the

alliance,” Daxas declared loudly and in boisterously good spirits.

He motioned for Zagog to stand.

The former orc chieftain got up from his high-backed

chair hesitantly, a confused expression on his face. Orcs didn’t laud an orc who submitted to a superior, they usually humiliated them. It was clear that Zagog feared the latter.

Daxas raised the golden chalice slightly above eye

level. “To Zagog, chief of the newly minted Wolf’s Teeth tribe.”

A hundred or more tankards or glasses were raised

high in salute and then pressed firmly to lips as we drank deeply.

I should have seen this coming. It seemed that Daxas

desire for expansion and domination was unending.

After we finished drinking, Zagog sat back down

quickly, his cheeks a darker shade of green.

Daxas remained standing, he wasn’t quite finished.

“Zagog will establish the Wolf’s Teeth in the remains of the camp previously claimed by the Jagged Boar Tusks.

“Simeon, Torvald, Nel’Van. Tomorrow each of you

will claim one of the other three camps for your respective guilds. When the tribal charters have been destroyed, I will build guild outposts by each of the three emergence pools.

“You won’t be able to make use of them, as you don’t

possess a tribal charter, but neither will they be usable by anyone else.”

That made tactical sense. It would leave the only orken

emergence pool in the zone in the hands of the Wolf’s Teeth, his tribe. All new orken arrivals in the zone would either have to join Wolf’s Teeth or go outcast.

“Simeon, Ferash,” Daxas continued. “Zagog currently

only has a few hundred warriors. This leaves him vulnerable. Ferash, would you be willing to lead the orken within the Dark Moon Rising and transfer to Wolf’s Teeth under Zagog?”

This was one of Daxas’ favourite moves. Posing

something as a request when you knew you couldn’t really say no.

I climbed up onto my chair, so my head was above

most of the tall folk who remained sitting. “Provided Ferash and his kin have no objections the Dark Moon Rising would be happy to offer assistance to a brother guild.”

“Very gracious of you, Simeon,” Daxas chuckled

knowingly. “What say you, Ferash?”

My orc lieutenant stood and nodded. “We will gladly

follow Zagog. He is a worthy chieftain…uh…I meant no offence, Simeon. You have been a fine guild chief, but many of us miss the smells and sounds of the tribe.”

“No offence taken, Ferash. You have been a fine

lieutenant and it’s not like we’re switching sides or anything,” I assured him as I plopped back down into my seat and grabbed a fork with half a greasy sausage upon it that was just begging to be eaten.

“Excellent. The Lair will also be offering assistance,”

Daxas announced and motioned to the end of the vaulted banqueting hall.

A troop, nay, a veritable army of orc warriors marched

into the hall from the archways at the end of the room. I recognised some of the figures from the battle last night, especially the large fat orc that led the column into the room.

In the light of the banquet hall, I could see that the

clothing they wore had insignias which represented all four of the fallen tribes on them.

Zagog and Kurz launched themselves from their chairs

in shock. “Cagan, you traitorous cur,” the orc chieftain bellowed. “You dare come crawling back after what you did. I will not have it.”

Daxas put a firm hand on the outraged orc. “Peace, my

new friend. All is not as it seems.”

“It certainly isn’t,” Cagan chuckled mischievously in

that sultry, feminine voice that very much did not belong to an orc.

While the rest of the orc army lined themselves up at

the end of the room. Cagan strode down the hall, hips swaying in that disturbing sexy manner.

As he walked his skin started to ripple and shift. His

body shrank in size and the colour of his skin shifted to a creamy white. The clomping of heavy boots became the tapping of heels and before our eyes, the figure morphed into a buxom, brown-haired, human woman.

The armour was replaced by a short black skirt and

white blouse displaying plenty of cleavage. Cagan’s axe became a pair of black-rimmed spectacles that the woman calmly slid onto her ears and let them perch on the end of her nose.

Alyssa winked at me as she walked past. “I said I’d see

you soon, Simeon,” she said with a light laugh.

Zagog blinked in confusion but allowed Daxas to press

him back into his seat by the time Alyssa’s leisurely sauntering gait made it to them. She kissed Daxas on the lips and he pulled her onto his lap as he flopped back down into his gilded and ornate chair.

I’d have been shocked by Alyssa’s abilities if I hadn’t

seen Daxas pull off the impossible before. Her transformation reminded me of some of the scare stories the elders would tell the little ‘uns when we were growing up. About a species who could become anyone as long as they were dead.

Doppelgängers.

I’d assumed the stories were made up, but apparently

not.

No wonder I didn’t recognise or know where Alyssa

had come from. She could have been anyone.

I looked between the transformed Alyssa and the

assembled orcs who were too regimented and silent. Real orcs were not this disciplined, even if you could get them to stand in formation they’d be grunting, farting, or spitting. Two and two made four and everything slotted into place in my head.

“That’s how you did it,” I announced aloud, though I

was mostly talking to myself.

“You made yourself some orcs like the servers in the

guild houses, but you made them look like those orcs who had died challenging you. Then you sent them out with her,” I said and pointed to the woman in his lap. “Morphed to look like Cagan. Alyssa convinced them that some of the early groups were successful and not slaughtered to the last orc. That way they kept sending more groups in even after it should have occurred to them it was hopeless.”

Daxas just grinned at me. That was all the confirmation

I needed.

“Rather helpfully they set up camp around the

dungeon’s entrance. Otherwise, it would not have been possible,” Alyssa noted from his lap.

Any further debate or explanation was interrupted as

the kitchen staff began to arrive with platters of desserts and the feast recommenced.

A little while later Torvald leaned over to me. “You

weren’t understating what a devious bastard he is, were you,” he whispered. “The ambitious members of the Pennant’s council who hoped to supplant him don’t stand a chance.”

“No, they don’t,” Nel’Van agreed from his other side.

I just shovelled a spoonful of trifle into my mouth.

It was all just another day in the Wolf King’s Lair.




Chapter 9

 

Shortly after my guests departed the clock struck

twelve and the rest day began.

While my disciples and some of the life-seeded

continued with the revelry for a few hours longer and another version of me got up close and personal with Jessamyn who wanted to express the depth of her gratitude, another part of me had to get to work on the administration.

Tenzing and a second of my avatars returned to the

DDD. I had some important notifications to review, after all.

There were the usual flashing red exclamation marks

telling me that my dungeon required adapting to fit in with the design requirements. I was used to that with the huge leaps in ranks that I was making every week.

Accompanying the red were the blue markers that

contained the standard notifications.

 

Congratulations! You have ranked up.

We are happy to inform you that based on your

position on the leader board you have advanced to rank 69.

Well done on making it this far.

The Caverns of Jen’Zadeer advance with you and have

reached rank 67. The Forest of Xanathia advance with you and have reached rank 64.

As a rank 69 dungeon, that maintains a first floor, you

must increase the minimum size of your seventh floor from 40 to 45 rooms and you will be unable to make any changes to your dungeon layout until this requirement is met. If your dungeon does not meet these requirements, a missed soul mark tithe penalty will be applied each week.

You have the option to close your existing lower floors.

If you do, then the room requirement for the second floor increases to 65.

 

But what I really wanted to see most was the contents

of the brand new golden one.

 

Congratulations! You have reached rank 100.

We are happy to inform you that you are now eligible

for the Divine Challenge.

Succeed in defeating a challenge party made up of the

champions and representatives of the Lords, both Divine and Infernal, and you will be rewarded with the prize of reconstitution.

Unlike challenges by supplicants, a single Divine

Challenge takes place every rest day.

There are currently four other rank 100 dungeons in

the Proving Grounds.

You are now fifth in the queue for the Divine

Challenge. The first in the queue will undergo their challenge today. Unless those ahead of you in the queue are lost, your challenge will take place in four weeks.

 

The message didn’t provide much in the way of further

information apart from giving me a timeline. Despite Alyssa and Tenzing warning me in advance, I was still a bit disappointed to have only risen to rank sixty-nine.

Okay, I did chuckle like a schoolboy when I read the

specific rank I’d made. Even if nobody else understood the juvenile humour of it. The numerals they used in the Realms for six and nine did not look the same as on Earth, so the joke was lost on them.

However, I had just damned over nine-thousand orcs

and goblins to the Infernal Reaches during the back half of the week and the final night’s raid. And that didn’t count the Skulls tribe members who had fallen in my dungeon midweek.

So many, that with the bonuses my female disciples

received, they had maxed out their experience total. They already had enough XP to level up to rank one hundred once my dungeon made it there. Instead, they were limited to sixty-nine.

The issue for my lack of advancement was not because

I didn’t have the requisite fallen to match dungeons in the mid to high eighties, but the dead man’s shoe’s system. I might be skipping multiple ranks ahead thanks to the alterations made by the Arbiter, but I could only go as high as there were positions to occupy.

The destruction of dungeons over rank sixty was a

rarity. Adventurers rarely did it as the higher you went up in rank, then the fewer available dungeons there were to delve into.

And dungeons of that rank would be experienced, and

desperate to accrue as much XP as they could to grow their dungeon with the Divine Challenge on the horizon. Foot traffic would be reduced so taking soul marks became even more vital for them than ever.

High-ranked adventurers would be utterly foolhardy to

wipe out the less dangerous dungeons that offered an easier run and doubly foolhardy to challenge those that didn’t.

The shift from rank ninety-nine to one hundred only

happened when there was one or none rank one-hundred dungeons in the Proving Grounds at the start of a rest day. At that point, all six of the current ninety-niners would advance and the order of their Divine Challenges was based on their fallen totals at that point.

Everybody else would shuffle up behind them.

Again, I was breaking the mould, being added to the

Divine Challenge group in the middle of the usual six-week challenge period.

That meant that over the next couple of weeks I would

need to ensure there were a suitable number of dead men above me whose shoes I could occupy before my turn came around.

For the completionist in me, it was a mildly bitter pill

to swallow. The advancement system meant the Wolf King’s Lair would never officially make rank one hundred.

Ninety-nine would be its limit.

I opened the few other blue notifications blinking at

me. They were for fresh achievements, but not as many as I’d got used to receiving every rest day.

 

Dominator 6 (afforded by the Domination speciality)

You have successfully conquered thirty-two or more

other dungeons.

You are granted the Dungeon Dominator 5 ability

which increases your aura of dominance by x7.

 

And.

 

Dungeon Delver 6

You have successfully completed the first floor of

thirty-two or more rival dungeons.

From now on you garnish sixty percent of a defeated

dungeon’s current experience pool. If you choose not to destroy the dungeon a permanent totem is placed in the defeated dungeon taxing them 6% of all future experience.

 

Neither had any great effect on me or my chances.

The Lair and the Cavern’s advancement gave me three

major perks to choose each. Whereas the Forest of Xanathia provided four. I used the threes to max out the crafting path for Alchemy and Enchanting.

From an alchemic perspective that meant we could

make poisons and venoms, as well as potions that could be drunk by mobs. This included potions that could make their natural attacks venomous. It also opened the dual potion crafting options and halved the cooldown between drinking brewed potions.

The three enchantment perks allowed us to put a single

enchantment on ammunition, items, traps, and mobs. Even the life-seeded ones.

Remembering Tenzing’s advice I split Nessa’s perks,

putting two into both Metalworking and Leatherworking. That left them only requiring one more perk next week to complete their crafting paths.

With the fourth and fifth upgrades to those paths, we

could make weapons and armour for my beasts and plant monsters and a few other bits and bobs. Next week when I completed both paths all the gear could then be enchanted as well.

When I looked at the advancement of my dungeon, I’d

harboured a smidgeon of apprehension. Not for the expansion of the floors which I had more than enough experience to cover and then some.

No, the concerns revolved around my life-seeded

armies.

To bump each of the dryads and hobgoblins to rank

sixty-nine would cost me 68,000 XP. The minotaurs were double that at 136,000 XP. That would be roughly a little over thirteen million for the armies. But on top of that, I needed to add extra chambers to the secret wings to accommodate them which pushed the total to more than twenty million just to uplift the life-seeded in my current armies.

That was only one hundred and forty-four warriors. I

needed more than that and even after the distribution of life seeds to the topside defenders I had plenty more to implant.

The new recruits would be even more costly, as my

existing warriors were already rank thirty-five and the required dungeon power and expense for those existing ranks were already accounted for. To be precise, when all the different factors were included, they would cost 210,000 XP apiece.

All of a sudden, my pot of a little shy of one hundred

million experience points didn’t seem quite so deep.

Tenzing as usual came to the rescue with a gentle

reminder of something I had long since forgotten.

Soul marks could be used to purchase or upgrade mobs

at a ratio of ten dungeon power per mark or be used to buy rooms. And after claiming the marks from the orcs, many of whom had practised the unsavoury cheat of stripping them from the goblins and other hapless adventurers I had so many I could pay my tithes for decades to come and then some.

The net result was I had over one hundred thousand

soul marks, which was the equivalent of a billion XP for dungeon upgrades.

My experience worries were a thing of the past.

My coin-bought topside charges were another matter,

though.

Although I had a very healthy regular income from

guild activities, there was no convenient soul mark cheat to circumvent the exorbitant cost of uplifting them all. Especially with the expenses I’d incurred setting up the Wolf’s Teeth tribe.

With dungeon entrances in three different compounds

to defend I simply couldn’t afford to max them all out. I topped some of them out at rank fifty-one and limited all new purchases to rank twenty-one. Numbers and the top-tier gear I equipped them with would have to suffice in bridging the gap.

After spending a little time on some surprise projects, I

turned my attention to my character sheet. I’d held a couple of my points in reserve and with the new ones for the uplifted ranks I had one-hundred and seventy-four to allocate.

Most of my decisions had been made in advance and I

spent ninety-three points improving my existing spell list. We had entered the fifth spell tier but sadly that tier offered no new spells.

After that was done, every spell I possessed was now at

the current highest tier possible. I hadn’t bothered expanding my repertoire any further, focusing on building the power of what I had. More spells at this juncture would be a waste of points.

Instead, I ploughed most of the remaining points into

spell power bringing it up to one hundred. Which left me a few emergency points unspent.

 

Name: Daxas

Species: Lupus Rex

Rank: 69

Strength: 26

Agility: 26

Stamina: 26

Mana: 50

Spell Power: 100

Resilience: 27

Dungeon Power: 69

Health: 520/520

Unspent Experience: 2,002,227

Soul Marks: 62,953

Fallen Total: 13,416

Skills: Mining 86, Hunting 85, Gathering 87, Farming

85, Smelting 87, Butchering 87, Woodwork 86, Masonry 83, Metal Work 86, Leather Work 94, Alchemy 85, Enchanting 91, General Crafting 64

Damage Reduction: 27 for all damage types.

Spells:

Life Domain: Greater Summon Beasts 4, Venom 5,

Regrowth 4, Camouflage 3.

Lightning Domain: Greater Electro Claws 5, Lightning

Bolt 5, Chain Lightning 4, Electrified 3.

Sanctified Domain: Heal 5, Greater Bless 4, Purge 5

Aura of Dominance: Variable base of 30

Aura of Fear: Variable base of 15

Aura of Sexual Magnetism: Variable base of 15

(Full character sheets can be found at the end of the

book)

 

I made similar changes for my disciples. Improving

their current suite of spells and boosting their spell power. In a few cases like Fiadh and Marux who had limited use for spells a lot of their points went into their physical stats as well.

By the time I’d finished up several hours had passed.

My disciples and armies had already left to perform the day’s necessary dirty work.

Today either my dungeon or the cabal would fall.

My money was on the cabal.




Explicit Interlude 5.2

(This mini chapter contains explicit sexual content. If

that’s not to your reading taste you can skip on to the next chapter without missing any story elements.)

 

“Husband,” Jessamyn purred as she placed her dainty

fingers on my broad shoulders.

I put my half-empty tankard of ale down. I had drank

my fill of wine after the meal and switched up the beverages.

Turning to the auburn-haired wood-elf I noticed a

naughty twinkle in her emerald eyes. It could have been a reflective glint from the fireplace, but I knew her better.

My alpha mate had sex on her mind and who could

blame her with me around.

Don’t judge me harshly. Humility is for those who

aren’t incredibly awesome.

“I haven’t had a chance to thank you personally for

avenging my honour,” she whispered teasingly and gently licked the lobe of my ear. “I think we have time before the assault.”

I pulled the lithe redhead into my lap and rubbed my

thumbs over her elongated ears. “For you, my love, there will always be time.”

Jessamyn levered herself up in my embrace and her

pouting red lips met mine and parted eagerly as our tongues mingled.

For a nanosecond, I thought about breeding my alpha

mate here on the table in the banquet hall but had to discard the notion.

Not from a place of embarrassment. The nervous, shy

girl I first claimed had blossomed into the confident unashamed woman nestled in my arms. No, if I mounted Jessamyn in front of the others, all my mates would want a turn.

Under normal circumstances, I’d be more than willing

to accommodate their inflamed passions, but we really did need to be on the road in an hour.

I wouldn’t want to disappoint them or have any of

them feel like they were being left out.

I was good, spectacular even, just not quite ‘satisfying

over thirty women in a little under an hour’ good.

Putting Jessamyn down we quietly left the table and

headed for the way into the kitchens, so as not to alert or disturb the other revellers.

Alyssa, of course, spotted our swift exit straight away.

Nothing got past her.

She mouthed “I’ll cover for you,” at us and gave us a

saucy wink.

“That was kind of her,” Jessamyn giggled as we ran

through the corridors hand-in-hand to the bedchamber put aside just for our use.

“Hardly,” I snorted as we entered the boudoir and

closed the door behind us. “She’ll have me playing with her while you’re all out battling our enemies.”

Jessamyn’s brows crinkled at my words. “I hadn’t

thought of that, and she never mentioned it. She is far too clever for her own good.” Then she shook her auburn locks and unhooked the white embroidered sun dress she had on so that it dropped to the floor in front of me. “No matter, she doesn’t have you now, does she?”

With her dress discarded, Jessamyn was stark naked

and posed suggestively for me. Her legs had parted, and her hips marginally thrust forward to expose her hairless and moist mound of venus.

The smell of her ardour hit me like a freight train.

She must have been practising controlling her scent

while in the dungeon as she’d managed to subsume all but the usual background levels of her pungent musky sex.

The effect of her lascivious aroma was irresistible and

robbed me of any capacity to answer her verbally. My clothes were dismissed without me thinking, and I pulled and lifted her lissom body into my arms. My mouth engulfed first one and then the other of her firm breasts. My tongue flicked her pert pink nipples and sucked on them greedily.

My hands gripped her round ass cheeks firmly and

squeezed them roughly.

“Yesss,” she moaned loudly.

Jessamyn’s arms wrapped around my neck as my

mouth and teeth continued to graze over her breasts eliciting more moans from the elf woman.

With Jess securing herself in place, one of my hands

came free from her taut bum, and then came back into contact with her peachy ass with a sharp spank. It hadn’t been a light playful slap either, but a full palmed unrestrained smack.

“Unnghh,” Jessamyn moaned, but she did not object,

only wriggled and whined piteously in my unyielding grip.

My alone time with Jessamyn was usually defined by

love, care, and attention. Gentle caresses, playful toying, and languorous kisses while entangled together.

There would be none of that tonight, when my alpha

mate had unleashed her scent in the way she had, it had awoken something deeply primal in me. There would be no gentle lovemaking. This would be hard fucking.

If I had any worries, Jessamyn quickly made it clear

she was well aware of my intent and heartily approved.

“Oh, yes, Daxas, my love. I want it. I want it real bad.

Love me, fuck me, mate meeee,” she gasped as my hand slapped her wriggling ass once again.

After a few more spanks of her left ass cheek, I

switched up my grip and reddened up the other side, so she had a matching pair. I pulled my lips away from her breasts. My teeth, tongue, and lips had left the creamy flesh of her freckled tits as red as her burning bum.

I glanced up and our eyes met. Her beautiful green orbs

were wet with need, and she mewled piteously at the cessation of attention. I grinned up at her broadly and possessively.

A brief moment of clarity punctuated my wanton lust,

and I thanked my lucky stars for the millionth time that this gorgeous creature had fallen into my clutches.

I would never let her go.

Then my hand that held her aloft, gripping the

underside of her thigh, felt the wet sensation of her juices dribbling from her luscious lady lips and raw sexual instinct seized control of my actions once more.

With two steps I was at the end of the bed. At the end

of the mattress was a tubular blue silk cushion and I flipped Jessamyn around and threw her down on her belly over the firm cushioned tube. This left her face down on the mattress with her ass in the air, her long legs hanging freely, the tips of her toes brushing the plush navy carpet.

Jessamyn looked back over her shoulder at me, biting

her lower lip sexily. Both my hands came down sharply on her exposed, bare ass and she squeaked giddily.

“That’s it my love, mount and fuck me roughly. Show

my pretty little pussy no mercyyy,” she gasped the last part of her come on, as I’d not needed any encouragement to dive in.

I’d already stepped forward, my rock-hard rod

plundering her moist parted lips in a single well-aimed thrust. There was no easing in, but Jessamyn was suitably lubed by her lust and my cock slid into her velveteen tunnel with minimal resistance until my pelvis slammed into hers, my cockhead marauding against her cervix.

“Fuck! Yes!” she screamed in pain and pleasure. “Pull

my hair, make me yours.”

I wasted no time and leaned over and grabbed a fistful

of her auburn locks with my right hand. Placing my left on the small of her back, my fingers roughly massaged her waist, my hips pulled back and then thrust forward with force.

Jessamyn squealed at that second thrust and wordlessly

moaned as it was swiftly followed by a third, fourth, and fifth powerful lunge.

Soon I established a steady pace. The thrusts were

smooth, powerful, and full strokes where I pulled my cock all the way back to the entrance of her pussy, with only the helmet of my rod remaining inside, before plunging my shaft as deep as her lithe body could take. The pace was not fast, but neither was it slow, and it was remorseless.

With each forward motion of my dick, I pulled back on

Jessamyn’s hair forcing her back to arch. At first, she had propped herself up on her elbows but after her first body-shuddering orgasm, two minutes into the hard fucking, she had collapsed back down onto her chest. Breathing heavily and happily.

“Don’t stop,” she begged. “Don’t stop till you’ve

claimed every bit of me.”

“Never,” I managed to growl out, my first and only

word during the entire escapade.

After the better part of half an hour, I felt the time had

come. Jessamyn had lost the power of speech several minutes earlier. All that came from her were grunts, moans, and whimpers.

I levered myself further over her ass with my cock

buried deep in her sloppy cunny. The blue silk of the tubular cushion was sodden with our comingled juices and thoroughly ruined. I released her hair and pulled my hand from her back. Taking both her small hands in mine, our fingers meshed as she returned my grip.

My head was at the back of hers and first I kissed her

gently at the nape of her neck. Then I let instinct take over and my teeth sank into the meat of her slender trapezius muscle between her neck and shoulder. Jessamyn cried out but gripped my hands more firmly, her thumbs rubbing the backs of my hands in approval.

At the same time, my hips started to pound my deeply

embedded cock inside her with short and rapid thrusts as I neared my crescendo.

The familiar aching flex hardened my buried cock,

followed by the spasming of my groin and the ecstasy of the surging pump of my seed. Jessamyn released a pleasure-filled keening moan as she came in tandem with me. Her pussy muscles clamped on my pulsating length, milking every drop of my seed deep into her womb.

When the aftershocks of our mutual cumming faded I

pulled out and crawled up the bed, hauling the messy wood-elf into my arms and kissing the crown of her head.

Jessamyn touched the back of her neck where I had

recently bitten her. The physical evidence of me biting the ruff of her neck was already fading from her flawless skin.

“Can you use the DDD to make the scars permanent?”

she asked in a languid tone.

“I can,” I answered. “Are you sure you want that?

“Yes,” she replied happily. “I want everyone to be able

to see how you claimed me tonight.”

“I don’t think there was ever any doubt,” I chuckled.

“True,” she giggled and then she stilled pensively. “On

second thought can you make it so only you and I can see it?”

I thought about her request for a few moments and

posed the question to my alternate who was presently sitting at the DDD handling this week’s dungeon updates.

“I can’t make an invisible scar. But I can give you a

subdermal tattoo with special ink that can only be seen under certain circumstances and alter our eyes to be able to detect it.”

“That sounds perfect,” she said and snuggled into my

chest.

“Although I don’t think we can hide it from Tenzing

and Alyssa, due to them being extensions of the entity,” I warned.

“I’m not worried about Tenzing and maybe it will be

better if Alyssa can see. Yes, it will be better if she can see,” Jessamyn said with satisfaction.

Another man might be concerned about the rivalry

between them, but I trusted them to sort it out between themselves.

I kissed her on the head again and I soothed away any

welts from our more aggressive than usual sexplay. We didn’t have much longer, and I wanted to enjoy every last second of it.




Chapter 10

 

Burstan the Rakshasa

 

My palanquin was lowered into the high grass. The

bearers, a handful of gnoll disciples from a subordinate dungeon I conquered the previous week, almost botched the placement.

I had to leap from my seat or be sent tumbling to the

earth in a humiliating manner.

The motion ruffled my robes and left me in a

shamefully dishevelled state. I lashed out with my claws instantly, swiping the nearest of the incompetent kahar, the bearer, across the face. The mystic venom in my claws left the gnoll’s face a smoking, scarred ruin. Unlike in the Realms, wounds from my claws would heal without intervention in the Proving Grounds.

Eventually.

His true master looked on helplessly; wrath simmering

behind his eyes at the semi-permanent damage done to his chattel. His anger was foolish, he could do nothing. I was as much his master as he was theirs and I dismissed him and his anguish from my mind.

We should have launched a campaign of subjugation

against weaker dungeons years ago. If we had, perhaps we wouldn’t have been forced to come to this Lord’s forsaken zone today.

It was the only useful outcome of our brief association

with that foul diseased troll. May his traitorous heart rot in the depths of the Reaches.

Under normal circumstances, I might have been more

forgiving of the gnollish kahars. They were untrained dolts, after all. I would have used my own people, but I’d needed them in the field and the news they returned with as we arrived at the hillock is what truly drove my ire.

I should have been the last to reach the knoll that

overlooked the entrance to the Wolf King’s Lair that we planned to use, instead, I was the first. Our planning for this excursion had been limited due to the costly and inefficient medium of contact, the dungeon tables.

Gorvag had made some pathetic excuse about being

under surveillance by the Wolf King’s mysterious forces and that he would have to join us at the last minute

Personally, I believed we had little to fear from a wolf

pup. He had been lucky and our allies unreliable. Regardless of my protests, Tamara, as per usual, sided with the orc. As the next nearest of our group to this zone the task which should have been his was left to me. The irritating responsibility of gathering what remained of Gorvag’s orc indentured.

My disciples had ranged ahead and the news they

returned with was disturbing.

They were gone, all of them.

From what my scouts could gather, a bloody war for

dominance had broken out amongst the orc tribes during the week. The blasted fools had torn themselves apart destroying one another’s claimed dungeons.

Leaving almost nothing but desolation and ruin.

It was unbelievable. Yet more luck for the Wolf King.

The orcs wouldn’t have been much use. They had

failed once already, but they would have made useful fodder for the grinder. Now I might have to exert myself and that was unacceptable.

The other three impromptu gnollish kahar tried to

scurry away and hide behind their master.

“Stay where you are,” I snarled out the command.

The gnolls looked at their master, who reluctantly

nodded, and they obeyed.

I fixed the disarray of my robes, calm and serenity

returning to me from the habitual act. That didn’t stop me from walking over to the remaining untouched three and marking them as I had their brother bearer.

One’s appearance and reputation must be maintained.

With discipline dispensed, I turned my attention back

to the guild compound at the bottom of this low hill. Dawn was still several hours away but darkness was a friend to a hunter like me.

The walls had been extended to encompass the

dungeon entrance, which wasn’t a surprise. Daxas might be an unbelievably lucky wolf pup, but that didn’t make him stupid.

I didn’t fully understand his relationship with the guild

in this zone. That they had to be in contact was now a given. How that contact was established and maintained remained a mystery. As was the question of why they would listen to him or spend their own resources protecting his entrance.

There were other dungeons, many of them. His Lair

couldn’t be that beneficial, if it were, he wouldn’t have made the grand strides he had over the last few months.

I continued studying my adversary’s position for

another half an hour before my cogitation was interrupted by the braying laughter of a halfling, Gerhalt. He and the few now under his thumb had arrived.

On time, as well, which was a bit of a surprise.

Resisting the urge to scold the boisterous four-foot

man, I held my stoic stance at the top of the hill. Gerhalt would come to me soon enough, the garrulous being wouldn’t be able to help himself.

“Oi! Oi! Looks like somebody got on stripes’ bad side.

What did you do? Drop him in on his head,” Gerhalt laughed heartily.

He always could find amusement in any situation. The

gnolls certainly didn’t return his enthusiasm.

“Tough crowd,” he muttered with a chuckle.

A few seconds later, Gerhalt came to a stop beside.

“Morning, Stripes.”

“I’ve asked you not to call me that,” I grumbled, not

that it would do any good.

“That’s right, you have.” He grinned back.

Gerhalt may often act the buffoon, but he had a clever

mind. His choice of words would have been deliberate. An unspoken admission that he would continue to use the detested nickname.

“Couldn’t you have been a bit more circumspect when

you arrived?” I commented wryly instead. “I’m sure they can hear us all the way down there.” I pointed at the walls of the guild.

“Bah! Supplicants can’t hear or see us.”

“It’s not them I’m talking about. It’s whoever Daxas

has down there watching for us.”

“It doesn’t matter. He’d have to be a bug-eyed moron

not to know he was being hunted. He’s already expecting us.”

“Be that as it may, if you could keep the laughter to a

minimum, it would be appreciated.”

Gerhalt grunted in reply. Which wasn’t a yes, but I’d

learned over the many years of our association that arguing with him about his noise levels was self-defeating. He would only get louder and drag you in to doing the same and then grin like a pyromaniac as the city burned around him.

“I couldn’t help but notice that our party is a bit thinner

on the ground than expected. Weren’t you supposed to gather the orcs before you got here?” he questioned.

“They’re gone,” I sighed.

“Gone? How can they be gone?”

I spent a few minutes filling Gerhalt in on what my

disciples had found when they attempted to rouse the orc dungeons for the battle ahead.

“That is not good,” he mumbled to himself, his usual

cheer absent. “I don’t like it.”

I didn’t respond with my thoughts on the matter, and

we settled in to wait for the arrival of the others.

Two uneventful hours passed. Uneventful apart from

Gerhalt’s running comedic commentary which resumed less than five minutes after the news which had disturbed him so. Worse news was to come.

Tamara was late. She should have arrived an hour after

the halfling but didn’t.

There was not much we could do about that. We sent

out scouts but there was no sign of her. At the pre-appointed time, the fifth and final member of our dark alliance ran into the camp with his followers.

Ezrokath was a Sathanite infernal. He had always been

non-communicative as to how he ended up in the Proving Grounds. The Sathanites were essentially the baronial class of the infernals. They were rumoured to have originated in the Dark Reaches, and not have a mixed heritage as many the lower demon races had. Typically, that meant they had a free pass to serve in the Reaches with their dark masters when they perished.

He must have stepped on somebody’s toes.

Ezrokath was individually very powerful, perhaps even

a match for me in single combat. He was also overweeningly arrogant and a thorough displeasure to be around.

He rarely attended our in-person gatherings. Ostensibly

because of the distance between our dungeons, which was also the reason he was expected to be the last to arrive. The truth was he barely tolerated our existence and felt the only real purpose for the Realms-born was for our souls to fuel the war machine of his demonic masters.

“Halfling, Rakshasha,” Ezrokath barked as he joined us

at the top of the hill.

He knew our names but pretended not to. His tone

always conveyed an undercurrent of barely restrained hate. He may as well have called us scum and vermin, for him the words meant much the same thing.

“Where are the Gorgon and the Orc,” he continued

without giving us a chance to respond to his contemptuous greeting.

Not that we would have.

“Not here, yet. We think they must have run into some

trouble,” Gerhalt said, fabricating an excuse on the fly.

There was no reason to suspect there had been any

trouble.

“I’m not interested in the excuses of lesser species,”

Ezrokath grunted. “We proceed as directed. You have five minutes to prepare.”

The scarlet-skinned demon turned on his heel and

started walking back to the collection of infernal dungeons and their abject slave-disciples he had brought with him. Discipleship to the infernal was not a pleasant experience. Many prayed for an end that was often slow in coming.

“What!?” Gerhalt exploded with a strangled cry. “You

must be mad. We should wait. Maybe this Daxas has entered Gorvag’s dungeon and Tamara rushed to his assistance,” he desperately suggested.

The big demon didn’t stop, he merely called back to

us. “In which case, the dungeon will be even easier to take, won’t it?”

Gerhalt sputtered with disgust at Ezrokath’s blasé

dismissal.

However, I side-eyed the slaves Ezrokath had brought

with him. There were four maybe five times as many than I’d anticipated. He’d brought at least double what Gerhalt and I had secured combined, and there could be more at the base of the hill. He’d either been extremely busy last week or had been doing this for some time and had kept us in the dark. I favoured the latter over the former.

“You have to admit he’s got you there,” I admitted with

a half-smile when the halfling calmed down.

“You can’t be serious, Stripes. This is no joking

matter,” he grumbled back at me.

The irony of his statement was lost on him.

“We don’t have much of a choice. The Lord’s demands

were clear. Daxas must die today. If he does not, they will expose us, and we will be expunged. Ezrokath will go without us, that much is clear, and he has the numbers to make a go of it. What if we delay, leave him to go it alone and he fails, and then they still don’t show? Then it will just be two of us… worse what if Ezrokath goes alone and is successful? Do you think the Lords won’t notice?”

Gerhalt pursed his lips in frustration, but he didn’t

gainsay me. “I don’t like it,” he muttered at last.

“Neither do I, but we have no other option after last

week’s failure.”

“Maybe Makas and Vynar will show?” Gerhalt

suggested. “We did message them…”

“You are clutching at straws, my friend. Neither

replied, which does not surprise me. Those two idiots have burned their homes down around themselves. I would not be surprised if they had not already suffered a counterstroke from the Lord’s disfavour. We may not be the only ones acting on their behest,” I warned the doubtful halfling.

Gerhalt didn’t answer but stomped away. I could see

that he was readying his people, though, so didn’t need to worry about him bailing or putting up any further objections.

Truthfully, my confidence was shaken. Gerhalt’s theory

about Gorvag being under attack had some merit. However, it didn’t explain Tamara’s absence. She and the orc were close, but she feared Timian more. The spiteful god’s connection with her meant he could punish her whenever he pleased.

If she had diverted to aid an under siege Gorvag, her

impatient patron would have intervened.

Something else had happened. I was sure of it and the

cautious, calculating, part of me screamed that we should abandon the attempt until we knew more. But we were trapped by circumstance. To leave now would be to risk everything and I wasn’t willing to gamble with my ultimate fate.

With a deep sigh, I straightened my robes and climbed

back upon the palanquin. The bearers lifted me aloft and we made our way down to the guild outpost below.

Upon our arrival at the compound, we learned that

Gorvag had not been making excuses as waves of armed young women poured out of the surrounding buildings and moved to intercept us.

It would appear that I would be required to bloody my

claws early.

 



 

Tamara Huxeidon

 

“Missstress!” A distant sibilant voice cried.

It was so far away, though, that I barely heard it.

“Missstress, wake up,” the same voice called. Closer

now but still far off.

I felt like I should recognise the caller, but everything

was hazy. The landscape around me was unfamiliar and shifted unpredictably whenever I took my eyes off it.

“Tamara! You need to wake up,” came the urgent cry,

much, much closer almost in my ear.

Clarity lanced the fog from my mind. The voice

belonged to Reena, my disciple, my friend, my confidante.

With that thunderbolt came further understanding. The

haze, the shifting landscape. I was dreaming. And with understanding came the thunderous crack of returned consciousness.

My eyes fluttered open, and I saw Reena looking down

at me as she cradled my body in her arms. Then the searing agony zigzagged through my mind, the burning after-effect of Timian’s visitation.

Nay, invasion was a far better descriptor for what he

had just done.

“Are you alright, Missstress?” Reena asked, concern

writ large on her furrowed brow.

“I will be,” I sighed. “Can you help me to my feet.”

When Timian had invaded my mind, I’d been in my

antechamber using my design table to make the last few adjustments to my dungeon before departing on today’s expedition. It would be just like this troublesome Wolf King to sap the entire day and leave no opportunity for updates until the following week.

Reena pulled me up with ease and helped steady my

legs as a wave of nausea almost buckled my knees.

“How long was I out?” I asked summoning a

handkerchief from the inventory and spitting out a glob of acidic sick.

“I am not ssure, Missstress. We should have departed

for the assault hours ago. The two subordinate dungeons we conquered last week are waiting outside. When you did not emerge, I came to see what the delay was and found you unconscious on the floor.”


I nodded and then gently pulled myself from her

supporting embrace, then walked over to my divan, only wobbling on my unsteady legs once before sitting down.

“Do you need ssomething like that ridiculous

contraption Bursstan is carried around in? If we hurry, we can still make it before the others go in ahead of us…” Reena asked and trailed off as she saw my pained expression.

“We shall not be going anywhere today, Reena,” I told

her wearily.

“…but what of Lord Timian’s commands?”

I smiled wanly at her. “My current predicament is

because of Lord Timian, he rather urgently and forcefully, paid me a visit. He made it very clear I was not to attend the battle today. He has had a change of heart it seems or to be more accurate has decided to deal with Daxas personally and we are to stand down.

“I am still quite mentally fatigued. His manner of

communication was quite unorthodox. Can you go out and dismiss the dungeons for me, please. I will release them from their service later. They will no longer be needed.”

“Of course, Missstress. Would you like me to send

Milton to call off the attack?”

“No,” I said with a little more force than intended. “I

mean, send Milton to Gorvag and inform him to stand down. The others are to keep Daxas occupied for the day. Lord Timian has foreseen that Daxas will strike at Gorvag’s dungeon otherwise, which is the most vulnerable to a counterattack.

“My fainting fit was a damned inconvenience. Ideally,

I would have messaged them this before they left. The others shall be most displeased by our absence but will understand when I have a chance to explain.”

Reena bowed and slithered away to follow my orders.

There had been something in her eye, though. Doubt. And she was right to second guess me for I had not been entirely truthful with her.

Yes, Timian was the cause of my current malady and

yes, he had changed his directives. He no longer wished for the assault on Daxas dungeon, but I don’t believe he foresaw the damage his intrusion would cause on my psyche or that it would leave me incapable of calling off the others in advance.

Milton might be swift, but he was not swift enough to

reach them in time. Especially as Ezrokath would not wait, and the others would be left with little choice but to follow him.

But he might reach Gorvag in time. We had agreed, he

and I, without the others knowing, that he would hold back until the rest of the attack group had dealt with whatever external defences the Wolf King had put in place. The other three could be ruthless, particularly Ezrokath, and we feared he would be used wastefully.

More than that, though. My time in the dreamscape had

been illuminating, despite the haziness of my recollections of the scraps I’d witnessed. I knew with certainty that the foretelling I experienced when all this began, had been speaking to me of this day.

Today would be the last that I saw any of the rest of the

cabal.

Unless I did something to change it.

Prophecy could be tricky to interpret particularly when

the prophet themselves was involved in the outcome. There were a few things I was sure of, though. Daxas planned to counterattack our group today and Gorvag would perish during the battle.

My fervent hope was that even if this was meant to be,

perhaps Lord Timian’s intervention, an act by the most powerful of all prophets, opened an avenue for change. That by being overwhelmed by the god of prophecy, fate could be changed.

I’d had to think quickly but could see no other valid

assessment of what would happen. Had I not collapsed I would have alerted the others to the change in our orders in time and they would never have departed from their dungeons.

Daxas would be given the opportunity to strike at us

instead, slaying the weakened Gorvag and then fate must have determined he would have come and destroyed me. Which made sense, I was the link to the Lords and removing me would aid him the most.

I had long suspected he was being supplied with

information or help from an unknown source, one even my precognition could not identify. His actions and advancement were too aberrant. Makas and Vynar’s betrayal too inexplicable. Perhaps he was secretly a servant of the Infernals?

The only other possibility, as unlikely as it may seem,

would be that Daxas could overcome the combined might of the cabal during the invasion. But even if such an unthinkable thing occurred that would have just sent us back to our respective dungeons.

The Wolf King would not have the time to

counterattack afterwards, and this scenario would not explain my foretelling. The former is what had to be the truth.

My unanticipated physical weakness offered me the

chance to forge a different path without disobeying Timian’s commands. Allow the others to occupy Daxas and keep Gorvag out of harm’s way.

We would just need to lay low and avoid the Wolf King

for a few weeks after that. At least, until Lord Timian had dealt with him, and then we’d be free of the damning fate. All of us.

In fact, thinking of the Wolf King and his innovations

gave me an idea.

I stood swiftly and activated my design table. I quickly

located Reena, she had not made it to the dungeon exit yet, excellent.

Pressing a whorl on the table allowed me to speak with

her directly. “Reena!”

The lamia woman stopped her undulating slither and

looked up at the corner of the room where my voice had emanated from. “Yess, Missstress.”

“Change of plan. I want you to send the other

dungeons out to conquer those nearby and enforce a pledge of service to me. After you have despatched Milton to warn Gorvag, prepare our people to do the same.”

“Understood, Misstress,” Reena answered with a nod

and rushed off to obey

Daxas wasn’t the only one who could set up a

defending force at a dungeon entrance. Even if he managed to locate us next week, he would find getting in more difficult than he could possibly have imagined.

 



 

Gorvag

 

“Chief, somebody is approaching from the South,”

Runx grunted a warning.

I hauled myself up from the ground and readied my

axe in case it was an enemy or a scout. We were camped in a small thicket of bushes about half a mile from the entrance to Burstan’s dungeon. His dungeon was nearest to mine so it made sense that bastard Daxas would use his influence over me to make me attack him.

The shorter distance meant I had fewer chances to find

a legitimate reason to somehow not make it on time. I could have pushed back, but then ran the risk he’d send me against Tamara instead. Betraying the cabal and endangering her was painful enough. If I’d had to doom her directly, I didn’t know what I’d do.

Which was a lie. I knew what I’d do. To save my

daughter I’d dishonour myself a thousand times.

A minute later, I could make out the figures coming

toward us. They were headed straight for the thicket and the unmistakable hulking bodies of minotaurs leading the way made it abundantly clear this was Daxas people and not, by some miracle, Burstan or his allies came to foil my involvement.

The dark turn of my thoughts meant I almost missed

the familiar figure leading the group to our position.

Genya.

Without thought for circumspection or the discipline of

the raid I was out of the thicket and charging across the lightly wooded landscape. Her face broke out into a wide smile when she saw me and jogged ahead of her group and into my crushing bear hug.

“Father, I’m going to need my lungs for later,” she

wheezed jokingly.

Reluctantly, I released my iron grip and held her by her

shoulders instead. She looked well, but I couldn’t be sure.

“Daughter, are you alright? Has he hurt you?”

I didn’t need to express who he was, and I preferred

not to sully my mouth with his name if I could avoid it.

“I am fine, Father. Better than fine. Daxas and the rest

of his disciples have treated me very well, like one of them,”

I growled low at that. That bastard had a reputation. I

would have inquired further but I saw how Genya’s eyes lit up when she said his name. I knew then what had happened and didn’t want it confirmed out loud.

There are some details fathers don’t want to know

about their daughters.

“Enough of that, you grumpy old ox,” she cheekily

admonished me.

“You always were a wilful girl. Even as a child,” I

sighed.

“I’ve missed you, even your overbearing

protectiveness,” she retorted with a grin.

I brought her in for another rib-cracking hug and didn’t

break it until a troll I recognised from his dungeon stepped forward and coughed politely.

“Apologies for the interruption to the long-parted

familial reunion. However, we are on rather a strict schedule, I’m afraid,” the troll remarked in a surprisingly clipped cadence.

I had never in all my many years encountered a troll

who spoke in such a manner. Those who served Daxas broke the mould in so many ways.

“Father, this is Shelly,” Genya introduced the troll

when I released her from my hug.

My daughter then spent the next couple of minutes

naming a few more of those who had come with her, mostly they were other women who had been taken by the Wolf King.

Alongside them came a force of dungeon creatures.

Genya did not have time to give me their names, but several were familiar. We had met on the battlefield in his dungeon. I had even cut several of them down. There were more at the back of their column that seemed unfamiliar to me.

My daughter and Shelly did not explain how dungeon

creatures could be here or were capable of accompanying us into Burstan’s dungeon. But it was just as well, had it just been me and the seven other disciples that had come with Genya we could not have prevailed.

“It is time,” a feminine voice I recalled as another of

Daxas women seemed to say out of thin air. “The others are in position and Tenzing has confirmed the remaining cabal members are where we expect them to be and will launch an assault against Zeta House. They will soon be distracted, but you must move quickly, for obvious reasons.”

The reasons were not obvious to me, but Genya and the

others nodded their heads in understanding.

“Are you ready, Father,” she asked me.

Half an hour ago I had agonised over the betrayal I

would perform today, but at least that smug bastard had let me do this with my daughter at my side. I would never forgive him, but I hated him a little less.

For today, at least.

“Orcs, it’s time to fight,” I roared, and my warriors

screamed back in approval.




Chapter 11

 

The day we spent years ago eliminating my former

Gauntlet opponents served as a useful experience for planning out today’s raid. With Gorvag’s inside information we had the details and locations of the four other primary cabal members. Tamara, Gerhalt, Burstan, and Ezrokath.

Jen’Zadeer was still a little bit sore about being

mesmerised and almost killed by the infernal dungeons in that gauntlet match and fancied a little more payback and asked to go after Ezrokath.

She was a dark elf, they bore grudges.

Her group had the furthest distance to travel and had to

mostly go overland as my tunnel network, extensive though it was, didn’t extend that far North from our position. She skirted around the City walls in the opposite direction of the zones where the other cabal members were located. Her party may have been the most exposed but the chances of being spotted remained low.

Gorvag’s dungeon was closest to Burstan the

Raksasha’s.

Ideally, I wouldn’t have used the orc for this mission,

but every invasion required a dungeon avatar to lead it. These were high-ranked dungeons and there was no guarantee we could finish them quickly enough to double up for a second offensive. Not without sacrificing my soldiers with unnecessary haste. Having Genya at his side should keep my reluctant ally happy and on track.

Nessa had been sent with her team to handle the

halfling Gerhalt. He had a dungeon law that proffered advantages to those of a diminutive nature making the petite dryad the natural choice.

And that left me with the seeress, Tamara Huxeidon.

Which would have been my preference anyway.

We had travelled to her dungeon surreptitiously, using

the tunnels for the most part and then emerging in an isolated area. As we neared our target there was a close call when we almost walked into a group of other dungeon avatars I didn’t recognise.

Fortunately, Teotune was doing a fine job as scout, and

we were able to hunker down out of sight. The avatars and their disciples entered a nearby dungeon ranked in the forties.

I could see the prompt appear above them signalling an

invasion. We weren’t the only ones hunting our fellows today.

Tamara’s dungeon, the Caves of Gorgoth, was situated

at the base of one of the strange mountains that had no tops, though in her zone the sky was cloudy and not brilliant sunshine, so the odd landscape looked less out of place.

“Nessa and Gorvag are ready. Jen’Zadeer will be in

position in five minutes, my love,” Alyssa whispered in my ear from the DDD interface.

“What about the enemy?”

“They were on the hillock a little way off from Zeta

House. Tenzing is keeping an eye on them. As we feared the Sathanite has forced the issue and they are already on the move. They will be through the gates and trying to force their way through your blockade and into the dungeon in under a minute.”

“Damn it. They couldn’t have held off for five more

minutes,” I muttered.

“There is one thing of note. Tamara is not with them.

Swift passage, my darling,” Alyssa informed me as she signed off.

Interesting. Could that mean Tamara would be home

when I came a’knockin’.

“Alright people,” I called out to my troops. “We are

facing the higher risk scenario. The enemy is at the gates, and we will be adapting our strategy accordingly.”

My force, over one hundred strong, indicated their

understanding in a variety of ways. Nods, grunts, and a fair few feral grins.

Before today, we’d talked over the possibilities

extensively.

It was no secret that the cabal would be coming for me

today with whatever additional forces they’d managed to cobble together. Despite that, I’d elected to keep our intentions today a secret for as long as possible, so they wouldn’t know we were coming and take away their opportunity to plan and coordinate a response.

My hope had been that with Gorvag’s lack of

attendance they would delay long enough that we could invade each of their dungeons simultaneously and sow some panic and discord. Possibly, one or more of them would have teleported back to their dungeon to defend it without thinking it through.

I needed us to move as one because the alert they

would receive would also inform them of the makeup of the attacking party. Alyssa and Tenzing had confirmed they would receive the same information about life-seeded creatures that I was prompted with. They would therefore know if they managed to get past the threshold of my dungeon some of my force would be recalled. Hence, we needed to catch them by surprise and encourage an ‘every man for himself’ reaction.

Although they wouldn’t be informed of the exact

make-up of the attacking forces unless they were in their dungeon, they needed access to their design tables to read the full breakdown.

However, we hadn’t been banking on them behaving

rashly. At the very least they should comprehend that I’d split my forces. That knowledge had been a point in favour of staggering our invasions, but we also reasoned at best it would result in one returnee while the rest stayed behind with their vassals to attack the Lair.

Our plans had included the likely possibility they

would reach the decision to press forward and break through our lines anyway. But at the very least we’d have earned ourselves a bit of a time advantage while they digested the information and formulated a plan of action.

Their decisive action meant we faced the riskiest

proposition. The cabal was already engaged with my defenders by the time we launched our invasions. Already trying to get into our dungeon which, if successful, would gut our invading forces.

The one saving grace in this scenario was that they

would be distracted by active combat when they got the alert. The potential remained, in fact, it was likely higher, for panicked and self-interested behaviour.

However, because the prospect remained that we could

lose the life-seeded mid-crawl they would be leading the way. The avatars and disciples would be keeping their powder dry as much as possible in case we were faced with finishing the runs without them.

We had divvied up the disciples between the four strike

forces, so they had at least ten each.

With me were Jessamyn, Karragh, Fiadh, Yanna, Yuni,

Gadiel, Teotune, Jovebella, Sarrass and another of my human disciples Nyosippe.

Nyosippe was originally from the same realm as

Tamara. One that culturally seemed to have borrowed much from Earth’s ancient Greece, which made sense as Tamara was a snake-haired Gorgon.

Tabitha, Gretsch, Vellin, and the halfling girls were

among those who went with Nessa. Krista, Eina, Marux and seven others accompanied Jen’Zadeer. Genya had gone with her father and taken Shelly and a few others. Gorvag had five disciples of his own to round out their group.

They all knew what to do so we stepped up to the way

into the Caves of Gorgoth.

 

The Caves of Gorgoth.

This is a Destruction Domain, Manipulation Sphere,

rank seventy-two Dungeon with the following specialities. Petrification, Foresight. The following Dungeon Laws are in effect.

Party of Six: A minimum of 6 adventurers is required to

form a party to enter this dungeon.

Daily Lockout: Adventurers may only enter this

Dungeon once per day.

Over Six Penalty: Every party member over 6 will

contribute a cumulative 10-minute time penalty to the 3-hour time limit. (Per rank)

Petrification: The efficacy of any abilities that would

hold a target in place are doubled. The petrification ability is four times as effective.

 

Unlike the Greek myths, petrification did not turn its

victim into stone. But it would freeze them in place and leave the victim incapable of moving a muscle. That didn’t mean it was simply an alternative form of the paralysis provided by the Frost Bolt spell.

Petrification froze every muscle, including the

diaphragm, so while under its effect you literally stopped breathing and began to suffocate. Additionally, unlike other paralysis effects, there was no time limit. It would either need to be purged or overcome via a stamina check like a disease.

Tamara’s foresight speciality did not add a dungeon

law.


Alyssa had informed me it was an incredibly rare

speciality. Tamara was not unique in the history of the Proving Grounds, but she was its only current possessor.

With that being said, it wasn’t that spectacular on its

own.

Tamara could never be surprised and might have a

flash of what we were about to do before we did it, but that didn’t mean she would have the capacity or time to make use of that foreknowledge. In the hands of an experienced combatant, it could be deadly, but what we’d gleaned from Gorvag, was that Tamara leaned heavily on her petrifying gaze, not combat.

And then there was the extra information that related to

our life-seeded companions.

 

You have a Life-Seeded dungeon creature in your party.

They are not forbidden to enter but are subject to some additional rules.

First, as a dungeon creature they are not avatars of

dungeons or disciples and can’t exist in two places at once. Therefore, if adventurers or other raiding groups enter the dungeon in which they are stationed, they will be summarily summoned back to take their place. There will be no warning if this occurs.

Second, as they are not avatars should they be slain as

part of the invasion the dungeon creature will be returned to your dungeon but will no longer be Life-Seeded. The Life Seed asset is permanently lost.

 

I accepted and we stepped in without further delay.

Although Gorvag had confessed all that he knew about

the layout of the cabal’s different dungeons, it hadn’t been much. For all the years they’d been plotting together they hadn’t walked through the main parts of one another’s dungeons.

Apparently, that would have been rude. Personally, I

think they just didn’t trust one another.

What we did know was that like almost every other

dungeon that had passed the teen ranks Tamara had collapsed most of her lower floors to re-purpose the contents. Which meant despite her rank we would not have to fight through nine floors to get to her core. She had one full floor limited to threats allowable up to rank seventy. A much smaller ten-rooms second floor, and after that just the six-room core floor to navigate.

As the name suggested Tamara had access to the

advanced cavern room and that formed the general décor. Unlike the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer which were quite dank and moist, the caves of Gorgoth were dry with a layer of sandy soil on the cave floor. The kind of caves you might find in an elevated drier environment like the hills of California or Nevada rather than the dripping caverns you could expect to see below sea level.

One feature that remained the same between their

setups was the confusing winding passageways. That could have been troublesome if my party wasn’t filled with infernal minotaurs. They had an innate labyrinthine sense which meant that in cavernous passages such as this they rarely lost their sense of which tunnel led out.

With them leading we made only a handful of wrong

turns and thus avoided many of the traps that had been laid for the unwary. The few traps we had to overcome on the true path were particularly dangerous and difficult to avoid.

The traps themselves were quite simplistic and easy to

spot, spiked pits and the like. An old favourite of mine too. But being easy to see made them no less troublesome to avoid. Tamara’s traps had a variety of psychic lures attached to them that drew you in against your better judgement.

This was a manipulation dungeon, after all.

The lure aspect of her traps caught us unawares the

first time and two of the leading minotaurs ran heedlessly down a tunnel into a waiting pit. Fortunately, their Health was sufficient to avoid fatalities from the fall and being skewered.

This lure had created the illusion of an irresistible

aroma of their favourite food, which ignited their gluttony and overwhelmed their common sense. They had wished to get to the feast before any of the others, so they could eat their fill and more.

The vanguard had taken the brunt of the trap’s allure,

though several successfully fought off its effects. Perhaps because they were naturally less gluttonous than the two who had succumbed. The lure’s efficacy quickly wore thin as it worked its way through the group, though.

With that first encounter in our minds, we were able to

take better precautions as we continued onwards. Even though the lures and the weaknesses of character they targeted changed up regularly. Lust proved a tricksy one for me even as far back as I was.

We made so few mistakes that eventually Tamara,

whom I suspected was almost certainly present to direct matters, started pulling some of her monsters that lay in wait down the untaken corridors and sent them against us.

In the first labyrinth room what came for us first was a

monstrous minotaur. This is not to say that my life-seeded infernal minotaurs weren’t monstrous but compared to these guys they seemed to be infant versions.

The first one that charged our rear had to be twenty-

five feet tall and ten feet wide and built of pure muscle. It had three sets of bovid horns, not just one. The top pair were the longest and the two base pairs were coated in a rank substance. I’d bet my house whatever it was, was venom.

Oh, and the fucking thing could breathe fire.

The sole saving grace was despite these beasts being

bipedal and kind of humanoid, this was a monster mob, not an intelligent species pattern. That meant no armour, and it even forwent the club that Makas giant ettin had been permitted to use.

Which made sense as we were in a tunnel system, and

did I mention it could breathe fucking fire!

If I hadn’t been so excited about the prospect of getting

my grubby little hands on the pattern my nose would have been severely put out of joint by the turn of events.

The Megataur, as I dubbed it, exhaled its flame breath

ahead of itself and with zero finesse collided with the protective backline of regular-sized minotaurs and me. The crunching attack bowled us over despite our impressive strength and sent several of my people flying into the tunnel walls where they crumpled in a heap.

But we were a hardy bunch, especially me with my

natural fire resistance and we were quickly hacking and clubbing the monstrosity with wild abandon.

The dryads peppered the beast with Frost Bolts, but it

took quite a few successes before the creature was overcome by paralysis due to its impressive stamina reserves and size which would be a factor. If it hadn’t been for the petrification dungeon law, they’d have been nigh on untouchable in that regard.

I ordered the hobgoblins to hold off on using any flame

spells. Something that breathed fire would likely have a hefty resistance if not an outright immunity.

With our large numbers, once the beast was

immobilised, it soon fell.

“Well, that got the heart pumping,” I wisecracked after

I’d confirmed none of my warriors had been slain.

“That was a nasty fucking thing,” Gadiel snorted.

Somehow the foul-mouthed she-elf’s clothing and hair

remained in immaculate condition. Everyone else showed some visible sign of the short but frantic battle, even if it was a little soot on the cheek. She certainly hadn’t held back; the evidence of her involvement was clear to see on the tip of her spear.

“Okay, heal the wounded and let’s keep moving.

Alyssa, do you have an update for me?” I asked into the air, knowing she would be watching.

“Anything for you, my darling,” she teased. “The cabal

has engaged with your guardian mobs outside the dungeon entrance. Their initial foray was pushed back, and they retreated to take cover behind or within the guild buildings in the compound. Your guardians have pulled back and have been content to keep them pinned down as we wanted. Keeping them out of the Lair remains the priority.

“Tenzing is embedded unseen amongst them. The

cabal leaders are aware that you have invaded their dungeons, but this has not triggered any rash decisions or abandonments on their part yet. But all four dungeon runs are still in the early stages, so that may change. Currently, the three leaders were forced to take cover in separate locations, but they are already moving to meet up and coordinate. The current respite has but a few minutes before they begin the assault anew.

“There has been no sign of Tamara. The cabal

members are as surprised and confused about that as we are.”

“Thank you, Alyssa.”

Wasting no further time, we trudged ever deeper.

After a few moments, Karragh stepped up to me and

spoke in a lowered, slightly nervous voice. “Master, I have been thinking… no, forget I said anything. I’m sure it wouldn’t work,” she finished with a self-doubting mutter.

Karragh blushed and tried to walk away but I reached

out and wrapped my lengthy wolfen arm around her waist and pulled her back in. “Tell me,” I encouraged.

“Okay,” she said after hesitating for a moment longer.

“I’ve been thinking about one of the new Earth domain spells which I have. I know we’ve thought they are mostly useless, but I’ve been playing around and think we might be able to make use of one of them here.”

“Which spell,” I inquired.

“Immersion.”

“Immersion? I don’t recall adding that one.”

“Ah, no. I saw I had a few points left over and I added

it myself,” she mumbled nervously unable to meet my gaze. “Are you angry with me,” she asked when I said nothing for a second.

“Absolutely not,” I reassured her. “A little surprised,

maybe. At myself as much as you, because I never even noticed the spell had been added to your sheet. I dislike that I’ve become so complacent.

“If I hadn’t wanted you to be able to change your sheet

if you pleased, I would have ordered you not to. I should be the one who is embarrassed that I’ve not made more of an effort to encourage you girls to get more involved in your own progression.

“You were saying about the Immersion spell?” I

finished.

Karragh smiled up at me and her back straightened

with confidence. “Yes, as you know it allows you to immerse yourself in the earth, sinking down out of sight. Once fully immersed you stop descending. When the spell ends you are ejected back to where you were before you sank into the earth.

“We’d thought it only useful for hiding away if you got

in trouble or if a companion did. Which is why we didn’t take it earlier; we have always preferred aggressive proactive solutions. End them before they end us. But I had an idea and have been experimenting with casting it on an enemy target.

“The trials I performed on our mobs showed that the

unwilling target can shake the spell off fairly quickly. However, the key to using the spell in this way is that you can’t move forward as you are being immersed. Hopefully, if I cast it on a moving target, it will completely halt their forward progress, maybe even cause them to tumble to the ground once they shake off the spell.”

“That sounds like a great idea,” I enthused. Genuinely

excited at the potential for the spell that I had largely dismissed from my thoughts.

“I’ve never tried it outside of our dungeon, though,”

Karragh warned. “I instructed our mobs to be unwilling recipients, but they were still our mobs. I did try it on a few adventurers on runs and that was successful, but never on the creation of another dungeon.”

“No time like the present,” I quipped. “Next time one

of those megataur bastards comes at us, have at it.” 

And she did.

When the spell was cast the top half of the beast kept

moving forward while its hooves were planted and sank an inch or two into the ground throwing its balance completely off. The hooves didn’t get any farther than those couple of inches before the megataur automatically shrugged off the Immersion spell and its hooves were ejected. With the top half of its body still going forward and the bottom half being thrust upward we were treated to a spectacular gymnastic display for such a mighty creature.

If only it had nailed the landing.

Instead, the megataur went arse over tit and drove its

horns into the loamy dirt of the cave floor and broke its neck with an audible snap.

Fractured vertebrae aren’t fatal in the Proving Grounds,

but we swarmed the beast as it struggled to right itself and it didn’t last long with our numbers.

When I stepped back from the bloody work, I could see

Karragh beaming with joy and flashed her a pride-filled, toothy, wolf grin in return.

However, we had little time for any self-congratulatory

celebration, we had to press on.

Thanks to the minotaur’s labyrinth sense, we made

excellent time. But the deeper we got, the more difficult the obstacles became.

Megataurs gave way to chimaera. Large monsters with

the body of a lion and three heads. The head at the front was that of a lion, as was the body and it breathed fire like the megataur. Emerging from the beast’s back was the head of a demonic-looking black goat that spewed frost-based attacks. The tail of the creature was a great serpent that moved speedily and freely, defying gravity. The snake tail spat acid and had venom that visibly dripped from its hollowed fangs.

We cleared the encounters quickly but after each, the

life-seeded were further drained. We couldn’t wait to aid recovery time, though. Alyssa was keeping me in the loop and the news wasn’t good. The cabal’s forces were stronger than expected. Ezrokath in particular had brought more fighters with him and was personally very powerful.

I had no further trump cards to play for that remote

fight. They would break through sooner rather than later and we needed to have as much of their dungeon’s floors behind us before that happened.

The final boss of the first floor was in a gigantic

chamber. It was a seven-headed hydra. The scales of the reptilian beast were a shimmering blue. The body of the creature matched the entire bulk of a megataur and from its sizeable shoulders snaked the twenty-foot necks and atop those the maws filled with needle-sharp fangs.

“Daxas, my love,” Alyssa whispered in my ear. “The

defenders at the entrance are down, you have less than half a minute I think.”

“Understood,” I replied and then yelled out a

prearranged signal. “End times!”

The life-seeded reacted and unleashed everything they

had. Flame, Lightning, and Frost Bolts, all made as strong as they could be, slammed into the unmissable hydra before us. The nimbus of buff spells surrounded me, my disciples, and the infernal minotaurs boosting our stats and damage output.

Freshly buffed the minotaurs stowed their shields and

charged with no thought for their own survival as they attacked the floor boss. Seven hydra heads whipped down at the running bull-men and snapped seven of them from the ground and lifted them high into the air and shook them about like rag dolls.

The unfortunate victims of the hydra’s enraged state

glowed with the green and gold of Heal and Regrowth as the dryads emptied their mana pools to keep them alive.

But we had more warriors than the hydra had heads

and those not plucked from the deadly advance sank their axes and mauls into its shimmering flesh in the frenzy of Bloodlust.

We only had them with us for a dozen more heartbeats,

but it was enough to fell the mighty beast.




Chapter 12

 

Burstan the Rakshasa

 

The grimy conflict outside the dungeon was finally

coming close to a finish. The seemingly endless stream of battle-crazed females had first slowed and now ground to a halt.

We’d been unsure of what exactly these life-seeded

creatures mentioned in the alert of Daxas counter-invasion were. More concerning, had been the revelation we’d all been invaded. Ezrokath’s reaction to the news hadn’t been a surprise. The Sathanite was convinced it was some form of distraction or feint. The Wolf King had spread his forces thin in an attempt to fool us into abandoning our invasion and destruction of his dungeon today.

Gerhalt and I had been less convinced of that, but

privately we agreed we had to at least start the invasion and trigger this recall function we had been made privy to.

I directed my people on the right flank of our assault

from the comfort of my palanquin, deftly sending incisive throwing knives through the gaps and into the throats of the defenders. When the gap in the defender’s lines came, it wasn’t from the centre, where Ezrokath hewed with a mighty broadsword, but on the left flank where Gerhalt fought.

The halfling and his retinue took full advantage and

they pushed through and made for the Lair’s entrance with alacrity.

The female guardians in the centre and on the right

reacted to Gerhalt’s penetration and peeled away from the front lines in a desperate attempt to prevent his ingress.

The tactic successfully delayed us another few minutes

as they surrounded him and his people a few feet from the threshold, but it exposed their backs to Ezrokath and he swept in and finished them off. Leaving the way clear for us to enter.

Reluctantly I stepped down from my cushioned carrier

and walked across the bloodied cobbles, weaving my way through the strewn corpses.

“Damn weaklings,” Ezrokath growled, as he beckoned

to his oversized following and strode through the entrance to the Lair, officially starting the invasion without a second thought or word of warning.

Whether his damning indictment was aimed at us, or

the slaughtered women was difficult to decipher. As I approached where the final stand took place, I began to suspect he meant both.

 

Life-seeded creatures that had been involved in an

invasion of your dungeon have been recalled.

 

The prompt flashed before my eyes confirming what

we’d been told earlier.

I shook my head to clear the notification and beheld

what was left of Gerhalt and his people. The bodies of the slain female defenders formed a wide semi-circle around him and what was left of those he had brought with him.

Apart from Gerhalt, there were only six others that still

stood, all looking extremely worse for wear, and none of them were Gerhalt’s disciples. I could see several of their unmoving forms either in front of, or beside him.

“Lords be damned, but I’m fucked, Stripes,” he tried to

laugh, but I could tell his heart wasn’t in it.

My stout halfling ally had been shaken by events.

“Do you need a minute before we head in?” I asked

him delicately.

We both knew we didn’t have a minute to spare,

though.

I’d been running our current circumstances through my

head and come to some rather concerning conclusions. It was time to act for my self-preservation and Gerhalt might need a little prodding to do what was best for me.

“Perhaps I can take charge of your indentured and take

them in. Give you a moment to check over your disciples. You can catch up with us inside,” I suggested.

Gerhalt looked up at me, a glint of hope in his eyes.

“Thanks, Stripes. That is very decent of you,” he said brightly and then turned to what was left of his retinue. “Alright, you lot. Follow Burstan’s orders for the rest of the day.”

With that, I gathered all those who remained outside

and ushered them into the Wolf King’s Lair ahead of me. I didn’t look back at Gerhalt as I crossed into the dungeon, and he said nothing more.

I’d given him the ideal opportunity to abandon the

attack and return to his dungeon. I was confident he would take it.

Once inside, we were in a welcoming antechamber.

Ezrokath had not waited for us and had pressed on ahead, but that suited my purpose perfectly.

Too much had already gone wrong for all this to have

been a collation of unlucky coincidences. It pained me to admit, even to myself, that my assessment of Daxas’ threat was faulty, and he was not merely lucky. There were too many factors to ignore.

First, the troll and the gnoll dungeon’s betrayal during

the last rest day. That they were untrustworthy I believed wholeheartedly. But what they got out of turning on us was far less clear. Tamara’s argument that they had been seduced away by Daxas’ unknown backer seemed thinner and thinner with each new development.

Second, Gorvag’s subsequent excuses and delays. The

others, particularly Tamara, didn’t see it, but it was out of character for him. Something was definitely off.

Third, the destruction of the indentured orc dungeons.

The assumption that the tribes did it to themselves was feasible, but less so when everything else was taken into account.

Fourth, I had almost come to expect Gorvag’s lack of

attendance, but Tamara? My whiskers twitched at the thought. The only thing that could truly keep her away was a countermand from Timian.

Fifth, that Daxas had invaded our dungeons in turn

with these life-seeded creatures we knew nothing of.

Sixth, the fierceness of the defenders outside the

dungeon. Both delaying and draining out resources.

Ezrokath was confident that the counter-invasions

meant nothing.

However, even with all the time we’d had since the last

attempt at conquering Daxas we hadn’t been able to figure out how he was defending his dungeon entrance with what could only be dungeonborn creations. Dungeonborn who displayed high levels of coordination, cooperation, and fighting skills.

These were not your run-of-the-mill dungeon foes.

I could only conclude that the defenders were also

these life-seeded creatures. And if he had that many outside his dungeon, how many had he taken with him? Would we have to face all those we’d slain outside, inside as well, and what of those that had now been recalled? The wording of the prompts we’d received suggested those with Daxas at the very least would be back in here to defend the inside of his dungeon.

Daxas may have to complete his invasions without

them, but he’d had the benefit of their services for over an hour. If he had the kind of numbers we’d faced outside, they could have taken him very deep indeed and that meant we were vulnerable.

We had to have been betrayed.

Gorvag, Tamara, the Lords. Either by one, by some, or

by all.

It didn’t matter which. I saw it clearly now, this

invasion was doomed, perhaps it always had been.

The shimmering portal that made up the dungeon

entrance flickered from a pretty azure to a deep scarlet. Denoting that the invasion run was now locked.

As expected, Gerhalt had not come in.

That was by my design. I knew the halfling well

enough to intuit what he would do. How much of what I’d concluded had occurred to him I didn’t know, but it would have been enough to stoke his desire to return and defend his dungeon from Daxas attack.

So, I gave him the chance to act impulsively, and he

took it. Now the dungeons that answered to him, answered to me.

For today, at least.

All the dungeon avatars were watching me intently.

Awaiting my orders.

“You are to abandon this invasion and return to your

dungeons with all speed. You will regather your fallen minions and come to my dungeon immediately. I will have work for you to complete. If you do not know the whereabouts, ask one of my disciples before you depart,” I ordered to my surprised audience.

A few minutes later, they had all passed back through

the red shimmer and it was just my disciples and me. Unlike the others, as we were under direct attack, we could teleport back to our dungeon to defend it once we exited the Lair.

If Ezrokath got over himself, he would realise the

same. I doubted he would until it was too late for him. Nobody would mourn his passing, least of all me.

I truly hoped Gerhalt made it. The usually boisterous

and inappropriate halfling had grown on me over the years. Not enough that I hadn’t taken advantage of his dire straits, though.

In the Proving Grounds, it was every person for

themselves, after all.




Chapter 13

 

Tamara’s second floor took us several hours to

complete. It was largely more of the same. A labyrinthine arrangement of caverns, filled with luring traps and oversized monstrous defenders.

Now that the Lair had been breached, we could take

our time. I had full confidence that the invaders would be unsuccessful.

And even if they proved to be stronger or more

competent than anticipated, the nature of my dungeon setup meant it would take them the rest of the day to get to the end. If there was an emergency, I had the Alyssa warning system in place as well as another avatar to manage and handle things.

So far, we hadn’t encountered any beings I would

consider to be Tamara’s disciples. We’d meet them soon enough, I was sure.

We passed through the portal that took us onto the core

floor and experienced the now familiar lurch that left your stomach a little queasy for a moment or two.

Before us was something completely new. Gone were

the dry labyrinthine caverns. In its place, we found ourselves on the gravely shore of a small sea. The sky above was filled with roiling grey clouds giving the impression of an imminent storm..

All five of the Core rooms had to have been combined

and substantially expanded to form this obstacle.

Lodged into the pebbled shoreline was a single sailing

vessel in the style of a Greek galley big enough for a couple of dozen sailors. Albeit this was a very small galley and it had only one row of oars like a Viking longboat. It had a single unfurled sail made from a copper and green cloth.


There was a noticeable breeze with the occasional

gusts and when I gazed out over the mildly choppy waters, I could make out several other landmasses as well as several rocky outcrops occasionally appearing above the waterline as the waves undulated.

“I’ve heard of something like this before, though on a

smaller scale,” Gadiel commented at my side. “We have to get in the fucking boat and sail to the islets dotted around out there. One of them will have a cave or some such shit that will have the way out inside it.”

“Well, you don’t have to take the sship,” Sarrass hissed

slightly. “You can sswim, but I wouldn’t recommend it. There are bound to be beastss in the depthss.”

“We’re taking the ship,” Karragh announced forcefully

with a leery look at the seas.

The sturdy ironskin dwarf was not much of a swimmer.

Not that this was really a decision.

Damn, but I needed to get my hands on some more

naiads.

“All aboard,” I said to the ladies. “I’ll take the helm

and guide us through. The ten of you get to woman the oars,” I finished with far too much cheer.

After a round of dirty looks and a few grumbled

protests that Jessamyn snuffed out with a well-placed frown they clambered onto the wooden vessel, and I pushed the galley from the shore and into deeper water. Once the rudder was free of the gravel I waded into the sea and hauled myself up and into the ship.

“Jessamyn, I need you at the bow of the ship. You have

the keenest eyes. I need someone to warn me if there are any rocks or reefs beneath the waterline that aren’t revealed by the waves of the sea.”

“Of course, Husband.”

I had my doubts that there would be. The layout of the

rooms was something you couldn’t alter for a challenge or an invasion. There were a lot of restrictive design requirements involved when you started to use water features as I’d learned when constructing the submerged caves for the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer.

If Tamara had been forced to provide a ship for delvers

to make their way across, it was unlikely she would be allowed unseen landscape features to sink it. Of course, that didn’t mean the gorgon wouldn’t have ploys in place to wreck the galley on the rocks that could be spotted.

My disciples had settled themselves onto alternating

benches and took hold of the oars. I had to resist the urge to yell “Row!” at the top of my lungs.

I’m not sure my mimicry of the historical film epics of

the sixties would go down too well. I seized hold of the tiller as a gust of wind caught the sails and my disciples began to row and propel the ship through the mildly choppy waters.

I pulled on the tiller and turned the rudder to take us

off to starboard at a fairly acute angle to avoid the first outcropping of jagged, dark grey, barnacle-encrusted rocks. On the starboard side was the first of the larger landmasses. They were barren-looking atolls ringed by a pebble beach with large, weathered boulders dominating the centre. There were a handful of scraggly, withered trees that perched on the tops of the boulders.

Between the landmass and the row of sharp undersea

rocks, I could see the tips of a colourful coral reef waiting for me to guide the vessel too close and tear out the hull and sink us. But there was a hundred-foot gap between the two that allowed safe passage.

Once we were far enough to starboard, I pulled the

tiller back in the other direction to straighten us up and that is when I heard it.

A joyous harmony of three or more intertwined voices

floated across the breeze to us on the ship from the direction of the coral-bound islet.

“Do you hear that?” Jessamyn cried.

“I do,” Karragh replied and stopped rowing and turned

her head with eagerness to the new sound.

“Master, it’s beautiful don’t you think?” Jovebella

piped up in a very undwarfly manner and then blushed when a few eyes rested upon her.

“It iss sso ssoothing,” Sarrass hissed with a dreamy

expression on her face.

“It must be coming from the island over there,”

Teotune said and pointed at the desolate islet on the starboard side.

“We should get closer and investigate the source of

such a treasured melody,” Gadiel gasped, for once forgetting to add a curse word of three to her sentence overcome by the haunting beauty of the song.

“Oh, yes. Say we can, Master,” Yanna begged

excitedly.

“Pretty please, Master,” her sister Yuni added and

batted her eyelashes at me artfully.

I closed my eyes and simply enjoyed the moment. The

lyric-less notes washed away all my anxieties as I absorbed its splendour. My disciples and I were all fully ensnared by the aural intoxication of the siren’s song that came from the deadly island.

“I don’t see why not,” I told my crew with a dappy grin

on my wolfish face. “Row for all your worth, my loves. The sooner we make landfall, the sooner we find the source,” I encouraged them as I leaned into the tiller to change our course back towards the island.

No sooner had my disciples repositioned themselves at

the oars and started to pull, than another sound, a gruff manly voice, barked in my mind drowning out all else.

“Not today sunshine. Pull that tiller back to your

previous course. You should be past the worst of it in less than a minute.”

The sudden invasion into my consciousness, so

reminiscent of my internal battles with the Wolf King Within, snapped me out of the seductive melodic net cast by the sirens.

Of course, this hadn’t been the Wolf King Within.

Who had never truly existed anyway.

This was the part of my mind that controlled the avatar

who observed us from the viewing lounge in the dungeon. As he wasn’t present, the alluring choral mental attack had no effect upon him, and he could take direct action to shatter the siren’s hold on me.

Which was the precise reason I had insisted on taking

the tiller.

I’d got some serious Odyssey vibes from the moment

we’d walked onto the shore of the Core sea floor. And given Tamara’s track record so far, sirens trying to lure us onto the rocks or reefs seemed a pretty safe bet. I shifted the wooden bar back to keep us threading through the strait.

However, it wasn’t long before our progress, or rather

the lack of progress, towards the island was noticed.

“Daxas,” Jessamyn cried in distress. “We aren’t getting

any closer, we’re moving away.”

The despair and pain in her voice cut at my heart but I

knew it wouldn’t last once we were out of the siren’s range. Jessamyn’s discomfort was soon joined by similar wails from her sister-mates as the siren’s song tugged at their psyches, trying to draw them back to their doom.

“Some dark force fights against us,” I lied and grit my

teeth with feigned strain at the tiller. “It is very powerful, and I can only hold us on the true course for a short while. Row as hard as you can, and we can yet reach those heavenly songstresses.”

My domination aura ensured that my disciples

followed my orders without questioning the rather obvious logical fallacy that I continued to steer the ship away, not towards, the sirens. They redoubled their efforts and pulled on the oars with all their might, and we cut through the choppy waters with increased velocity, making it a bit of a rough ride.

The enchanting siren’s song did not cease, but with

their hold on my mind broken I could hear that the alluring melody was interspersed with guttural, and deeply angry, squawking.

Glancing over my shoulder, back at the islet, I could

see that the enchanting creatures had revealed themselves in their desperation to lure us in. The sirens were about five feet tall. They appeared as pale-skinned human women with long, dark, scraggly hair. Their frames were almost skeletal, while their limbs spouted long greyish feathers and their feet were taloned like a birds.

Their faces were almost pretty if you didn’t count the

mouthful of sharp, mismatched teeth and the permanent scowl of unbridled hate.

Despite their lightweight frames and being feathered,

they were like chickens in that they could only fly for very short distances. I saw several of them launch themselves from perches on the island’s boulders and flap their arms frantically as they propelled themselves out onto the parts of the reef above sea level, attempting to extend the range of their song.

Their efforts were all for nought as we powered away

and as my alternate promised, soon we outpaced the reach of the deadly song. As the sweet music faded so did its effect on my disciples, and one-by-one, they stopped rowing as frantically. The last two to stop were Yanna and Yuni. The catgirl’s sensitive hearing was detrimental, not assistive, in such a circumstance.

When we were fully out of the song’s influence many

pairs of grateful eyes turned toward me.

“We were lucky to have you, Husband,” Jessamyn

voiced the collective thought in a subdued tone.

“Yes, Master,” Karragh affirmed. “If you hadn’t been

here, we would have run aground on that reef for sure.”

“Think nothing of it,” I replied magnanimously.

I wasn’t an overly vain individual, well, not usually.

But a bit of gratitude and appreciation from beautiful women never went amiss.

“I’m sure you would have been fine, though,” I

qualified after a moment of preening in their adoring gaze. “A bit wet and facing the prospect of having to swim to investigate the rest of these islands, but you would have carved those bird-bitches to pieces.”

That drew a laugh and the tension eased.

Now that we were further into the sea, I could make

out at least eight other landmasses that could hold the way out of this sea room. I altered our course to take us towards the nearest.

This too was infested with sirens that tried to lure us

onto rocks that I could see jutting up just above the water level. Breaking the influence of their sisters earlier meant I was now immune.

However, my deception trick from the first encounter

wouldn’t work a second time, the girls would be aware that I was actively steering us away from the island.

Fortunately, even though the siren’s song was

powerful, my dominance proved stronger. I wouldn’t need to borrow Odysseus’ solution and bind them to the mast to keep them from trying to take the tiller from me or diving overboard and swimming for the sirens.

My authority kept them in their seats, but their rowing

was half-hearted, and we had to rely on the wind and sails to propel us away.

By the time we sailed near the third island, Jessamyn

had also developed full immunity. As my alpha mate, she was able to keep the others in line and encourage them to row properly. Which allowed me to concentrate on steering.

The next three islets we approached after that were

more siren traps, but after we passed the fifth overall, only a couple of the girls hadn’t developed sufficient immunity to ignore the psychic temptations.

Each of these six islands were fully encircled by

obstacles that would sink the ship. With my understanding of dungeon design principles, this meant they couldn’t be the island we were looking for. So, we passed on making landfall and investigating any of them.

Seven of nine proved to be the magic number.

The islet appeared no different than the others and had

a dozen or more sirens flapping about the boulders and withered, twisted trees. However, there was no ring of coral or a shelf of mostly submerged jagged rocks.

As the ship glided closer, I could see in the shallower

water that the ship had been surrounded and followed by sizable sharks, waiting to attack if we were wrecked or jumped overboard. They were forced to turn back once we arrived in the shallows.

The ship crunched into the gravelly shore and the

sirens launched themselves eagerly, expecting easy, ensorcelled prey on the ship, of which they found none.

They were dungeon mobs so they didn’t have the

capacity to intuit that we must have passed several other siren flocks and survived them already. Without the aid of their song to dull our minds, they were weak and handily dealt with.

Which was just as well. No sooner had I vaulted over

the galley’s side and onto the beach than the gravelly shoreline began to shudder and shake. The small pebbles rattled against each other noisily from the motion. Several of my more agile disciples like Yanna and Yuni had already disembarked and darted further inland, away from the shaking beach.

This meant our group was split, which was never a

sound tactical plan for the unexpected. We would be better off together and the ship had served its purpose.

“Off the ship, quickly,” I roared.

The few who were left aboard sprang into action at my

order and scrambled over the side. Jovebella and Karragh the last two to abandon the vessel just in time.

Surging up from beneath the gravelled beach, where it

had been buried, was a gigantic mottled grey serpent with similar colouring to the pebbly shoreline.

I had to put up my tower shield to block the incoming

rockery that had been strewn in all directions by the creature’s sudden emergence. The galley was hit hard by the serpent’s back, and the wooden hull cracked audibly. The vessel was lifted into the air as the serpent surged to the surface. The ship broke into two pieces, with the larger half being flung back into the sea and the smaller bow crunching into the gravelled beach not far from where we shielded ourselves.

The tubular-shaped body of the mighty beast had a

diameter of at least five feet and its length had ringed the stretch of beach we made landfall on and extended for a hundred feet or more. The frilled head of the monster came out only a few feet beyond where we had landed, which was a spot of bad luck.

“Basilisk!” Nyosippe screeched.

We had all been forewarned of what a basilisk was, A

giant serpent with a petrifying gaze. I had wondered when Tamara planned to make the most of her dungeon law and she hadn’t disappointed.

The beast craned its neck around and turned its head

and gaze upon us.

“Don’t look in its eyes,” I warned unnecessarily.


The Basilisk opened its gaping unhinged jaws and

shrieked noisily to get our attention. It had two-foot-long fangs dripping saliva and rows of serrated back teeth. Apparently, basilisks weren’t venomous, but then they didn’t need to be.

I felt the power of the basilisk’s gaze wash over me,

seeking to find a way past my defences. Not looking at it directly and inserting my shield between us helped enormously and the giant serpent’s petrifying attack could not find purchase. After a heartbeat, the gaze attack faded away. Luckily, it would be a few minutes before it could use the powerful weapon again.

A head-bobbing glance to either side revealed how

much damage the beast had done, though. Jovebella, Sarrass, and Nyosippe were frozen in place, even though they’d had their backs to the basilisk. I couldn’t see where Yanna and Yuni were at all. They had been farther back so they might have taken cover behind the large boulders.

The others were dazed but still moving. It looked like

I’d been the only one to be fully unaffected. We had to finish this quickly. The basilisk’s great head darted forward seeking to strike against a sluggish Jessamyn.

Fortunately, the pinkish flesh at the back of its wide-

open jaws made a very inviting target for my maxed-out lightning bolt that arced from my shield and into the monster. It was enough to throw the beast’s strike off and it missed Jessamyn.

The shock allowed the auburn-haired elf to regather

her wits and she retreated away from the snapping serpent. Blasting it with fire as she evaded its snapping maw.

Fiadh roared out her traditional berserker cry and

sprinted the short distance down the beach and started to pummel the midsection of the basilisk. Being large did have some drawbacks and made it much easier to hit. The basilisk tried to wriggle its bulk to crush her, but Fiadh was too wily to be caught out like that.

She might be in the midst of a berserker fury, but she

was very much cognisant of her surroundings.

Teotune and Gadiel unleashed their own attack spells

into the monster and Karragh grabbed the nearest of our petrified allies, Sarrass, and dragged her from the battlefield.

Like Fiadh, I rushed to the shore and the body of the

beast, triggering Electrified and Electro Claws and started pounding the body with my double-headed maul.

The basilisk’s tactics were fairly obvious and quite

sensible. Hit us with its gaze and petrify as many of us as possible and then follow up by striking down those still capable of movement. With the second phase of that plan a failure, it switched its attention to the helpless pair of Jovebella and Nyosippe.

Sensing the direction of its movement I cast summon

beasts and dropped a pack of wolves in the path of the basilisk’s head to try and distract it, but the basilisk ignored their bites and slithered over the top of those in the way, crushing them with its great weight.

Karragh had returned after depositing Sarrass out of

the line of fire but was too late. The basilisk swept up the dwarf and human woman with a single snap of its jaws and devoured them.

My yellow pupils darkened and were tinged with red as

rage infused me and my blows became even more savage.

Karragh may have been too late to save the two we had

lost but the brave ironskin dwarf launched herself just behind the basilisk’s ear holes and slammed her hatchets deep through its hide.

Then she used them to haul herself up onto its back in

front of the grey frilled skin. She looked like she was riding a sandworm from Dune. But instead of guiding it, she switched out her hatchets for hammers and used every ounce of her strength and skill as a smith to smash at the creature’s skull.

Despite our losses things seemed well in hand, which

is when Tamara struck with a second surprise.

Appearing from the boulders further up the beach were

some of her disciples. A minotaur led the charge, a regular version, not an infernal sub-type like mine. With him were an armoured hare-kin, a human, and a satyr man.

The minotaur only had eyes for me and rushed across

the pebbly gravel to reach me. Karragh, seeing him from atop her unwilling mount, used the Immersion spell as she had on his larger monstrous cousins and sent him sprawling to the ground. Teotune and Gadiel were swift to take advantage and soon he had been skewered multiple times in the back by both of their spears.

The other three ignored the beach and made a beeline

for the most vulnerable of our number, Sarrass. The group didn’t get very far as Yanna and Yuni chose that moment to strike from the shadows where they had been Camouflaged, waiting for just such an opportunity.

The human and satyr were despatched rapidly, the

surprise attack from the twins massively increasing the damage multipliers. The hare was quicker and managed to make it to Sarrass and wreak some damage, but the two cat-girls moved to intercept and keep him away before he could inflict a lethal amount.

Meanwhile, the white glow of healing from Jessamyn

saved the snake-woman’s life. With everything in hand, we got back to the dirty work of slaughtering this desperately thrashing giant snake.

A few minutes, and a couple of close shaves later, and

the basilisk succumbed to our combined assault and crumpled to its death. In the end, its size, while impressive, proved to be a hindrance on the small confines of the island beach. The basilisk didn’t have the room to manoeuvre well, which meant it couldn’t get away from the annoying gnats that harassed it continuously.

With the snake dead, we chased down and killed the

swift hare-kin man who had been desperately evading Yann and Yuni.

After everything on the island had been defeat, we

waited another thirty minutes to heal up and let all our cooldowns expire. I didn’t think that Tamara could have much left in the tank after the basilisk, but I’d already lost two disciples, albeit temporarily, to her surprises.

A quick search of the island uncovered a spiral stone

staircase that led down amongst the boulders. We had almost reached the end of Tamara’s dungeon.

There was a soft pinkish glow emanating from the

bottom of the staircase, a sure sign that this was Tamara’s core room and contained her crystal. Which would be red as it was a destruction dungeon.

I led the way down; the carved stone steps were

slippery as if the lapping waves of the core sea tide had penetrated deeply enough into the island to slosh sea water down into the depths. I knew it was merely an environmental affectation. There was no true tide, but it spoke of an impressive attention to detail, nonetheless.

The spiral staircase descended for sixty feet and

emptied into Tamara’s final chamber. The room was warmly decorated with plush rugs on the floor with pretty geometric patterns woven into them. The stonework was white, with some of the more prominent features made from marble. Flower-filled vases on plinths and bronze statuary lined the walls.

The chamber was about the same size as Makas’ had

been, though with impeccable cleanliness. At the far end was the scarlet core crystal in the vine-laden organic metal pedestal.

Tamara’s crystal had to be the size of a basketball, the

largest I’d seen in any of the dungeons I’d taken down. It was much larger than mine, a physical testament to how many other dungeons Tamara had felled for the Lords. Although admittedly I had stopped directly absorbing the shards of those I’d conquered into my crystal a while back.

Tamara stood defiantly in full bronzed armour before

her crystal. At her side was a large lamia woman, Reena, if Gorvag’s information had been true. Flanking them were two centaur males. Their upper body was encased in plate armour and their lower horse halves were covered in scaled barding.

This was my first opportunity to lay eyes on Tamara.

She was about six feet tall, though some of that was the writhing mass of copper snakes on her head. She had a trim figure and modest bust hidden behind her bronze breastplate. Her bearing was regal, and those dangerous peepers were a piercing green.

Gorvag had mentioned she was pretty, but will confess

to having my doubts. He was an orc, could I trust his judgement on what qualified as fair of face?

The myths of Earth always portrayed Medusa as quite

hideous. This had been a concern for me as my disciple claiming criteria included sexual attraction. There were few female dungeons in the Proving Grounds, and it would be an awful waste not to take advantage when one of them drew my attention and put herself within my clutches.

I was happy to find my fears unfounded. Like so many

other Realms-born women I’d crossed paths with, Tamara was stunningly gorgeous.

I only had a second or two to absorb this information.

My disciples had followed on my heel and poured into the room. Pleasantries were not exchanged, and combat ensued.

Tamara’s first move was to shoot her petrifying gaze at

us.

Three golden beams crossed the room. The first was

aimed at me and I raised my shield in time to diffuse much of its strength. Even so, this petrifying ray was more difficult to shake off than the basilisks’, but I managed, though it slowed me down a step or two.

Fiadh and Gadiel were not so lucky and found their

muscles locking and they were unable to move. We were down from nine to seven after the first exchange, but we still had the numerical advantage.

The centaurs cantered down the room building up to a

gallop. They had thick-stemmed spears the size of mediaeval lances. If it weren’t for the armour they wore being patterned after Greek hoplites, they would have seemed like Knights of the Middle Ages.

While they charged, Tamara and Reena peppered our

position with arrow fire.

“Yanna, Yuni, go stealth mode and get as close to the

ladies at the back. Karragh, Teotune, Sarrass, we are going to handle the centaurs. Jessamyn, support as only you can do,” I ordered.

There was a chorus of “Yes, Master,” and “Of course,

Husband.”

Then the battle was met.

The centaurs crashed into us. Relying on their

momentum and strength to bowl us over. I absorbed the impact of one and Karragh, producing a shield from the inventory, took the other.

We were pushed back; these were empowered

opponents in some of the best gear that could be bought.

But by this point, we were clad in almost the finest that

could be crafted.

And ours was better.

 Masterwork Sanctified or Infernal Mithril Brigandine

made with dragonscale leather. Which type we wore depended on whether we’d taken Sanctified or the Infernal spell school. There were only two superior kinds of material that existed in the Proving Grounds. Sanctified or Infernal Adamantine and Sanctified or Infernal Exotic Leather. Another week and we’d be bedecked in arms and armour made from that as well.

Therefore, though we were forced to give up some

ground, they couldn’t overrun us. Their forward progress was halted, stealing their thunder somewhat.

Teotune flashed her spear over my shoulder and jabbed

for the throat. Sarrass went low and snaked her way under my tower shield. From underneath, as she evaded trampling hoof strikes, she used her knopesh to strike at the joints of their fetlocks, knees, and hocks, inflicting crippling movement debuffs.

I joined in the action and slammed my envenomed

maul into the flank of the centaur pushing up against my shield. Then switched up to target their weakened forelegs.

Meanwhile, the missiles from the far end had ceased

zinging their way towards us.

The twins had cast Summon Beasts. Tamara and Reena

had been forced to switch to melee weapons to deal with the two prides of pumas that now harassed them. The pumas wouldn’t last long against the calibre of opponents they faced but Yanna and Yuni were using the distraction to work their way around and prepare to pounce on the pair from behind.

The centaur in front of me was already favouring its

right leg, the left seemingly lame following Sarrass and my earlier attacks, so I took a risk. I shoved my snarling opponent backwards to make half a foot of space, discarded my shield and swung for the horse-man’s right knee.

My swing was unerring and cracked loudly on the

joint, smashing the knee and their right leg bowed at an unnatural angle, his footing gave way. My centaur enemy grunted loudly and tried to steady himself on his lame left leg which couldn’t bear his weight and he toppled over to his left, crashing into the legs of his ally battling with Karragh and Teotune.

This was almost the perfect result. I wasted no time

leaping over his human front half and landed on his flank. It was easy then to turn around and hammer at the back of his human upper torso. The centaur’s large horse body now proved detrimental as with his front legs hampered, he couldn’t effectively reach behind to fight me off.

While I dealt with the downed centaur his friend was

surrounded by my warrior women and they made short work of him.

We finished just in time to see the end of the brief

battle at the far end.

Tamara was using a short spear and shield

combination, but it was Reena doing all the damage. She dual-wielded two wicked long curved blades and sliced and diced the pumas into cannibalistic cat food.

The twins had launched their surprise attack with some

success, but the lamia was incredibly quick. Her rattling serpentine tail flicked out and knocked Yanna to the ground and then cracked down on her back pinning her. While she was pinned Tamara rushed up and savagely attacked the helpless catgirl. Yuni tried to intercept the gorgon and help her sister but that only opened her up to the twin blades of the lamia.

I jumped off the corpse of the centaur and was about to

rush to the aid of the stricken pair when a hand took hold of my bicep and held me back.

“Wait, Husband,” Jessamyn said urgently and stepped

in front of me.

Then she raised a hand which glowed with a fiery

orange nimbus as Jessamyn generated and launched a fireball directly into the combat.

It may have seemed a cold manoeuvre as Yanna and

Yuni hadn’t perished yet, but it was eminently practical.

They were all far enough away from those of us by the

centaurs that we would be out of the blast zone. Although the catgirl twins would be roasted along with Tamara and Reena, our opponents would be left deeply wounded and ripe for the taking.

The fireball flew true and exploded in flame and fiery

light. The blowback licked at the edges of the fallen centaurs that we retreated behind and devastated the upholstery of the homey sanctum Tamara had built for herself.

When the flames cleared the five of us rushed the

scorched and disoriented pair. Teotune, Karragh, and I ended Reena’s participation. She remained fiendishly quick and gave a hell of lot more than she got in return, but we simply outlasted her health and eventually our onslaught overwhelmed her.

Tamara was less martially minded than her disciple,

but she gave a worthy account of herself, but she was outmatched by Sarrass. With Jessamyn incessantly sniping at any opening she was presented; Tamara’s prescient ability could not keep up. She had to choose one or the other to evade.

When Reena died Tamara backed away from the

combat and took a final position in front of her crystal for her final stand. I stepped forward, eager to claim what was mine.

“Wait!” Tamara cried out desperately and I slowed my

advance, curious to hear what play she thought she had left. “I concede that you have won, Daxas of the Wolf King’s Lair. My fate is sealed. I know that. I have foreseen it. All I ask is that you please show mercy to my disciples and think of absorbing them within your ranks.

“They are loyal and capable and would serve you

well.”

Now that was both confusing and intriguing. If she had

foreseen that I would claim her as mine today, why did she feel the need to beg for clemency for her disciples? They would become mine once she was.

“If you have the power of foresight, Tamara, why do

you need to ask the question? Don’t you know what is coming?”

Tamara laughed wearily at my statement. “If only that

were true, Daxas. Then I would have told Timian to find another. Instead, I eagerly accepted his offer in both the Realms and the Proving Grounds. More fool me.”

Tamara dropped her shield and spear and sat down in a

small divan adjacent to her core’s pedestal.

I took her up on the unspoken offer and moved forward

placing my hand on her core crystal to signify the success of my invasion.

The expected prompts came through.

I shifted back to my humanoid form. Tamara’s surprise

was evident on her face, followed by the ever-intoxicating scent of feminine lust. Belatedly it occurred to me that she had probably never seen me like this. Unless Gorvag had told her, it was entirely possible she hadn’t known I had a humanoid form.

I winked and gave her my most lascivious grin.

“Tamara Huxeidon, I claim you as my disciple.”

If seeing me in my humanoid form had surprised her,

my pronouncement left her gobsmacked. Her mouth and pretty lips opened and closed a few times as she tried to understand and read the dungeon notifications she’d be getting.

Jessamyn moved in quickly and gave her a reassuring

embrace.

“Welcome to the family,” she whispered. “It’s been a

long time coming.”

This seemed to spur Tamara’s mind into motion.

“But…But I don’t understand.”

I quirked my eyebrow at the confused woman. “Is this

not what you foresaw? That I would win today and claim you as mine.”

“Umm…A foretelling is rarely that specific. I knew

that from today I would never see or hear from the rest of the cabal again. I assumed that as you were here, attacking me, that meant you would destroy me in vengeance for the cabal trying to kill you. I don’t understand,” she muttered almost to herself. “Such foretellings might be vague and open to interpretation, but they are never wrong.”

“Unless…” she gulped. “Unless the others will win

through, and I’ll be ended along with you.”

I chortled lightly at her misunderstanding and lifted her

chin with my hand gently. A few of her follicle serpents snaked forward and rubbed up against my skin affectionately. “Don’t be afraid on that count. I think I can clear that misunderstanding up for you. As you must know, I already had two other dungeons under my guardianship. You are the third.

“Jen’Zadeer has led a separate group to end Ezrokath

and my darling mischievous Nessa will have handled Gerhalt by now.”

“What of Gorvag and Burstan, though?” she

interrupted.

“Well, I hate to tell you this, as he was your friend, but

I managed to turn Gorvag’s loyalty to me. He is the one leading the assault on Burstan.”

“Gorvag betrayed us,” Tamara gasped in shock, a

single tear welling in her eye. “How? Why? It can’t be.”

“His loss in the failed dungeon invasion during the last

rest day was more complete than I allowed him to tell you. His entire party was defeated which included his daughter, Genya. Lucky for me, like you, she met my rather stringent criteria for discipleship.” I left the rest unsaid.

“Yes, that would do it. He would do anything for her,

even sell me out. Although perhaps that might not be so bad. Even now, I can feel that my connection with Timian has been severed. Good riddance to the bastard. He had to know about Gorvag and didn’t warn us, then there was his sudden change in orders that almost left me bedridden. He sacrificed us for his own ends.”

“That sounds like the kind of dick move he would

make,” I chuckled.

“Wait, does that mean I will see Gorvag again? Wait.

That can’t be right. The foretelling,” Tamara said with concern.

“There is nothing…” I started and meant to finish with

‘to worry about’, but midway through the reassurance, my lounge-bound-self pushed a situation update through to me.

“…Bollocks,” I swore instead.




Chapter 14

 

A short while earlier

 

Alyssa, Tenzing and I watched the progress of each of

the four invasions through the eyes of my avatar and disciples. That did make watching the attack on the Rakshasa, Burstan, trickier. Gorvag might be beholden to me, but I didn’t have access to his or his disciple’s feeds.

A fifth screen displayed the progress of Ezrokath and

his counter-invasion of the Lair. Unlike the halfling and Rakshasa who seemed to have wised up and only stayed long enough to make sure the life-seeded were recalled, the sathanite steadfastly pressed onwards. The lack of threat to a group of his calibre on the first floor had given him an overabundance of false confidence.

But the beginning of my dungeon sapped time, which

was the point of the floor.

Jen’Zadeer’s group were delving cautiously, but by my

calculations, they would reach his core before Ezrokath completed the Lair’s second floor and remove the minor threat he posed.

Nessa was having a whale of a time. The bonuses

Gerhalt’s dungeon afforded both her and her squad made it a bit of a breeze and losing the life-seeded hardly slowed them down. She would certainly finish first.

“Almost there,” Nessa laughed merrily after passing

through the third of Gerhalt’s core rooms. “How are they others doing?” she asked into the air, knowing we were observing from afar.

“Everything is going to plan,” Alyssa responded

casually.

“Come on, Lyss. You know that isn’t what I wanted to

know.”

Alyssa giggled at the impertinent dryad. “The others

are on track, but you are the only one who has reached the core floor of their target so far.”

“Are you trying to say that I’m going to be the

winner,” the dryad trilled smugly.

“It looks that way.”

“Yesss!” Nessa squealed happily. “Lyss, tell tall, dark,

and well-hung that he better not pull any bullshit shenanigans this time.”

I sat back and laughed remembering the look on her

face the last time. As tempting as it might be to perform a similar rug-pulling act on the perky competitive dryad, this time she seemed to have too great a lead for anything that wouldn’t unnecessarily endanger us.

“Concentrate, Ness,” Alyssa admonished her kindly.

“You can’t rub it in his face if you don’t come back at all.”

Nessa rolled her eyes and then summoned and sent a

pack of thorn-hounds at her next target.

Nessa’s antics always brought a smile to my face and

lightened my slightly sombre mood. We had sadly lost ten more of the life-seeded to permadeath before they were recalled to the dungeon. There was no avoiding it unfortunately, these were difficult opponents to overcome, but I still railed at any loss.

Both my alternate’s team and Jen’Zadeer’s had lost

two apiece, Nessa with the easiest run had lost none, and Gorvag’s team had lost the most at six. Not because he was throwing their lives away but because the Bazaar of Wonders, Burstan’s dungeon, had proved the most treacherous to battle through.

Speaking of Gorvag we were watching his run unfold

in front of us. They were in a town square festooned with colourful market stalls and they were involved in their most dangerous encounter since the loss of most of the team.

They faced off against a legion of town-guard mobs.

These shouldn’t be confused with the intelligent human mobs I could create. These were preset dungeon creatures, in a similar vein to the dark elf assassins Jen’Zadeer had access to.

The legion was led by a tiger-man in billowing purple

silk robes whom I took to be the dungeon master himself, Burstan. He was accompanied by his cadre of disciples.

“It seems that Burstan has decided to make his last

stand early,” I commented to Alyssa and Tenzing.

“Yes,” Tenzing chimed in. “The dungeon power

required to field so many town guards after everything else he has already thrown at them is considerable. He can’t have anything else left before the core floor. If he has not invested as heavily on his core floor as others this would be the most sensible defensive option.”

The edge of the viewing screen for this group glowed

brightly. A sign that Alyssa had activated a communications link. “Genya, dear. This is the Rakshasa’s last stand. Let your father know he does not need to hold anything back.”

“Understood,” Genya responded on our screen and

tapped Gorvag on the shoulder and relayed Alyssa’s advice.

We watched for several more minutes as the battle

raged.

Gorvag and his orc disciples were quite direct, but my

disciples were a bit wilier and used the stalls and terrain to their advantage. They’d each downed a buffing potion beforehand, and it wouldn’t be too much longer before they could imbibe another.

The fighting continued and I watched tensely.

Frustrated at my lack of direct involvement. But it did seem that the tide was very much in our favour and though all my women fighting alongside the large orc avatar had taken a battering I was confident they would win through. A couple of Gorvag’s orc disciples hadn’t been so lucky and they were swarmed and eliminated by the town guard mobs.

However, all of Burstan’s disciples were also down and

out, and the guard’s numbers were finally beginning to dwindle.

It was at this point, that the Rakshasa made a few

unusual gestures and suddenly a bolt of yellow surged from his palms and flew through the bazaar, zinging around the stalls searching for its designated target. We were watching events from Genya’s perspective, and I cried out in alarm and horror when I realised the magical bolt was seeking the orcess and had found her.

The last thing we saw was a flash of sickly yellow as

she was struck and then the viewer went blank.

“No!” I roared and jumped to my feet, my claws

digging into my palms as my pulse raced at the possibility that one of my precious mates had fallen.

Alyssa was up from the black leather couch a split

second after me and put a reassuring hand on my taut bicep. “Don’t panic, my love. I recognise the energy signature of the Rakshasa’s attack. It is a sleeping curse granted by a magical item. Genya will be unconscious, not slain.”

Even as Alyssa spoke, Tenzing manipulated the viewer

and switched to the perspective of another of my disciples, Jools, and restored our spycam access to the dungeon run.

We got a brief sight of Genya lying prone on the

ground, but she was unmolested, the mobs were engaged elsewhere.

“Runx, Menrak, guard my daughter,” Gorvag barked.

“Let’s finish this,” he grunted. Just before Jools turned away and launched herself into the fray, we could see that Gorvag’s two remaining disciples had jumped to obey their master.

For the next minute we were treated to a close up view

of Jools in action as she smashed her way through a dozen of the guard mobs. Until seemingly Burstan was left standing alone, but imperious, a few steps in front of an archway with the blue swirl of a portal to the core floor inside it.

A shiver ran down my spine. Burstan stood there with

a supreme confidence, and I couldn’t detect a shred of fakery in his body language.

“I don’t like this,” I muttered, Alyssa beside me

imperceptibly nodded in mute agreement.

The Rakshasa had a plan, and I was sure I wouldn’t

like it.

“I am sorry, Burstan,” Gorvag bellowed as he finished

off the last guard mob in his way. “I did not want it to end this way, but I must slay you.”

Burstan grinned at the big orc’s words and took a

single step back as if readying himself to flee, but I didn’t buy it.

“Your treachery was indeed a surprise, Gorvag. Tamara

will be most disappointed when she learns of it,” Burstan needled.

Gorvag grunted an acknowledgement. “Aye, she will,

but she won’t learn of it from you.”

Jools eyes were rapt upon the verbally sparring duo,

and she was edging her way forwards, attempting to get into a position to jump the Rakshasa before he could retreat to his core floor and reorganise.

“Are you so sure about that, Gorvag?”

“Yes,” the orc snarled. “I know you have little to

nothing left. It’s over.”

“True enough. I have but four minions remaining to

call upon and my core floor is woefully understrength. It is not feasible that I could stop you from making it to my core. A weakness I shall rectify in the future. Yet it is I, not you, who holds the trump card.”

“Motherfucker,” I growled loudly from the couch. My

will reached out and activated the communication link between us and Jools.

Alyssa picked up on my mood instantly and gave the

order before I could give away that I had a presence in both my dungeon and Tamara’s. “Jools, turn around. Get eyes on Genya, now!”

Jools obeyed without hesitation and the sight chilled

my heart.

Runx and Menrak were dead. Kneeling over the prone

form of my orcess lover were four black-clad figures, their faces obscured by wrapped cloth with only their cold eyes exposed. One of them had a blade to Genya’s throat. Two others held blades on either side of her armpits while the last stood guard with hand crossbows pointed towards my people.

They were high-rank assassin mobs. This had been

Burstan’s plan from the second he fired that sleeping curse and in my confidence, I hadn’t seen it unfolding.

“You see,” Burstan continued. “I don’t need to defeat

you personally, Gorvag. I can break you without touching you. I’ve already sent your fallen disciples to their fate in the Infernal Reaches and I’m ready to do it one more time.”

Then Burstan raised his pawed hand and pointed over

Gorvag’s shoulder to fill him in on what we’d already seen.

“Can he do that?” I asked Alyssa and Tenzing.

Tenzing gave me a short affirmative nod and my heart

sank.

“It can be done,” Alyssa confirmed. “He would need to

call on the Infernal Lords to open the portal early. But that doesn’t mean this isn’t a huge bluff. Dungeons calling upon the Lords like that is the kind of information I was privy to and Burstan has never done such a thing before.”

“But that doesn’t mean he hasn’t since you joined me,”

I countered.

“True. And I don’t want to lose Genya either. But what

can we do but call his bluff?”

“Daxas, Alyssa, the choice is not ours to make,”

Tenzing interrupted and drew our attention back to the screen.

“BURSTAN!” Gorvag screamed having spotted the

assassin’s threatening his daughter’s life. His yellow eyes, now reddened and bloodshot, bulged from his green skull as rage gripped him.

Burstan wagged his clawed finger in the air. “Now,

now. We’ll have none of that. There is a simple solution to your predicament my treacherous former friend. Concede to me here and now. Then you, your daughter, and these others may leave. Refuse and my assassins finish her off and I will damn her soul before you can ever reach my core.

“Make your choice,” he demanded.

I couldn’t see it, but I assumed that Gorvag had been

prompted with a notice similar to the kind we got during duels.

He glared with unbridled hate at the triumphantly

grinning tiger-man, but then he lowered his axe with a rasping hiss and must have given his assent as Burstan clapped his hands. His four assassins released Genya in response and disappeared into the shadows.

“Now, if you would be kind enough to fuck off out of

my dungeon. I have much cleaning to do,” Burstan sneered from his position.

Gorvag, Jools, and the rest of my disciples hurried over

to Genya and lifted her up. After a couple of healing spells and some light tapping on her cheeks, the orcess came round and blearily got back to her feet.

“What happened? Have we won?” she managed around

a wide yawn.

“Not exactly,” Jools supplied. “Your father had to

concede the run to save you from a bunch of assassins.”

Genya looked stricken at the news, but any words were

muffled by the all-encompassing embrace of the big orc.

Burstan seemed to be losing his patience and strode up

the group, his whiskers twitching furiously. “Begone, will you,” And he tried to shoo them away as if they were mildly inconvenient pests.

Gorvag ignored him, as did my disciples.

“Father, I’m sorry,” Genya said when the big orc

relaxed his fatherly hug enough for her to pull her head away from his chest.

“Don’t be, Daughter. All that matters is that you are

safe.”

“But my weakness cost us victory.”

“Not your weakness, Daughter. Mine,” Gorvag said

and pressed his lips to the crown of her head.

“Leave!” Burstan screamed. “Leave now, Gorvag, or I

will call a breach of contract and damn you and your daughter this instant.”

“You must forgive this old fool, Genya. It has always

been your future I wanted to secure,” Gorvag whispered.

“Father,” Genya said, her voice heavy with concern.

“What do you mean by that?”

Gorvag fully released his hold on his daughter and

knelt, picking up his formidable axe that had been dropped when he reached her side.

He kept eye contact with her as he rose to a standing

position. Even I could see the fatalistic smile on his lips, and I knew then what he was about to do.

“It means, that Burstan does not know that you are not

my disciple any longer.”

Before he’d finished his statement the great axe in his

grip was already in motion. Quicker than the overconfident Rakshasa could react the whistling blade swept upwards and sliced across the pectoral muscles of his chest and throat.

Burstan stumbled backwards and blinked rapidly in

shock while he grasped at his throat. Simultaneously the axe fell from Gorvag’s weakening grasp and the orc fell to his knees clutching at his chest as if he was suffering a heart attack.

In a strange way, he was. He had broken a contract

with another dungeon, even as we watched, his avatar fell to his knees. His core crystal back in his dungeon would be cracking and it could only be a few seconds away from shattering and damning the orc.

Had Genya still been his disciple she would have

shared in his damnation. Undoubtedly, Burstan had assumed that if self-preservation was not sufficient to ensure the orc’s compliance with the terms he’d set, then his daughter’s shared ignominious fate would be.

“Jools, don’t waste Gorvag’s sacrifice. Finish Burstan,”

Alyssa commanded through the DDD.

Jools advanced on the shocked Rakshasa and attacked

along with two of the others.

Meanwhile, Genya gently cradled her father’s

weakening body.

“Father, why? We could have found another way.

Daxas would have come back and finished him off during the week,” she sobbed

“Dry your eyes, little one,” he whispered in return.

“I’ve known that devious cat for too long. He holds a grudge like no other. He had a plan and would have come for me later today anyway. I’m sure of it.”

I remembered that three hours ago Burstan had indeed

ordered his and Gerhalt’s complicit dungeons to regather themselves and meet him outside. If they were already in place, and some, if not all of them, likely were. Then they could arrive at Gorvag’s doorstep and invade before we had a chance to send a party to help block the way in.

“Starve your enemy of resources, I taught you that,

remember. It’s for the best that he doesn’t get anything out of my death. I love you…be…be strong…”

Those were the orc’s final words as his eyes shuddered

shut and he became still.

The four assassins had returned during the short,

heartfelt conversation, but my disciples had been expecting them and finished them off quickly. They might be much higher-ranked versions of the dark elf assassins, but they were still glass-cannons. Without surprise on their side, they were no threat.

Genya gently laid her father’s head onto the cobbles of

the marketplace.

“Hey Gen, do you want to do the honours,” Jools asked

Genya.

Burstan’s avatar was bloody and broken on the ground,

but he was still breathing, just. The girls were holding down his various limbs keeping him in place.

Genya rose from the ground, wiped away the few

errant tears that she’d shed for her father and hefted her mace.

“I will be, Father,” she muttered, answering Gorvag’s

dying words to be strong. “Thank you, Jools.”

The orcess strode over, looked down at the now

dishevelled person who had taken her father from her and then caved the fuckers whiskered face in with a satisfying crunch.

“Let’s claim this bastard’s core,” she suggested with

forced calmness and led the others to the glimmering archway and beyond.

 



Jen’Zadeer was the last to finish her run. Ezrokath had

realised far too late the danger he had been in. Once he received the dungeon update that the invasion force had made it to his core floor, he fled and returned to try and save himself.

But it was too late. Ezrokath’s Core floor was woefully

underdeveloped. A sign of his absolute faith in his superiority. The demon made it difficult for Jen’Zadeer’s force but the outcome was never in doubt.

He’d ordered his subordinate dungeons to continue

with the invasion which suited me down to the ground. It’s not like they could teleport out of my dungeon like the sathanite anyway. Their dungeons were not being invaded.

That just meant more marks and more experience for

me, which was just as well. They didn’t know it, but Ezrokath’s subordinates would probably get a pass from my normal retribution in kind.

Not because I was going soft, but they were too far

away for it to be worthwhile. If things went to plan over the next few weeks, I would soon be too high ranked to take them on anyway. And shortly after that, it would be goodbye Proving Grounds, hello reconstitution.

Upon her return to the Lair, Genya was understandably

distraught. So, I introduced her to the patented Earthman grief coping method.

Which meant I got her absolutely fucking shitfaced.

She drank. She cried. She drank some more. She

started a few fights she was in no shape to win and was generally unpleasant to everybody. She drank some more. She apologised for her earlier behaviour, repeatedly. She tried to drink some more but could no longer connect her lips to the tankard without spilling most of it on her chest. She told everyone how much she loved them. Then she sobered up enough to keep drinking.

After which the orcess finally let me put her to bed. By

which I mean she passed out after consuming enough booze to kill a herd of buffalo, and we carried her to her room.

While that was going on I held a debrief with my core

adviser group which now included Tamara.

“Timian’s sudden change of orders is a concern,” I said

after Tamara had finished filling everyone in on the updated message she had got at the beginning of the day.

“Yes, my naughty pup,” Alyssa purred instinctively

while she was deep in thought.

Then she realised her slight lapse and blushed a little

before sitting up on the edge of her seat in a business-like manner. “This certainly indicates a change in his demeanour. I think, based on Tamara’s description, that Timian has gone behind the backs of the other Lords, and confirms something I had theorised he might do but was unsure if he would truly to take the risk.”

“What do you mean?” I asked.

“I think. No, I am certain he intends to insert his True

Mind into his champion during the Divine Challenge.”

Tamara gasped, but there were scowls of confusion on

everyone else’s faces apart from Tenzing who took up the explanation so we wouldn’t be in the dark.

“His avatar would be fully inhabited by his

consciousness. Should it be killed while here it would mean real death for him?”

That silenced the group for a moment until finally,

Krista spoke up. “I don’t think I understand. Sure, Daxas has proved to be a recurring thorn in his side, but why would he take such a risk? Timian strikes me as the calculating kind and like the Coven Kings of old would have a preference to work through proxies than risk his own existence. How would really being here make it more likely that we all die?”

“It doesn’t,” Alyssa answered. “It’s a way for him to

get around the Accords that dictate a fallen dungeon’s soul essence is shared equally between them all. If he is present when Daxas dies he can absorb every last drop before it is gathered by the entity and with that power enslave or destroy the other Lords and become the supreme monster he has always wanted to be.”

“If absorbing a dungeon’s essence directly proffers

such a boost,” Jen’Zadeer mused. “Then why hasn’t one of the Lords or the Infernals tried this before?”

“That is a longer conversation,” Alyssa hedged.

“However, all you really need to know is that as Daxas is not of the Realms he has more of what they want. A lot more. It’s the whole reason they’ve been so bent on trying to kill him in the first place.”

I looked around the room and saw a sea of worried

faces. “Chin up, the lot of you. This is a good thing.”

“How does having the god of prophecy planning on

making a personal appearance to kill us all a good thing,” Nessa scoffed.

“Because it means we get to kill the bastard properly,”

I smiled.

And you know what, that brought a smile to all their

faces too.

 



 

The next week proved to be a busy one. There was

much to do. In an ideal world, expansion would have been the priority now that I’d been confirmed for the Divine Challenge.

However, with three guilds and a tribe of orken

dependent upon me, they were running groups through my dungeon constantly. Almost every minute of the day. Something that was both a blessing and a curse. It was a boon for more experience and would give us the time to push our gathering and crafting skills into three figures across the board. On the flip side, it seriously impacted my ability to operate topside. The constant runs interrupted our capacity for any such activity.

In the end, I concluded that wasn’t a big deal. The low-

hanging fruit in zone seven and eight had been largely exhausted anyway. Which meant I would need to start going further afield. I decided a period of consolidation in the dungeon would be helpful and it would allow the guilds to keep power-levelling their members. And then I could use them to scout out the choicest targets for the following week.




Chapter 15

 

Jezebel

 

When I seized control of the Gleaming Towers, I’d

demanded that the leaders of the three other largest high-elf guilds in the Proving Grounds present themselves before the next rest day.

During that first week, several feeder guilds came and

bent the knee as they should and swore vassalage to the Gleaming Tower and Lady Silvermayne. They weren’t happy about it, such formal and lopsided ties between guilds were unusual, but I did not give them a choice.

The rest day came and went. The largest of the guilds

snubbed me. Refusing to present themselves in the timeframe I had set.

I knew they would drag their heels, polite obstinance

was practically a racial trait, but that didn’t make their tardiness any less aggravating.

Or me any less sympathetic.

Alluin, leader of Dawn of the Morning, a ridiculously

redundant name if ever I heard one, was the first to eventually pay his ‘respects’ the day after my deadline.

I took his guild from him in one-on-one combat and as

a reward for being the first allowed him to retain his soul marks and only reduced him to provisional guild membership.

Rhistel came before me two days later. He commanded

the Swords of Grace. I showed him none, taking his guild, his marks, and expelling the fool.

Once banished Rhistel went directly to the Lightsteel

Companions, the last of the high-elven guilds. My spies informed me that the Guild Master, Kindroth, thanked him for the information on my intentions and then promptly ran him out of his zone.

There had been little love lost between the four most

powerful high-elven guilds and their various leaders before today. A weakness I was happy to exploit.

By the fifth day, Kindroth had yet to present himself

and I had to take matters into my own hands.

Ardryll and four hundred of the Towers finest marched

through the zones of the City in all their glory and lined up outside the Lightsteel Companions guild headquarters demanding Kindroth appease their new Guild Mistress.

From the balcony of his private quarters, Kindroth

publicly rebuffed the demand and laughed it off, as I knew he would. He spent the next several minutes making rather obscene gestures and jokes at Ardryll’s expense.

Right up until the point my spearpoint severed his

spine and my sabre cut his throat.

Being a divine being did afford me some privileges in

the Proving Grounds. Ignoring the usual barriers that kept the uninvited out of a guild building was one of them. Ardryll and his pretty formation of soldiers were merely a distraction to ensure Kindroth an the Lightsteel Companions weren’t paying attention when I waltzed in through the back entrance.

I stared into the dying elf’s eyes and imposed my will

before he passed. In his weakened state Kindroth capitulated quickly ceding me the guild and his marks. When I had what I needed I stained his soul with the mark of anathema and cast his body over the balcony for all to see.

Damning him so publicly hadn’t been entirely

necessary but he’d pissed me off, making me traipse halfway across the City to deal with his disobedient ass.

Once my orders were issued to the Lightsteel

Companions I returned to the Gleaming Towers HQ. There would be some defections, or to be more accurate abandonments. However, the majority would remain. Either because they were too prideful or too fearful to go. Or they believed with a little work and patience they could overturn my rule and take the guilds back.

None of their scheming mattered to me. By the time

they’d organised themselves, they would have served their purpose.

Speaking of which, Taliel had just entered the council

chambers and was striding across the thickly carpeted floor, his lips pressed together in a thin line, his discontent clear to see.

“Ardryll,” I said as Taliel came to half in front of my

throne. “Make yourself useful and get me some sweetmeats and a suitable accompanying wine.”

Anger flashed in the former Guild Master’s eyes, but

he buried his ill-feelings quickly with a polite nod and stiffly marched from the room.

Taliel went down on one knee before me, awaiting my

permission to continue. I let the blonde-haired elf stew until Ardryll had returned with my light repast. After enjoying a few of the confectionaries he had brought and partook of the wine, I spoke.

“You may speak, Taliel Sunrider.”

Taliel rose from his knee. “Thank you, Lady

Silvermayne.”

“I didn’t say you could stand,” I told him sternly and

raised a single digit and flicked it downwards.

The look of shock and anguish on his face was truly

delightful.

He recovered his composure swiftly. “My apologies,

Lady Silvermayne,” he said as he returned to his kneeling position.

I nodded and popped another of the little cakes in my

mouth and motioned for him to continue.

“Please accept my congratulations on your latest

conquest, my Lady. Securing control of all the high-elf guilds in such a short space of time was truly an exceptional feat.”

“Enough boot-licking, Taliel,” I interrupted.

Listening to the proud elf forced to toady up to me may

have been pleasant, but that would have to wait.

“Speaking of boots. Ardryll, remove mine and massage

my feet,” I ordered.

Shamefacedly, the princeling had no choice but to obey

my commands or forfeit his guild membership.

“I didn’t tell you to stop your report, Taliel,” I

reminded him.

“Yes, my Lady. Since last we spoke, I am happy to

report that there has been the progress you desired on your… project.”

I clapped my hands together happily. “It’s about time. I

thought I might have to visit those dungeons tonight and crack the whip myself. So, some of the raiders have finally been able to retreat and report back?”

“Yes, my Lady. The losses incurred by the vassal

guilds have been extensive. Which is to be expected. These dungeons are the highest ranked in the land. However, we now have full reports on the first half of all three dungeons as you wished.”

“Excellent. In which case it is time for phase two. I

want the rest of those dungeons fully mapped. Even without their recent losses, the vassal guilds would be unsuitable for this task, too weak. Time to send in our members. See to it. I want them mapped by the end of the day and tomorrow we destroy them.”

Taliel gaped at me like a fish out of water. “But…

but…”

“But nothing. This is my will, and it will be done. Defy

me on this and you’ll be branded anathema so fast you’ll be naked and in the depths of a dungeon before you’re even aware I’ve raised my voice. Like Kindroth.”

Taliel lowered his gaze and swallowed heavily before

glancing back up.

“Your will shall be done, of course, my Lady. May I

ask why we are set upon destroying the remaining rank one-hundred dungeons? Even once mapped this will remain a very dangerous course of action. Many shall likely die in the attempt. Will the dungeons not be gone in a few weeks anyway?”

Taliel tried not to phrase his question as a criticism, but

he couldn’t quite keep the disapproving tone from his voice.

I sucked on my tongue for a moment, letting him sweat

on my possible response to his impertinence, before eventually relenting.

“It’s simple really. The Lords have set you all the task

of removing the Wolf King’s Lair from the Proving Grounds, have they not? We are simply ridding ourselves of that blight.”

“Yes, my Lady, they have. But we aren’t trying to

destroy the Wolf King’s Lair. We would have to fight our way through that damnable Simeon Reedwhistle’s fortifications just to get to an entrance.”

“Oh, but we are, Taliel. Not directly, perhaps, but what

we do is very much an act of aggression against the Lair.”

Taliel looked confused and he looked to Ardryll whose

attention was rapt on my words too. I wiggled my toes giving him a silent command to continue with the foot massage, which he duly did.

“Fine, I’ll explain” I sighed impatiently. “I have it on

the very best authority that the Lair’s strange multi-dungeon nature, which you will have heard rumours about, is true. And because of that, it is already in the same situation as those three rank one-hundred dungeons.

“The Lords test the dungeons as they test us. One every

rest day. By removing the competition before the next rest day, we ensure it is the Lair that the Lords dispose of in two days, do you understand now?”

The confusion on his face spoke volumes. Of course,

from his perspective, it didn’t really add up, but then I cared vanishingly little for the elf guild’s perspective. Mine was the only one that mattered. And Taliel would play his part willing or not.

“Lord’s mercy,” I huffed. “Without their protector, that

upstart guild you all complain about when you think I can’t hear you, the Dark Moon Rising, will be vulnerable. Afterwards, you can tear them apart and claim their resources. Prove your superiority.

“I will even have a few of the best strike teams from

the other guilds sent to provide assistance with the dungeon conquests. Help bear the load if you think it too much for the Gleaming Towers to handle alone.”

Taliel didn’t respond to that, but he didn’t gainsay the

offer either.

“With your permission, my Lady, I will make the

necessary preparations,” he muttered instead.

“Yes, be off with you.”

He had only taken three steps before I called out.

“Taliel, I think it would be best if I oversaw the final push tomorrow. Make the arrangements will you, a suitable pavilion and entertainment at the staging area. Outside the Waterfalls of Oblivion in zone four would be best. I have an inkling that one shall prove the sternest test.”

Then I kicked out at Ardryll and pushed him away

from my throne. “Take Ardryll with you. Arranging festivities should be within his capabilities. Lords know foot massage is not. You have the touch and subtlety of a dwarf.”

“Of course, my Lady,” Taliel said and helped the

former prince to his feet.

The pair of them walked away quickly before I could

berate or order them further.

“That woman is a menace,” Ardryll hissed in an angry

whine. “Completely beyond the pale. Something must be done.”

“For once, we are agreed. The crazy bitch is going to

get us all damned,” Taliel whispered in return. “Extreme measures might be called for.”

“What do you suggest?”

“It pains me to admit, but she is too assured in combat

for any of the traditional methods of usurpation. But…if her grand scheme were to fail, then her removal becomes viable without a duel. The key will be arranging the circumstances of that failure without being implicated or sacrificing too much of the guild in the process. The disaster must appear to be entirely of her doing, not ours. We may need to sully ourselves and treat with the lower beings.”

Ardryll nodded his head excitedly, though I was sure

he had no idea what Taliel was talking about.

I deposited a scrumptious fondant cake in my mouth

and savoured the sweet taste. The pair of idiots believed that as they were out of range of high elf hearing then they were out or range of mine.

My grand scheme as Taliel called it was not what he

believed. His plotting for my downfall was to be expected, more than that, it had been accounted for. Whether the elf guilds survived to the end of the week mattered little to me.

All that mattered was that smug bastard Daxas would

not.

I had him and Timian by the balls and I had every

intention of squeezing until they popped.




Chapter 16

 

Timian

 

“A-ha, here it is just as I told ye. We can all see what

the wee lass’s game is now,” roared Ironhammer at the top of his annoying gravelly voice. “She be using the guilds to destroy the dungeons ahead of Daxas in the queue. Hastening his challenge with us, while he remains weak. She be a canny one. There can be no doubt about that.”

“Do you really think so, Ironhammer?” Merrock

drawled.

“Aye, laddie I do. I knew she was nay a coward nor

traitor. And I cannae wait for me chance to avenge me fallen brethren. The Wolf King will rue the day he crossed the Dwarves!” Ironhammer cried.

“What do you say, Timian,” the sea god grinned with

savage delight. “Do you think he is on to something?”

Under normal circumstances mocking the Smith’s

oafishness would be a soothing balm to my mood.

Not today.

Not after what we had just witnessed.

It had been Ironhammer who had found her of all

people. Which was all the more galling for the amount of soul energy I’d expended trying to uncover where the cow was hidden. She had been in the Proving Grounds all along.

Meddling.

Ironhammer had stumbled across her because the

dwarf god had been spending an inordinate amount of time observing the comings and goings in the Grounds around Daxas dungeon. He’d used every moment of his allotted time with the communal viewer in the Great Hall ever since the rabid cur had run roughshod over a bunch of dwarves.


Ironhammer was still smarting about the whole

incident.

Daxas had used an illusion of Ironhammer to lure them

in. And then Merrock had rather enthusiastically replayed the events for the dwarf god until he grew bored. Ironhammer’s grudge wasn’t about the loss of dwarves, but the alleged disrespect Daxas had shown him.

Worse than the ignominy of Ironhammer succeeding

where I had failed, the imbecile had found her a week ago and told no one until now.

Nobody had realised because even the others had

grown bored of the oaf’s tiresome expression and left him to obsess alone. It had taken him the week to figure out what it was she was up to and only then did he bring it to the rest of the pantheon’s attention.

“Nothing to say, Timian,” Merrock jeered at my back

as I marched from the hall.

Kriger and Garvax jumped to follow me, but I waved

them off and they sat down with relief on their faces. They might be a pair of easily manipulated imbeciles but even they could discern my current mood. I needed some privacy to think things through.

A minute later and I was stepping off the phase shift

platform and I was home. In my own demesne. I gazed across the barren landscape, my fields of despair, and observed the dead mortals who toiled at the various laborious and pointless tasks I’d set them.

My smile grew wide with satisfaction.

Seeing the suffering of fools always gladdened my

heart. I was the god of foresight and prophecy. If those who worshipped at my feet did not have the skill to divine the torment they’d endure at my hands in the afterlife, then they deserved every last second of it.

And those who did, like Tamara, would be silenced and

left to rot in the Proving Grounds. The stupid bitch had really thought I would let her, and her friends, be reconstituted and live again.

With what she knew, that could never be allowed to

happen. Now, she would fall alongside the Wolf King. Daxas cleansing the cabal and enslaving her had been the only piece of good news to cheer my heart. The irony that it would be him to do my dirty and give me a small modicum of joy.

When I thanked him with a well-deserved death, all my

problems would be dealt with in one neat package.

Well, most of my problems. Jezebel remained a

twisting thorn in my side.

My joy from the suffering before me evaporated as I

thought of that ungrateful cow.

What the hells was she up to? Did she think that by

bringing Daxas’ challenge forward she might catch us by surprise? That it would be her and not me that was present with their True Mind when he fell, and his core was shattered.

That she would be the one to absorb all his essence and

reign supreme.

The blinkered arrogance of the woman, as if I would

ever allow that to occur. As is she was even capable.

“There is nothing quite like the scent of pain. I love

what you’ve done with the place, by the way,” a conceited, yet cultured voice I recognised snarked. “I particularly like the punishment field over on the left. The one where they have to push boulders up the hill only for the field to invert and they find themselves at the bottom and have to do it all over again. Absolutely glorious. You’ve rather missed your calling I’d say.”

I resisted the urge to attack the Reach-spawn behind

me and turned slowly to regard him with a malevolent glare. Duke Targelan was the emissary of the seven Princeps of the Infernal Reaches. An eight-foot, bejewelled, scarlet-skinned highly evolved and enhanced sathanite. And he was grinning widely showing off rows of sharp teeth.

“How dare you set foot in my demesne without an

invite, fiend. This is tantamount to an act of war. You had better crawl back to your masters and beg for obliteration, worm. Do so and I might not rally the Lords to smite the foul lands you call home.”

Targelan barked a snorted laugh and raised his claws in

front of his mouth. “Oooh, scary. An old-fashioned smiting of the desecrated. How very…biblical. Somebody’s been cribbing, haven’t they. Now that I mention it, the torments of your despair fields do seem awfully familiar…” and then he chuckled some more.

“You aren’t going to do anything, my Lord,” he

continued drawing out the honorific mockingly. I growled inarticulately in response to his cheek, my bluff exposed. “Now, I was being civil, the least you could do is reciprocate in kind. Where was I? Ah, yes, I was about to expound on why there isn’t going to be any of that smiting nastiness.”

Duke Targelan peered at me meaningfully. I ground my

teeth but kept quiet, wanting to give nothing further away. Perhaps they didn’t know what I’d done and were simply fishing for evidence.

That hope was dashed instantly as Targelan forwent

being coy. “I could only sneak in here to the ‘heavens’ unobserved and without tripping up an alarm because you’ve been a very bad boy, haven’t you,” he chuckled.

He stared at me mockingly and I glowered back.

“Nothing to say. So be it. I’ll talk and you can listen.

It’s probably better that way. We know you and your lapdogs drained the Silver Lady’s denizens dry not too long ago. The Princeps, whom you regard as hedonistic heathens, are a remarkably patient lot. They have been watching you upstart godlings closely for millennia. Waiting in the wings for the day you fucked up.

“And fuck up you did. Hypocrites like your kind

always do. Protocols have been broken; defences essentially rendered moot; carnage and strife are ready to be unleashed upon the Heavenly Realm.”

“Bullshit,” I scoffed. “If my actions had opened us up

to such danger, I would have seen it. And your kind would have wasted no time in exploiting the loophole. Patience is the last word I’d use to describe the Reachborn.”

Targelan smiled wickedly. “So confident. So self-

assured. And yet so very, very, wrong. You may have wielded the knowledge Drakonis offered you, but you never truly understood it. Power like that has reams of fine print and you skimmed it at best. The Princeps are patient and well aware of your powers…limitations. No, you would never see it coming until it was far too late to avoid.

“Treating the souls of your mortals as we treat ours

makes us alike. And barriers are as dust to that which is alike.”

I had to stop myself from gulping as the demon’s

words washed over me. With a sense of foreboding, I recalled something in the grimoire Devantus Drakonis had loaned us so many aeons ago about the barriers between that which was alike being weaker.

It was altogether possible the Infernal Duke was not

bluffing, and that because I had ordered Kriger and Garvax to drain Jezebel’s heavenly adherents we had unwittingly given them a backdoor into our demesne. But if such a thing existed then it could not possibly be permanent, provided we didn’t do the same again and renew our trespass.

I would have to be firm with the pair of them in case

they got any ideas. We just had to delay the Princeps long enough until this window of opportunity passed them by and then we would be in the clear.

“All of which is neither here nor there. Timing is

everything, and for you, events have conspired to give you a second chance. There is a choicer prize for the taking and the Princeps of the Reaches are willing to pass on their opportunity to ravage your demesne and through it gain access to the rest of the ‘heavens’…In exchange for your assistance.”

Targelan snapped his fingers and produced a scroll

with a contract and handed it over to me with a smirk and a wink.

“I think you will find the offer…illuminating,”

I snatched the parchment from him angrily. The

disgusting thing was made of skin, freshly flayed. My eyes scanned over the details, and I had to suppress a smile of my own.

The gist was in exchange for not invading my demesne

I was to ensure the other Divine Lords did not participate in Daxas’ Divine Challenge. That wouldn’t be a problem, I’d never intended to let any of them apart from Kriger and Garvax come anyway.

This might prove a little more difficult if that annoying

bitch Jezebel was successful in accelerating the challenge’s timeframe, but it was something I had to deal with that anyway.

Interestingly, the deal mandated that if I decided to

participate then it had to be with my True Mind. This was something else I planned to do.

I looked up at the demon from the scroll. “Am I to

assume from this that the Princeps intend to use their True Minds when they take on Daxas dungeon.”

“What do you know, he can see the future, after all,”

Targelan chuckled.

“Will you be joining them, Targelan?” I asked.

The duke was one of their champions. He had attended

as one of their representatives on many occasions in the past.

“Alas, no. The Princeps have decided in their infinite

wisdom that they shall attend to the destruction of this upstart whelp without their loyal retinues,” he smarmed.

“Infinite greed, more like,” I muttered.

It made sense they would leave their retinues behind,

though. The Infernal Reaches were not like the Realms.

We were gods, immutable entities. We may have

incorporated a few other worthies into our ranks over time, but each of us was irreplaceable.

The Princeps were merely the strongest of the denizens

of the Reaches. Beings like Targelan were powerful in their own right, and always on the lookout to ascend higher. A successful betrayal and usurpation in the Reaches was difficult with the Princeps feasting on a steady diet of soul energy. But in the Proving Grounds, they would be as vulnerable to attacks from within as from without.

They wouldn’t take the risk of an ambitious second

knifing them in the back.

Something did not add up, though. If they were so

afraid of betrayal, why allow me to come along with no proscriptions on my behaviour?

There was a knowing glint in Targelan’s eye, and

several things slotted into place in my mind. The demon’s constant barbs about my abilities had not been an accident, but a message.

I closed my eyes, centred myself and focused my mind.

Funnelling a sliver of my energy, I activated my precognition and opened myself up to a possible path that covered the next few minutes.

 

“I am previewing this discussion, demon,” I told him.

“This is not the bargain the Princeps sent you with is it, Targelan? This foul skin is too fresh, the terms too generous.”

“Yes, I can feel the slimy touch of your precognition on

my psyche. Well, it’s about time you took the hint,” he chuckled and flexed his wings habitually. “It is mostly the same as the deal they despatched me with. Just a few minor alterations, here and there. Ones that will give you a little more freedom to act in the coming days.”

“So, they will be expecting me and the two idiots that

lick my boots to be incapable of turning on them?”

“Of course.”

“Why let us go at all? Why take the risk, even with the

original bargain?”

“I may have had a hand in that,” Targelan confessed.

“They were against it initially, but then I pointed out how inept you were. Even with the bargain, you could easily fail the simple task of keeping your compatriots away. As you will note the terms require that you handle any of your brethren that manage to sneak in regardless. The Princeps found the concept of their hated rivals devouring one another too delicious to deny.”

I grunted at his backhanded insult/compliment. The

demon would pay for his temerity, but that would come later.

“And then they get the pleasure of killing me

permanently afterwards, correct?”

“That too.” Targelan grinned.

“What do you get out of this? Do you think I will share

the energy with you once I have slain your masters and taken what is rightfully mine?”

I couldn’t help but snort with derisively as I voiced the

foolish and repugnant concept. But I could afford to be direct in a vision of a future path.

Targelan laughed darkly and then stopped abruptly.

“You think too highly of yourself little godling. Even with your lapdogs, you have no chance of defeating a single one of the Princeps, let alone all seven.

“But I know you will try regardless of the harsh reality,

deluded as you are. You will fail, but I am gambling that your pathetic attempt can weaken one of them just enough that his brother Princeps decide six is a better split than seven. And then there will be room for me to step in and take my rightful place.”

“Are you not concerned the remaining Princeps will

obliterate you for your betrayal?”

“Deceit and treachery are like mother’s milk to my

kind. I will be lauded for my ingenuity. There are seven seats of power in the Reaches, and they must all be taken by separate individuals. The others will be happy to see a new Princeps they think weaker than they, one without the benefit of their recent acquisition of power. But I am patient, I can wait them out while they squander their bounty upon excess and then make my way to the top over their bloated, mutilated corpses.”

 

I’d heard enough of the arrogant fools grandstanding

and returned my consciousness to the present. My eyes shot open and beheld the smug bastard standing there with a knowing smile. Our previous conversation unspoken for all intents and purposes.

Though, his dismissive and deriding words would not

go unpunished. I would remember them even if he would not.

“It appears I have little choice but to accede,” I said

and extended my will, accepting the contract.

“Excellent,” the demon enthused as he took the skin

parchment back from me. With an extravagant flourish of his hands and another mocking wink, he shimmered and faded from view.

He could smile and laugh as much as he pleased. I had

been planning for a day like this for millennia and was well prepared.

The Princeps would underestimate me and fall like

wheat to a scythe.

Then I would take the Wolf King’s head. Devour his

soul and the souls of his sluts.


I would lead the other fools on a crusade and run

rampant through the Reaches slaughtering all who stood before me.

After that, if any of the Lords remained, I’d tear them

apart and suck out their soul marrow until I was all that was left.

Except for Jezebel.

Jezebel would get to live, though she would wish she

hadn’t.

Stripped of every shred of power, mortal in all ways

bar one. She wouldn’t be allowed to die. Every field of despair would be dedicated solely to her eternal suffering.

Then and only then would I rest, satisfied at last.




Chapter 17

 

My core team of advisers and I made our way up from

the tunnels and into our office in the heart of Alpha House. The room had expanded in size to accommodate the larger meetings but retained the informal atmosphere with a range of lavishly upholstered and well-cushioned seating.

Torvald had rushed into the Dark Moon Rising’s guild

Headquarters fifteen minutes ago with urgent news. The Blue Pennant representative’s comportment had convinced Simeon to hastily request a meeting which I granted. My interest had been equally piqued by his flustered state.

The nature of the dungeon meant we had several days

to prepare down below before we met up with them. However, during that time Alyssa had been unable to uncover what it was that had got Torvald’s knickers in such a twist.

Whatever had occurred did so when he was in the City

and out of sight of any guild buildings under my control, so there was no helpful recorded footage to be found.

What we did find only showed that when Torvald came

back into the range of his HQ, his feathers had already been ruffled and he had travelled to Alpha House without any delay. I could have pushed him to spill his guts when Simeon asked for the meeting but knew human behaviour well enough to understand that sometimes it would be quicker just to let someone have their moment as the centre of attention.

Rosie and the other service-warriors had prepared the

rooms with suitable refreshments in double quick time. We settled into place as the thuds of the two guild leader’s boots reverberated on the hardwood flooring.

Simeon and Torvald marched in without announcing

themselves and nodded at me before they settled into their favourite armchairs. No nonsense it would be.

I waved my hand. Rosie and her support staff jumped

into action and poured everyone a cup of tea and prepared a small plate of pastries for Simeon. He was always grumpier on an empty stomach.

“Good afternoon, gentlemen,” I opened the meeting

once the beverages had been served. “Would you care to enlighten me as to the nature of the emergency that has you in such a bother?”

Simeon glanced at Torvald with a mouthful of apple

turnover. I could see him internally debate as to whether he should stop eating and respond. Torvald helped him out as he breathed out heavily ruffling his bushy handlebar moustache in the process.

After taking a subsequent deep breath Torvald started.

“I’m not sure whether this is an emergency, but it is concerning. While out walking through the City I had an unexpected visitor, Taliel.”

It had been some time for me, but I recalled Taliel. He

was a high-ranking member of the Gleaming Towers high-elven guild who had been covertly supporting the Black Hills Brigade’s attempt to expunge the Dark Moon Rising. The last time I saw him he had been storming out of Simeon’s office in a foul mood after Torvald and Nel’Van had voted against the expungement.

Therefore, it was a bit surprising that he would seek

out Torvald. Elves bore a grudge almost as well as a dwarf.

“Go on,” I urged as Torvald paused to see if I had

anything to say.

“He had some interesting things to tell me. I’m not sure

how much of what he said is true. Perhaps you would be willing to confirm,” Torvald asked uncertainly.

Now that he had this audience, he seemed to be a bit

nervous about what he had come to say. Whatever Taliel had told him it must have concerned me or my dungeon and Torvald was unsure of how I would react.

“Best to spit it out,” I said.

“I prefer to swallow,” Nessa murmured with a soft

snigger under her breath.

I couldn’t help but grin wolfishly which in turn caused

Torvald to gulp. He didn’t have my hearing and misinterpreted the source of my predatory reaction.

Torvald shuffled back in his seat and straightened his

posture before he continued. “Like I said he had several things to say. One of them was that your dungeon had qualified for the Divine Challenge.”

“What?” Simeon yelled, spluttering pastry crumbs all

over the royal blue carpet. “How can that be possible? Your dungeon isn’t rank one hundred yet. Is it?”

Torvald didn’t elaborate and kept his eyes on me,

ignoring Simeon’s secondary question. I debated with myself for a second or two as to whether to confirm the revelation or not before finally deciding there was no reason to hold back any longer.

“Not that it should matter but as it happens, yes, the

Wolf King’s Lair has qualified for the Divine Challenge. It has occurred earlier than normal due to the unusual multi-dungeon nature of my domain.”

“Shouldn’t matter!” Simeon shrieked angrily. “When

were you planning on telling us? The guild depends on you. Were you just going to up and disappear without a word?”

“No, Simeon. We only qualified this week and there

are a few other dungeons ahead of us that will undergo their challenge first. It will be several weeks before it is our turn. I would have told you before that occurred. I’m more interested in learning how Taliel became privy to such information.”

“As am I,” Alyssa interjected, and I detected a hint of

worry in her tone.

Something was up.

“So you say,” Simeon grumbled over the top of Alyssa.

It was probably best to appease the grouchy halfling

before pressing Torvald further. He would only keep interrupting otherwise.

“Simeon, I had no intention of abandoning you or the

guild after whooping the asses of the divine dickheads in a month’s time. I have a plan but it’s not something I can share until closer to the time. Hence, I haven’t said anything. I wouldn’t lie to you. Bully and order you about a little bit, sure, push you out of your comfort zone to get your ass in gear, definitely, but not lie to you.”

Simeon rolled his eyes instead of answering but his

posture relaxed from quivering anger to his more traditional stubborn disapproval. At this point, I was convinced his resistance was more habitual than genuine. 

“I’m sorry to say Daxas,” Torvald said gravely. “If

Taliel’s information is accurate you may not have as long as you think.”

I felt Allyssa’s hand on my shoulder squeeze

reflexively.

“Explain,” I ordered softly.

Torvald shifted forward in his armchair and started.

“According to the high elf, there has been a change at the top of the hierarchy of the Gleaming Towers. Ardryll has been deposed and replaced by a powerful new she-elf he called Lady Silvermayne.

“Apparently, she has tasked the guild with carrying out

the Lord’s commands. Namely, removing your dungeon from the Proving Grounds.”

“Faugh!” Jen’Zadeer snorted with disgust. “Let the

arrogant shatzah-sniffers come. We will crush them as easily as we slaughtered the Brigade.”

“Yes,” Torvald went on. “Unfortunately, if Taliel can

be believed their new leader has adopted a less direct approach than the Brigade. She is forcing the elves to take on and challenge the three rank one hundred dungeons that are ahead of you Daxas. To destroy them before tomorrow’s rest day. Thereby forcing the Lair’s challenge early.”

Alyssa’s grip tightened on my shoulder muscle, and I

could feel the tension spread through my mates. They all knew the implications if this was true. We’d been anticipating years longer in dungeon time to prepare for the final confrontation. If this were true most of that time would be lost.

“Utter madness,” Simeon snapped in disbelief.

“They’ll be slaughtered in droves. The guild would be gutted and ruined even if they could manage it, which I doubt. Taliel has to be fucking with you.”

“I’m not so sure,” Torvald said thoughtfully. “He

seemed strangely earnest when we spoke. There was a desperation in his eyes I’d never seen before. I wasn’t made the Pennant’s intermediary with other guilds for my impressive facial hair, but because I have a good read on people.

“When he claimed he was telling me this out of respect

for our past dealings I knew he spoke false. But the rest had a ring of truth to it. According to him, Lady Silvermayne’s influence extends beyond the Gleaming Tower to the other high elf guilds. Taliel told me they have sent their best to aid in this endeavour.

“I believe he sees things the same way you do Simeon.

That this action will be the end of his guild and he has shown their hand hoping that we will intercede to stop them and thereby save it.”

“What else did he tell you?” I demanded.

“That they began this folly yesterday and much of the

preliminary scouting had been completed, but the big push was already underway. They would be forced to rotate the successful different groups at each dungeon to end them all. He would have told me earlier but couldn’t get away from his new Guild Mistress until everything was underway.

“Incidentally, she will be overseeing the elimination of

the Waterfalls of Oblivion in zone four. The other two dungeons, Unfathomable Depths and The Quiet Before the End are in zones twenty-two and twenty-three.

“I haven’t even sent people to confirm or deny what

Taliel has told me yet as I didn’t think delaying in telling you would be wise. With your permission, we can send scouts out immediately.”

“You made the right choice, Torvald,” I told him.

Alyssa leaned down and whispered in my ear. “I fear

this is indeed happening, my love. We must act. We can’t wait for confirmation.”

“Agreed,” I muttered and patted her hand with mine.

“We shall proceed as if Taliel has been truthful with Torvald and act accordingly.”

“Really?” Simeon exclaimed with surprise.

“Yes, really. Simeon, gather all your guild members not

engaged in the dungeon and prepare them for battle. Send the scouts to ascertain the elf’s veracity anyway and if they return and report back that it is all a steaming heap of horse manure, then we can stand down. Send someone to Nel’Van and Zagog as well. We need to keep them in the loop, they might be required for support. I will whisper more detailed instructions for you soon.”

“Now,” I growled with a sharp clap of my hands.

The pair of them jumped out of their chairs and hurried

off. Before they had left the office, I was leading my mates back into the dungeon. Alyssa and I needed to talk and formulate a plan.

 




Once we were back in the dungeon in the viewing

lounge I turned to Alyssa. “What do you know?”

She smiled coyly “I know many things,” and arched

her eyebrow seductively and licked her lips.

“Is this really the right time for flirtation?” Jen’Zadeer

grumbled.

“It’s almost always the right time for flirtation,” Alyssa

quipped back.

Then she flicked her eyes up to the view screen which

displayed the start of a dungeon delve from a group of orcs in our newly minted tribe.

“We have time. Once we issue orders to halt fresh runs

we will likely have five or six more begin before they can all be stopped. That gives us several days to plan.”

“More opportunities for ‘nekkid nekkid’ time,” Nessa

trilled jubilantly gyrating her hips.

“Shatzah! Not you too,” the dark elf sighed, but

without any heat in her voice.

“I do sometimes wonder how you ever found the time

to achieve so much with all the sex that goes on down here,” Tamara tittered.

“I don’t recall hearing you moan about what we’ve

been getting up to nightly. Which isn’t to say there hasn’t been a great deal of moaning of the pleasurable variety,” Krista teased.

“Alright, settle down everyone,” Jessamyn commanded

gently. “We may have plenty of time, but I don’t think my curiosity is willing to wait.”

“Fair enough,” Alyssa giggled and inclined her head to

my alpha mate. “What I know from before I was cut off from the all-encompassing knowledge of the entity is that Lady Silvermayne must be a pseudonym. But I don’t think that will surprise anyone.”

“No.”

“Not in the slightest.”

“What I also know,” Alyssa continued. “Is that as of a

few weeks ago in the adventurer’s zones there were no female high elf supplicants who were even remotely close to strong enough to seize control of a guild. Given the nature of the Proving Grounds and the guilds within it, ours accepted, it is highly unlikely one of the few mid-ranked she-elves could have elevated themselves in such a short space of time.”

“What are you saying? That the Gleaming Towers have

been usurped by a non-elf” I asked.

“In a manner of speaking. I suspect that Lady

Silvermayne is Jezebel.”

Alyssa’s statement left the room in stunned silence for

a moment.

“The goddess Jezebel?” Nessa questioned doubtfully.

“Are you saying one of the Divine Lords is already here? I thought they could only come for the Divine Challenge?”

“To answer that I fear I may be partly responsible for

what has happened. After I was removed as Daxas guide, I may…in my anger…have goaded Jezebel a bit. And made clear to her Timian’s intention to come to the Proving Grounds fully to absorb all Daxas soul energy for himself.

“I think that planted a seed in her mind that has since

flourished into her desperate actions. If she came here with her True Mind last week and did not enter the dungeon of the challenge candidate she would not have been forced to leave as the others were after the challenge’s conclusion.”

“I’m not so sure,” I hedged. “Did you tell her about

this technical loophole?”

“I didn’t, but I wasn’t the only one in proximity when I

confronted her.”

“Who?”

“You know who.”

“Devantus Drakonis,” I growled.

“Yes, I sense his sticky gauntleted fingerprints all over

this,” Alyssa replied.

“Who is Devantus Drakonis?” Tamara asked the

question on the tip of the tongue of many of my mates.

“That is a long story,” I told them. “Suffice to say he is

an interfering pain in my ass, albeit a powerful one I’ve not met directly. So, do we think he is backing Timian’s play once more? Getting Jezebel to do the dirty work of accelerating the challenge?”

“I don’t believe so,” Alyssa answered. “There is much

I don’t know about the supreme sorcerer or his motives. But I do know he has taken advantage of the Lords mercilessly over the years and even the entity is wary of his power.”

“Then what? Jezebel has cut a deal with Timian

directly? Is she really that stupid or desperate she believes that misogynistic asshat won’t turn on her the second she has outlived her usefulness?”

“Not at all,” Alyssa said. “I think she has something

else planned entirely.”

Alyssa grinned smugly and let that sit there for a

moment.

“Well,” Nessa cried. “Are you going to tell us or

what?”

Alyssa spent the next hour outlining what she

suspected Jezebel was up to and answering various questions. By the end, she had pretty much everyone in the privy council convinced.

Her theories changed almost everything. The one thing

that didn’t change was that we needed to put a stop to these dungeon executions.

Fighting the Divine Challenge tomorrow would be a

disaster. There were many things I’d not pushed forward with because I thought we had more time and didn’t want to show my hand too early.

At least one of those dungeons had to be saved and that

meant a hastily assembled guild war.

 



 

Simeon Reedwhistle

 

“Sindar, where the bloody hell is Arash?” I barked

angrily at the wood elf who arched his eyebrow critically at me.

We were in the courtyard of Alpha House. The

assembled available guild members were waiting on the road for us ready to march and complete the day’s unexpected action. The sun was out and there was a cooling gentle breeze, as there always was at Alpha House. The pleasant weather wouldn’t last, though.

The Waterfalls of Oblivion were in a patch of arid

scrubland in zone four. I think the name was supposed to be ironic.

“Sorry,” I said. “He better not be shacked up with

Rosie again, though.”

“I do believe he is saying his goodbyes to his young

lady, yes,” Sindar sniggered after acknowledging my apology.

I ground my teeth in response. “If he’s not here in two

minutes then we are leaving him behind.”

“That is not much of a threat, friend Simeon,” Pacclo

purred. “We are about to launch an improperly declared guild war. And the target guild has many higher ranked members than ours. This is a conflict not without its risks to our personal wellbeing. The Gleaming Towers will almost certainly cast us into an obscenely high-ranked dungeon if we should be captured.

“We can’t even involve our allies directly as we’re

going to need them to prevent automatic expungement when word gets out. I imagine Arash would be quite happy to sit this one out if given the opportunity,” the cat-kin man finished.

“Fine. If he isn’t here in another minute, I’m sending

Piotr to go in and get him.”

“I can’t walk in on Rosie like that, Chief,” Piotr

squeaked. “It would be rude.”

“Does anybody respect my authority as the Guild

Chief?” I snapped waspishly at my disobedient guild officers.

“Sometimes,” Sindar commented unhelpfully.

Before I could retort Arash came stumbling out of the

Firehouse struggling to buckle his belt while in motion. He stopped after he slotted the tongue of weathered brown leather into the belt loop and spotted that he was the centre of attention.

He scratched at the back of his neck. “Sorry, Chief.

Needed to make a quick visit to the outhouse before we set off.”

It was the least convincing lie I think any of us had

ever heard. Especially as the pissing pots were in a completely different building. Who would want the latrines in the same place as where you relaxed?

“Has anybody got any other last-minute ‘calls of

nature’ to attend to?” I asked rhetorically.

Sensing my mood none of my people chose to test me

any further and shook their heads.

“Good. Have you all got your beacons?”

There was a round of head nods, though Arash’s face

had a quick flash of panic that faded after he checked his inventory and confirmed he hadn’t forgotten to collect a couple of guild beacons in his eagerness to connect with his paramour.

The beacons were a plan B option. If things didn’t go

well and Daxas needed to get involved personally he would need a guild house which meant we would need to plant a guild beacon. We decided not to take any risks, so every officer was carrying several in case the coming battle with the elves did not go well.

With any luck, the dungeons they were trying to

destroy would have left them vulnerable and we’d run them down with ease.

I just didn’t feel particularly lucky today.

“Okay, then. Onwards to glory!” I cried with false

bravado.

My officers looked at me askance.

“Too much?” I asked.

Sindar shrugged. Arash scratched the back of his neck

again. And Pacclo squeezed the air with his thumb and forefinger leaving only a small gap.

“I thought you were very inspiring, Chief,” Piotr

assured me enthusiastically.

Some things never changed.

 



 

Jezebel

 

Outside the entrance to the Waterfalls of

Oblivion

Even with an expansive canopy blocking out the direct

rays of the false sun above, the arid heat of the air meant conditions remained on the wrong side of the comfort scale for my liking. I was better off than the half a dozen low-rankers I had wafting me with dyed white ostrich feather fans, though.

They were sweating disgustingly in the sweltering

heat. Luckily, I was able to change them out every ten minutes or so for less pungent replacements.

The poor fools were even grateful, believing that I was

sparing them rather than my nose that would be assaulted by their cloying sour stench.

I would have been cooler if I’d removed my armour.

But there were too many high rankers wandering around the camp. Many of the teams whom I’d forced to venture into the dungeon had not come out but several of them had.

The members of the teams that had been successful

were inevitably boosted by ten or more ranks from their victory. It was best not to give these disgruntled minions any foolish ideas. Best they believe they could take their chances on another day.

I already knew the strengths and weaknesses of the

three dungeons they were trying to destroy. All the Lords did. But damnably, we were prevented from communicating those details to anyone by the Accords. The blasted entity and its desire for balance.

That had necessitated the scouting parties and slowed

the advancement of my machinations. Knowing this would be the most difficult of the three to bring down I’d allowed Taliel to incorporate members of the fallen Lightsteel Companions into the raiding groups. The survivors glared daggers at me whenever they thought I wasn’t paying attention. Which was just another reason I needed to constantly wear the armour.

The Dawn of the Morning and Swords of Grace guilds

were assigned the other dungeons in the zones on the opposite side of the Proving Grounds.

The one slice of good fortune had been that none of the

three had been of a predatory mindset. Some dungeons, like Daxas, made a habit of conquering others and accumulating soul shards by the greedy handful. It would be time-consuming to exterminate a dungeon with thirty or more shards. The Waterfalls of Oblivion, with twelve, was the only one of the three that had more than ten.

In fact, unbeknownst to all but her, the Unfathomable

Depths and The Quiet Before the End had already fallen. Either they had been weaker or the elf guilds stronger than she’d anticipated.

I was both surprised and initially elated when I sensed

the destruction of the other two targets just a few hours earlier. But then hastening the Divine Challenge wasn’t my true objective. I simply needed Daxas to believe that was the case and draw him out of his hole so I could strike.

This could still play into my hands, but I couldn’t

afford for the Waterfalls to fall as well, nor make it obvious that was not my intention.

Taliel knelt in front of me on a thickly woven purple

carpet that already had a light film of sand despoiling it from those constantly traipsing in and out of the canopied shade. Kneeling beside him was an elf named Elauthuin who had recently emerged from the Waterfalls intact and boosted.

They waited impatiently in the heat for permission to

speak.

I made them wait a minute longer than necessary while

I sipped on some iced spring water. The weather had put me in a petulant mood and they would pay a sliver of the price.

“Proceed,” I said at last in the most imperious tone

possible.

I may as well milk this for all it was worth, begin as I

intended to finish. If things went as they should, tomorrow I would be in my demesne and putting my brother gods in their place before demanding my due from the pathetic mortals of the Realms.

“Thank you, my Lady,” Taliel said as his body

language quivered with resentment.

The elf seneschal rose from his knee without

permission, but I let it slide. We were so close to the culmination of my plot, and this was a critical juncture. Maybe if I hadn’t made him wait for so long, I’d have had the time to properly discipline his insubordination.

“With the return of Elauthuin’s cohort, we have

exhausted our reserve of teams capable of challenging the Waterfalls of Oblivion today. The dungeon still stands and as tomorrow is the rest day we shall have to wait until the day after to send the successful teams in for a second run.”

“Really,” I mused. “I can’t help but notice that neither

yourself nor Ardryll has taken a turn, Taliel.”

The impeccably put-together high elf half-gulped

before he could stop himself.

“Unfortunately, my Lady, we no longer have enough

eligible and sufficiently ranked members from either guild left to form an effective unit,” he rationalised after he regathered himself.

That part was completely false. She knew there were a

good dozen or more of the council’s closest confidants lurking out of sight. Believing out of sight meant out of mind. One word from her and the lot of them would be inside in fewer than ten minutes.

But destroying the Waterfalls of Oblivion wasn’t the

true objective, so allowing the transparent deception played into my real goal.

“You, Elauthuin. Report on the condition of the

Waterfalls core crystal.” I ordered.

Elauthuin, taking his cue from Talie,l rose from his

knee without my assent and started to talk.

“My Lady, when I touched the core to claim our

conquest the crystal was perhaps the size of a ripe peach.”

“According to the reports from the first successful

group this morning it sounds as if it has halved in size,” Taliel voiced his thoughts. “We’ve had six successful conquests. Perhaps six more will complete the task?”

I nailed him with a steely gaze. “I’m aware. Why do

you think I asked them to take measurements?”

Taliel had the good grace to look embarrassed but the

oaf’s stating of the obvious wasn’t the real reason I was feeling a little anxious. Events were moving more rapidly than I had expected but as yet no sign of activity from my hated enemy.

Had I miscalculated? Had Taliel’s traitorous

collaboration with Daxas’ slave guilds come too late?

I would need to make a show of angrily calling for the

survivors from the other dungeons to come here. That should take several hours and give me some more time.

Then as I ruminated on what might have gone wrong

and how best to salvage the situation a low-ranked elf I didn’t recognise rushed into the makeshift pavilion.

Without any leave, he shouted. “An army approaches

from the West! There must be thousands of them.”

Taliel concealed his smug smile behind his sleeve,

pretending to cough.

He didn’t matter. Not anymore.

My scheming had come to fruition. Daxas was

attempting to counter my move. The endgame was upon us, and I intended to win.




Chapter 18

 

Simeon’s hopes that the Gleaming Towers would be

teetering on the brink of extinction and turning this into a rollover were swiftly dashed. Significant numbers of elves were still standing and ready to fight.

Unfortunately, the rather desolate nature of the

surrounding environment of the Waterfalls of Oblivion meant that the guild forces were unable to conceal their approach. As they closed in, they dropped guild beacons as they went, and I was able to get a slightly better view of what was happening after they did.

However, Jezebel had been quite clever, and she must

have ordered the Gleaming Towers to site some of their own overlapping beacons around the dungeon which made placing any of ours in the proximity of the coming battlefield complicated.

At one point, my plan had been to allow the Dark

Moon Rising to make use of a tunnel complex I’d built and attack from seclusion, but Jezebel’s security precautions had nixed that idea in the bud.

The tunnel wouldn’t be useless. Once Simeon’s people

had destroyed some of the Tower’s beacons and planted some of theirs closer to the dungeon entrance then I would be able to raise a basic first rank guild outpost and connect it to the tunnel network.

One of my other avatars and all my disciples were in

position at the end of that tunnel.

If the outpost was close enough, my disciples and I

would be able to get involved in the fight ahead. We’d be limited to the outpost’s official environs which only extended a couple of dozen feet from the physical structure, but that ought to be sufficient. If not, I might be forced to splurge and buy multiple outposts to extend our range.


And we would need to get involved if Jezebel was

truly present. The laws of the Proving Grounds might limit the Divine Lords to a certain extent, but they were still deities in physical form. She would be a one-woman wrecking crew and would carve through my mid-ranked allies with ease.

At least Jezebel was prevented from entering the

dungeons to destroy them directly. If she did, she would be cast from the Proving Grounds at the conclusion. But that was the last piece of good news.

The Blue Pennant scouts had reached the other two

rank one-hundred dungeons and the prognosis was poor. They appeared to have been defeated and wiped out if the yawning nothingness where they ought to be was any measure.

That meant I’d already lost two weeks. I couldn’t

afford to lose next week as well, there was still too much to do.

I shook off my cogitations on events I could not

control and refocused my attention on what I could.

The elves had reacted quickly and efficiently to the

army’s arrival, forming several square phalanxes of spear-wielding warriors that surrounded a white, gold-trimmed pavilion by the entrance of the dungeon.

I could see that at least two of the phalanxes present

bore insignia from another guild. One which I did not recognise but Tenzing was quick to enlighten me. They were the Lightsteel Companions. There were fewer of them than the Gleaming Towers, but their presence did bolster the defending force’s numbers and made this a more even conflict.

The elves were outnumbered three, perhaps even four,

to one. But we couldn’t take anything for granted. They were better ranked, decently geared, and had far superior discipline.

A fact punctuated by a mob of a hundred or more Dark

Moon Rising guild members. They let their intense dislike of the haughty elves overpower their common sense and rushed forward in a ragged unwise charge. The screamed orders from Simeon and his officers came too late or went unheeded.

The high elves might have been full of themselves, but

they were well aware of their deep unpopularity with the other peoples of the Realms. All but the most spoiled of them were drilled and trained for war once they reached adulthood.

In short, they knew what they were doing.

The overeager and foolish attackers were skewered and

pinned to the ground by the front rank and then slaughtered by the second rank while their victims squealed and struggled futilely to free themselves.

Although Simeon had abdicated the official position of

general in favour of Sindar, he moved quickly to bring the guild’s forces back under control.

Sindar arrayed his people away from the elf phalanxes

and had the ranged attackers shower them with arrow fire, while the archers were screened by a wall of melee fighters.

Meanwhile, Pacclo led several smaller mobile squads

whose job was to locate and eliminate the elven beacons so they could place their own.

So far, so good.

The battle continued in that vein for several minutes

longer. The superior numbers of the Dark Moon Rising kept the elven formations pinned down behind their shields but did very little damage. Pacclo’s team were quite successful and had destroyed several of their beacons and replaced them with our own, but the field of influence didn’t extend close enough for me to risk acting yet.

When it became obvious that after witnessing the fate

of those few hotheads the rest of my people were going to follow instructions and hold their ground, six of the eight elven square formations began to move forward. The two closest to the pavilion held their position.

Slowly at first, they marched forward, their pace

increasing as they neared the army.

Sindar called out fresh orders and the missile

bombardment ceased. Melee weapons were equipped and readied for combat. When the tightly packed elf formations were within fifty metres, select teams produced a pre-prepared log with handles, six on each side inserted along its length, from their inventories.

Twelve-man teams picked up their battering rams and

charged across the rocky scrubland. It was too late for the elves to arrest their momentum and brace as they were too close. The battering rams slammed home and broke open the elf formation. The ram holders didn’t survive for long but following on their heels were the screaming angry horde of my guildies.

The dwarf twins were two of the first to get into the

centre of an elven square and start hammering the foe. The Dark Moon Rising fighters swarmed the squares and broke them apart turning the battlefield into a writhing mess of blood and bodies.

This allowed two flanking groups, one led by Simeon,

and the other by Sindar, to skirt around the edges and then move towards the white, gold-trimmed pavilion.

I was on the edge of my seat. The anticipation had me

on tenterhooks.

Finally, Jezebel or Lady Silvermayne as she called

herself made an appearance. She was bedecked in a resplendent set of form-fitting armour. Her helm concealed much of her face but the visor was open above her cheeks so I could see her eyes clearly.

I’d seen those piercing blue eyes before alright.

Without a doubt it was her.

She had a squad of elite elf soldiers with her. One of

whom was Taliel. My people were still too far away to hear what she said but after motioning her arms the last two blocks of elves jogged toward the battle, each of them moving to intercept one of the flanking forces.

But Jezebel and the small cadre around her did not

enter the fray.

It was a curious command decision. Had this been a

true battle it made sense. You couldn’t allow your frontline to be flanked and surrounded. But this was not a traditional battle. The elves in the melee were a match for their attackers and the true objective was to secure the entrance of the Waterfalls of Oblivion. Keeping two battalions with their back to the way in would have been the soundest tactical decision.

Was this merely a display of martial naivety on

Jezebel’s part or was there a deeper tactical nous at play?

I elected to keep my powder dry and not act early.

My patience was rewarded a few minutes later.

The scrum in the middle had devolved into a frenzied,

but slow, stalemate of attrition. There were more Dark Moon members going down than the Towers or Lightsteel equivalents, but they were taking a proportional number of elves with them before they did. This kept the swirling battle on an even keel.

Soon though, a sufficient gap opened up and Pacclo’s

squad who had finished removing the peripheral beacons took advantage of the opportunity and zipped through.

There were only ten of them and it was effectively a

suicide run. The beacon they made for was close enough to the Waterfalls to be of maximal use for me, but that also meant it was perilously close to the Pavilion and Jezebel’s elite reserves.

Taliel and company sprang into action at her command

and started to cut the beacon squad to ribbons as they stood guard around Pacclo. With a handful of seconds to spare the Towers beacon fizzled under the slashing attacks of Pacclo’s twin blades. Ignoring his own defence, the Catkin man jammed his beacon deep into the yellowed rocks and his final act before being fatally speared from behind was to activate it.

It would only take Taliel and his allies a few seconds to

smash the freshly placed beacons to pieces. But a few seconds was all I needed.

Had the elves been a little cannier and spread out, they

could have denied me the space needed to site the building, but they bunched up in an effort to accelerate the destruction of the beacon.

The ground in front of them shifted and rumbled and

the reality-bending sight of a building rising from the desolate earth shocked them and they backed away in surprise.

One last purchase confirmation, and the pre-built

tunnel was connected to the new outpost. Now it was time for me to get personally involved.

 



 

The oaken-stained hatch appeared above me at the top

of the spiral staircase and I threw it open without hesitation. My alternate back in the dungeon fed me the update of what had been going on outside and I emerged from below with Jessamyn and the rest of my disciples hot on my heels.

“The main battle is behind the outpost,” I informed

them as we marched out of the office heading to the foyer of the building. “The Gleaming Towers council are at the threshold. We will have to deal with them first, but Jezebel is nearby so don’t discount her getting involved before we finish them off.”

“Yes, master,” came the collection of slightly

discordant voices.

I’d not held back and brought the male disciples as

well.

Marux and Gretsch had been joined by the centaurs

and the few others I’d inherited when claiming Tamara. A simple addition of a knotted rope dangling down through the centre of the spiral staircase meant they could grip and pull with their hands to help them ascend. This was enough to aid the four-legged centaurs up the otherwise impassable stairwell.

I was unable to bring the life-seeded that normally

accompanied us into dungeons. Being designated positions in my dungeon, and because the battle would be outside the dungeon, meant they were ineligible. Their exclusion was a rule I’d not found a way around.

Things were a little less clear with regards to my

servant-warrior life-seeded in the guild buildings. Up to this point, we had only used them in a defensive capacity. The jury was out as to what would happen if I tried to use them offensively. But Alyssa’s assessment, which I trusted implicitly, was that it was more likely the entity would censure them and me for doing so, than not.

I’d been allowed to bend the rules a great deal, but the

entity remained dedicated to balance, and this would likely push things a little too far in my favour.

Throwing open the double doors we launched

ourselves out into the hot sun. The elf council had recovered from the shock of the building’s sudden appearance. They had backed away from the temporary corpses of Pacclo and his squad of valiant warriors that made this all possible and prepared themselves for combat.

“No quarter,” I growled.

I felt, through my soul bonds with my mates, rather

than saw their nods of assent. Then heard their heart-warming war cries as they roared their defiance and charged the dour-faced elves.

Ten elves were trying to fend off forty of us and they

were quickly overwhelmed. For my part in the attack, I made a beeline for Taliel.

Unlike the others, he had started to back away towards

the white, gold-trimmed pavilion as soon as we came out.

“Wait! Please wait. I’m on your side. I helped…” his

plaintive begging was cut off as my maul slammed into the side of his head, breaking his jaw and leaving him temporarily senseless.

Taliel was thrown to the ground by the force of the

blow. He scrabbled around on the dusty rocks in a bit of a stupor, under the influence of a concussion debuff. I kicked him savagely in the gut which rolled the elf over onto his back. Reversing and double gripping my mauls handle, I pounded the weighty head into his face like I was churning butter.

Which was an apt description as after half a dozen

thumps what was left of his head had the same gooey consistency of butter left out in the sun.

I could have let Taliel live but he was a treacherous

snake in the grass. Leaving him breathing was just asking for him to try and take advantage of the situation while I was distracted handling the true threat. Jezebel.

Speaking of the troublesome minx, Tamara had

obviously issued some sub-orders on my behalf as the two centaurs, satyr, and hare-kin disciples had ignored the elves and used their greater speed to circumvent them and attack her directly. At the same time, Tamara shot her petrifying gaze attack at Jezebel, but the bronzed beam flittered out upon contact with her armour.

The goddess’ avatar merely smirked as they charged at

her and unleashed a ball of golden, white-hot flames that blasted the quartet and sent them flying in all directions. They lay still where they landed, their limbs charred and sticking out at unnatural angles. If they still lived, which I sincerely doubted, they wouldn’t be getting up anytime soon.

“Everybody, spread out,” I ordered.

That was a tremendously powerful attack and there

was no point in making it easier for Jezebel to hit us with an area of effect.

Jezebel’s display of strength did concern me. However,

the Lord’s avatars were not unstoppable, they were limited. They had to follow much the same rules that the projections used by adventurers and dungeons alike.

I reasoned that Jezebel couldn’t have too many spells

like that up her sleeves.

A glance behind me confirmed that the elf council

were down and out. There were a few attendants that cowered in the pavilion, but they weren’t inclined to get involved. The sound of battle still raged from the other side of the outpost, but it didn’t seem to be getting any closer to us.

The guild’s mutual intent was focused on wiping one

another out which suited me just fine.

As my mates and the few surviving male disciples

fanned out in a wide semi-circle around her, Jezebel raised her visor over her helm and stared me directly in the eye before smiling with malicious joy.

I took a few steps forward. “Give it up Jezebel. In your

current form, you might be stronger than any of us individually, but there is only one of you. You won’t be able to stop us all before your reserves run dry.”

The beautiful blue-eyed blonde laughed lightly at my

veiled warning and slowly clapped, mocking my statement.

“Is that it? Is that your grand plan, Daxas? To

overwhelm me with sheer numbers. How drab and oh so predictable. I had higher hopes for you after what you had achieved but it seems you are no different from all the others. Nothing more than a musclebound meathead who thinks with his fists,” she sneered.

“I think you know me better than that, Jezebel. Besides

last we met, you seemed quite enamoured of my muscles and girthy meat,” I taunted, trying to goad her into making a mistake.

She might be on her own, but she was still extremely

dangerous.

“You overconfident whelp. If you think good looks are

going to save you, you are sorely mistaken. Thanks to you and that hussy, Alyssa, either I end you or Timian ends me. That is not even a decision.”

“Really? Well, I don’t like to brag but I would

definitely put myself in the devilishly handsome bracket. Merely good-looking is for the rank and file.”

“What!?” Jezebel screeched in exasperation. “Your

attractiveness was your only takeaway from what I said?”

“I’m sorry, did you say something after that? I must

have missed it.”

“I’ll destroy you,” Jezebel seethed and started to step

forward and then stopped suddenly and smirked cruelly at me. “Nice try. But I won’t let you draw me into making an error. You are doomed, Daxas. Kneel at my feet. Beg for my forgiveness and I’ll make it quick.”

“That isn’t going to happen, Jezebel. I know you are

here with your True Mind. That is the only thing that has stayed my hand and the hands of my disciples long enough for us to converse. Believe it or not, but I don’t want to kill you. Listen to reason, you can’t possibly stop all of us.”

Jezebel laughed. “I don’t need to stop you all, Daxas. I

only need to kill you,” she said and pointed at me with meaning.

I lifted my shield to block whatever attack she was

about to unleash and both Jessamyn and Karragh jumped in front of me from either side.

Their bravery and self-sacrifice proved unnecessary as

Jezebel merely cocked her fingers and grinned widely at our reaction to her threat.

“I will not allow you to harm him,” Jessamyn declared

firmly.

“Nor I,” Karragh added and soon there was a chorus of

voices making similar declarations.

“How touching,” Jezebel stated with false respect. “I

remember you wood elf. I remember all those who were mine. Especially those who forsake their vows. Do you want to know a secret?”

Jessamyn scrunched her eyes with lethal intent. I could

tell that she wanted to unleash every spell in her arsenal at the goddess in front of her but held off, waiting for my order. I’d been serious when I said I didn’t want to kill Jezebel. I had other plans.

“Enlighten me,” Jessamyn ground out from behind

clenched teeth.

“I absolutely despise the role of the Silver Lady and

those harridan’s that filled up my convents. Loathed them with a fiery passion that would put yours to shame. But they did have one use. As repositories of soul energy. Just like the soul energy you stupid girls are standing on,” Jezebel gloated.

Before any of us could even so much as glance down

Jezebel rotated her outstretched finger in a circle.

Shooting up from the rocky earth beneath us came

strands of soul energy that coalesced into shimmering golden-white chain links. The links whipped upwards and around our bodies, encircling our legs and pinning our arms against our bodies. Jessamyn and Karragh, amongst others, toppled over as they tried to avoid the sudden unexpected restraints.

Even Yanna and Yuni, who had adopted Camouflage

before they left the outpost, were ensnared and brought down as they yowled plaintively as they were being chained.

This was no spell available to any adventurer, dungeon,

or avatar in the Proving Grounds. This was the manifestation and manipulation of soul energy. Something that was confirmed by Alyssa as she whispered in my ear from the viewing lounge.

“She must have laced the ground with soul energy

before we arrived. The Lords could not do this in your dungeon, it is forbidden, and this must have cost her dearly. But you are outside and there are fewer restrictions on her actions. She is desperate and risking everything.

“All is not lost, my love. Physical strength will be of

no use, but you are filled to the brim with soul energy of your own. You need to tap into it and use it to break free.”

Jezebel laughed heartily at our predicament, and in

frustrated anger, I tried to zap her with my lightning bolt only to find myself prevented by the chains wrapped around me. Instead of uselessly trying again, I heeded Alyssa’s advice and focused inward, seeking the fountain of power that my enemies wished so dearly to drain me of, but found nothing.

“This is useless. I can’t learn this in seconds,” I

grunted.

“Fear not brother, you need only hold out for a short

while. I have ordered Nel’Van and Torvald to lead parties into the dungeon. Time will stop down here in under two minutes. Plenty of time for me to figure out what needs to be done and relay it back to you,” my alternate spoke in my mind.

Two minutes was easier said than done when we were

all chained and effectively helpless. Fortunately, Jezebel had a few of my disciples to deal with before she could turn her murderous intentions upon me.

Marux, Gretsch, and Tamara’s last disciples, the

minotaur Barax and a human named Dolan, remained unfettered. Each of them launched their spell attacks without needing an order from me. Which was just as well as being chained by apparently unbreakable bonds had not been part of the pre-battle strategy discussions.

Jezebel was peppered by Frost Bolt, Fire Bolt, Armour

Breaker, and Hex. She shrugged them off as if they were nothing and then Marux activated his Blood Rage and charged her, with the other bull-man Barax close behind.

The blonde goddess smiled delightedly and danced

around the large minotaurs with almost impossible swiftness, cutting into them wickedly with her sabre. She even took the time to produce a short spear and launch it directly at Gretsch’s head as he tried to find a spot to backstab from.

The four of them tried gainfully to take her life, but

they were outmatched and one by one they fell. But they achieved what I needed most. They delayed Jezebel.

“I really should thank you,” Jezebel remarked as she

cleaned the razor edge of her sabre of Marux’s blood. “If you hadn’t been such a lecherous bastard and interfered with the souls of these women in the way you have. Blessing them. Then I would only have been able to use the Soul Chain on you and you might have actually stood a chance.”

That must have been why the three males had been

unaffected and why she had been happy to splurge a big wad of her energy to despatch the four others at the beginning.

While the short fight had gone on, I had managed to

hop backward to the outpost, putting a bit more distance between us.

My chained mates were completely motionless now

that the chain bound them fully. They were glued to the ground where they stood or had fallen. Prevented from moving, casting spells, or even speaking.

As painful an observation as that was, it did mean these

chains did not have the same all-powerful hold over me. Hopeful evidence that I would find a way out of this dangerous predicament if I could buy a few more seconds.

Importantly, I also noted that Jezebel had not used any

magic or abilities when killing the remaining male disciples. There had been no repeat of the powerful blast she had used on the centaurs earlier. Another sign that things might not be as dire as they seemed.

“I still do,” I called out to her, referring to her

comment about my chances.

I spoke with a practised confident bravado as she

stalked towards me. And unleashed the full weight of my devilishly charming smile and aura of sexual magnetism.

Jezebel stumbled and slowed for a few steps. The

distinctive scent of wetness between her legs confirmed my aura had cut through her current deadly mindset and re-awakened her passionate inner desire to lay with me.

“Too late,” she muttered. “Wanton lust won’t save you

now.”

“Ah, but I don’t need wanton lust, as useful as it might

be, to defeat you, Jezebel. I just need the secret knowledge of the Earthborn geek.”

“What are you babbling about? We have watched your

kind for centuries. You have no secrets from us,” she barked angrily.

Being outside the dungeon I didn’t experience the

frozen time but knew it had occurred when my inner voice whispered in my mind.

“It is done.”

Knowledge poured into me at the same instant.

Understanding of what I had learned over the past day

in the dungeon. Time that the two runs had provided. It was far too short a period to learn everything about what the soul energy could do, but because we’d been able to observe Jezebel use it, it proved to be enough.

“The secret knowledge that villains who grandstand

and monologue rather than just killing the hero inevitably lose.”

“Wha…?”

I flexed my mental muscles mid-query and severed the

connection between the soul chain and me. The chain’s grip on my body loosened and they slipped off and shattered, freeing me to move and act. I hefted my shield and unleashed a maxed Lightning Bolt followed up swiftly by Chain Lightning catching Jezebel unawares.

Sadly, this didn’t prove to be quite the coup d’état I’d

been hoping for.

Jezebel was pushed back a few feet by the force of the

strikes and the strands of her blonde hair that poked out of her helm did appear to be slightly frazzled, so she wasn’t entirely unaffected. But she hadn’t been knocked on her ass or appeared remotely close to being done.

“Impressive,” Jezebel grinned as she shook off some of

the numbness of electrical shock. “But you didn’t think I’d be so stupid that I wouldn’t hold a little something back just for you?”

And that was when Jezebel thrust her arms at me with

her palms open. Before I could dodge out of the way she unleashed a stream of the golden white-hot force at me. I had the dubious honour of feeling the full and burning effect of the Soul Blast she had used on the centaurs.

Luckily, I had my shield up and that softened the force

of the blow, by a tiny amount.

Had I the time to brace myself I doubted it would have

helped much, but I didn’t. The collision of magical power reinforced with raw soul energy drove me off my feet and thrust me backwards, through the open doors of the outpost.

I didn’t stop flying through the air until I made contact

with the back wall and slumped to the floor in a heap. My shield was just molten slag and I discarded it lest it did me any further damage.

“Oooh, that had to hurt,” Jezebel chirped from outside.

A quick self-assessment highlighted my rather dire

condition. I had lost almost ninety-five percent of my Health in a single attack. A lesser dungeon would have been vapourised. The blast that took out the other four had been diffused to encompass them all. The one she used against me had been concentrated on a single focal point.

I chugged the strongest potion I had at my disposal to

regenerate some of my Health and keep me from death’s door. It allowed me to claw my health back to a more respectable forty percent. But the massive loss of health was only one of my problems. The force of the collision had broken my back and the movement debuff was so crippling I was a literal sitting duck.

I didn’t have time to indulge in being groggy or dazed,

though. Jezebel was coming to finish me off.

I was alive but had been perilously close to being quite

dead. That would have thrown a major spanner in the works. We formulated many plans based on the different potential threats that Jezebel posed. Needless to say, this proved to be one of the more dangerous scenarios.

We hadn’t lost yet, though.

“Damn, plan ‘what to do when you’re almost fucked’ it

is then,” I grunted and started to pull myself across the floor to the hallway that led into the office where the trapdoor to the spiral staircase was.

I needed to get into the tunnel.

Jezebel strode through the threshold of the outpost just

as I crawled into the corridor.

“You show your true colours, Daxas. Who is the

fearful lamb hiding from the hunter now?” Jezebel crowed with malicious delight.

I could hear her boots clacking on the hardwood floors.

her tempo speeding up as she gave chase.

With gritted teeth, I managed to endure the pain and

haul myself up onto my feet and move a little quicker than the crawl I’d been reduced to before. It would only give me a few seconds longer, but it should be enough.

When I turned the corner and stumbled through the

office door, I knew I had made it. It was rather fortunate we’d decided to use the smallest ranked outpost. If it’d been any larger, she would certainly have caught me in time.

As it was Jezebel came within an inch of ruining my

day anyway. While I stood at the top of the spiral staircase a hurled short spear slammed into my shoulder and spun me around.

My spin let me get a look at Jezebel’s triumphant

expression in the office doorway before my momentum dropped me through the trapdoor and I rolled down the spiral staircase. The shaft of the spear snapped during the fall, while the tip was driven deeper, costing me yet more precious health.

But I was in the tunnels.

I tumbled off the stone staircase and clattered into the

wall opposite in a heap where I came to rest. The fall and the subsequent continuing blows to my already broken back had worsened my debuff to the degree I was essentially paralysed from the neck down.

I heard Jezebel race down the stairwell taking the steps

two at a time, and she leapt from four steps up when she saw my prone form.

Having learned from my earlier taunt, Jezebel didn’t

hesitate this time and as soon as she stood over me, drew her sabre and whipped it towards my exposed throat.

“Good girl,” I coughed as the blade whistled through

the air.

Then I blinked and my mind was gone.




Chapter 19

 

Jezebel’s sabre sliced across my freshly mindless

avatar’s throat leaving a gaping bloody wound. Scarlet blood spurted in powerful gouts that drenched her leggings, but the squirting pumps quickly faded away as the life left the body on the cold stone tunnel floor.

“You cheating piece of shit,” Jezebel screamed at the

top of her lungs. “I know you’re watching! You and that hussy, Alyssa. We all know what kind of setup you had before you blocked us out.”

She viciously kicked my corpse and bellowed in

frustrated rage.

“This won’t save you,” she yelled at the ceiling of the

tunnel.

It was a bit curious how everyone did that.

“Of course, she told you of the consequences of dying

by my hand outside your dungeon. That I would be able to burrow into your soul directly and drain you dry. This isn’t over, far from it.

“All you’ve managed to do is to rob me of the pleasure

of watching the life fade from your eyes when I take it,” she continued to shout angrily. “I have still won! I know the rules of this place. I was there when they were written. Your mind fleeing back to the inactive part of the dungeon neuters you completely. Alyssa and Tenzing can’t help you.

“Did she tell you that!”

Jezebel huffed and puffed for a little longer and then

she shook her ire off and strode deeper into the tunnel. “Nobody can help you now, and you’ve been kind enough to give me a direct route to your core and once I touch it. Then this will finally be over.”

Jezebel’s impatience overwhelmed any sense of

decorum and soon she was sprinting down the softly glowing walls of the tunnel system. The battle had taken place in zone four which was roughly the distance of a marathon from the Lair. Top-tier human runners from Earth who have things like oxygen intake and exhaustion to worry about could complete the distance in just over two hours. It took Jezebel a little under one.

As she had rightly predicted I was effectively locked

out of making any changes to the layout via the DDD once she had entered. My avatar in the viewing lounge had watched her progress and had been unable to enter any active part of the dungeon or inactive part that intersected with Jezebel’s path.

My hands were tied with regards to my dungeon

creatures as well.

Jezebel’s entry was a bit of a grey area as it had been

with what we did to the Black Hills Brigade. She hadn’t officially entered the dungeon, so I couldn’t order them to re-organise and fall back to my Core room.

I would be limited to using only those who were

assigned to the Core room, which were all disciples who were currently incapacitated outside.

The only person I could send was sitting upon my

marble fur-covered throne. She pushed her glasses back up her nose in that sexy way I liked as Jezebel barrelled into the green pulsing glow of the core room. The angry goddess came to a halt at the bottom of the dais that held the throne and organic-metal pedestals.

“Good afternoon, Jezebel. How wonderful it is to see

you again,” Alyssa greeted the goddess with her trademark sardonic teasing tone.

“Alyssa, of course, you are here. Did your little lapdog

send you to try and stop me?”

“Stop you? Jezebel, you know as well as I do my hands

are tied and I can’t get physically involved. Have you forgotten proselytising on that very fact less than an hour ago?”

“That’s what I wanted you to think I believed,” Jezebel

sneered and produced yet another short spear from her inventory and hurled it with a quick snapping flick of her wrist at the woman sitting with her hands in her lap on the throne.

The spear flew true and struck Alyssa squarely in the

centre of her torso, at the base of her sternum. But the spear simply bounced off her and fell to the granite stone floor with an echoing clatter.

Alyssa tutted and inspected the damage between her

impressive cleavage, straightening her white blouse in the process. “How rude, you’ve put a hole in my favourite shirt,” she scolded the warrior goddess before her.

Jezebel shrugged almost companionably. “I needed to

be sure. Rumours abound both here and in the heavens. You and the big-headed pup do nothing but break the rules.”

“Bend them, darling, not break them, bend them,”

Alyssa chided in response. “Although to be fair we have found a way around some of the constraints the Arbiter tried to bind with me. I guess it would be bad form to hold your suspicions against you.

“As you have amply proven, I am here in my true

flesh, so to speak. You can’t harm me, nor can I harm you. Détente.”

“Hardly,” Jezebel snorted as she hopped up onto the

dais a foot in front of the throne.

“Confident of your victory, I see,” Alyssa commented.

“I must say, though. You are looking just a little bit peaky since last we met.”

Now that Alyssa mentioned it, I could see that Jezebel

did look a bit strung out. There was a weariness around her eyes that hadn’t been there before, not even during our recent battle.

“I don’t know what you are talking about,” Jezebel

snapped far too quickly.

“Oh, I think you do,” Alyssa replied in a faux whisper.

“Just how much of your personal energy reserves did you use to win through? More than thirty Soul Chains and two overwrought Soul Blasts. I’d wager you have nought left. Cut off from your regular sources while you are here, you must be hanging on by a thread, my dear.”

Jezebel glowered at her but didn’t answer.

“You were fools to accept Drakonis’ temptations,”

Alyssa continued, mildly shifting the subject. “You are little different from the Yarra root addicts. Dancing to the tune of the suppliers. Willing to accept any indignity for another little taste.”

“Enough,” Jezebel barked. “You know nothing about

us, Alyssa. Have you forgotten it is the Accords he arranged that gives the entity, that gives you, purpose? You are as beholden to that smug sorcerer as any of us. Besides, whatever I may have expended will be returned and so much more, and there is nothing you can do to stop me.”

The goddess stepped around the throne and moved

towards the pedestal that housed my core crystal. There were three other pedestals arranged behind mine each containing the core gems for Jen’Zadeer, Nessa, and Tamara.

“I’m not here to stop you, Jezebel,” Alyssa commented

quietly from the comfort of the throne. “I’m just here for a front row seat to the show.”

Jezebel either didn’t hear her or ignored the taunt.

With her hand outstretched, she hesitated for a split

second. I could see a flash of conflicted emotion ripple across her elegant and beautiful facial features. Regret and heartache followed by steely resolve and determination.

I could intuit what was going through her mind. For

her this would be the culmination of our tumultuous and occasionally adversarial relationship. I knew she didn’t truly hate me, regardless of what she had been telling herself. Jezebel certainly found me to be supremely irritating and this allowed her to fall prey to self-deception. But deep down, albeit very deep, like Jen’Zadeer before her, there was a foundation of desire, appreciation, and yes, even affection.

Battling against and running roughshod over that

affectionate foundation was Jezebel’s rampant self-interest and grievances, both real and imagined.

The strength to right those perceived wrongs was

alluring, and Jezebel did not want to die.

Who would?

Also, she didn’t believe I could succeed against Timian

and the other Lords. That helped override whatever part of her mind urged her to join with me instead of taking the simple selfish path, ending me.

I won’t deny being a little disappointed at her lack of

faith.

Disappointed but not afraid.

After all, Jezebel had gladly walked right into the trap

I’d laid for her.

Admittedly, her inventive use of soul energy, the Soul

Blast directly to my chest in particular, had been a bit of a hairy moment.

Far too close for comfort, but what was life without a

little risk. We had underestimated how willing Jezebel would be to risk herself. The slightest miscalculation of her energy use would have been the end of her.

But her miscalculation turned out to be not using quite

enough energy to finish the job. When my avatar had not been killed outright, my victory was assured. Mostly.

Jezebel reached her hand out and seized hold of my

core gem. And then nothing.

“What?” Jezebel cried in confusion.

She took her hand off the emerald and then touched it

again. Still, nothing happened.

Jezebel frantically started to grasp at the gems of my

dungeon disciples, all to no avail.

“No, no, no, no, no,” she muttered in a panic. “This

can’t be right. I defeated him in single combat. I slew his active avatar. I won. His mind fled back to the dungeon.”

“Did it?” Alyssa quipped with false innocence as she

played with her painted nails, pointedly ignoring the distressed goddess.

Jezebel’s visage transitioned from worried to angry and

she rounded on my sexy bespectacled adviser.

“What did you do?” she screamed. “I know the terms

of the Accords inside and out. His mind fled to his inactive avatar. That counts as a concession. The Accords are clear!”

“But did I?” I shouted from the other end of the room.

“I’m disappointed, Jezebel. I thought you’d learned by now what an incorrigible cheat I am. Unfortunately for you, it would appear the Proving Grounds consider me to be stubbornly undefeated.”

During her argument with Alyssa, Jezebel had failed to

hear me and my mates approaching from the very same tunnel she had run through herself.

The cheat in this case was a rather simple one. Multi-

avatar madness.

Once my primary had left the outpost with the disciples

to fight the elves, a second avatar transfigured to look like Tenzing to conceal his true identity from prying eyes, came out of the tunnel. I had him follow the disciples at a far enough distance that my mind wasn’t drawn out of his form.

I snuck him up to an empty storeroom and locked him

inside which is where I left him waiting for an emergency. Theoretically, if I had the misfortune of being killed by Jezebel, the presence of this other avatar ought to have prevented her from ravaging and looting my soul.

To be honest, I was happy we didn’t have to find out.

And even happier we managed to find an alternate use for him.

My primary’s sudden and unexpected re-entry into the

outpost after being blasted had brought them back into proximity, the inhabiting minds merged into the primary and the body hidden in the storeroom was left as a mindless husk.

Without my will present, the body reverted to my

natural studly humanoid form.

Which could give away one of my secrets if the Lord’s

were paying close enough attention. We weren’t in my dungeon and afforded privacy.

These husks, once mentally abandoned, didn’t last very

long. Less than a minute, but that was long enough. My primary absconded down into the tunnels creating the necessary distance between both avatars. When I blinked and bailed it was not back to the dungeon but to the waiting empty husk in the storeroom.

Therefore, by the strict terms laid down in the Accords,

my flight didn’t qualify as a concession.

This meant because Jezebel hadn’t run my dungeon,

and I happened to have followed her and was lurking in the tunnel nearby, her being able to touch my core was not sufficient to be considered a successful conquest. She had to defeat me in combat. A defeat which I had neatly side-stepped on a technicality.

You’ve got to love technicalities.

Well, Jezebel probably didn’t right now, but I’m sure

she’d get over it in a couple of years.

With a high-pitched scream, Jezebel leapt from the

dais, a fresh ivory long-spear in her grip and aimed straight for my heart.

Jessamyn, Karragh, Jen’Zadeer, and Nessa stepped out

from behind me. Each of them swinging an extended length of golden-white links of Soul Chain.

My first act after letting myself out of the storeroom

was to run outside and free my mates. It didn’t take long to figure out how to extend the influence I used on my chains to act externally. The chains were rather simple to manipulate and remove if you weren’t wrapped in them and suffering from their suppressant effects. So easy, that Jessamyn and the others whom I freed first were able to assist in the emancipation effort.

Unlike my chains, which burst apart as I snapped them,

these were removed gently. The alterations I’d made to the girls meant they could wield these godly restraints just like any Divine Lord.

As we sprinted after Jezebel down the tunnels

Jessamyn melded the links from several of the chains to make the lasso-like soul weapons the four of them swung.

Acting in concert, their right wrists whipped out and

released the ends of the chain in their hands. With unerring accuracy, the chain ends zipped across the gap between them and Jezebel and tried to connect with each of her limbs. The links started to disintegrate into motes of light that floated in the air as they got close to her. But after about half the length of the chain had dissipated in that manner a link from each found purchase and the gradual disintegration ceased.

Meanwhile, the elven goddess only had eyes for me

and didn’t even register the chains that had made contact with her extremities and now snaked their way around her wrists and ankles.

I summoned a fresh shield and deflected the incoming

spear strike while my mates jinked left and right. Jezebel’s body smashed into me, and I fell backwards into the tunnel entrance taking the furious goddess with me. Reena the large lamia had been standing behind me and cushioned my body as I fell into her arms.

“Thanks,” I grunted.

“You are welcome, Masster,” she lisped back with wry

amusement.

“…will kill you,” Jezebel spat at me, but already the

chains which had by now wound themselves around her arms and legs and then moved onto her shoulders and pelvis, were pulled taught by my mates braced in the Core room. They gradually hauled the straining and snapping woman back inside.

Jezebel fought and thrashed like a whirling dervish but

with every moment the soul chains entwined more of her body until eventually the four strands met around her navel and fused into a padlock. Fully weakened and immobilised she was easy to drag back over to the dais.

Alyssa, who had been calmly watching, rose from my

throne. “The seat is yours, my King,” she said while gesturing floridly at the furs.

I walked back into my throne room. The motes of

disintegrated soul energy were attracted to me as I went and swished through the air, landing on my skin and were absorbed. I felt the buzz of being energised by their absorption as I hopped up onto the dais and took my place.

Reena slithered in and took the burden of Jezebel’s

now inert form from Jessamyn and the others and dumped the goddess on her knees at my feet while the rest of my mates poured into the room and surrounded her.

“She doesn’t have much to say now, does she,” Nessa

quipped.

“She is restrained by the force of over a dozen Soul

Chains, Nessa. When only one would be necessary,” Alyssa said.

“That didn’t stop, Daxas,” Tamara noted.

“Yes, well, our rugged Wolf King is something of a

special case. Jezebel invested an incredible amount of power in creating these chains. It is rarely done as using them effectively is…difficult. They work on any being with an enhanced soul, which usually means a god or a demigod, at least.

“They are virtually unbreakable when adequately

applied, but they generally require surprise, ignorance, or for the victim to be incapacitated already. Most godly beings can evade or unravel them before they get close enough.”

“Aah, that is why I had to forge them into longer

lengths,” Jessamyn observed. “If they hadn’t been we wouldn’t have been able to capture her.”

“Correct,” Alyssa replied. “Although if she hadn’t been

so intent on your husband, and had weakened herself severely with her energy expenditure, even that may not have been enough.”

“Wait,” Tabitha cried out.

All eyes turned on the cute hare-kin woman. She was

usually so shy and nervous that she rarely spoke out when in the larger group.

“Does…uh…that mean we are demigods then?” she

asked, her timidity causing her cheeks to blush a rosy hue.

“Not quite,” Alyssa answered. “Though after your

Daxasian Blessings you have the potential to be. You merely lack the inherent power or a method of securing it.”

“Oh,” Tabitha sighed with disappointment.

She hadn’t been the only one who had been rather

excited at the prospect of being a divinity. I could see it in the eyes of quite a few of my mates.

“What are we going to do with her now?” Krista asked,

breaking the maudlin mood.

“I have a few ideas.” I chuckled and reached forward

touching each item of armour in turn and sending it to the inventory, leaving the goddess chained in her underclothes.

When finished disarming her I took Jezebel’s chin in my hands gently.

Focusing my mind, I was able to manipulate the

restraining field around her mouth enough that she could speak.

“What do you say, my dear? Are you ready to switch

sides and become one of my lovelies?”

“Are you mad?” she spat with venomous fury. “I will

never kneel to you.”

“Your patellas being in contact with the ground in front

of my throne speaks otherwise,” I remarked with an arch of my eyebrow.

Jezebel tried to hawk a gobbet of spit at me, but we’d

be having none of that and I released her chin, reinstituting the chain’s influence and snuffing out her gesture of rebellion.

“Maybe not today, Jezebel,” I crooned at her

confidently. “Despite what you’ve done, accelerating my Diving Challenge, we have plenty of time and I’m confident you’ll come around. I managed to convince Jen’Zadeer after all and she was a tough nut to crack.”

The dark elf grinned proudly and then her eyes lit up.

“Ooh, can we make her dig mud in the swamps? Please tell me we can make her dig mud in the swamps. I hated that. Wearing only a hair shirt.”

“With only a fucking spoon,” Gadiel joined in. “A

spoon with a broken fucking handle.”

I couldn’t help but smile at the uncharacteristic child-

like glee being displayed by my many lovers.

“Alyssa, what do you think?” Jessamyn asked. “Is

there a way to use the soul chains to compel her into performing a few demeaning tasks? To hasten her joining us, of course, Not because I want to see the callous goddess who damned me out of hand and laughed about it suffer.”

If Jezebel had been capable of moving in any way, I

think she would have gulped with genuine concern. She certainly should if she had seen what Jessamyn did to the ironskin dwarf Drakken who betrayed her.

I would have to keep an eye on that as things moved

forward. Too much hazing would damage the dynamic in the harem. And I fully intended to add the elven goddess to the harem.

Especially if what Alyssa had been telling me about the

Lords and their relationship with soul energy was true. That it was akin to a crack addiction ratcheted up by a factor of ten. Then Jezebel was in for a few very harrowing months.

The group chattered away for a few minutes longer

until Tenzing interrupted any further discussion of the various tribulations my mates had planned for the reluctant goddess.

He had slipped in unnoticed and coughed gently to get

our attention.

“I thought you might all like to know that the battle

between the guilds that you all seem to have forgotten has concluded.”

“Keeping your eyes on the prize, as ever, my friend,” I

commended him. “How did it go? Do we need to head back out and intervene?”

“No, Daxas. The Dark Moon Rising has been

victorious.

“When it became clear that Lady Silvermayne and the

council had either been defeated or fled the field, surrender was offered and accepted. Losses remain heavy, though, but most of the fallen should come through the emergence pool during tomorrow’s rest day. The Sons of the Shadow have already sent a contingent to bolster the defences of Alpha House until they return and Torvald is dealing with events in the City.”

“Excellent, it sounds like everything is in hand. You

know what this calls for, don’t you? A celebration.”

“Whoop-whoop,” Nessa yelled as she leapt into my lap

and nestled herself under my arm. “Booze and banging.”

The celebratory war cry was taken up by her sister-

mates. Even the usually decorous ones.

I smiled widely. The next few days were going to be

very enjoyable indeed.

It was good to be the King!

 

End of Book Five.




Epilogue

 

Timian had retired to his alabaster palace atop a hill

within his demesne. He was sitting on a balcony overlooking his punishment fields, brooding darkly.

Events since the visitation of the demonic duke

Targelan had not been to his liking.

Merrock had proven to be a stubborn thorn in his side.

Flatly refusing to be cajoled or intimidated into staying away from Daxas’ Divine Challenge.

Worse, he had offered moral support to the weaker

fools that would usually fall into line when he so much as glowered in their direction, stiffening their backs. Turning the tables on the Infernals would be problematic enough even if he didn’t have those idiots bumbling about making things more difficult.

And then the crowning insult to the growing shitshow

was that it appeared that useless cow, Jezebel, might succeed in bringing the challenge forward to tomorrow in her futile attempts to garner Daxas energy for herself.

The infuriating woman would spend millennia paying

for her temerity. Timian made a mental note to ramp up the misery in the punishment fields he had planned for her.

He had been forced to watch the unfolding events

along with the plebs, again Merrock blocked his attempts to ensure privacy despite his apparent disinterest. Maybe Jezebel should have some company in the fields after all.

Timian couldn’t afford to expend any energy using

foresight to get his way, he would need it all for the coming conflict. Then as the news that the second dungeon had fallen broke, he felt the imminent loss of self-control. His pride wouldn’t let him appear weak and he had withdrawn to stew in private.

Misunderstanding from where his ire came, his two

idiotic lackeys, Kriger and Garvax, had stormed out with him in solidarity. Not that there would be much of interest left to see.

Why was everything set against him? It was unjust!

There was an audible pop to his left and Timian peered

over his shoulder, though he knew who it would be. The lack of a faint sulphurous scent meant it couldn’t be the duke or one of his ilk returning, which left only one viable candidate who could penetrate his demesne without an invite.

“Drakonis,” he grunted. “Be quick, I am not in the

mood for your needling.”

“Timian, is that any way to greet a friend and ally?” the

green-clad sorcerer chuckled from within his shadow-hugging hood.

“You are no friend of mine. You are a vulture, come to

pick at corpses.”

“True,” Drakonis admitted unperturbed at the

accusation. “But wouldn’t you rather I am picking at the remains of another, rather than you?”

Timian shook his head but didn’t gainsay him.

“What do you want?” he grunted. The quicker the

sorcerer said his piece the quicker he’d be gone.

“What I always want, Timian. To come to a mutually

beneficial accord.”

The god of prophecy snorted in disbelief.

“Did I not come to your aid when last you needed

assistance with your Daxas problem?”

“Yes, for a price. A tenth of his soul energy. A steep

cost to resolve a problem you were responsible for in the first place,” Timian snapped at the sorcerer. “You assured us we could rely on the ethereal. He failed us, and by extension, so did you.”

“I assured you that you could rely on him to be fair.

And what you wanted wasn’t precisely fair, was it? But you got your way in the end, did you not?”

Timian ground his teeth, angry he had let Drakonis get

under his skin so easily. “And yet my Daxas problem remains and has magnified in scale.”

“That is hardly my fault,” the sorcerer said and patted

himself on the chest as he did so. “However, I’m open to further bargains…”

Timian closed his eyes and debated internally for a few

seconds. Cutting another deal was the last thing he wanted to do. He could say no, but everything was on the line, including his life. Was he truly willing to take such a risk?

“Go on,” he said, at last.

“I’m familiar with some of your recent associations

and what they expect of you. I can intercede on your behalf and convince Merrock and the other Lords to step aside. I can also sow discord in the ranks of the infernal. Heightening their distrust of one another, so their attention and concerns are focused on their brother Princeps and not you. Leaving you free to take advantage.”

“And the cost of your benevolence?”

“Factoring in that you already owe me a tenth. I think

half of the energy you collect is fair recompense for my efforts.”

“Half!” Timian yelled. “Unacceptable, you greedy

bastard. You are already siphoning the lion’s share from the mortals. A quarter.”

“Half,” Drakonis reaffirmed. “I’ll even throw in

thwarting Jezebel’s current attempts to snatch your prize out from under you to make it a touch more palatable.”

“I’m no fool, Drakonis. Even if the useless harlot was

capable of such a thing you would have to stop her or you would never be paid.”

“Nevertheless, the price remains the same,” he replied

smugly.

 “Fine. Half it is,” Timian sighed.

“Pleasure doing business with you.” The sorcerer

quipped before vanishing in a puff of green mist.

 



 

“I dinnae understand,” Ironhammer lamented, his voice

full of confusion.

Most of the Lords were assembled together in the

sparkling vaulted chamber at the centre of the Heavenly Realm they had constructed. It was theoretically a place of safety and neutrality where they could cordially converse and act in unison.

Bickering, bullying, and backstabbing were the reality.

“The lass had him dead to rights,” the dwarf god

continued. “Cut his avatar down. Why did she nay come back out and help the elves win out. Then they could have finished off that last dungeon easily afterwards.”

“Were you not listening to her, Ironhammer?” Tika,

goddess of the forests seethed in an exasperated tone. “The self-centred bitch was never trying to help us. She planned to take everything Daxas had for herself and cut us out.”

“Ye dinnae know that for a fact, Tika,” Ironhammer

argued in a wounded tone.

Merrock lounged at the back, idly spitting cherry

stones at the dwarf’s back to relieve his boredom. His stubborn insistence on wearing his full plate armour everywhere meant he never felt them make contact or heard their plinking. The dwarf regularly damaged his corporeal forms hearing when working his forges. That was something easily fixed but it happened so frequently Ironhammer had stopped bothering until he literally couldn’t hear anything.

Merrock made a game of seeing how big a pile of pips

he could assemble behind Ironhammer before the dwarf realised what he was doing.

“A more important question,” the elven twins Solus

and Lunas observed in unison, eyeing the pip pile with revulsion. “Is how did Daxas overcome the death of his avatar and defeat her?”

“A question we would know the answer to if this

buffoon hadn’t insisted on switching the perspective to the meaningless battle between the supplicants,” Tika snapped and glowered at Ironhammer, the target of her derision.

“I told ye at the time, that were nae me,” Ironhammer

rebuffed her irritably.

“It was Drakonis,” a new but familiarly arrogant voice

called out across the room silencing them. “At my behest.”

Timian re-entered the Great Hall imperiously. Any hint

of his earlier discomfort hidden under practised layers of deceit.

“Nice of you to rejoin us,” Merrock snorted.

Timian ignored the surly sea god and moved into the

middle of the chamber to take centre stage. “While you were all gripped by indecision, I acted to save us once again. At great personal cost, might I add.”

Merrock had heard enough.

He stood, grabbed his trident of office, slammed the

butt into the frescoed flooring, cracking it in the process to make a point, and returned to the depths of his own demesne. He’d already had quite enough of listening to Timian’s duplicitous grandstanding and the servile grovelling of the others in response.

Besides he knew that making a scene, walking out on

his big moment, would wind Timian up more than contradicting him. He would have no opportunity to retort.

However, Merrock was not alone in his undersea

Kingdom. A familiar green-clad sorcerer lounged on his orange coral throne awaiting his arrival.

“Don’t you know it’s rude to show up uninvited,”

Merrock chastised him.

“But you never call upon me, Merrock,” his unwanted

guest chuckled and rose from his position. “I’m beginning to think you don’t like me,” he tutted and wagged his finger at the sea god.

Merrock strode past him, and after securing his trident

in place, sat down on the coral seat.

“Whatever you want, you are wasting your time,”

Merrock stated with forced laconicism. “I am not like those other fools and will not make another bargain with you. I was burned once by your silken lies and shan’t be again.”

“You wound me, Merrock. I told no lies, I merely

forgot to mention some of the possible complications. Besides I am not here to make offers, but to proffer advice if you will listen.”

Merrock stared at the sorcerer, his curiosity warring

with his caution. Curiosity won the battle.

“State your piece. I will listen.”

“Excellent,” Drakonis enthused. “It’s quite simple

really. I heartily advise that you and your fellows pass up on the upcoming Divine Challenge of the Wolf King’s Lair. I know it goes against the grain for you to let Timian have his way, but this would be in your best interests.”

Merrock growled with anger and was on the verge of

demanding the sorcerer depart but thought better of it. If Drakonis was in a talkative mood perhaps he could eke out some valuable information.

“Why would I do that? Timian isn’t half as subtle as he

thinks he is. He may as well have hung a banner declaring ‘I will use my True Mind and take the spoils for myself’ in the Great Hall for all to see. Nobody could have missed his intentions

“Apart from Ironhammer, of course, that man is as

dense as the materials he batters in his forge. Only someone with no mind could possibly enjoy something so mind-numbingly repetitive.

“I, and the others, will need to be there to counter

him.”

Drakonis tapped his armoured finger against his chin

as if debating how to respond. At least, Merrock assumed it was his chin. He couldn’t see through the darkness of the sorcerer’s dark green cowl.

“Truthfully,” he started. “The Princeps of the Reaches

are on the warpath. They tire of one another’s existence, and they seek Daxas’ power for themselves. It will be a bloodbath and Timian, in his reckless arrogance, has allied himself with them.

“The only thing that will delay the incipient civil war

between the demons is a common foe for them to destroy first. Namely, you. Stay away and let them have at one another. You will lose out on the energy, yes, but then there will be a power vacuum in the Heavenly Realm once Timian and his allies are forever gone. A vacuum you can safely insert yourself into and occupy with ease.”

His words were tempting, but they always were.

Merrock was determined not to be taken advantage of, though. “Yes, but what happens once an Infernal victor emerges? All that power in the hands of one being. You don’t think Timian or whichever of the Princeps comes out on top wouldn’t come for us?”

“A fair point. But I can assure you, none of them shall

benefit from Daxas’ challenge,” Drakonis said confidently.

“Because you will be there to take it from them,”

Merrock guessed with a nod of his head.

“Who better for you to wield such dangerous power

than someone who has no interest in ruling the Realms or the Reaches. They already provide me with all I need,” Drakonis chuckled darkly.

Merrock weighed his words but could find no obvious

fault or deceit in them. There would be something somewhere. Devantus Drakonis was nothing if not predictable in that regard.

“We will abide then,” he said finally.

“Very wise,” Drakonis said and raised his gauntleted

hand ready to snap his fingers and take his leave.

“Wait,” Merrock said thoughtfully.

“Yes?”

“You give away nothing for free. I would know today

what it is you will ask of me in the days to come by way of recompense for your advice.”

“Clever boy,” Drakonis giggled. “Now that you

mention it. There is one favour you could do for me. Should Jezebel manage to find her way back to the Great Hall. I would ask you to heed and act upon the advice she gives on the first matter the Divine Lords debate upon.”

“Jezebel? Is she not lost?” Merrock asked from a place

of confusion.

“Then it should be an easy boon to grant,” the sorcerer

chirped before snapping his fingers and disappearing in a puff of green mist.

 



 

Shabbarth, the Great Dread, fourth Princeps of the

Dark Reaches sat upon a throne of such deep red it was almost black. His seat was made from the condensed blood of more than ten thousand sacrificed mortals and matched well with the red-walled ritual chamber.

He was alone and impatient.

Alone as none, even those bound to his service, could

be privy to what would soon take place. Not because they would be capable of betraying him. But because he couldn’t be seen to be relying on the aid of others. Seizing all six seats from his brother Princeps had to appear to be his achievement alone.

Again, not because they would ever be able to tell

anyone something different. But Shabbarth would be able to see the knowledge, the lack of faith, in their eyes.

Then he would have to kill them.

And that meant replacing them, which would be such a

bother.

It would be better if he were spared performing such

drab and menial duties.

He was impatient because his guest and co-conspirator

was late.

Just as he was about to recall his servants and have

them bring him a mortal whose blood he could drain for a summoning ritual, there was a loud pop and a gust of green mist.

The Dark Sorcerer Supreme appeared before him with

a half-metre-long teak case held under his right arm.

“You’re late,” Shabbarth grunted.

“A sorcerer is never late,” Drakonis chuckled, “Nor is

he early. He arrives precisely when it is most advantageous to him.”

“What are you blathering on about,” the irritated

demon growled.

“That one went over your head I see. Admittedly, I did

kind of borrow it and adapt it for my own use.”

“I don’t care about that. Did you bring what I asked

for? Is that them under your arm?”

“What? Do you mean the fireworks?”

Dread Shabbarth was lost for words and belched a gout

of hellfire from his gullet in confusion.

“Never mind,” Drakonis said and pulled the teak case

out from under his right arm.

With a small motion of his fingers, the sorcerer floated

a table made from bones over in front of both him and the pale, red-skinned demon. He placed the case down in the middle of the table. Unhooked the latches at the sides and front and opened the case. With a flourish, he spun the case around so Shabbarth could see the contents.

The demon leaned forward, his yellow eyes shining

with avarice. Inside, the case was padded with deep-blue velvet. Nestled in the luxurious padding, three on each side, were six daggers. The blades were ten inches long and made of a shiny black substance with coloured striations running through them. The handles were of an ornate gothic design and the pommel of each had a different coloured gemstone that matched the striations in the connected blade.

“Following our previous meeting,” Drakonis lectured.

“I had this incredibly rare set of sacrificial knives prepared just for you, Dread Shabbarth. The blades are crafted from pure Voidsteel. A substance found only in the heart of a black hole, so you can understand how difficult it is to obtain.”

“The world-eaters that endlessly devour, yes I’ve heard

of them from some of the lost souls that have crossed my path,” Shabbarth murmured with reverence, his yellow gaze never flickering from the blades he beheld.

“Quite,” Drakonis answered with a smirk the demon

could not see, and would likely have missed even if it were possible to penetrate the blackness of his cowl.

“During the forging, the voidsteel was mixed with

essence procured from the seats of power of your brother Princeps. This has attuned the blades to the unique frequency of the current holder of each seat. Such that it will penetrate any armour, any defensive power, and strike unimpeded.”

“They are beautiful,” Shabbarth groaned reverently and

reached his hand out to touch one only to snatch his fingers back as the teak case was slammed closed suddenly.

“All that remains is the small matter of recompense,”

Drakonis told the demon firmly.

“Fine. What is your price?” Shabbarth demanded.

“I think half of the power you collect during your time

in the Proving Ground is a fair exchange.”

“Half,” Shabbarth roared. “Unacceptable. You ask too

much. No blades are worth that much.”

Drakonis laughed heartily at the demon’s pathetic

negotiation attempt.

“Shabbarth, surely you don’t think I’m selling these to

you. Six blades made from Voidsteel. Just one alone could command the entirety of the Reaches on the open market. The price is half for me to allow you to use them, once. You need to depress the gemstone on the pommel to activate the ability inherent in the daggers. You will then have one minute to use it before the blade returns to me. Don’t waste it.”

“A quarter,” Shabbarth grunted in a gruff, but hopeful

manner.

“If you’re not going to take this seriously,” Drakonis

said, and smoothly lifted the teak case from the bone table and theatrically turned his back on the demon.

“Damn you! Alright. Half,” Shabbarth conceded.

“Excellent,” the sorcerer crowed elatedly and gently

replaced the teak case on the macabre bleached-bone furniture.

Shabbarth seized the case greedily, opening it, and

staring at the glittering weapons within. He laughed maniacally before calling for his servants to showcase his newest ‘creations’ to them.

He didn’t even register the dark-green-clad sorcerer

depart with a pitying shake of his head.

 



 

With a pop Devantus Drakonis returned to his hidden

fortress in the gap between dimensions. A grand fortress from which one could plot and scheme to their heart’s content. The maelstrom of unstable dimensional energies that swirled around outside the immune structure made the place virtually impregnable.

Unless a person was given a key.

Perched on the arm of his obsidian throne was the

succubus Lynnith.

Between two of the obsidian columns that lined his

reception chamber was a large viewing portal that had been set to follow him. Lynnith, who had been watching his visitations, swivelled about to face him.

“Welcome home, Devantus,” she hummed ever so

sexily.

The sorcerer regarded her with a mixture of unseen

amusement and regret. He already knew where this was going, and it would not end well for Lynnith.

She truly was a prodigy amongst her kind, possessing

sex appeal no man could deny. Well, almost no man.

“I don’t recall calling for you, Lynnith,” he remarked

sardonically as he took his seat.

They both knew he hadn’t called her, but she smoothly

slipped into his lap with practised ease anyway.

“Or give you permission to make use of my viewer to

spy on me.”

“Are you angry with me,” Lynnith asked in a cutesy

innocent-girl voice.

“What do you think?”

“I think you would neither allow me to steal an access

token to your realm nor spy on you with your own viewer unless you wanted me to,” she stated matter-of-factly, shrugging off any hints of seduction. “It was rather naughty of you to give every Princep a set of knives capable of killing the others, though. Not that I care a whit for the fate of those bastards. They deserve to slaughter one another.”

“Right you are,” he said softly and stroked her

luxuriant silken black hair, flicking her little nubbin-like horns as he did so.

“Are those daggers really made from Voidsteel?”

“Fuck, no” Drakonis guffawed. “I just said that to

make them sound impressive. They are literally made from pieces of the seven thrones that I acquired during earlier visits. If I told them what they were really made of they might get the idea that they could forge versions of their own without my assistance.”

Lynnith giggled and then sighed contentedly, snuggling

into him, her breathing slowing.

They sat like that for the better part of an hour. Both

knowing the outcome of the coming conversation and both putting it off for a few minutes longer.

“Why do you toy with them, Devan?” Lynnith asked at

last. “You have the power to do almost anything. I’ve seen it. If you wanted this Daxas’ energy, not that I think you do, you could simply take it. Why the games and the bargains?”

“Devan, eh? You feel comfortable enough to give me

nicknames, now?” he chuckled. “It has a nice ring to it. I’ve had my eye on an amateur chronicler whom I might impose upon to tell some of my stories for a while now. Maybe I should insist he use the name for his scribblings.”

“Answer the question,” Lynnith tutted.

“Very well, a wise man once said. Actually, many wise

men and women on a multitude of different worlds have said. That for every action there is an equal and opposite reaction.

“Yes, I have immeasurable reserves of power, but

wielding it has consequences. Consequences that do not align with and would complicate the achieving of my ultimate goal.

“Which, before you ask, I shall not divulge.

“It is better for me to manipulate others into achieving

the same end without snapping my fingers and simply making it happen. And as I’m being uncharacteristically honest, it’s a lot more fun,” he finished, eliciting some light laughter from the succubus in his lap.

After the laughter, there was another pause of silence

before Lynnith spoke.

“You know why I’m here don’t you,” she said simply.

“I do.”

“And you’re going to turn me down.”

“I am.”

“They would be too afraid to act if it was you.”

“I know. But it can’t be me. Consequences and all

that…”

Lynnith sighed before looking up into the impenetrable

hood. “Even if it means you will never see me again?”

“I’m afraid so.”

“There is nothing more to be said then,” she said as a

tear streaked down her perfect ruddy-rouge cheek, and she hauled herself out of his lap. “My fate is upon me, and there is no avoiding it. I always knew there would be a cost to being the very best the Reaches had to offer. I must be away.”

A portal appeared beside Lynnith. The dry heat of the

Reaches wafted through the connection, and she turned to walk through it. Drakonis stood and took hold of her elbow before she could leave.

“I may not be able to give you what you want, but that

doesn’t mean I can’t give you something before you go.”

He reached into the depths of his cloak and produced a

simple bronze pendant in the shape of a heater shield and gently wrapped it around her neck and fused the clasp. Then he waved his hand, the edges of the open portal wobbled, and the destination on the other side changed.

It no longer led to the Reaches but a place with tall

glass and metal buildings, strange fast-moving yellow carriages and ever so many people who all appeared to be human.

“Where is this?” Lynnith asked in wonder. “I have

never seen the like.”

“It is a place called New York. You will have to keep

your glamour up at all times. The people here are not used to seeing those not like them. Never remove the amulet and it will hide you from the hunters of the Reaches, for a time, at least.

“When you cross over, enter the building behind you

and ask at the desk to see Mr Gallantry. He owns the hotel. You may have to wait a few minutes, but when he gets an eyeful, you will be taken straight up. Then just do what you do so well, and you will be set in your new home.”

“An auspicious name, Gallantry” Lynnith noted with a

smile. “Is he a powerful adventurer who can protect me?”

“Hells, no,” Drakonis laughed. “He’s a retired financier

in his nineties. You’ll have him wrapped around your finger in under a week, married within the month, and he will leave you everything when he perishes of natural causes with the widest smile a man can bear in a little under a year.”

“Sounds perfect,” Lynnith said and took a step toward

the portal before Devantus Drakonis halted her again.

“Before he turns thirteen you will have a choice to

make, Lynnith. The amulet can only obscure the existence of the son you are fated to bear from the Princeps for that long. What I have done will likely remove the current crop who would come after you and him, but others will take their place eventually. Then you will either have to fight or…”

“I know,” she said quietly. “But thirteen years is better

than what would happen if I returned home today. I would be dead in less than a month, and he would never draw breath.”

Then she looked up at the sorcerer. “You would have

made a good father, Devantus.”

“That is debatable,” he disagreed. “And not what is

meant to be.”

Then Lynnith twitched and shimmered, adopting the

glamour of a dark-haired human woman in sexy pink lingerie.

“Perhaps a dress to go over the top of that. At least,

until you get up to Gallantry’s penthouse suite.”

Lynnith smiled saucily and another shimmer later, a

slinky pale green silk dress with a low neck and matching heels covered the lingerie.

She walked through the portal and out onto the blue-

tiled entrance to the hotel.

“Wait,” she said, thinking of something as the portal

gradually diminished. “Have you arranged for the Princeps to slaughter one another just to help protect me?”

“Yes. No. Maybe,” he answered enigmatically as the

portal winked out of existence.

Devantus Drakonis would miss Lynnith.

She would be happy, for a time, at least.

And the son she’d have with Wade Gallantry had a

doozy of a potential destiny ahead of him.

Thronebreakers the Reachborn called them.

Those born with the potential to destroy the seven seats

of power and rule all the Reaches.

Fate churned them out periodically. A strong succubus

would usually birth a Thronebreaker about once every millennium.

With such potential, it was no wonder the Princeps

would murder the Succubi mothers as soon as they sensed they were pregnant. Long before they had a chance to give birth. They wouldn’t take any chances with a child with that kind of destiny.

It was lucky for Lynnith that she had been able to intuit

she would be such a Succubus. Well, not luck, Drakonis had planted the seed of understanding during their first sexcapade session many years ago.

Partly because he truly was fond of her and didn’t wish

her to suffer such an end. But mostly because he had so much to gain when her son came of age and reclaimed what was his.

Fate was a fickle mistress, and nothing was certain.

But the lad would have one hell of a fun ‘uncle’

looking out for him and that tipped the scales in his favour.




Afterword

Thank you for reading. I would like to say a special

thanks to my patrons for their support of my writing endeavours.

In particular Jalil Hayes, Kore Rahl, Mana & Steel,

Vincent Smith, Abdulwahab Albagdadi, Adam D. F, Nykson Costa, Reddroid X and ItWasIDIO!! for their extra support.

Thank you.

I hope you have been enjoying the books so far.

Like a bit a broken record my comments for this book

are much the same as for book four. It took longer to write than expected and there were some unforeseen plot difficulties that didn’t really present themselves in my overarching notes.

Ultimately, the book has probably been better for the

extra time despite being close to 3 months overdue. Although part of that was real life becoming a frustrating impediment to my writing productivity just as I was on a roll and the end was in sight. This delayed the completion by a month.

There is but one more book left to go. I’m not going to

make the same mistake as I did at the end of the last two instalments. No promises or guesses for how long it will take. As much as I would like to get it in front of you eyeballs before the end of the calendar year, I honestly can’t see that happening.

Speaking of eyeballs. If you want to hear what the

story sounds like, then the series is being turned to Audiobooks by Royal Guard Publishing.

Book one is already out and book two is slated for this

winter.

https://www.audible.com/pd/B0B5F9MY6D

As mentioned in in the afterword of book four I’m also

working on a second project. Corsairs & Cataclysms, which I’ve debuted on Royal Road and ScribbleHub to try and build some buzz before publishing. This is a Gamelit Apocalypse story with a bit of harem. Check it out for free while you can.

Book one of C&C is complete with book two going up.

The first book should (hopefully) be published before the end of the year.

Check out my Patreon for early access and sneak

peeks. More Details below.

https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis

If you are interested in Gamelit and Haremlit consider

joining the below Facebook groups

https://www.facebook.com/groups/haremlit/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGsociety/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/Dungeonstories

https://www.facebook.com/groups/haremGamelit/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPG.books/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGrebels/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGforum/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgfantasyaddicts/

https://www.facebook.com/groups/TheFantasyNation

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGReleases

https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGAdventures

https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgguild

https://www.facebook.com/groups/540394709678045

https://www.facebook.com/groups/MonsterGirlFiction

If you want to find more great LitRPG Books, check out

the Amazon store - https://www.amazon.com/litrpg

I have a Facebook group too, which you can join for a

heads up on when Book 2 and future additions drop.

www.facebook.com/groups/disciplesofdevantusdrakoni

s/

I also have a patreon group. Please consider joining it

to offer me support, maybe my patron the supreme dark sorcerer himself won’t obliterate me or turn me into a luminescent gerbil if it does well enough.

You will get early access to whatever books I am

writing up until the point they are published. Then I have to pull them as per the terms of KDP Select exclusivity. 

https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis

 

Copyright © 2022 by Devan Drake

All rights reserved. This book or any portion thereof

may not be reproduced or used in any manner whatsoever

without the express written permission of the publisher

except for the use of brief quotations in a book review.




Dramatis Personae & Character Sheets

Daxas: Dungeon Master of the Wolf King’s Lair

Name         Daxas         Race          Lupus Rex

Strength         26               Mana           50

Agility            26                Spell Power      100

Stamina         26             Resilience       25

Health          520/520          Dungeon Power 69

Rank          69            Unspent        2 million and

Experience       change.

Current Soul     112,953          Fallen Total      13,416

Marks

Spells and Skills

Mining 86, Hunting 85, Gathering 87, Farming 85, Smelting 87, Butchering 87, Woodwork 86, Masonry 83, Metal Work 86, Leather Work 94, Alchemy 85, Enchanting 91, General Crafting 64

 

Spells: Life Affinity

Greater Summon Beasts 4 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 100% chance it will revive at full health.

 

Venom 5 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 1 minutes.

Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank four venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target.

Rank three Venom: Causes 200 venom damage initially, and a further 40 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour.

 

Regrowth 4 (Life)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. Doubled if they are part of the Life Sphere 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life.

 

Camouflage 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot. Rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

Greater Electro Claws 5 (Lightning)

Cost: 5 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 electrical damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

 

Lightning Bolt 5 (Lightning)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used

Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 3) Deals two percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Chain Lightning 4 (Lightning)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 3) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet.

 

Electrified 3 (Lightning)

Cost: 20 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Your body and surrounding area becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/5) feet take 10 electrical damage each second that they remain in range.

Duration: 1 minute

 

Heal 5 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 5 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one to five poison, disease or venom.

Special Effects:

Shifter: Battle Form (Warwolf), Passive Form (Lupus Humanoid)

 

Dungeon Dominator 6: Dominance aura x7

 

Damage Reduction (granted by Resilience): Impact 25, Piercing 25, Heat 20, Cold 25, Necrotic 25, Electrical 25, Corrosive 25, Venom 25, Poison 25, Sanctified 25, Infernal 25

 

Aura of Dominance: (30) A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. * (Passive and Battle Forms)

 

Aura of Fear: (15) You possess a fearsome form, reputation or natural fear inducing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. There is a chance their actions will be weaker, or slower, or may struggle to accurately verbalise spells or abilities. (Battle Form only)

Aura of Sexual Magnetism: (15) You possess a comely form, reputation or natural arousing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Affected members of the opposite sex will view you more positively and be more inclined to accede to your requests. There is a chance that affected members of the same sex will view you negatively and be more inclined to refuse requests or act aggressively. ** (Passive Form only)

 

*As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x3

**As this dungeon is of the Sexual sphere this effect is x2.

As this dungeon has a female affinity speciality this effect is x3 for females.

As this dungeon has a fertility affinity speciality this effect is x3 for fertile creatures. As this dungeon has a lust affinity speciality this effect is x3 for if either party would be sexually attracted without its effect.

As this dungeon has a polyspecism speciality those affected by the aura who would usually object to a sexual relationship with another species are less likely to do so (auras strength determines efficacy). Magnetism x3.

 

Jessamyn Wolfsbride: First Disciple and Alpha Female of Daxas harem.

Name         Jessamyn       Race          Wood Elf

Wolfsbride

Strength         10               Mana           40

Agility            15                Spell Power      100

Stamina         11              Resilience       0

Health          220/220          Unspent Points   0

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 90, Hunting 90, Gathering 90, Farming 90

 

Spells: Sanctified Affinity

Heal 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 3 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health.

 

Venom 4 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes.

Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target.

Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour.

 

Regrowth 3 (Life)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life.

 

Camouflage 1 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

Flame Bolt 4 (Fire)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used

Description: Throw a sphere of fire at a target. On a successful hit the target takes heat damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Greater Flame Fists 3 (Fire)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 heat damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

Fireball 3 (Fire)

Cost: 4 mana per foot of the fireball’s diameter. (Minimum 10 feet, 40 Mana. Maximum 50 feet, 200 Mana)

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: Create a ball of fire that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Heat damage to anyone currently in its area of effect. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Wall of Flame 1 (Fire)

Cost: 1 Mana for each 5x5 section.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Create a wall of flame within your line of sight. Any passing through the wall will take Heat damage.

Duration: 5 minutes

Special Effects:

Sanctified Spell Affinity: Sanctified spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.

 

Aura of Dominance: (20) [Daxasian blessing] A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. *

 

*Granted as the Alpha female of the Wolf King’s harem, its effect is x2 on other harem members. As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x2

 

Karragh Dvarhold: Second Disciple

Name         Karragh        Race          Ironskin Dwarf

Dvarhold

Strength         20               Mana           40

Agility            11                Spell Power      100

Stamina         25             Resilience       0

Health          500/500          Unspent Points   0

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 31, Hunting 31, Gathering 31, Farming 31, Metal Working 58, Smelting 50

 

Spells: Earth Affinity

Stamina Boost 4 (Earth)

Cost: 5 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Stamina stat of target is increased by 10 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration.

 

Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health.

 

Venom 4 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes.

Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target.

Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour.

 

Regrowth 3 (Life)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life.

 

Camouflage 1 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

Heal 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 3 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Electro Claws 3 (Lightning)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 electrical damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

 

Lightning Bolt 4 (Lightning)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used

Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 3) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Chain Lightning 3 (Lightning)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 3) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet.

 

Electrified 1 (Lightning)

Cost: 20 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Your body and surrounding area becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/10) feet take 5 electrical damage each second they remain in range.

Duration: 1 minute

Special Effects:

Earth Spell Affinity: Earth spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.

 

Magnified Metalworker: [Daxasian Blessing] Metalworking and Smelting skills are treated as twenty ranks higher than current skill ranks.

 

Fiadh Longclaws: Third Disciple

Name         Fiadh          Race          Savage Human

Longclaws

Strength         65               Mana           16

Agility            65                Spell Power      150

Stamina         65             Resilience       0

Health          700/700          Unspent Points   121

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 59, Hunting 52, Gathering 52, Farming 49

Blood Rage 4 (Infernal)

 

Cost: 20 Mana

Recast Cooldown: Can only be cast when health drops below 100%

Description: Strength and Stamina stat increased by (Spell Power). 2) This spell will be auto-cast when the requirements are met. Duration: Until no living enemies are visible. 

No other spells may be cast while Blood Rage is active. As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size. If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing.

 

Special Effects:

Battle Frenzy: An ability which allows a person to channel Mana to increase their physical attributes by 100%. Ability duration is 1 sec per point of Spell Power. It costs 1 Mana for each activation.

Once activated Battle Frenzy will continue to renew until all enemies are defeated or Mana is exhausted.

If the persons Mana pool is exhausted before the battle’s completion Battle Frenzy will continue. This will result in a 50% debuff to all physical stats at battles end (duration minutes*mana that should have been used).

As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size (or lower if they ran out of Mana). If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing.

 

Wolf King’s Passion: [Daxasian Blessing] The activation and deactivation of the Battle Frenzy ability is now controlled by Daxas, the Wolf King. Mana will always recharge at a rate of 1 per minute provided Fiadh has no other active spell abilities.

 

Nessa Fiveleaf: Fourth Disciple and claimed Dungeon

Name         Nessa Fiveleaf    Race           Oakheart Dryad Strength         8                Mana           40

Agility            12                Spell Power      100

Stamina         8               Resilience       0

Health          160/160          Dungeon Power 5

Rank          64            Unspent Points   0

Current Soul     N/A             Fallen Total      N/A

Marks

Spells and Skills

Mining 45, Hunting 45, Gathering 45, Farming 45, Alchemy 20

 

Spells: Life Affinity

Regrowth 6 (Life)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana (Cost Halved)

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. If the target is a life domain creature the effect is doubled. 2) May be used on dead creatures, returning them to life.

 

Greater Summon Beasts (Plant-based) 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power level ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health.

 

Venom 4 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes.

Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target.

Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour.

 

Camouflage 1 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

Heal 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 3 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Ice Blast 4 (Frost)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again.

 

Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

 

Chill Zone 3 (Frost)

Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Special Effects:

Fecund Abundance: (Verdant speciality) Health regeneration for living creatures in this dungeon is doubled. Growth for all living things in this dungeon is doubled. The following advanced dungeon rooms unlocked early. Jungle, Forest, and Meadow.

 

Life Finds a Way: [Daxasian Blessing] Life seeds from this ‘Mother’ have a chance to be masterwork items (based on dungeons % chance). A masterwork Life Seed, if charged with 1000 soul marks, can grant true life to whatever dungeon creature it is used upon. If uncharged it can be used as standard Life Seed.

 

Jen’Zadeer Shadestar: Fifth Disciple and claimed Dungeon

Name         Jen’Zadeer      Race           Dark Elf

Shadestar

Strength         8                Mana           45

Agility            15                Spell Power      120

Stamina         10             Resilience       0

Health          200/200          Dungeon Power 8

Rank          67            Unspent Points   75

Current Soul     N/A             Fallen Total      N/A

Marks

Spells and Skills

Mining 43, Hunting 43, Gathering 43, Farming 43, Enchanting 20

 

Spells: Frost Affinity, Destruction Affinity

Ice Blast 6 (Frost)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 150% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 4 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again.

 

Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

 

Chill Zone 3 (Frost)

Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Strength Boost 4 (Destruction)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes

Description: 1) Strength stat of target is increased by 10 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration.

 

Greater Armour Breaker 3 (Destruction)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: DR of target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 20 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) There is a 50% chance a random item of armour provides no benefit for 30 minutes.

Crumble 1 (Destruction)

Cost: 1 mana per square cube affected.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: Destroy any structures or barriers within the spells effect range. Deals no damage directly to living beings.

 

Vorpal Weapon 1 (Destruction)

Cost 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Limbs struck by a Vorpal weapon are numbed for 1 minute and can’t be used.

Duration: 10 seconds per point of spell power of the caster.

 

Heal 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 3 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Special Effects:

Concealed Casting: Opponents will be unaware of the first spell cast, catching them by surprise. They will actively misinterpret the casters words or gestures.

 

Frost Spell Affinity: Frost spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. (granted by Spellcraft perk)

 

Cold Heart of the Deceiver: [Daxasian Blessing] The Concealed Casting ability works for the first casting of each spell the caster possesses.

 

Tabitha Greenfields: Sixth Disciple

Name         Tabitha         Race           Hare-kin

Greenfields

Strength         14               Mana           30

Agility            27                Spell Power      100

Stamina         16             Resilience       0

Health          320/320          Unspent Points   0

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 43, Hunting 43, Gathering 45, Farming 43

 

Spells: Wind Affinity

Greater Agility Boost 3 (Wind)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Agility stat of target is increased by 20 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration.

 

Wind Blast 4 (Wind)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a blast of wind at a target. On a successful hit the target takes Impact damage (spell power) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Target is pushed back (Spell power/2 rounding down) feet. 3) Continuous: If caster does not move wind blast can be maintained.

 

Leap 1 (Wind)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 1 minute

Description: Leap (spell power*10) feet in a single bound.

 

Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health.

 

Venom 4 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes.

Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target.

Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour.

 

Regrowth 3 (Life)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life.

 

Camouflage 1 (Life)

Cost: 10 mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted.

 

Ice Blast 4 (Frost)

Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again.

 

Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

 

Chill Zone 3 (Frost)

Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected.

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes.

Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds.

 

Heal 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1.

Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used.

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Greater Bless 3 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Purge 4 (Sanctified)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: None

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

Special Effects:

Wind Spell Affinity: Wind spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.

 

Frith’s Fleetness: [Daxasian Blessing] When being pursued Agility is doubled for thirty seconds. This ability can only be activated once every thirty minutes.

 

Gretsch Vaggarlesgh: First inherited disciple

Name         Gretsch         Race           Mountain

Vaggarlesgh                       Goblin

Strength         45               Mana           55

Agility            40                Spell Power      55

Stamina        50              Resilience       0

Health          400/400          Unspent Points   137

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 46, Hunting 46, Gathering 46, Farming 46

 

Spells:

Strength Boost 1 (Destruction)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Strength stat of target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten.

 

Armour Breaker 2 (Destruction)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: DR of target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) There is a 50% chance a random item of armour provides no benefit for 30 minutes.

Special Effects:

Mob Rule: Damage dealt is increased or decreased depending on the numerical superiority or inferiority over the opposition in the current room. This change is proportional to that advantage or disadvantage. Increase maximum is 100%, decrease maximum is 50%. (Only affects Piercing or Impact damage depending on the weapon used)

 

Marux Splithoof: Second inherited disciple

Name         Marux Splithoof Race           Infernal

Minotaur

Strength         100             Mana           20

Agility            16                Spell Power      100

Stamina         21             Resilience       0

Health          420/420          Unspent Points   130

Rank          69            Experience      Maxed

Spells and Skills

Mining 41, Hunting 41, Gathering 41, Farming 41

Special Effects:

Infernal Spell Affinity: Infernal spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.

 

Spells: Infernal Spell Affinity

Blood Rage 2 (Infernal)

Cost: 20 Mana

Recast Cooldown: Can only be cast when health drops below 50%

Description: Strength and Stamina stat increased by (Spell Power/2). 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. Duration: Until no living enemies are visible. 

No other spells may be cast while Blood Rage is active. As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size. If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing.

 

Infernal Talons 2 (Infernal)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 infernal damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Hex 2 (Infernal)

Cost: 10 Mana

Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes

Description: Highest physical stat of target is decreased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.

 

Tenzing: A quarantined manifestation of the energy entity that inhabits the ethereal plane that makes the Proving Grounds possible. He acts as an adviser to Daxas.

Alyssa Hadrill: Another quarantined manifestation. Acts as a buffer between Daxas and the Lords.

Simeon Reedwhistle: Halfling Guild Chief of the Dark Moon Rising, a guild jointly founded by himself and Daxas.

The Dark Moon Rising: A guild whose members unknowing contribute to the expansion and feeding of Daxas. Notable members include Arash, Pacclo, Sindar, Garbrakken and his twin Gorbrukken, and Piotr.

Sons of the Shadow: A dark elf guild now controlled by Daxas. The official head of its council is Nel’Van Lackspire

The Blue Pennant: A human guild now controlled by Daxas. The official head is Torvald.

 

Enemies and Rivals

Ironhammer: Divine Lord of Dwarves and Blacksmithing

Jezebel, the Silver Lady: Divine Lord of High Elves. Her following is devoted to chastity and temperance.

Timian: Divine Lord of Prophecy, a complete arsehole.

Gorvag: Short-tooth orc Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords.

Runx: Gorvag’s first disciple

Gerhalt: Halfling Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords.

Burstan: Rakshasa Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords.

The Black Hills Brigade: A dwarf led guild in zone seven of the Proving Grounds with intentions to destroy the Wolf King’s Lair. (Now gone)

The Jagged Boar Tusks: A tribe of long-tooth orcs, responsible for draining Jessamyn’s soul marks and Nessa’s core crystal. (Now gone)

The Gleaming Towers: A high elf guild conspiring with the Black Hills Brigade.


cover.jpeg
<
=
L

o § ,
() £ 4
Z /

N ;






index-1_1.jpg
“"DEVANIDRAKE |
‘ / om y
2
74l B
' -4
2 A






